## EVALUATION OF FAMILY PRESERVATION AND REUNIFICATION PROGRAMS

### FINAL REPORT – VOLUME TWO

Study Overview

Services

#### **Outcomes**

Non-Homebuilders Study Site – Description and Analysis Attrition Analysis Social Support Investigating Worker Data Staff Data Conclusions

April 30, 2002

#### Submitted to:

Department of Health and Human Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Room 450G, HHH Building 200 Independence Avenue, S.W. Washington, D.C. 20201

#### Submitted by:

Westat 1650 Research Boulevard Rockville, MD 20850

Chapin Hall Center for Children University of Chicago 1313 East 60<sup>th</sup> Street Chicago, IL 60637

James Bell Associates 1001 19<sup>th</sup> Street, North Suite 1500 Arlington, VA 22209

## EVALUATION OF FAMILY PRESERVATION AND REUNIFICATION PROGRAMS

## FINAL REPORT – VOLUME TWO

Study Overview

Services

Outcomes

Non-Homebuilders Study Site – Description and Analysis Attrition Analysis Investigating Worker Data Staff Data Conclusions

April 30, 2002

#### Submitted to:

Department of Health and Human Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Room 450G, HHH Building 200 Independence Avenue, S.W. Washington, D.C. 20201 Contract No: HHS100-94-0020

#### Submitted by:

Westat, Inc. 1650 Research Boulevard Rockville, MD 20850

Chapin Hall Center for Children University of Chicago 1313 East 60<sup>th</sup> Street Chicago, IL 60637

James Bell Associates 1001 19<sup>th</sup> Street, North Suite 1500 Arlington, VA 22209

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Chapter			Page
EXECUTIV	'E SUMM	ARY	ix
1	STUE	DY OVERVIEW	1-1
	1.1	Background	1-1
	1.2	Study Objectives	1-4
		1.2.1 Site Selection and Recruitment	
		1.2.2 Sample Size	1-6
	1.3	Data Elements and Measures	1-6
	1.4	Data Sources	1-7
2	THE	SERVICES	2-1
-	2.1	Caseworker Activities	2-1
	2.2	Social Program Participation	2-5
	2.3	Caretakers' Reports of Services	2-8
	2.5	Relationship with Caseworker	2-11
	2.5	Caseworkers' Reports of Services	2-11
	2.5	Summary of Services	2-18
	2.0	Services During the Followup Period	2-21
3	2.7 THE (	OUTCOMES	3-1
5	3.1	Substitute Care Placement Following Random Assignment	3-2
	3.2	Hazard Analyses of Placement	3-11
	33	Allegations of Maltreatment Following Random Assignment	3-13
	3.4	Sub-group Analysis	3-17
	3.5	Case Closing Subsequent to Random Assignment	3_18
	3.5	East Closing Subsequent to Random Assignment	3_22
	5.0	3.6.1 Life Events	3_30
		3.6.2 Problems	3 30
		3.6.2 Frommis Functioning	3 13
		3.6.4 Household Condition	3 11
		2.6.5 Child Care Practices	2 15
		2.6.6 Caratakar Daprassian	2 50
		2.6.7 Child Behavior	2 50
	27	Overall Assessment of Improvement by Caretakars	2 51
	5.7 2.9	Information from Cocoworkers on Family and Child	5-51
	5.0	Functioning	2 5 2
		2 8 1 Coratelyar Europianing	2 52
		2.8.2 Household Condition	5-55
		2.8.2 Corretely ar Drohlama	3-38
		2.8.4 Child Drahlama	3-38
	2.0	5.8.4 Unita Problems	3-39
	3.9	Predictors of Outcomes	3-39
	3.10	Relationship of Placement and Subsequent Harm to Amount	2 (7
	2 1 1		3-6/
	3.11	Matching of Services to Problems	3-68
	3.12	Summary of Outcome Data	3-73
4	PHIL	ADELPHIA	4-1
	4.1	Introduction	4-1

	4.2	The Phila	adelphia Families	4-1
		4.2.1	Family Problems	4-3
		4.2.2	Child Problems	4-5
		4.2.3	Caretaker Abuse or Neglect as a Child	4-5
		4.2.4	Previous Allegations and Placement	4-5
		425	Social Program Participation	4-7
	43	Summary	v of Sample Description	4-7
	44	Services		4-9
	1.1	4 4 1	Services During the Treatment Period	4-9
		1.1.1	Summary of Services During the Treatment Period	Λ_18
		т.т.2 ЛЛЗ	Services During the Followup Period	1 18
		т.т. <i>3</i> ЛЛЛ	Summary of Followup Services	1 22
	15	A.H.H		4-25
	4.3		Substitute Care Pleasment Fellowing Pendem	4-23
		4.3.1	A soloriment	1 24
		150	Alle estimate for a formation of the second	4-24
		4.3.2	Allegations of Maltreatment Following Random	4 07
		4.5.0	Assignment	4-2/
		4.5.3	Family and Child Functioning - Caretaker Interviews	4-30
		4.5.4	Information from Caseworkers on Functioning	4-46
		4.5.5	Summary of Outcome Data	4-48
5	ATTRI	ITION AN	ALYSIS: CARETAKER INTERVIEWS	5-1
6	SOCIA	L SUPPO	PRT	6-1
	6.1	Composi	tion of Caretakers' Support Networks	6-1
	6.2	Caretake	rs' Levels of Support	6-6
	6.3	Effects of	f Family Preservation on Levels of Support	6-9
	6.4	Conclusi	ons	6-19
7	INTER	VIEWS V	VITH INVESTIGATING OR INTAKE WORKERS	7-1
	7.1	Investiga	ting Worker Interviews in Kentucky, New Jersey, and	
		Tennesse	e	7-1
	7.2	Philadelr	bhia Intake Worker Ouestionnaire	7-8
8	THE S	TAFF OU	ESTIONNAIRE	8-1
-	81	Kentucky	V New Jersev and Tennessee Staff	8-2
	011	811	Gender and Race	
		812	Education	
		8.1.2 8.1.3	Caseloads and Time Allocation	0-0 8_7
		81 <i>1</i>	Lob Satisfaction	
		0.1. <del>4</del> 9.1.5	Staff Views on Child Welfore and Family Service	0-7
		0.1.5	Issues	07
		016	Departments Work with Clients	0-/
		0.1.0 0.1.7	Reactions to work with Chents	0.10
		8.1./	Preparation in Dealing with Casework Issues	8-10
		8.1.8	Experience, Tenure, and Future Employment Plans	8-10
		8.1.9	Summary for Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee Staff	8-11
	82	Philadelr	bhia Staff	8-12
	<b>_</b>	8 2 1	Gender and Race	8-12
		822	Education	8_12
		872	Caseload and Time Allocation	Q 16
		0.2.5 8 7 1	Lab Satisfaction	Q 14
		0.2. <del>4</del> 0.2.5	Views on Child Walters and Eamily Service Issue	0-10
		0.2.3	views on Unite wenare and Family Service Issues	0-10
		8.2.6	Reactions to work with Clients	8-16
		8.2.7	Preparation in Dealing with Casework Issues	8-17

8.2.8 Experience, Tenure, and Future Employ	ment Plans 8-17
CONCLUSIONS	
9.1 Outcomes	
9.1.1 Placement	
9.1.2 Child Safety	
9.1.3 Subgroups	
9.1.4 Case Closing and Subsequent Reopenin	ıg 9-5
9.1.5 Family and Child Functioning	
9.2 Targeting	
9.3 Possible Alternative Explanations of the Findings	
9.4 What to Make of These Findings	

9

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Study Site Descriptions	xiv
Table 2	Description of the Families at Time of Initial Interviews	xvii
Table 3	Selected Child and Family Problem Areas (% responding yes)	xviii
Table 4	Summary of Services, Post-treatment Interview	XX
Table 5	Summary of Placement Data, Survival Analyses Percents of Families	
	Experiencing Placement of at Least One Child Within Specified	
	Periods of Time	xxiii
Table 6	Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes Differences	
	Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post Treatment, Followup,	
	and Change Over Time	xxvii
Table 2-1	Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities, Post-Treatment Interview	2-2
Table 2-2	Participation In Social Programs, Post-Treatment Interview	2-6
Table 2-3	Caretaker Report of Services, Post-Treatment Interview	2-9
Table 2-4	Caretakers' Reports on Relationship with Caseworker, Post-Treatment	
	Interview	2-12
Table 2-5	Caseworkers' Report of Services Provided to Family, Post-treatment	
	Interview	2-13
Table 2-6	Contact Forms	2-16
Table 2-7	Experimental Group Contacts	2-17
Table 2-8	Summary Of Services, Post-Treatment Interview	2-19
Table 2-9	Caretaker Reports Of Caseworker Activities, Followup Interview	2-22
Table 2-10	Participation In Social Programs, Followup Interview	2-24
Table 2-11	Caretaker Report Of Services, Followup Interview	2-25
Table 2-12	Summary Of Services, Followup Interview	2-26
Table 3-1	Type Of First Placement After Random Assignment, Child Level	3-4
Table 3-2	Subgroup Analyses, Significance Levels of Differences Between	
	Experimental and Control Groups	3-19
Table 3-3	Kentucky Family and Child Functioning Scales	3-24
Table 3-4	New Jersey Family and Child Functioning Scales	3-27
Table 3-5	Tennessee Family And Child Functioning Scales	3-30
Table 3-6	Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Post-Treatment	
	Interview (% responding yes)	3-40

Table 3-7	Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Followup Interview	
	(% responding yes)	3-41
Table 3-8	Caretaker Reports Of Child Care Practices, Post-Treatment Interview	3-47
Table 3-9	Caretaker Reports Of Child Care Practices, Followup Interview	3-48
Table 3-10	Caretakers' Assessments Of Overall Change Since First Interview,	
	Post-Treatment Interview	3-52
Table 3-11	Caretakers' Assessments Of Overall Change Since Post-Treatment	
	terview, Followup Interview	3-52
Table 3-12	Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental Functioning	3-54
Table 3-13	Regressions Of Post-Treatment Family And Child Functioning	
	Scales (Regression Coefficients)	3-62
Table 3-14	Regressions Of Followup Family And Child Functioning Scales	
	(Regression Coefficients)	3-64
Table 3-15	Caregiver's Report Of Contact With Caseworker And Caseworker	
	Activities As Predictors Of Subsequent Placement And	
	Substantiated Maltreatment	3-67
Table 3-16	Match Of Services With Problems	3-71
Table 3-17	Summary Of Outcomes, Post-Treatment Interview	3-75
Table 3-18	Summary Of Outcomes, Caretaker Followup Interview	3-78
Table 4-1	Description of the Philadelphia Families at Time of Initial Interviews	4-2
Table 4-2	Philadelphia Caretaker Problems and Strengths, Caretaker Initial Interview	4-4
Table 4-3	Concerns and Problems Regarding Children, Philadelphia Caretaker	Initial
	Interview	4-6
Table 4-4	Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs Prior to Initial Interview	4-8
Table 4-5	Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities,	
	Post-treatment Interview	4-10
Table 4-6	Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs, Post-treatment Interview	4-11
Table 4-7	Philadelphia Caretaker Report of Services, Post-treatment Interview	4-12
Table 4-8	Philadelphia Caretakers' Reports on Relationship with Caseworker,	
	Post-treatment Interview	4-13
Table 4-9	Philadelphia Caseworkers' Report of Services Provided to Family,	
	Post-treatment Interview	4-15
Table 4-10	Philadelphia Contact Forms	4-16
Table 4-11	Philadelphia Experimental Group Contacts	4-17

Table 4-12	Summary of Services for Philadelphia, Post-treatment Interview	. 4-19
Table 4-13	Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities, Followup	
	Interview	. 4-20
Table 4-14	Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs, Followup Interview	. 4-21
Table 4-15	Philadelphia Caretaker Report of Services, Followup Interview	. 4-22
Table 4-16	Summary of Services in Philadelphia, Followup Interview	. 4-23
Table 4-17	Type of First Placement After Random Assignment, Child Level	. 4-24
Table 4-18	Summary of Philadelphia Placement Data, Survival Analyses	. 4-27
	Families Experiencing Placement of at Least One Child Within Specified	
	Periods of Time	. 4-27
Table 4-19	Philadelphia Subgroup Analyses Significance Levels of Differences	
	Between Experimental and Control Groups	. 4-30
Table 4-20	Philadelphia Family and Child Functioning Scales	. 4-32
Table 4-21	Philadelphia Caretaker Problems and Strengths, Caretaker	
	Post-treatment Interview	. 4-35
Table 4-22	Philadelphia Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Followup	
	Interview	. 4-36
Table 4-23	Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Child Care Practices, Post-treatment	
	Interview	. 4-39
Table 4-24	Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Child Care Practices, Followup	
	Interview	. 4-40
Table 4-25	Philadelphia Caretakers' Assessments of Overall Change Since First	
	Interview, Post-treatment Interview	. 4-45
Table 4-26	Philadelphia Caretakers' Assessments of Overall Change Since	
	Post-treatment Interview, Followup Interview	. 4-45
Table 4-27	Philadelphia Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental	
	Functioning, Post-treatment Interview	. 4-47
Table 4-28	Summary of Outcomes in Philadelphia, Post-treatment Interview	. 4-48
Table 4-29	Summary of Outcomes in Philadelphia, Caretaker Followup Interview	. 4-49
Table 5-1	Counts of Cases for all Possible Combinations of Caretaker	
	Interviews Completed	. 5-1
Table 5-2	Caretaker Interviews Completed as a Percentage of Net Study Cases	. 5-1
Table 6-1	Support Available at Initial Interview by Relationship of Supporter	. 6-2
Table 6-2	Average and Average Mean Support at Initial Interview	. 6-7

Table 6-3	Support from Partners, Parents, Siblings, and Friends	. 6-11
Table 7-1	Counts of Investigating Worker Questionnaires	. 7-1
Table 7-2	Timelines and Frequency of Contact in the Investigation of the	
	Alleged Maltreatment	. 7-2
Table 7-3	Investigating Worker Questionnaire	. 7-3
Table 7-4	Cases in which the Investigating Worker Indicated Removal $(N = 65)$	. 7-7
Table 7-5	Philadelphia Intake Worker Questionnaire	. 7-9
Table 8-1	Counts for Completed Staff Questionnaires	. 8-2
Table 8-2	Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in	
	the Study: Kentucky, New Jersey, & Tennessee	. 8-3
Table 8-3	Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in	
	the Study: Philadelphia	. 8-13
Table 9-1	Summary of Placement Data, Survival Analyses Families	
	Experiencing Placement of At Least One Child Within Specified	
	Periods of Time	. 9-3
Table 9-2	Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Data from	
	Caretaker Interviews Differences Between Experimental and Control	
	Groups at Post treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time	. 9-7
Table 9-3	Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Data from	
	Caseworker Interviews Differences Between Experimental and Control	
	Groups at Post-treatment and Change Over Time	. 9-10

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1	First Placement after Random Assignment (Families)	. 3-6
Figure 3-2	First Substantial Allegation after Random Assignment (Families)	. 3-15
Figure 3-3	First Case Closing after Random Assignment (Families)	. 3-20
Figure 3-4	Child and Family Functioning over Time	. 3-33
Figure 4-1	First Placement after Random Assignment (Families)	. 4-26
Figure 4-2	First Substantiated Allegation after Random Assignment (Families)	. 4-29
Figure 4-3	Child and Family Functioning Over Time (Families)	. 4-42

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### Background

This report presents an evaluation of family preservation programs. Family preservation programs are intended to prevent the placement of children in foster care when it can be avoided.<sup>1</sup> This report focuses on programs in four states. Three of the sites employ the Homebuilders model of family preservation, thought by many to be the most promising approach. The fourth site employs a broader, home-based, family preservation service model.

An interim evaluation report was released in October 2000. The interim report presented description, service, and outcome analyses on the Homebuilders study sites. This report expands on the interim report by including description, service, and outcome analyses of the non-Homebuilders site. Additionally, analyses on sample attrition, social support, investigating worker questionnaires, staff questionnaires, and secondary analyses are included in this report.<sup>2</sup>

Society has accepted a measure of responsibility for the well-being of children. These measures allow government to intervene in family life when a child is severely threatened by abuse or neglect, dependency due to death or disability of parents, or family conflict. Governmental intervention includes removing children from their homes when that is necessary. However, it has long been thought that children should remain in their parent's care whenever possible, consistent with their safety. The tension between assuring the safety of children and maintaining the integrity of families has been a perennial source of debate in the child welfare field and in our society more generally.

#### Legislation

In 1980, Congress passed the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980 (P.L. 96-272). This Act required states to make "reasonable efforts" to prevent children from entering foster care and to return children who are in foster care to their families. Part of the response of states to that Act was the development of family preservation programs. The emphasis on family preservation was further codified in the 1993 Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is one of two reports completed for the evaluation. A previous report, *The Evaluation of the New York City HomeRebuilders Demonstration* reported on a program designed to facilitate the reunification of children in foster care with their families.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As to be expected with any program, some of the families assigned to family preservation programs did not receive the services or received a minimal dosage of the services. In addition, a small number of the families in the control group were actually provided family preservation services. To address these issues, analyses were conducted in which these cases were dropped (secondary analysis).

established a 5-year capped entitlement program to encourage the development of family preservation and family support programs.

This program was revised and extended by P.L. 105-89, the 1997 Adoption and Safe Families Act (ASFA). The Adoption and Safe Families Act changed and clarified a number of policies established in the 1980 Act with a renewed emphasis on safety, permanency, and adoption. ASFA placed Federal family preservation initiatives under the rubric of "Promoting Safe and Stable Families" and extended funding for FY 2001. The law made safety of children the paramount concern in service delivery and increased the need to understand how family preservation services strengthen families and prevent foster care placement and subsequent abuse and neglect allegations.

Public Law 107-133, the "Promoting Safe and Stable Families Amendments of 2001" was signed into law in January 2002. This legislation reauthorized family preservation services through 2006. Additionally, the legislation authorized the Court Improvement Program, and offered states flexibility in defining family preservation services to allow states to support infant safe haven programs and strengthen parental relationships and promote healthy marriages.

#### **Evaluations**

There have been a number of other evaluations of family preservation programs. Early evaluations suggested these programs had considerable promise but these studies were criticized for flaws in research design. Later, more rigorously designed studies began to cast doubt on the extensive claims of success. The largest of these studies were in California, New Jersey, and Illinois. No placement prevention effects were found in California and Illinois, while the study in New Jersey found short-term effects that dissipated with time.<sup>3</sup> However, these studies were also criticized, most notably for not having examined programs thought to be most effective, those based on the Homebuilders approach.

The evaluation reported here was mandated by Congress in the 1993 legislation and was intended, in part, to provide information for deliberations on reauthorization of the funding. It is hoped that the evaluation will also be useful to the states in making decisions about child welfare programs and to program planners and practitioners in developing responses to significant social problems.

The evaluation was designed to overcome shortcomings of previous studies of family preservation programs. It studied the Homebuilders model of service in the states of Kentucky,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> J. Littell and J. Schuerman. (1995). A Synthesis of Research on Family Preservation and Family Reunification. http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/cyp/fplitrev.htm.

New Jersey, and Tennessee. The Homebuilders model is the approach to family preservation that many observers believe to be the most effective. The evaluation also studied a program model somewhat less intensive than Homebuilders, in Philadelphia. The evaluation examined a number of outcomes. Placement prevention is a major goal of these programs, but family preservation is expected to achieve that goal while assuring the safety of children. A further important goal of these programs is improvement in functioning of parents, children, and families. Finally, it is expected that these programs will enable child welfare agencies to close cases more quickly, ending their involvement with families. Hence, besides placement prevention, the evaluation assessed the safety of children, changes in child and family functioning, and rates of case closure.

An additional issue raised in the earlier evaluations of family preservation concerned the targeting of these programs. It was found that the families served by these programs often were not those for whom they were intended: cases in which it was likely that at least one child would be placed in foster care without special intervention. The evaluation sought to throw light on this issue for the Homebuilders models as well.

#### The Homebuilders Model

Homebuilders, a foster care placement prevention program developed in 1974 in Tacoma, Washington, calls for short-term, time-limited services provided to the entire family in the home.<sup>4</sup> The program is based, in part, on crisis intervention theory. This theory holds that families experiencing a crisis – that is, about to have a child placed in foster care – will be more amenable to receiving services and learning new behaviors. Social learning theory also plays a part in defining the Homebuilders model. Social learning theory rejects the belief that changes in thinking and feeling must precede changes in behavior. Instead, behavior, beliefs, and expectations influence each other in a reciprocal manner. Key program characteristics include:

- contact with the family within 24 hours of the crisis
- caseload sizes of one or two families per worker
- service duration of four to six weeks
- provision of concrete services and counseling
- the family receiving up to 20 hours of service per week.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jill Kinney, David Haapala, and Charlotte Booth. (1991). *Keeping Families Together: The Homebuilders Model*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.

#### **Broader Home-based Family Preservation Service Model**

The broader home-based model focuses on the behavior of the family overall, and attempts to change the way in which the family functions as a whole and within the community. Aside from a primary goal of placement prevention, the model also seeks to improve functioning of parents, families, and children. Programs using the home-base model stress longer-term interventions based on family systems theory. One study site, the Philadelphia Family Preservation Services (FPS), used a broader home-based model. FPS tailored home-based services to build upon the Pennsylvania Free substance abuse services provided in the 1980s. Key characteristics of the Philadelphia FPS program included: 12 weeks of service to families, focus on drug and alcohol abuse in families, caseload sizes of five families per worker, and provision of both concrete services and counseling.

#### **Evaluation Design**

The design for this evaluation was an experiment in which families were randomly assigned either to a family preservation program (the experimental group) or to other, "regular," services of the child welfare system (the control group). This report concerns programs in Louisville, Kentucky; seven counties in New Jersey; Memphis, Tennessee; and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Information was collected through interviews with caseworkers and caretakers to examine caretakers' parenting practices, interaction with children, discipline, social networks, economic functioning, housing, abuse and neglect, psychological functioning, child well-being, and caseworker/caretaker interactions. These interviews were conducted with:

- The investigating worker, caseworker, and caretaker of each family at the start of services;
- The caseworker and the caretaker at the conclusion of family preservation services and at a comparable point in time for families in the control group; and
- The caretaker one year after entry into the experiment.

After each in-person contact with families, experimental and control caseworkers completed a one-page form describing the services provided during the contact. Administrative data provided information on children's placements, reentries, and subsequent abuse and neglect allegations up to 18 months after entry into the experiment. Staff attitudes and characteristics were collected through a self-administered questionnaire. Throughout the project, discussions were held with personnel of the public agency and service provider agency to gather information about agency services, policies, staffing, training, and the context of services.

#### **Site Descriptions**

While data collection efforts were the same across sites, the sites varied in their approach to identifying families for services, the populations served, and the type of services provided (Table 1).

## Table 1Study Site Descriptions

Program Description	Kentucky	New Jersey	Tennessee	Philadelphia	
Program Attributes					
Location of evaluation	Jefferson County (Louisville) Fayette County (Lexington)	Bergen, Burlington, Camden, Essex, Monmouth, Ocean, and Passaic counties.	Shelby County (Memphis)	Philadelphia County	
Program type	Statewide FP program	Statewide FP program	Statewide FP program	County FP program	
Program model	Homebuilders model	Homebuilders model	Homebuilders model	Specialized program model	
Responsibility for: Selection criteria Training FP provider oversight	State office coordinator State office coordinator State office coordinator	State office coordinator State office coordinator State office coordinator	State office coordinator State office coordinator State office coordinator	Public specialized FPS section State DHS office State DHS office	
Providers	Single FPS provider in study location.	Single FPS provider in each county location.	Single FPS provider in study.	Three private FPS providers in study	
Screener	Targeted cases were at high risk and should have entered foster care without FP. High-risk family court cases where a	Targeted cases were at high risk and should have entered foster care without FP.	Targeted cases were at high risk and would have entered foster care without FP.	Targeted cases were at intermediate risk of removal from home.	
	petition was filed were reviewed for placement in the study. Public agency screener reviewed all cases referred to FPS for appropriateness	Each county had a screener to review cases referred for FP and make sure there were openings in the program.	For the study, the screener referred cases to the FP program (prior to the study workers referred cases directly to program)	DHS FPS supervisor screened cases to the FPS program and determined if there was an opening in the program.	
Population Attributes					
Population criteria	FP cases referred from intake and ongoing units.	FP cases referred from intake and ongoing cases.	FP cases referred from intake only.	FP cases were referred from CPS intake only	
Child age limit	Children under 18 years of age. At time of study, the state was trying to refocus delivery of FP to younger children.	All children under 18. At the time of study, the state was trying to refocus delivery of FP to younger children but not all counties modified targeting.	1 child in the family had to be under 13 years of age.	All children under 18 The program originally focused on young children but progressed to serving families with older children	

- Kentucky had a statewide program that uses the Homebuilders model. A state office coordinator was responsible for developing uniform selection criteria, training, contracting with family preservation providers, and overseeing the state program. The evaluation was conducted in Louisville. This location provided a single-family preservation provider agency. Child abuse and neglect cases in Louisville were referred from intake or ongoing workers. A public agency screener reviewed all cases referred for family preservation services. Her role was to ensure that cases were appropriate for the service. There was no age limitation on the children included in the experiment. In Kentucky, there were 174 cases in the experimental group and 175 in the control group.
- New Jersey had a statewide program using the Homebuilders model at the time of the study. During the data collection, a state office coordinator was responsible for developing uniform selection criteria, training, contracting with providers, and program oversight. The study was conducted in seven counties: Bergen, Burlington, Camden, Essex, Monmouth, Ocean, and Passaic. Each county had a separate family preservation provider agency. The study population included Division of Youth and Family Service child abuse and neglect and family problem cases (primarily adolescent-parent conflict cases) referred from intake or ongoing workers. Each county had a screener to review cases referred for family preservation. Their major role was to review the appropriateness of the referrals and to make sure there were openings in the program. When the study began, the state was trying to refocus delivery of family preservation services to families with younger children. Not all counties conformed to this expectation, so all children under 18 were included in the experiment. In New Jersey, there were 275 cases in the experimental group and 167 in the control group.
- **Tennessee** had a statewide program using the Homebuilders model during the study period. It also had a state office coordinator responsible for developing uniform selection criteria, training, contracting with providers, and program oversight. The evaluation was conducted in Memphis and focused on families with children under 13 years old referred from the Department of Children's Services. Cases were referred only from intake workers. Prior to the study, workers referred cases directly to the family preservation program. For the study, cases were referred to a screener rather than directly to the program. In Tennessee, there were 98 cases in the experimental group and 49 in the control group.
- Philadelphia had a family preservation program that used a broader service model than the traditional Homebuilders model during the study period. The state office was responsible for training and program oversight. The agency-specialized FPS section developed selection criteria for referral. FPS were provided by private agencies in a public-private collaboration. The evaluation included three private agencies Abraxas Foundation, Tabor Children's Services and Youth Service, Inc. FPS were provided by Abraxas Foundation and Tabor Children's Services. All three agencies provided non-FPS Services to Children in their Own Home (SCOH) services to families. Cases were referred only from intake workers. Referrals came through a public supervisor who screened cases for FPS. In Philadelphia, there were 209 cases in the experimental group and 144 in the control group.

#### **The Families**

Most families in the study had birth mothers as the primary caretakers. In Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee about half of these women had not graduated from high school. In Philadelphia, 65 percent of the women had not graduated from high school. Half of the households in Tennessee and Philadelphia were

headed by a single-birth mother, compared to 43 percent in Kentucky, and 34 percent in New Jersey (Table 2).

At the time of referral to the Family Preservation program, families were experiencing a range of problems, some quite severe, others much less so (Table 3). Examples included one case with children ages 10 and 12 who were not enrolled in school for nearly a month and who were at risk of being removed from their home due to truancy and neglect. Another family was living in a home with no electricity, no heat, no food, no working appliances, a non-working toilet which was full of feces, and all four children slept in one bed. Yet another involved children who were sexually abused and who displayed extremely violent, uncontrollable and sexually inappropriate behavior at home and school. Although there was considerable diversity of problems, parental mental health and problematic child behavior were common issues.

At the time of the first interview, approximately half of the caretakers self-reported feelings of depression or stress. In Kentucky and New Jersey, approximately half of the caretakers answered affirmatively to each of three questions about emotional difficulties: "feeling blue or depressed," "feeling nervous or tense," and "feeling overwhelmed with work or family responsibility." Caretakers in Tennessee and Philadelphia reported these difficulties at an even higher rate. Substantial proportions of caretakers reported behavioral problems in children. Between 59 and 74 percent said at least one of their children got upset easily, and two-thirds to four-fifths indicated that the children threw tantrums. Many said their children fight a lot with other kids (18% to 40%) and were very aggressive with their parents (18% to 56%). A number had problems in school, between 22 and 42 percent had children who had been suspended from school while 4 to 16 percent had children who had been expelled.

Half or more of the respondents in all four states indicated that they did not have enough money for food, rent, or clothing. About two-thirds of the respondents in New Jersey reported they participated in at least one of the five income-support programs: AFDC, food stamps, WIC, social security disability, and housing vouchers. In Kentucky and Tennessee, about 80 percent participated in one of these programs, and in Philadelphia participation was at 90 percent.

A number of families had previous involvement with the child welfare system. In Tennessee, 41 percent had previous substantiated allegations of abuse or neglect compared to 47 percent in Kentucky, 53 percent in New Jersey, and 81 percent in Philadelphia. In Kentucky and New Jersey, a fifth of the families had children who had previously been in foster care. The rate was slightly lower in Philadelphia at 17 percent. In Tennessee, only a few families had children who had previously been placed.

Table 2
<b>Description of the Families at Time of Initial Interviews</b>

	Kentucky		New Jersey		Tennessee		Philadelphia	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Gender of caretaker/respondent	311		328		117		263	
Male		7		12		7		5
Female		93		88		93		95
Race of caretaker/respondent	310		327		116		263	
African American (not Hispanic)		43		42		83		80
Caucasian (not Hispanic)		55		47		15		15
Hispanic		1		9		1		2
Other		1		2		0		2
Respondent's education level	311		325		116		263	
Elementary school or less		9		9.4		9		4
Some high school		44		40		46		61
High school graduate or obtained GED		32		26		18		19
College		14		20		22		11
Special education or vocational schooling		1		4.0		4		4
Respondent's marital status	310		328		117		263	
Married		24		30		17		10
Divorced		19		23		13		7
Separated		21		11		14		11
Widowed		3		6		3		3
Never married		33		30		54		69
Respondent's relationship to youngest child	292		326		117		263	
Birth mother		85		69		85		91
Biological father		67		10		6		5
Grandmother		6		12		3		3
Other relative		2		9		6		2
Household composition	311		328		117		263	
Birth mother, no other adults		43		34		49		50
Birth mother & 1 male adult		24		27		20		20
Birth mother & extended family*		9		8		14		19
Biological father <sup>*</sup>		6		10		6		5
Other relative caretaker*		7		18		9		5
Other**		10		4		3		3
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean
Age of respondent	306	32	324	39	116	33	260	33
Age of youngest child	311	5	328	7	117	4	263	4
Age of oldest child	311	10	328	13	117	11	263	11
Number of kids	311	3	328	3	117	3	263	3
Number of adults	311	2	328	2	117	2	263	2

\* These categories may also include other non-related adults in the home. \*\*Includes: non-relative caretaker, adoptive or step-parent, birth mother & non-related females, or birth mother, and more than one non-related male.

	Kentucky	New Jersey	Tennessee	Philadelphia
Item	%	%	%	%
Caretaker Problems				
Felt blue or depressed	55	58	62	62
Felt nervous or tense	56	52	53	53
Just wanted to give up	31	33	28	33
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	47	56	46	52
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	49	52	56	56
Participation in AFDC, food stamps, WIC, social security	82	68	80	90
disability, or housing vouchers				
Child Problems (% of cases for which the question was r	elevant)			
Child doesn't show much interest in what is going on	84	20	29	17
Child get(s) upset easily	69	74	60	59
Throw(s) tantrums	83	79	67	70
Fight(s) a lot with other kids	33	40	18	31
Has/Have language problems	30	26	25	18
Is/Are very aggressive toward you	43	56	18	33
Hangs with friends you don't like	28	49	44	25
Been absent from school a lot	38	42	27	19
Run away from home overnight	10	26	21	5
Been temporarily suspended from school	30	32	42	22
Been expelled from school	11	9	16	4
Took something that didn't belong to him or her	34	42	27	24
Absent from school for no good reason	30	27	18	9
Failed any classes	27	41	38	25

# Table 3Selected Child and Family Problem Areas(% responding yes)

It might be noted that no mention is made here of substance abuse problems, thought by many to be a major issue in many families involved with the child welfare system. Very few caretakers admitted to alcohol or substance abuse in our initial interviews; fewer than five percent said they had either alcohol or drug problems. The exception was in Philadelphia and Tennessee, where 9 percent and 8 percent respectively said they "used drugs several times a week." These are likely underestimates of the extent of substance misuse in the samples particularly in Philadelphia since FPS service providers in the Philadelphia study site focused on serving families with substance abuse problems. However, other states had policies regarding referrals to family preservation that may have limited the number of families with these problems. For example, New Jersey believed that family preservation should be used cautiously for substance abuse problems. Its FPS policy manual suggested that it is unlikely that a substance abuse problem can be resolved in a 5-6 week period. In Kentucky, families in which a drug-dependent adult was not in active treatment were excluded from the program.

#### **Service Provision**

In all sites, the caretaker interview, the caseworker interview, and the contacts data generally confirmed the expectation that the experimental group would receive more services and more intensive services than the control group (Table 4). In all four states, the number of experimental group caseworker activities reported by caretakers was greater than that reported by control group respondents, and this was also true of "helpful" caseworker activities. As for specific caseworker activities, experimental group workers in all four states were more likely to provide transportation, and talk about discipline.

Central casework activities with families included counseling families, handling anger, and child discipline. These activities reflect common problems with families that are of paramount concern to the child protective system. Experimental group caseworkers in the Homebuilders states were more often reported to have talked about difficult issues, to have helped the caretaker to see her/his good qualities and problems, and to have understood the parent's situation. In Philadelphia, caretakers reported much the same.

Insofar as there are differences between groups, it can be assumed that the experimental conditions held since the experimental group received substantially more services than the control group. As is to be expected in real life implementations of models, the programs did not adhere completely to the Homebuilders approach as described above. In addition to other critical elements of family preservation, the Homebuilders model specifies that workers should provide an in-home contact within 72 hours of referral, and family preservation workers should be available 7 days per week. Substantial contact should take place within the first week; the model's developers suggest that the typical case receive 11 hours of service in that time. Concrete services are also an important component of service, particularly early in the case. Based on caseworker reports, families did not always receive contact within 72 hours, fewer than expected contacts occurred in the first week of the program, and few contacts occurred on weekends. There was relatively little provision of concrete services early on.

#### Table 4

#### Summary of Services, Post-Treatment Interview

Caseworker Activities:					
Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no questions	Kentucky	New Jersey	Tennessee	Philadelphia	
	CE %%%	C E	C E	C E	
Is caseworker still working with family	79 64 0.006	75 31 0.001	57 34 0.02	70 70 p	
Caseworker helped with money for rent, electricity, phone	3 17 0.001	5 4	5 10	3 4	
Caseworker helped with money for other things	9 35 0.001	10 14	11 19	5 22 .001	
Caseworker provided transportation	16 42 0.001	12 25 0.003	19 34 0.10	35 50 .03	
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	14 20	5 11 0.06	16 28	22 28	
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	35 55 0.001	39 60 0.001	46 70 0.01	32 53 .002	
Caseworker talked with you on relationship with spouse	16 18	8 14 0.09	11 34 0.01	13 20	
Caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger	28 43 0.005	29 53 0.001	42 70 0.004	31 37	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	38 43	42 56 0.01	19 33 0.13	39 47	
Caseworker advised on job training programs	9 19 0.009	7 10	8 16	23 36 .04	
Caseworker talked about how to get paying job	6 17 0.004	5 8	11 18	19 33 .02	
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	9 18 0.04	5 8	14 23	21 34 .03	
Caseworker talked about uneasy issues	27 34	29 44 0.008	22 51 0.003	27 36	
Caseworker helped you see good qualities	37 79 0.03	47 70 0.001	53 82 0.001	68 82 .01	
Caseworker helped you see your problem	66 76 0.10	52 72 0.001	50 82 0.001	74 76	
Caseworker understood your situation	75 90 0.002	62 79 0.001	64 79 0.08	82 82	

NOTE: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

 Table 4

 Summary of Services, Post-Treatment Interview, Continued

		Kentuc	ky	1	New Jer	sey	Te	nnesse	e	P	hiladelp	ohia
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	Mean	Mean	р	Mean	Mean	p	Mean	Mean	p	Mean	Mean	р
CT report of # of caseworker activities	2.18	3.90	0.0001	2.31	3.25	0.001	2.89	4.60	0.02	2.9	4.6	.0001
CT report of # of "helpful" caseworker activities	1.04	1.68	0.0001	1.11	1.97	0.0001	0.83	1.33	0.04	1.5	2.2	.02

#### Services Provided:

Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no questions

		Kentuc	ky	]	New Jei	rsey		Tennes	ssee	F	Philadel	phia
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р
Anyone been in job training program	3	8	0.09	2	3		3	4		20	26	
Anyone been in WIC	32	45	0.02	22	20		51	41		40	44	
Been in a marriage counseling program	0	7	0.006	2	2		0	1		2	2	
Anyone receive daycare	5	19	0.001	10	7		26	26		11	15	
Anyone receive transportation	7	16	0.02	14	12		17	19		25	39	.02
Anyone receiving parent education/training	13	19		6	10		20	8	0.06	16	37	
Anyone receive counseling	35	52	0.003	50	56		9	17		21	26	
Anyone receive help finding a place to live	1	4		5	2		17	5	0.04	9	9	
Anyone stay at an emergency shelter	1	1		2	1		6	0	0.03	4	3	
Anyone receive medical or dental care	8	15	0.07	36	42		34	16	0.03	33	39	
Anyone receive homemaker services	1	3		6	3		14	3	0.02	1	1	
Were any needed services not gotten	27	19		56	42	0.01	39	24	0.10	24	19	
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	Mean	n Mear	n p	Mear	n Mear	n p	Mear	n Mear	n p	Mean	n Mear	p p
Caseworker report of # of services provided	3.16	4.99	0.001	2.31	3.17	0.001	1.58	3.19	0.0002	3.4	4.9	.0004

NOTE: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

Table only includes items with a primary p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .20 are not reported Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group; italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

#### Findings

This evaluation of family preservation programs was designed to assess the extent to which key goals of the programs are being met: the goals of reducing foster care placement, maintaining the safety of children, and improving family functioning. The assessment of effects on placement and safety of children was based on administrative data, which were available on families for at least one year after the beginning of service. Family functioning was assessed through interviews with caretakers at the beginning of service, one month later (at the end of service for the family preservation group), and a year after the beginning of service. Interviews with caseworkers were also conducted at the beginning and one month points.

No significant differences were found between the experimental and control groups on family level rates of placement, case closings, or subsequent maltreatment. There were a few child and family functioning items in which the experimental group displayed better outcomes than the control group in at least one of the states. However, these results did not occur in more than one state. It was found that family preservation programs in two states resulted in higher assessments by clients of the extent to which goals have been accomplished and of overall improvement in their families' lives.

**Reducing Foster Care Placement.** In none of the four states were there statistically significant differences between the experimental and control groups on family level rates of placement or case closings (Table 5). In Kentucky, placement rates at the end of one year were 25 and 24 percent for the experimental and control groups, respectively. In New Jersey, the percents were 29 and 22 percent. The rates in Tennessee were 23 and 19 percent. In Philadelphia, placement rates were 18 and 15 percent at the end of one year.

As to be expected with any program, some of the families assigned to family preservation programs did not receive the services or received a minimal dosage of the services. In addition, a small number of the families in the control group were actually provided family preservation services. To address these issues, analyses were conducted in which these cases were dropped (secondary analysis). Results of the secondary analyses were quite similar to the primary analyses, also showing no significant differences between the groups in rates of placement.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It should be noted that the most rigorous approach to analysis requires that cases be maintained in the groups to which they were randomly assigned. Random assignment is used to assure that the groups are as similar as possible at the outset of service. Removing cases from the groups or switching cases from one group to another threatens group equality and allows for the possibility that post-treatment differences could be explained by factors other than service. In particular, it is likely that violations and minimal service cases differ in systematic ways from other cases. Hence, the secondary analyses should be viewed with caution.

#### Table 5

#### Summary of Placement Data, Survival Analyses Percents of Families Experiencing Placement of at Least One Child Within Specified Periods of Time

1 m	onth	6 mc	onths	12 m	onths	18 m	onths
Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С
6	5	18	18	25	24	27	27
4	4	12	18	20	23	24	25
8	5	15	14	26	15	28	20
6	2	20	11	29	13	32	18
6	9	16	14	22	29	25	32
	<u>1 m</u> E 6 4 8 6 6	$ \begin{array}{c cccc} 1 \text{ month} \\ \hline E & C \\ 6 & 5 \\ 4 & 4 \\ \hline 8 & 5 \\ 6 & 2 \\ 6 & 9 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				

New Jersey	1 m	onth	6 m	onths	12 m	onths	18 m	onths
	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С
Primary analyses	5	6	19	17	29	22	35	26
Secondary analyses Refined analyses	3	6	17	17	27	23	34	27
Investigative	3	5	16	12	25	15	32	19
Recent substantiation	8	5	19	12	25	14	33	21

Tennessee	1 m	6 months		12 months		
	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С
Administrative data, primary analysis	11	11	22	19	23	19
Administrative data, secondary analysis	7	12	18	19	19	19
Including relatives, primary	11	11	26	21	28	23
Including relatives, secondary	7	12	20	19	23	21
Refined analyses						
Recent investigation, CORS*	7	12	15	15	17	15
Recent investigation, includes	7	12	18	18	22	21
Relative						

Philadelphia	1 m	1 month 6 months		12 m	onths	18 mor	nths	
	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С
Primary analyses	1	1	10	12	18	15	24	20
Secondary analyses	1	1	9	13	15	16	21	19

\* Client Operation and Review System

The ideal family preservation case is one in which there has been a recent significant crisis in the family, resulting in the maltreatment that triggers the possibility of removal of the child from the home. Subsamples of cases that approached this ideal were examined. Again in these analyses, there were no statistically significant differences between the experimental and control groups in placement rates over time.

In addition to placement rates at various points in time, placement was examined in terms of proportion of time in substitute care after random assignment. No significant differences were found in care days for the families in any of the four states. In Kentucky, both the experimental and control group children spent an average of 6 percent of the days after random assignment in care. In New Jersey and Philadelphia, experimental group children spent an average of 6 percent of that time in placement compared to 4 percent for the control group children. In Tennessee, experimental group children spent an average of 10 percent of that time in placement, compared to 5 percent for the control group children.

**Targeting.** Since these programs were intended to prevent the placement of children, the target group for the Homebuilders program services was families in which at least one child was "in imminent risk of placement."<sup>6</sup> As in previous studies, it was found that most of the families served were not in that target group. This is shown by the placement rate within a short period in the control group, indicating the placement experience in the absence of family preservation services. In all three states, the placement rate in the control group within one month was quite low. It would, therefore, have been virtually impossible for the programs to be effective in preventing imminent placement, since very few families would have experienced placement within a month without family preservation services.

A number of subgroups that were thought to represent better targeting were examined. These included:

- cases coming directly from the investigation of an allegation of abuse or neglect,
- cases with recent substantiated allegations of abuse or neglect,
- cases in a Kentucky subgroup in which workers had submitted petitions to the court for placement or some other court-ordered intervention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Philadelphia FPS program did not target imminent-risk children.

In none of these subgroups did placement rates in the control group within one month exceed 12 percent. Hence, even in these more refined (from the standpoint of targeting) subgroups the intended target group, children in imminent risk of placement, was not in evidence.

It should be noted that the results found here occurred despite efforts in this project to improve targeting. In Kentucky and New Jersey, a special screening form, developed by the evaluation team, was employed to rate the risk to children with the intent that cases with intermediate risk would be referred to the program. In Kentucky, efforts were made to divert to family preservation cases that had been referred to the court. In Tennessee, special training efforts were instituted to address concerns about targeting.

**Child Safety.** Maltreatment after the beginning of service was generally not related to experimental group membership, except for one subgroup in Tennessee. Subsequent maltreatment was measured by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a substantiated allegation of abuse or neglect following an investigation of such an allegation. The rate of subsequent maltreatment was relatively low, about 18 percent of the families in Kentucky had a substantiated allegation within one year of random assignment; in New Jersey the rate was 12 percent and in Tennessee, 25 percent. In Tennessee, in those families with an allegation within 30 days prior to random assignment, the experimental group children experienced fewer substantiated allegations than children in the control group did.

The findings of little difference between the experimental and control groups in subsequent maltreatment can be read in two ways. It indicates that families served by family preservation were no more likely than families not receiving the services to be subjects of allegations of harm. In this sense, children were, largely, kept safely at home while receiving family preservation services. However, children in both groups were primarily in their homes, and family preservation did not result in lower incidence of maltreatment compared with children in the control group.

**Subgroups.** In an effort to identify groups of cases for which family preservation is effective, subgroups of Kentucky, New Jersey, and Philadelphia cases were examined.<sup>7</sup> Subgroups were defined in terms of problems of the family (e.g., substance abuse, financial difficulties, and depression) and family structure. Within these subgroups, experimental and control groups were compared on placement and substantiated allegations after random

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The number of cases in Tennessee was too small to allow subgroup analysis.

assignment. Two significant differences were found. Among single mothers in New Jersey, those in the experimental group were less likely to have a subsequent substantiated allegation than those in the control group. Among families in Philadelphia who identified a child having problems with school, those in the experimental group were more likely to have a substantial allegation than those in the control group. No subgroups were found in which there were effects on placement in any state.

**Family Functioning.** In a few areas of family functioning, across states, families in the experimental group appeared to be doing better at the end of services. There were very few differences at the year follow-up and in changes over time. Those differences that did appear (primarily at the end of services) were not consistent across states and were not maintained. Family functioning was assessed through caretaker and caregiver interviews at three points in time — shortly after the beginning of services, four to six week later (at the end of services for the Homebuilders group), and again a year after services began. Differences between groups at post treatment, follow-up, and change over time are presented in Table 6.

Areas assessed included life events, economic functioning, household condition, child care practices, caretaker depression, child behavior, and caretaker functioning. It can be said that family preservation services may have small, apparently short-term, effects on some areas of functioning. There was one item with some consistency across sites, the overall assessment of improvement by caretakers. At post treatment, a significantly larger proportion of experimental group caretakers in Kentucky and New Jersey generally thought there was "great improvement" in their lives. In Tennessee and Philadelphia, although not significant, results tended in the same direction.

#### Implications

The findings of this study are not new. A number of previous evaluations with relatively rigorous designs have failed to produce evidence that family preservation programs with varying approaches to service have placement prevention effects or have more than minimal benefits in improved family or child functioning. The work reported here may be thought of as four independent evaluations in four states, adding to the set of previous studies with similar results, this time focusing on Homebuilders programs. The accumulation of the findings from a number of studies in several states, with varying measures of outcome, is compelling.

Differences betw	Veen Experimental and Control C	Broups at rost rreatment, ronowup, a	
Area	Post treatment	Follow-up (1 year after start of treatment)	Change over time
Life events			
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Positive life events	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Fewer experimentals experienced positive life events	PA: $\emptyset$	PA: Ø
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Negative life events	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Depression	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: $\emptyset$	PA: Ø
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	N/A
Family problems, individual items	NJ: rewer experimentals not enough money for food rent or clothing	NJ: Ø	
	TN: fewer experimentals had few or	TN: Ø	
	no friends		
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	
Economic functioning			
Leonomie functioning	KY·∅	KY· Ø	N/A
Individual items	NJ: fewer experimentals difficulty	NJ: Ø	1011
	paying rent and buying clothes	TN: fewer experimentals having difficulty	
	TN: Ø	paying rent	
	PA: Ø	PA: more experimentals having difficulty	
		buying roou and cromes	
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Scale	NJ: experimental average lower	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	(better)	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
		PA: Ø	PA: Ø
	PA: Ø	**** ~	

 Table 6

 Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes

 Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post Treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

Area	Post treatment	Follow-up (1 year after start of treatment)	Change over time
Household condition			
Individual items	<ul> <li>KY: experimentals had fewer broken windows or doors</li> <li>NJ: Ø</li> <li>TN: more experimentals in unsafe building because of illegal acts</li> <li>PA: Ø</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KY: Ø</li> <li>NJ: Ø</li> <li>TN: Ø</li> <li>PA: more experimentals reporting not enough basic necessities</li> </ul>	N/A
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Scale	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\emptyset$	TN: $\emptyset$	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Experimental group reporting more problems in household condition	PA: Ø
Child care practices			
Individual items	<ul> <li>KY: fewer experimentals used punishment for not finishing food</li> <li>NJ: experimentals less often got out of control when punishing child and more often encouraged child to read a book</li> <li>TN: more experimentals went to amusement park, pool, or picnic</li> <li>PA: Ø</li> </ul>	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: Ø PA: Ø	
	VV- Ø	VV: Ø	VV. Ø
Positive scale			
	TN: Ø		TN: Ø
	$PA: \emptyset$	$PA: \emptyset$	$PA: \emptyset$
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Negative scale	NJ: experimentals lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: $\varnothing$
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Punisnment	NJ: experimentals lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	$1N: \emptyset$	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: $\varnothing$

 Table 6

 Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Continued

 Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post Treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

	Post treatment	Follow up (1 year after start of	Change over time
Aita	i ost treatment	treatment)	Change over time
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Caretaker depression	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: $\varnothing$
	PA: Ø	PA: $\varnothing$	PA: $\varnothing$
Child behavior			
Aggression	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
1551051011	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\emptyset$	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: $\emptyset$
	PA: Ø	$PA: \emptyset$	PA: Ø
School problems	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
School problems	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Positive child behaviors	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
i ostrive enna benaviors	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Nagative shild behaviors	KN. Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Negative child benaviors	NI: experimental group lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Overall assessment of improvement	KV: avparimentale, greater improvement	KY: Ø	NI/A
Overan assessment of improvement	NJ: experimentals, greater improvement	NJ: Ø	IN/A
	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø	
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	

 Table 6

 Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Continued

 Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post Treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

Area	Post treatment	Followup (1 year after start of treatment)	Change over time
Caseworker report of caretaker functioning			
Individual items	<ul> <li>KY: Ø</li> <li>NJ: control group higher (better) in ability in giving affection and providing learning opportunities</li> <li>TN: experimental group higher (better) on five items</li> <li>PA: Ø</li> </ul>	N/A	KY: control group had more positive change in respecting child's opinions NJ: control group had more positive change in respecting child's opinions TN: experimental group more positive change on setting firm and consistent limits PA: $\emptyset$
Scale	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: experimental group higher (better) PA: Ø	N/A	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: Ø PA: Ø
Caseworker report of household condition	KY: control group better NJ: control group better TN: Ø PA: control group worse	N/A	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅
Caseworker report of caretaker problems	KY: experimentals more problems NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅	N/A	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: experimentals declined more PA: Ø
Caseworker report of child problems	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: Ø PA: Ø	N/A	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅

 Table 6

 Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Continued

 Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post Treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

The findings should not be taken as showing that these programs serve no useful purpose in the child welfare system. The results can be seen as a challenge to keep trying, to find new ways to deal with the problems of families in the child welfare system. The findings indicate the grave difficulties facing those who devise approaches to these problems. Failure in such undertakings should not be surprising and those who risk trying to find solutions should not be punished when evaluations such as this indicate they may have come up short.

The accumulation of findings suggests that the functions, target group, and characteristics of services in programs such as this need to be rethought. Obviously, function, target group, and services are closely intertwined. The foremost of these issues concerns the objectives of the programs. A number of observers have suggested that placement prevention be abandoned as the central objective in intensive, family preservation services in favor of other objectives, notably the improvement of family and child functioning. Targeting these services on families at risk of placement is unlikely to be successful. So if these services are to continue, they will continue to serve "in-home" cases and families in which there has been a substantiated allegation of abuse or neglect or serious conflicts between parents and children where children remain in the home. Many, if not most, of these "intact" families need help. Relatively intensive and relatively short-term services such as those provided by family preservation programs are one source of such help. In this respect, family preservation programs can be thought of as an important part of the continuum of child welfare services.

Another question that program designers must address is that of specialization. Subgroups for which the program was successful were not found, but these programs are quite general in character, and thus may sacrifice some of the benefits of specialization. Those benefits are a clearer focus of services, a tighter target group definition, specification of service characteristics (such as length and intensity based on needs of the target group), and the development of more specific competencies on the part of workers. Specialization could be in terms of problems (e.g., substance abuse) or characteristics of clients (young, isolated mothers). There are clear drawbacks to specialization, including the tendency to define problems in terms of the service one offers. Furthermore, limiting target groups inherently limits the impact of programs. Nonetheless, it may be better to mount a series of small programs rather than putting all of one's resources into large, undifferentiated efforts.

Program planners must also address the issue of length and intensity. The extent to which the intensive, short-term, crisis approach fits the needs of child welfare clients should be reexamined. The lives of these families are often full of difficulties—externally imposed and internally generated—such that their problems are better characterized as chronic, rather than

crisis. Short-term, intensive services may be useful for families with chronic difficulties, but those services are unlikely to solve, or make much of a dent in the underlying problems. Of course, the hope is family preservation programs will be able to connect families with on-going services to treat more chronic problems. But, that appears to happen far less than needed. The central point here is that we need a range of service lengths and service intensities to meet the needs of child welfare clients. It is essential that policy makers, planners, and program providers maintain realistic expectations of the effects of short-term family preservation programs.
#### **1 STUDY OVERVIEW**

#### 1.1 Background

In 1980, the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980 (P.L. 96-272) required states to make "reasonable efforts" to prevent children from entering foster care and to reunify children who were placed out of the home with their families. A major focus of policy and planning in state child welfare systems was the development of family preservation programs. The emphasis on family preservation culminated in 1993 in the Family Preservation and Family Support provision of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (OBRA) (Title IV, subpart 2 of the Social Security Act), which encouraged states to institute or further develop family preservation and family support.

As part of the legislation, the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) was authorized to set aside funds to evaluate state family preservation and family support programs. In support of this, DHHS funded three separate studies in September 1994:

- Family Preservation and Family Support Services Implementation Study. This study was awarded to James Bell Associates and is a process analysis of the implementation of the legislation, focusing on the types of programs developed and the barriers encountered. The interim report, "Family Preservation and Family Support (FP/FS) Services Implementation Study," was released March 1999. Special topic reports were completed in 2001 and a final report on implementation should be complete in December 2003.
- National Evaluation of Family Support Programs. This study was awarded to Abt Associates, Inc. and is an outcome evaluation of family support programs. Volume A, a meta-analysis evaluation of family support, and Volume B, a research studies final report, were both completed in April 2001.
- The Evaluation of Family Preservation and Reunification Services. This study was awarded to Westat, Chapin Hall Center for Children, and James Bell Associates, and is the subject of this report. It is an outcome evaluation of family preservation and reunification programs.

The three projects are designed to be complementary. Although each focuses on a different aspect of the 1993 legislation, taken together they represent a comprehensive examination of the programs authorized.

More recently, the enactment of the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997 (P.L. 105-89) changed and clarified a number of policies established in the 1980 Act with a renewed emphasis on safety, permanency, and adoption. This legislation placed Federal family preservation initiatives under the rubric of "Promoting Safe and Stable Families" and extended funding for FY 2001. The law made safety of children the paramount concern in service delivery. The law increased the need to understand how family preservation services strengthen families and prevent foster care placement and subsequent abuse and neglect allegations.

Public Law 107-133, the "Promoting Safe and Stable Families Amendments of 2001" was signed into law in January 2002. This legislation reauthorized family preservation services through 2006. Additionally, the legislation authorized the Court Improvement Program, and offered states flexibility in defining family preservation services to allow states to support infant safe haven programs and strengthen parental relationships and promote healthy marriages.

Concurrent with the development of legislation have been program initiatives in family preservation at the state and local levels. Since the 1970s, a number of programs have been developed to provide services to children and families who are experiencing serious problems that may eventually lead to the placement of children in foster care or otherwise result in the dissolution of the family unit. Although these programs share a common philosophy of family-centered services, they differ in their treatment theory, level of intensity of services, and length of service provision. Three models emerged (Nelson et al., 1990):

1. Crisis intervention model. This model, based on crisis theory and intervention, stresses the situation of everyday people confronted with unstable and unsecure circumstances from precipitating events, and the belief that symptoms can be worked through in a brief amount of time (Barth, 1990). Crisis theory also holds that those experiencing a crisis – that is, families about to have a child placed in foster care – will be more amenable to receiving services and learning new behaviors (Nelson et al., 1990, citing Kinney et al., 1988). Homebuilders, a foster care placement prevention program developed in 1974 in Tacoma, Washington, is the prototype program for the crisis intervention model. The program calls for short-term, time-limited services provided to the entire family in the home. Services are provided to families with children who are at risk of an imminent placement into foster care. Social learning theory also plays a part in defining the Homebuilders program, providing the theoretical base for interventions employed (Nelson et al., 1990). Social learning theory stresses that behavior, beliefs, and expectations influence each other in a reciprocal manner, and rejects the belief that changes in thinking and

feeling must precede changes in behavior (Barth, 1990). Concrete and supportive services are an important element of the Homebuilders program. Key program characteristics include: contact with the family within 24 hours of the crisis, caseload sizes of one or two families per worker, service duration of four to six weeks, provision of both concrete services and counseling, and up to 20 hours of service per family per week (Nelson et al., 1990).

- 2. Home-based model. This model focuses on the behavior of the family overall, how members interact with one another, and attempts to change the way in which the family functions as a whole and within the community. Programs using the home-based model stress longer-term interventions based on family systems theory. The FAMILIES program, which began in Iowa in 1974, is the original program using the home-based model. Under the original program in Iowa, teams of workers carry a caseload of 10 to 12 families whom they see in the families' homes for an average of four and one-half months. Both concrete and therapeutic services are provided (Nelson et al., 1990).
- 3. Family treatment model. This model focuses less on the provision of concrete and supportive services and more on family therapy (Nelson et al., 1990, citing Tavantzis et al., 1986). Services are provided in an office as well as in the home and are less intensive than those using the crisis intervention model. The Intensive Family Services (IFS) Program, which began in Oregon in 1980, is based on the family treatment model. The IFS program also uses family systems theory, which views individual behavioral problems as a reflection of other family problems. Therefore, treatment focuses on the family as a whole. Workers carry a caseload of approximately 11 families. Services are provided for 90 days with weekly followup services provided for three to five and one-half months (Nelson et al., 1990).

Over the years, various states have adopted these family preservation models, sometimes with variations. The growth in family preservation can be partly attributed to early evaluations that were "unequivocally positive and reported high placement prevention successes" (Bath, Howard, and Haapala, 1993). Primarily, these studies only measure family outcomes such as placement prevention for families who receive the treatment. No comparison was made to families who did not receive the services. It was assumed that nearly all children would be taken into foster care placement. However, it cannot be assumed that a high proportion of children receiving family preservation services were at imminent risk without observing the experiences of a comparison group that did not receive the intervention. More recent studies using experimental

designs have shown that most of the cases referred were not at imminent risk of placement, as many children in the control groups did not become part of the foster care population.

Although many nonexperimental studies have suggested that high percentages of families remain intact after intensive family preservation services, the results of randomized experiments are mixed. Seven of eleven studies reviewed in *A Synthesis of Research on Family Preservation and Family Reunification* (Littell and Schuerman, 1995) found that the programs did not produce significant overall reductions in placement. In less than half of the control or comparison cases, placements did not occur within a short period of time after group assignment, which suggests that these programs were generally not delivered to families with children at risk of placement. When the risk of placement among family preservation clients is low, it is unlikely that a program will demonstrate significant reductions in placement.

Despite these findings, placement prevention remains a primary goal of family preservation programs. A review of family preservation programs was conducted in 1995 as part of the *Evaluation of Family Preservation and Reunification Services*. Information from that study was updated in 1997. As part of the update, 32 family preservation state coordinators were asked if placement prevention was the primary purpose of their program. The majority (78 percent) indicated that it was still the primary purpose, with the remaining coordinators identifying child safety (18 percent) and family functioning (4 percent) as the primary purpose. These goals broaden when county public agency and family preservation administrators were asked about the objectives of local family preservation program administrators were asked to describe their family preservation objectives. Of the 58 administrators contacted, most offered multiple service objectives. The most frequently reported objective was placement prevention, followed by strengthening families and child and family safety. The purpose of the *Evaluation of Family Preservation and Reunification Services* is to test whether these service delivery objectives are attained.

#### **1.2 Study Objectives**

The *Evaluation of Family Preservation and Reunification Services* is intended to estimate the impact of family preservation and reunification services. The design of the evaluation was guided by the following objectives:

• To identify and describe the range of existing placement prevention, family preservation, and reunification programs;

- To determine the extent to which family preservation and reunification programs are effective in safely reducing unnecessary foster care placement;
- To determine the extent to which family preservation programs are effective in meeting the basic needs of children and in promoting improved family functioning;
- To explore the extent to which family preservation/reunification programs have varying degrees of success with different target populations;
- To determine the extent to which program variables, child welfare system variables, and other factors in the service delivery environment affect the success of family preservation and reunification programs;
- To identify the effects of each family preservation/reunification program on its related child welfare system; and
- To compare the costs of family preservation/reunification services to those of control groups.

The evaluation was conducted through randomized experiments in four family preservation sites: Kentucky, New Jersey, Tennessee, and Pennsylvania and the evaluation of an earlier implemented reunification program in New York City. The classic experimental design of this study is the best way to determine causal connections between interventions and outcomes. The control group received the "regular services" of the child welfare system; it was not a no-treatment control group. We studied the effects of the experimental services relative to ordinary services, i.e., services that would have been provided in the absence of family preservation services.

# 1.2.1 Site Selection and Recruitment

Site selection was based on a number of criteria, including selecting programs which were based on well-articulated theories, in place long enough to operate in the way expected by program managers, consistently implemented, and with sufficient numbers of families to provide adequate sample sizes. It was also important that programs have a primary focus on a population of children involved in abuse and neglect reports and that key policymakers, managers, and line staff were willing to allow evaluation. Initially, it was proposed that of the six sites to be evaluated, at least two would be placement prevention programs, two broader family preservation programs, and two reunification programs.

Emphasis was placed on selecting well-defined programs and those with characteristics useful for the development of knowledge (e.g., serving clientele with substance abuse problems).

It was decided to evaluate three programs that use relatively "pure" versions of the Homebuilders model of service. These include Memphis, Tennessee; Louisville and Lexington,<sup>8</sup> Kentucky; and seven counties in New Jersey. The fourth family preservation site, Philadelphia, has a program in which the goal of family preservation services is defined more broadly than prevention placement, compares family preservation services to less intensive in-home services, and has an explicit focus on substance abuse.

Our program review established that there were few reunification programs, and those that existed served small numbers of clients. Most reunification programs were part of family preservation programs and served families after discharge from foster care. We decided to examine the HomeRebuilders reunification program in New York City, by conducting the data collection for the experiment started by the New York State Department of Social Services. We were not able to identify a suitable site for a second experimental evaluation of reunification.

#### 1.2.2 Sample Size

Each site was evaluated separately. We initially set a goal of 500 cases in each site, about 250 in each group. To detect a difference of 15 percentage points between the experimental and controls groups in such characteristics as placement rates with a probability of 0.8 (directional hypothesis, centered on 50%) we would require a total of about 275 cases in both groups. We set our goal higher in order to be able to do some subgroup analyses with adequate power. Initially we hoped to enroll 500 families in each site over a one-year period. However, the sample accumulation in sites in this report, Kentucky, New Jersey, Tennessee, and Philadelphia was slower than expected. A 349-case sample size was achieved in Kentucky after enrolling families for two years. In New Jersey, 442 net cases were enrolled over an 18-month period and in Tennessee, 147 net cases were enrolled over a 21-month period. In Philadelphia, we obtained a sample of 353 cases over a 26-month period.

#### **1.3 Data Elements and Measures**

Outcome measures relate to the goals of the programs and require multiple measures, including placement, subsequent maltreatment, family problems, and child and family functioning. Outcome measures are the heart of the experiment, but other types of measures were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Lexington, Kentucky, remained in the study only a short time. Further details on Lexington are presented in Chapter 3, Kentucky Overview.

also needed in order to carry out the study and to more fully understand the observed overall impact in specific sites. Other measures include mediating and conditioning variables. Mediating variables reflect intervening factors that may be the underlying mechanism for achieving change in the more general outcomes, including parents' coping skills, the family's social isolation or embeddedness, and the general quality of interactions in the home environment. There is not always a clear dividing line between mediating and outcome measures. Moreover, an outcome in one realm may be a mediator in another. For instance, adequacy of the parent's attention to a child's health may be considered an outcome as itself, but it is also a key mediating variable in relation to other outcomes.

Measures that may "condition" the effects of the treatment, such as demographic and household composition variables, were examined for their potential influence. For example, family preservation services may emerge as more effective for families with certain characteristics (e.g., single parent families or families with younger children). We also used check measures to ensure that the treatment that was intended actually occurred and to determine whether control group families received services that are supposed to be reserved for members of the experimental group. Finally, the study used service variables to identify at the program level those variables necessary for understanding the results at the family level.

#### 1.4 Data Sources

To obtain these measures, we used multiple data sources, including administrative data, interviews with investigating workers, caseworkers and caretakers, and qualitative data collection on program operation and context.

For family preservation/placement prevention sites, the study used a longitudinal design in which caretakers were interviewed at three points in time: when they entered the study, at the end of services, and at one year after entry to the study. Caseworkers were interviewed at two points in time, when the family entered the study and at the end of services. Investigating workers completed a self-administered form as quickly after assignment as possible. They were asked to provide a description of the allegation and the investigation findings. Caseworkers were asked to provide information on the actual services provided during in-person contacts with the family during treatment for the experimental cases and during a comparable time period for the control cases. Administrative data on placement and subsequent maltreatment were collected for 18 months after enrollment on each case. An interim evaluation report was released in October 2000. The interim report presented description, service, and outcome analyses for the Homebuilders study sites. This report expands on the interim report by including description, service, and outcome analyses of the non-Homebuilders site. Additionally, analyses on sample attrition, social support, investigating worker questionnaires, staff questionnaires, and secondary analyses are included in this report.<sup>9</sup>

To preserve the distinct nature between the Homebuilders programs (Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee) and non-Homebuilders programs (Philadelphia), the description and analysis are presented separately. This report consists of three volumes. The Executive Summary and Study Overviews are provided in both Volumes One and Two. In addition, each volume provides the following:

- **Volume One** Study implementation, descriptions of each study site, and a description of the families for the Homebuilders sites.
- Volume Two Services for the Homebuilders sites, outcome analysis for the Homebuilders sites, description and analysis on the Philadelphia family preservation, attrition analysis for the study; social support; investigating worker questionnaire analysis; staff questionnaire analysis; and study conclusions.
- **Volume Three** Appendices A through K, which include study protocols, forms, secondary analysis and questionnaires.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As to be expected with any program, some of the families assigned to family preservation programs did not receive the services or received a minimal dosage of the services. In addition, a small number of the families in the control group were actually provided family preservation services. To address these issues, analyses were conducted in which these cases were dropped (secondary analysis).

#### REFERENCES

- Barth, Richard P. (1990) "Theories Guiding Home-Based Intensive Family Preservation Services," in J.K. Whittaker, J. Kinney, E.M. Tracey, and C. Booth, eds., *Reaching High-Risk Families: Intensive Family Preservation in Human Services*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1990.
- James Bell Associates. (1997). "Interim Report: The Family Preservation and Family Support Services (FP/FS) Implementation Study Volume I," submitted to DHHS, ACF, contract no. 105-94-8103.
- Nelson, K. E.; Landsman, M. J.; and Deutelbaum, W. (Jan.-Feb. 1990) "Three Models of Family-Centered Placement Prevention Services." *Child Welfare* vol. 69, 3–21.
- Nelson K. (1994). Family-based Services for Families and Children at Risk of Out-of-Home Placement. <u>Child Welfare Research Review I</u>, 83-108.
- Westat, Chapin Hall Center for Children, and James Bell Associates. (1998). "A Review of Family Preservation and Reunification Programs" submitted to DHHS, ASPE, contract no. HHS-100-94-0020.
- Westat, Chapin Hall Center for Children, and James Bell Associates. (1998) "Evaluation of the New York City HomeRebuilders Demonstration," submitted to DHHS, ASPE, contract No HHS-100-94-0020.

#### 2 THE SERVICES

In this chapter, we describe the services provided to families in both the family preservation and control groups in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee. Services in Philadelphia are described in Volume 2, Chapter 4. We are concerned with describing the experiences of these families in these programs and with making comparisons between the experimental and control groups. We must determine whether the experimental group received more services and more intense services in order to assess the extent to which the intended experimental conditions held. The interpretation of outcome information depends on a demonstration that experimental services were more extensive than "regular" services. We also attempt to compare the services received by the experimental group to the Homebuilders model, to get at questions of the extent to which the model was implemented. Finally, we describe how the families experienced these programs.

Most of the data come from the second interview with caretakers and caseworkers in which we asked questions about services offered and received during the period since random assignment and from the contact forms completed by workers serving both groups. In the followup interview a year after random assignment, caretakers were also asked about services received since the post-treatment interview and we report on analyses of those data at the end of this chapter. Comparisons were made between experimental and control group families as they were initially randomly assigned (the "primary analysis"). "Secondary" analyses, where violations of random assignment and cases receiving minimal service are dropped, were also performed. Tables showing secondary analyses are provided in Appendix H, Volume 3. In most cases, secondary analyses show similar results to those of the primary analyses. Differences are highlighted in footnotes to the following text.

#### 2.1 Caseworker Activities

Caretakers were asked to indicate whether the caseworker provided help with a number of specific problems. Table 2-1 shows the number of affirmative responses in each group.

**Kentucky**. According to caretakers, the most common activities in which workers engaged were discussing discipline and anger management and telling caretakers about other agencies that offer services. On the 19 items on which caretakers were questioned, never did the control group workers reportedly engage in an activity more than the experimental group

		Kentu	cky	N	ew Jerse	ey		Tennes	ssee
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р
Caseworker helped with money for rent/elect./phone	3	17	0.001	5	4		5	10	
Caseworker helped with money for other things	9	35	0.001	10	14		11	19	
Caseworker provided transportation	16	42	0.001	12	25	0.003	19	34	0.1
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	14	20		5	11	0.06	16	28	
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	35	55	0.001	39	60	0.001	46	70	0.01
Caseworker talked with you on relations with spouse	16	18		8	14	0.09	11	34	0.01
Caseworker helped you clean house	2	6		2	5		11	9	
Caseworker helped with painting/house repairs	1	1		1	1		5	1	
Caseworker discussed how to get childcare	15	18		15	1		14	24	
Caseworker helped with welfare/food stamps	8	14		5	7		11	8	
Caseworker advised how to get medical care	12	16		14	13		22	20	
Caseworker talked with you how to handle anger	28	43	0.005	29	53	0.001	42	70	0.004
Caseworker advised you on substance abuse	3	7		11	12		11	18	
Caseworker discussed with you how to get a better place	11	15		12	6	0.06	11	19	
Caseworker advised on job training programs	9	19	0.009	7	10		8	16	
Caseworker talked about how to get a paying job	6	17	0.004	5	8		11	18	
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	9	18	0.04	5	8		14	23	
Caseworker arranged for some childcare	1	3		5	7		6	13	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	38	43		42	56	0.01	19	33	

 Table 2-1

 Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities, Post-Treatment Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

workers. In the primary analysis, for 7 of the 19 items, experimental group workers reportedly engaged in the activity significantly more often than control group workers (all at p = .01 or less). One additional item showed significant differences in the same direction at p = .05 or lower.<sup>10</sup> A total count of the number of these 19 caseworker activities reported by caretakers also shows significant differences between the experimental and control groups. Caretakers in the experimental group reported an average of 3.9 caseworker activities (n = 148) while caretakers in the control group reported an average of 2.2 caseworker activities (n = 146, p = .001).<sup>11</sup> Caretakers were asked which of the caseworker activities were especially helpful. Experimental group caretakers judged significantly more activities to be helpful than did control group caretakers (1.7 vs. 1.0, p = .001). The services most often cited as helpful by experimental group caretakers were, in order, "the caseworker talked with you about discipline," "the caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger," "the caseworker told you about other agencies," and "the caseworker helped you with money for other things [other than rent, electricity, or phone]." For control group caretakers the most often cited helpful items were "the caseworker told you about other agencies," "the caseworker talking with you about discipline," and "the caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger."

New Jersey. The most common activities of workers (according to the caretakers) were discussions of discipline and the handling of anger and referrals to other agencies. In the primary analysis, in 2 of the 19 items control group workers more often engaged in the activity (ignoring those items with 1% differences): discussing getting a better place to live (p = .055) and discussing child care (not significant). For 4 of the 19 items, experimental group workers significantly more often engaged in the activity: discussion of discipline, transportation, discussion of how to handle anger, and discussion of other agencies. A fifth item, discussion of proper feeding of the child, was nearly significant at p = .06.

There were significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the average number of activities reported by caretakers, 3.25 for the experimental group (n = 210) and 2.31 for the control group (n = 134, p = .001).<sup>12</sup> When asked which of these activities were especially helpful, experimental group respondents judged significantly more activities to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The results of the secondary analyses show slightly greater differences between the experimental and control groups. Here, 8 of the 19 items show significant differences in favor of the experimental group at p = .01 or lower, and an additional 2 items show significant differences in the same direction at p = .05 or lower. See Appendix H-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> These differences were even larger when violations and minimal service cases were excluded from the analyses (4.7 vs. 2.1, *ns* of 138 and 109, p = .001).

helpful than did the control group respondents (1.97 vs. 1.11, p = .0001). The items cited most often as helpful were remarkably similar to those in Kentucky. The services most often cited as helpful by experimental group caretakers were, in order, "the caseworker talked with you about discipline," "the caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger," "the caseworker told you about other agencies," "the caseworker provided transportation," and "the caseworker helped you with money for other things [other than rent, electricity, or phone]." For control group caretakers the most often cited helpful items were exactly the same as in Kentucky: "the caseworker told you about other agencies," "the caseworker talking with you about discipline," and "the caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger."

**Tennessee.** Activities most often engaged in were similar to those in Kentucky and New Jersey: talk about discipline and talk about handling of anger. In 15 of the 19 items, experimental group workers were reported to have engaged in the activity more often than control group workers, although the differences were significant on only three of these items (talk about discipline, talk about handling anger, and talk about relations with spouse). For the four items control group workers more often engaged in, differences between the groups were small and not significant.

As in Kentucky and New Jersey, there was a significant difference between the groups in the average number of activities reported by caretakers, 4.6 for the experimental group (n = 80) vs. 2.89 for the control group (n = 37, p = .02).<sup>13</sup> Experimental group respondents also judged more activities as especially helpful, an average of 1.34 vs. .84 (p = .04). Again, the items cited most often as helpful were similar to those in Kentucky and New Jersey. Both the experimental and control groups most often listed talk about discipline, talk about how to handle anger, and transportation as most helpful, although experimental group respondents cited these activities far more often.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Differences were even greater when the violations and minimal service cases were excluded (3.57 vs. 1.90, ns of 181 and 115, p = .0001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In the secondary analysis, the experimental group had an average of 4.99 activities, compared to 2.88 for the control group.

# 2.2 Social Program Participation

In the second interview, at the completion of family preservation services for the experimental group, caretakers were asked about their participation in the same set of social programs they were asked about in the initial interview (see Volume 1, Chapter 7), except this time they were asked to report their participation since the time of the first interview (Table 2-2).

_		Kentucky			New Jersey		Tennessee			
Program	С %	E %	р	C %	Е %	р	C %	Е %	р	
Food stamps	60	66		51	48		65	64		
Job training	3	8	0.09	2	3		3	4		
WIC	32	45	0.02	22	20		51	41		
AFDC	47	49		38	40		49	50		
Housing vouchers	15	20		17	16		11	11		
Social security disability	39	34		32	28		22	36		
Alcoholism program	5	5		5	5		5	6		
Drug treatment program	3	1		6	9		8	9		
Marriage counseling	0	7	0.006 (FE)	2	2		0	1		
Community mental health program	11	15		21	28		14	18		
Head Start/pre-school	26	21		33	32		25	38		

Table 2-2 Participation In Social Programs, Post-Treatment Interview

Note: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test. C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

**Kentucky**. The proportions of participation in social programs at post-treatment were remarkably similar to those at the initial interview for combined-group data. There was less than a 2 percent change in participation of most programs. Exceptions to this were a 2.6 percent decrease in participation in WIC services (from 41% to 38%), a 4 percent decrease in the proportion of respondents receiving food stamps (from 67% to 63%), and a 6.3 percent decrease for participation in Head Start or Pre-school programs (from 30% to 24%).

Looking at post-interview data in Table 2-2, there were significant differences in experimental and control group participation in the WIC program, with 45 percent of the experimental group reporting participation at the post-treatment interview (n = 148) compared to 32 percent of the control group (n = 146; p = .021). Differences between experimental and control groups were also found with respect to participation in job training and marriage counseling. For job training, 8 percent of the experimental group reported participation (n = 148) compared to 3 percent of the control group (n = 146; p = .085). Seven percent of the experimental group (n = 102) but none of the control group respondents (n = 105) reported participation in marriage counseling (Fisher's exact p = .006). No significant differences were found with respect to the total number of income support programs or treatment programs in which respondents participated since the time of the first interview.

New Jersey. As in Kentucky, the proportions of social program participation for combined groups at initial and post-treatment interviews were similar except for community mental health programs (26% in the second interview compared to 31% in the first for both groups combined) and using Head Start or another pre-school program (32% vs. 42%). There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups. There were no significant differences between groups in the number of income support programs and treatment programs.

**Tennessee**. Participation in social programs at the post-treatment interview was similar to that at the initial interview for both groups combined except for declines in use of food stamps (from 72% to 64%), AFDC (from 61% to 50%) and head start/preschool (38% to 34%). There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in participation in any program post-treatment, nor were there significant differences in the average number of income support or treatment programs.

# 2.3 Caretakers' Reports of Services

In the second interviews, caretakers were asked if they had received any of a set of specific services in the time since the first interview. Results are shown in Table 2-3.

	Kentucky				New Jersey			Tennessee	
	С	E		С	Е		С	Е	
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р
Daycare	5	19	0.001	10	7		26	26	
Help in finding a place to live	1	4		5	2		17	5	0.04
Staying at an emergency shelter		1		2	I		0	0	0.03
Medical or dental care	8	15	0.07	36	42		34	16	0.03
Transportation	7	16	0.02	14	12		17	19	
Education services/GED	1	4		2	2		9	8	
Parent education/ training classes	13	19		8	11		20	8	0.06
Legal services	7	11		11	7		9	5	
Counseling	35	52	0.003	50	56		9	17	
Respite care	1	1		0	1		0	0	
Homemaker services	1	3		6	3		14	3	0.02
A parent aide to help you	1	4		7	4		11	5	

 Table 2-3

 Caretaker Report of Services, Post-Treatment Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

Kentucky. A significantly greater proportion of caretakers from the experimental group reported receiving such services as day care (19% vs. 5%), transportation (16% vs. 7%), and counseling (52% vs. 35%). All were significant at p = .05 or less. Reported receipt of medical or dental care was also a higher for the experimental group than for the control group (15% vs. 8%, p = .07).<sup>14</sup> In a separate question, caretakers were asked whether the agency provided homemaker services or the assistance of parent aide. Approximately two percent of all caretakers reported having a homemaker and about three percent reported receiving assistance from a parent aide, with slightly greater but not significantly different percentages reported in the experimental group as compared to the control group. When caretakers were asked whether they did not receive any services they felt were needed, 27 percent of the control group responded affirmatively compared to 19 percent of the experimental group, a difference that was not statistically significant in either the primary or secondary analyses.

New Jersey. There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in receipt of any of these services in the primary analyses.<sup>15</sup> About 4 percent of the caretakers reported having a homemaker, with no significant difference between the experimental and control groups. Control group caretakers significantly more often reported they did not receive services that were needed (56% vs. 42%, p = .01).

**Tennessee**. On most of the services items, control group caretakers more often reported receiving the service, these differences being significant at .06 or lower for five of the items listed in Table 2-3. Experimental group percentages were higher for only two items, counseling (reported by far fewer caretakers in Tennessee than in Kentucky and New Jersey) and transportation, neither difference being significant. These rather surprising results, indicating more services for the control group, contradict data on caseworker activities presented above and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> When violations and minimal service cases are excluded from the analyses, the differences remained significant and most *p*-values decreased even further. The secondary analyses showed a significantly greater proportion of the experimental group caretakers report attendance at parent education classes (p = .04). See Appendix H-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> In the secondary analysis (dropping violations and minimal service cases) there was a difference on one item: experimental group caretakers more often received counseling (59% vs. 46%, p = .03). See Appendix H-3.

data from the Tennessee caseworkers (discussed in Section 2.5). Control group caretakers more often reported they did not receive services that were needed (39% vs. 24%, p = .1).

#### 2.4 Relationship with Caseworker

Table 2-4 shows results from a number of questions in which caretakers were asked about their relationships with caseworkers. In all three states, for most of these questions, caretakers in the experimental group rated their workers significantly more positively than did caretakers in the control group. A greater proportion of experimental group caretakers felt their workers listened to their concerns "most of the time" other responses were "some of the time" and "not very often." Also, a greater proportion of experimental group caretakers felt their workers understood their situation "very well" as compared to "not very well." A greater proportion of caretakers in the experimental group reported reaching agreement with their workers on goals "most of the time."

In all three states, experimental group caretakers significantly more often than control group caretakers reported that workers talked with them about problems that were not easy to talk about, helped caretakers to "see your problems" (p = .1 in Kentucky), and helped them see their good qualities. With regard to the frequency of contact with the workers, in Kentucky, approximately 20 percent of caretakers from both the experimental and control groups indicated they did not see their caseworkers often enough. A greater proportion of caretakers in the experimental group indicated they saw their workers "more often than [they] wanted" (18% vs. 9%) and a greater proportion of caretakers in the control group indicated they saw their workers "as often as [they] wanted" (70% vs. 62%). In New Jersey, a greater proportion of caretakers in the experimental group responded that they saw their workers "as often as [they] wanted" (59% vs. 43%) and a greater proportion of caretakers in the control group responded that they saw their workers "not often enough" (45% vs. 27%). In Tennessee, more experimental group caretakers said they saw their workers more often than they wanted (27% vs. 19%) and more control group caretakers said they did not see their workers often enough (36% vs. 25%), but the differences between the groups on this item were not significant. In none of the three states did the groups differ in the extent to which they called workers when they had problems.

### 2.5 Caseworkers' Reports of Services

In the second interview, caseworkers were asked whether they had made referrals to any of 25 services, such as childcare, homemaker services, income programs, treatment programs of various sorts, and health care. Results from these 25 items are shown in Table 2-5.

	Kentucky				New Jerse	у	Tennessee			
-	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р	
Worker listened to your concerns most of the time	71	87	0.001	56	78	0.001	71	91	0.02	
Worker understood your situation very well	75	90	0.002	62	79	0.001	64	81	0.09	
You and worker agreed on goals most of the time	66	76	0.06	40	72	0.001	38	58	0.09	
Did worker sometimes talk with you about issues that were not easy to talk about?	27	34		29	44	0.01	22	51	0.003	
Caseworker helped you to see your good qualities	67	79	0.03	47	70	0.001	53	82	0.001	
Caseworker helped you to see your problems	66	76	0.1	52	72	0.001	50	82	0.001	
Did vou see vour caseworker			0.09			0.003				
More often than you wanted	9	18		12	14		19	27		
As often as you wanted	70	62		43	59		44	48		
Not often enough	21	20		45	27		36	25		

 Table 2-4

 Caretakers' Reports on Relationship with Caseworker, Post-Treatment Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

	I	Kentucky		New	Jersey		Tennessee			
-	С	E		С	Е		С	Е		
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р	
Childcare or baby sitting	8.7	8.5		9.3	7.7		2.1	8.9		
AFDC or other public income (except SSI)	4.3	4.8		4.3	4		4.2	5.6		
SSI for adult or child	1.9	0.6		1.2	0.7		2.1	0		
Food stamps	2.5	6.1		4.3	3.3		4.2	6.7		
Drug treatment	3.8	4.2		11	5.5	0.05	0	10	0.03	
Alcoholism treatment	3.8	2.4		8	5.5		0	6.7	0.09	
Legal aid	3.7	7.9		1.8	4.8	0.08	0	5.6		
Help with education	13	22	0.03	14	26	0.001	4.2	15.6	0.05	
Respite care	5	6.1		5.5	5.5		4.2	4.4		
Parent training	29	67	0.001	28	67	0.0001	31	68	0.001	
Health care	12	22	0.02	15	18		8.3	22	0.04	
Inpatient mental health	4.3	2.4		2.5	5.1	0.14	2.1	0		
Outpatient mental health/counseling Health assessment	39 13	36 24	0.01	25 17	37 21	0.01	17 13	20 13		
Housing financial assistance	3.7	12	0.005	5.5	4.8		0	5.6		
Other housing services	1.2	10	0.01	1.9	3.7		0	5.6		
W.I.C.	1.9	2.4		3.1	2.6		2.1	3.3		
Emergency financial assistance other than housing	5.6	33	0.001	18	22		6.3	23	0.01	
Job training	0.6	1.8		1.2	2.2		0	5.6		
Emergency shelter	3.7	1.8		6.2	1.5	0.02	2.1	2.2		
Recreational services	7.5	24	0.001	11	23	0.001	4.2	21	0.008	
Family planning	9.9	15		11	20	0.009	8.3	10		
Self help groups	10	3.6	0.02	4.3	8.8	0.056	2.1	8.9		
Household management	10	32	0.01	12	28	0.0001	17	29		
Homemaker services	3.7	13	0.003	6.8	1.5	0.01	8.3	3.3		
Other	9.3	16	0.08	15	16		17	14		
N	161	165		162	272		48	90		

 Table 2-5

 Caseworkers' Report of Services Provided to Family, Post-treatment Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

**Kentucky.** Caseworkers for the experimental group reported that their clients were provided with an average of 3.7 of these services, while caseworkers from the control group reported their clients were provided with an average of 2.1 of these services (p = .0001).<sup>16</sup> In the primary analyses, 10 specific services were provided significantly more often to the experimental group than to the control group (significance levels were all at p = .05 or less). These services include help with education, parent training, recreation services, health care, health assessment, housing financial assistance, other housing assistance, emergency financial assistance, household management, and homemaker services. A greater proportion of caseworkers from the experimental group selected the unspecified category of "other" services provided (p = .08). One service, self help groups, was provided significantly more often to the control group than the experimental group (p = .02).<sup>17</sup>

**New Jersey.** Experimental group caseworkers reported that on average their clients were provided 3.5 of these services, while control group families were provided 2.4, a difference significant at .0001.<sup>18</sup> When individual services are examined, there were six services that were provided significantly more often to the experimental group (education services, parent training, outpatient mental health, recreational services, family planning, and household management). Three services were provided significantly more often to the control group: drug treatment, emergency shelter, and homemakers.<sup>19</sup>

**Tennessee.** Experimental group caseworkers reported providing an average of 3.2 services, compared with 1.6 for the control group, significantly different at .0002.<sup>20</sup> Six individual services were significantly more often provided to experimental group families (drug treatment,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> When violations and minimal services cases were excluded, the difference between the groups was even larger (4.6 vs. 2.0, p = .0001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In the secondary analyses, excluding violations and minimal service cases, 13 services were provided significantly more often to the experimental group than to the control group (again, significance levels were all at p = .05 or less). In addition to the 11 primary analysis items showing differences in favor of the experimental group (ten significant items plus the category of "other"), these were: food stamps (p = .01) and family planning (p = .04). Again, in the secondary analyses, self-help groups was the only service provided significantly more often to the control group than the experimental group. See Appendix H-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The difference between groups was even larger when violations and minimal service cases were excluded: 3.8 vs. 2.0 (p < .0001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Excluding violations and minimal service cases, only one service was provided significantly more often to the control group, emergency shelter, while nine services were significantly more often provided to the experimental group, the above six plus legal aid, emergency financial assistance, and self help groups.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  The difference between groups was even larger when violations and minimal service cases were excluded: 3.4 vs. 1.4 (p < .0001).

help with education, parent training, health care, emergency financial assistance, and recreational services).<sup>21</sup> No services were significantly more often provided to the control group.

Workers serving clients in both the experimental and control groups were asked to complete a one-page contact report following each in-person contact with a family member (see Appendix K, Volume 3). The report was a simple check-off form, asking about who was present in the visit and about the content of the conversation. Although these forms were quite simple and easy to fill out, it proved difficult to get workers to complete them. We implored workers who did not fill out these forms to do so, and we have at least one on a fair proportion of the cases. However, it is likely that for at least some cases on which we have forms that we do not have them for all of the contacts. We are unable to determine how many contacts occurred for which we have no forms. Furthermore, the quality of information may be affected by the fact that some of the forms were submitted after many calls from our office and after long delay. The following analyses were limited to those families with contact reports. Only "primary" analyses are reported for contact reports.

Some data on contact forms are presented in Table 2-6. Forms were received on between 71 percent and 91 percent of the experimental groups and between 51 percent and 71 percent of the control groups. It should be noted that the lower rate for control group cases is partially due to the fact that there was no contact in the four weeks after the date of random assignment, the period of time for which we requested contact forms for the control group (a period comparable to the 4 week period of services for the experimental group). On average, more contact forms were submitted for the experimental group than for the control group. In addition to the overall number of reports submitted, in all three states the experimental group received significantly more home visits, visits with caretakers, visits with the other parent, and visits with children. The experimental group workers were more likely to involve other adults in the family, non-family members, and other workers. As experimental group families received significantly more contacts than the control group families, in all three states the most common concrete service was the provision of transportation. Purchasing food, child care, and providing clothing, furnishings, and supplies were also common forms of concrete services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In the secondary analysis, there was one additional service provided significantly more often to the experimental group: household management.

		Kentucky			New Jerse	у		Tennessee	•
	C %	E %	p	C %	E %	p	C %	E %	р
Number of cases with at least one form submitted	111 (63%)	124 (71%)		119 (71%)	250 (91%)		25 (51%)	73 (74%)	
Average number of forms per case	3.1	13.8	.001	4.4	12.4	.001	2.5	9.5	.001
Average number of home visits	1.9	10.3	.001	3.6	10.8	.001	2.0	8.0	.001
Average number of visits with caretakers	2.4	12.8	.001	3.8	10.3	.001	2.2	8.2	.001
Average number of visits with the other parent	0.4	2.2	.001	0.6	1.9	.001	0.2	1.7	.01
Average number of visits with children	2.1	10.3	.001	3.6	9.4	.001	1.9	7.2	.001
Concrete Services									
Transportation	0.5	3.5	.001	0.9	2.3	.001	0.2	1.9	.001
Buying food	0.1	1.0	.001	0.4	0.8	.003	0.0	0.5	.01
Child care	0.3	0.4		0.2	1.0	.001	.04	.21	.03
Clothing, furnishings, and supplies	0.2	0.9	.001	0.2	0.6	.01	0.0	0.3	.01
Topics of Discussion									
Discipline of children	1.5	7.1	.001	2.2	6.0	.001	1.4	4.7	.001
Goals	1.8	6.0	.001	2.1	6.6	.001	1.8	4.2	.001
Caretaker's interaction with children	1.5	6.0	.001	2.2	5.7	.001	1.7	4.8	.001
Child's anger management	1.1	3.9	.001	1.6	4.8	.001	0.8	1.5	.06
Supervision of children	1.1	4.0	.001	1.4	2.9	.001	1.6	2.9	.001

Table 2-6 **Contact Forms** 

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group The contact forms contained additional concrete services and topics of discussion (see Appendix K, Volume 3). Only those that were most often reported are shown here. Entries are average numbers of times per family that an item was reported, for those families with at least one form submitted.

Contact forms also captured general information about the topic of discussion, counseling, or instruction. In all three states, for both experimental and control families, the most common topics of discussion were the discipline of children, goals, and the caretaker's interaction with the children. Other common topics were the child's anger management and supervision of children.

**Experimental Group Contacts.** We examined further the contact forms for the experimental group to explore some issues in the adherence of programs to the Homebuilders model of service, subscribed to in all three states (see Table 2-7). In addition to other critical elements of family preservation, the Homebuilders model specifies that workers should provide an in-home contact within 72 hours of referral, and family preservation workers should be available seven days per week. Substantial contact should take place within the first week; Kinney, Haapala, and Booth suggest that the typical case receive 11 hours of service in that time.<sup>22</sup> Concrete services are also an important component of service, particularly early in the case.

In Kentucky, of the 124 experimental families with submitted contact forms, 55 (44%) received an in-home contact within 72 hours, 97 (78%) had contact in the first week. Those 97 families had an average of 5.1 hours of face-to-face contact in the first week. Regarding availability of worker, 18 (1%) of contacts occurred on either Saturday or Sunday. Finally, 34 (27%) of the experimental families received some type of concrete service within the first seven days.

	Kentucky		New.	Jersey	Tenne	essee
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Number of families with contact data	124		250		73	
Total number of contact forms submitted	1713		308		690	
Contacts in week 1	280	16	753	24	169	25
Contacts in week 2	353	21	667	22	142	21
Contacts in week 3	322	19	601	19	133	19
Contacts in week 4	322	19	515	17	111	16
In-home contact within 72 hours	55	44	183	73	42	57
In-home contact with 7 days	97	78	219	88	53	73
Concrete service within 7 days	34	27	95	38	21	29

Table 2-7Experimental Group Contacts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Jill Kinney, David Haapala, and Charlotte Booth, (1991). *Keeping Families Together: The Homebuilders Model*, New York: Aldine de Gruyter.

In New Jersey, of the 250 experimental families with submitted contact forms, 73 percent received an in-home contact within 72 hours, 219 (88%) in the first week, and those families had an average of 6.5 hours of face-to-face contact in the first week. Regarding availability of the worker, only 196 (6%) of submitted contacts occurred on Saturday or Sunday. Finally, 38 percent of the experimental families received some type of concrete service within the first seven days.

In Tennessee, of the 73 experimental families with submitted contact forms, 42 (57%) received an in-home contact within 72 hours, 53 (73%) had contact in the first week. We are able to calculate hours of contact for 45 of these 53 cases and these cases had an average of 8.3 hours of face-to-face contact in the first week. Regarding the availability of the worker, 60 (9%) contacts occurred on either Saturday or Sunday. Finally, 21 (29%) of the experimental families received some type of concrete service within the first seven days.

These data seem to indicate that some "structural" aspects of the Homebuilders model (contact within 72 hours of referral, amount of contact in the first week, services provided at all hours, including weekends, and concrete services early in the case) are not always upheld in these states. However, it is not possible to draw firm conclusions about this, because of issues in the quality of the contact form data discussed earlier.

#### 2.6 Summary of Services

In all three states, the caretaker interview, the caseworker interview, and the contact data generally confirmed the expectation that the experimental group would receive more services and more intensive services that the control group. An exception is the caretaker reports of services received in Tennessee. Table 2-8 shows a summary of those items on which there were significant differences between experimental and control groups on the primary analyses in any state.

In all three states, the number of experimental group caseworker activities reported by caretakers was greater than that reported by control group respondents, and this was also true of "helpful" caseworker activities. As for specific caseworker activities, experimental group workers in all three states were more likely to provide transportation, talk about discipline, and talk about how to handle anger. In all three states, the number of specific services received by experimental group families was greater than the number received by control group families. Contact from data confirmed that there was far more contact with experimental group families. The most common concrete service reported on contact forms was transportation; the most common topics of discussion were discipline of children, goals, and caretaker's interaction with children.

# Table 2-8 Summary Of Services, Post-Treatment Interview

#### **Caseworker Activities:**

Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no questions

	Kentucky			Ν	lew Jers	ey	Tennessee			
-	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		
	%	%	p	%	%	р	%	%	р	
Is caseworker still working with family	79	64	0.006	75	31	0.001	57	34	0.02	
Caseworker helped with money for rent, electricity, phone	3	17	0.001	5	4		5	10		
Caseworker helped with money for other things	9	35	0.001	10	14		11	19		
Caseworker provided transportation	16	42	0.001	12	25	0.003	19	34	0.10	
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	14	20		5	11	0.06	16	28		
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	35	55	0.001	39	60	0.001	46	70	0.01	
Caseworker talked with you on relationship with spouse	16	18		8	14	0.09	11	34	0.01	
Caseworker talked with you about how to handle anger	28	43	0.005	29	53	0.001	42	70	0.004	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	38	43		42	56	0.01	19	33		
Caseworker advised on job training programs	9	19	0.009	7	10		8	16		
Caseworker talked about how to get paying job	6	17	0.004	5	8		11	18		
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	9	18	0.04	5	8		14	23		
Caseworker talked about uneasy issues	27	34		29	44	0.008	22	51	0.003	
Caseworker helped you see good qualities	67	79	0.03	47	70	0.001	53	82	0.001	
Caseworker helped you see your problem	66	76	0.10	52	72	0.001	50	82	0.001	
Caseworker understood your situation	75	90	0.002	62	79	0.001	64	79	0.08	

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

This table only includes items with a primary analysis p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported. Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

# Table 2-8 Summary of Services, Post-treatment Interview (continued)

		Kentucky	/	N	lew Jers	ey		Tennessee			
	C Mean	E Mean	р	C Mean	E Mean	p	C Mean	E Mean	р		
CT report of # of caseworker activities	2.18	3.90	0.0001	2.31	3.25	0.001	2.89	4.60	0.02		
CT report of # of "helpful" caseworker activities	1.04	1.68	0.0001	1.11	1.97	0.0001	0.83	1.33	0.04		

C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

#### **Services Provided**

Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no questions

	Kentucky				New Jer	sey	Tennessee			
	C %	Е %	р	C %	Е %	р	C %	Е %	р	
Anyone been in job training program	3	8	0.09	2	3		3	4		
Anyone been in WIC	32	45	0.02	22	20		51	41		
Been in a marriage counseling program	0	7	0.006	2	2		0	1		
Anyone receive daycare	5	19	0.001	10	7		26	26		
Anyone receive transportation	7	16	0.02	14	12		17	19		
Anyone receiving parent education/training	13	19		6	10		20	8	0.06	
Anyone receive counseling	35	52	0.003	50	56		9	17		
Anyone receive help finding a place to live	1	4		5	2		17	5	0.04	
Anyone stay at an emergency shelter	1	1		2	1		6	0	0.03	
Anyone receive medical or dental care	8	15	0.07	36	42		34	16	0.03	
Anyone receive homemaker services	1	3		6	3		14	3	0.02	
Were any needed services not gotten	27	19		56	42	0.01	39	24	0.10	
		Kentucl	ky		New Jer	sey		Tenness	ee	
	C Mean	E Mear	n p	C Mean	E Mea	n p	C Mean	E Mear	n p	
Caseworker report of # of services provided	3.16	4.99	0.001	2.31	3.17	0.001	1.58	3.19	0.0002	

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

This table only includes items with a primary p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported.

Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

It is of interest that transportation is a theme in a number of sources of information about services. We do not have information on where workers were transporting parents and children, but it is evident that needs for transportation are common in these families, needs that workers are able to respond to. This is a concrete service that provides immediate help and builds relationships. Furthermore, workers told us that they often use the time in the car to good advantage in discussing problems of the family.

The most common subject of counseling, interaction with children and in particular their discipline, reflect central problems in these families, problems of paramount concern to the child protective system. It is, therefore, not surprising that workers were focused on altering parent-child interaction patterns. Experimental group caseworkers in all three states were more often reported to have talked about difficult issues, to have helped the caretaker to see her/his good qualities and problems, and to have "understood your situation."

Insofar as there are differences between groups, we can be reasonably sure that the experimental conditions held. Conclusions regarding adherence to the Homebuilders model are less clear cut. Families did not always receive contact within 72 hours, fewer than expected contacts occurred in the first week of the program, and few contacts occurred on weekends. There was relatively little provision of concrete services early on. These results are not entirely surprising. Social programs are never implemented precisely as they are designed. Perhaps the test of a program conception is that it achieves desired outcomes even when it is not implemented exactly as intended.

#### 2.7 Services During the Followup Period

When caretakers were interviewed a year after random assignment, they were asked some of the same questions about services received, this time since the last interview (since the end of family preservation services for the experimental group and during a comparable period for the control group). Tables 2-9, 2-10, and 2-11 show analyses of these questions.

**Caseworker Activities**. Caretaker reports of caseworker activities since the posttreatment interview are shown in Table 2-9. In all three states, the experimental group respondents reported more caseworker activities than did control group respondents. In Kentucky, there were five activities the experimental group caretakers significantly more often reported: help with money for rent, electricity, or phone; help with money for other things; transportation; advice on getting medical care; and information about other agencies. In New Jersey, there were two such activities, help in cleaning the house and talk about how to handle anger, with a third

	Kentucky				ersey	Tennessee			
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р
Caseworker helped with money for rent/elect./phone	1	8	.008	4	5		8	13	
Caseworker helped with money for other things	8	16	.05	8	11		14	37	.01
Caseworker provided transportation	11	23	.01	11	18		17	42	.007
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	3	8		3	3		11	23	
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	24	32		24	34	.08	42	62	.05
Caseworker talked with you on relations with spouse	4	9		8	8		19	39	.04
Caseworker helped you clean house	1	1		0	5	.03 (FE)	8	10	
Caseworker helped with painting/house repairs	0	0		0	0		3	4	
Caseworker discussed how to get childcare	8	11		8	5		6	16	
Caseworker helped with welfare/food stamps	2	4		3	2		3	4	
Caseworker advised how to get medical care	2	9	.01	6	6		11	14	
Caseworker talked with you how to handle anger	24	33		16	28	.03	36	59	.02
Caseworker advised you on substance abuse	6	6		7	6		0	18	.009 (FE)
Caseworker discussed with you how to get a better place	8	8		7	4		11	18	
Caseworker advised on job training programs	7	9		4	3		8	15	
Caseworker talked about how to get a paying job	6	9		3	4		8	18	
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	5	6		5	4		17	22	
Caseworker arranged for some childcare	1	0		2	2		0	1	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	14	24	.05	30	41	.06	8	30	.01
Caseworker talked with you about family planning	9	16		5	7		6	7	

Table 2-9 Caretaker Reports Of Caseworker Activities, Followup Interview

Note: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

item nearly significant, information about other agencies (p = .06). In Tennessee, there were seven activities significantly more often reported by experimental group caretakers: help with money for other things, transportation, talk about discipline, advice on substance abuse, help with relations with spouse, talk about how to handle anger, and information about other agencies. Differences between the groups were not as great as those reported for the treatment period, as is to be expected, since the treatment did not continue during this period.

**Participation in Social Programs**. As indicated in Table 2-10, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in any state in involvement in social programs during the post-treatment period.

**Caretaker Report of Services**. Table 2-11 indicates that there was only one service in the three states on which there was a significant difference between groups in receipt post-treatment; in Tennessee more control group respondents reported having a parent aide. In Kentucky and New Jersey, the proportions of the two groups receiving each service are remarkably similar. Control group families in Tennessee more often received a couple of other services, but the differences were not significant. For the most part, the superiority of the control group in Tennessee in receipt of services observed at the post-treatment interview dissipated at the time of the followup interview.

Summary of Post-treatment Services. A summary of the significant differences between experimental and control groups on report of services at the followup caretaker interview is shown in Table 2-12. In the questions about caseworker activities, there is some indication that experimental group families received more services during the post-treatment period. Since caretakers were asked about the period of time following the last interview, we assume that for experimental group respondents the activities were undertaken by workers other than family preservation workers, perhaps workers in the public agency or workers in other private agency programs to which they might have been referred. Hence, the data may be taken as indicating receipt of somewhat more services by the experimental group families after the end of family preservation services, in accordance with the goal of these programs to connect families with ongoing services. However, this finding was not confirmed by data on social programs or services. It is possible that the finding also reflects something that we have often heard from public agency workers working with family preservation programs, that the family preservation

	K	entucky		New	Jersey		Tennessee			
	C %	Е %	р	С %	E %	р	С %	E %	р	
Food stamps	50	61	.10	49	45		56	54		
Job training	7	13	.10	10	5	.07	11	12		
WIC	24	31		21	18		28	34		
AFDC	34	39		37	39		31	34		
Housing vouchers	13	13		16	18		19	18		
Social security disability	32	32		27	27		19	36	.07	
Alcoholism program	5	6		10	8		6	8		
Drug treatment program	3	4		10	11		3	9		
Marriage counseling	4	4		5	6		3	3		
Community mental health program	6	7		29	32		19	22		
Head Start/pre-school	29	35		41	45		50	60		

 Table 2-10

 Participation In Social Programs, Followup Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

	Kentucky				New Jersey		Tennessee			
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		
	%	%	р	%	%	Р	%	%	р	
Daycare	13	12		14	13		31	33		
Help in finding a place to live	2	2		2	2		14	5		
Staying at an emergency shelter	2	1		2	3		11	3	.09 (FE)	
Medical or dental care	6	7		64	62		17	19		
Transportation	13	17		13	14		9	18		
Education services/GED	3	2		3	4		9	8		
Parent education/training classes	14	13		7	8		17	16		
Legal services	6	6		14	18		3	1		
Counseling	50	48		52	57		19	25		
Respite care	1	2		2	4		0	0		
Homemaker services	1	2		6	5		6	5		
A parent aide to help you	1	3		3	2		14	3	.04 (FE)	
Family planning services	2	4		2	4		3	1		

Table 2-11 Caretaker Report Of Services, Followup Interview

Note: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test Control = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

Kentucky			N	ew Jers	ey	- -	Tennessee		
С	Е		С	Е		С	E		
%	%	p	%	%	p	%	%	p	
1	8	.008	4	5		8	13		
8	16	.05	8	11		14	37	.01	
11	23	.01	11	18		17	42	.007	
24	32		24	34	.08	42	62	.05	
4	9		8	8		19	39	.04	
1	1		0	5	.03 (FE)	8	10		
24	33		16	28	.03	36	59	.02	
6	6		7	6		0	18	.009 (FE)	
14	24	.05	30	41	.06	8	30	.01	
	Ken C % 1 8 11 24 4 1 24 4 1 24 6 14	Kentucky         C       E         %       %         1       8         8       16         11       23         24       32         4       9         1       1         24       33         6       6         14       24	Kentucky         C       E         %       p         1       8       .008         8       16       .05         11       23       .01         24       32       .01         24       32       .01         24       33       .01         24       33       .05         14       24       .05	Kentucky       No         C       E       C $\%$ $p$ $\%$ 1       8       .008       4         8       16       .05       8         11       23       .01       11         24       32       24         4       9       8         1       1       0         24       33       16         6       6       7         14       24       .05       30	Kentucky       New Jerse         C       E       C       E $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $\%$ 1       8       .008       4       5         8       16       .05       8       11         11       23       .01       11       18         24       32       24       34         4       9       8       8         1       1       0       5         24       33       16       28         6       6       7       6         14       24       .05       30       41	Kentucky       New Jersey         C       E       C       E $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $p$ 1       8       .008       4       5         8       16       .05       8       11         11       23       .01       11       18         24       32       24       34       .08         4       9       8       8         1       1       0       5       .03 (FE)         24       33       16       28       .03         6       6       7       6       30       41       .06	Kentucky       New Jersey       T         C       E       C       E       C $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $p$ $\%$ 1       8       .008       4       5       8         8       16       .05       8       11       14         11       23       .01       11       18       17         24       32       24       34       .08       42         4       9       8       8       19         1       1       0       5       .03 (FE)       8         24       33       16       28       .03       36         6       6       7       6       0       0         14       24       .05       30       41       .06       8	Kentucky       New Jersey       Tennesse         C       E       C       E       C       E $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $p$ $\%$ $\phi_{\phi}$ 1       8       .008       4       5       8       13         8       16       .05       8       11       14       37         11       23       .01       11       18       17       42         24       32       24       34       .08       42       62         4       9       8       8       19       39         1       1       0       5       .03 (FE)       8       10         24       33       16       28       .03       36       59         6       6       7       6       0       18       30         14       24       .05       30       41       .06       8       30	

### **Table 2-12 Summary Of Services, Followup Interview**

	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е	
	Mean	Mean	p	Mean	Mean	р	Mean	Mean	р
CT report of # of caseworker activities	.97	1.65	.01	1.0	1.3		1.6	3.3	.002

Kentucky

# **Services Provided:**

**Caseworker Activities:** 

Proportion of affirmative answers to yes/no questions										
	Kentucky			1	New Jer	sey	Tennessee			
	С	Е		С	Е		С	Е		
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	р	
Anyone been in job training program	7	13	.10	10	5	.07	11	12		
Anyone receive a parent aide to help you	1	3		3	2		14	3	.04(FE)	
Were any needed services not gotten	22	9	.006	48	38	.10	44	32		

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group.

"FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test.

Tables only include items with a primary p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported.

Items in **bold** indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

New Jersey

Tennessee
involvement gave them more information about the family and enabled them to plan better for services after family preservation.

#### **3 THE OUTCOMES**

This chapter describes the outcomes of the programs in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee, the three Homebuilders states in the evaluation. Outcomes for Philadelphia are presented in Chapter 4 of this volume.

The outcomes we examined were the placement of children in substitute care following random assignment to the experimental or control group, subsequent reports of maltreatment and a number of measures of child and family functioning. The focus is on comparisons between the experimental and control groups. Analyses we have designated as "primary" were conducted on all randomly assigned cases except those that were determined to be inappropriate referrals. This includes cases in which the assignment was violated (cases assigned to the control group that were given family preservation services) and cases assigned to family preservation that received no or little such service. Insofar as family preservation services have effects, inclusion of these cases in the analysis will tend to reduce the observed differences between the groups. However, the most rigorous approach to analysis requires that we retain these cases in the group to which they were assigned in order to maintain the statistical equivalence of the groups at the outset of the experiment, which is the reason for random assignment in the first place.

It is likely that violations and minimal service cases differ in systematic ways from other cases (perhaps not detected in the measurements of the study), hence, switching them to the other group would result in groups that were not equivalent at the beginning. It can be argued that inclusion of minimal service cases in the experimental group is quite proper on other grounds: the implementation of any program will involve some cases that do not receive the service, and estimates of impact ought to take that into account. We did conduct analyses ("secondary" analyses) in which the violations and minimal service cases were dropped, so as to examine differences between cases that actually received the intended treatment (family preservation or regular services). This analysis must be viewed as only suggestive, since it does not preserve the initial statistical equivalence of the groups created by random assignment. In fact, the results of the secondary analyses were usually similar to those of the primary analysis. We note in footnotes when the secondary analysis differed substantially from the primary analysis. The secondary analysis tables are presented in Appendix I, Volume 3.

Some analyses were also conducted on a more "refined" sample in which we attempted to focus on cases that approached a conception of "ideal" family preservation cases. Family preservation services are designed for families in crisis, presumably the crisis surrounding a recent allegation of maltreatment, the investigation of that allegation, and the threat of removal of a child. Theoretically, this state of crisis makes families more willing to seek and respond to help. As indicated in Chapter 7 in Volume One of the report, many of the families did not appear to conform to this specification of the target group. In Kentucky and New Jersey we looked at two subgroups of cases, those with a recent substantiated allegation recorded in the administrative data (within three months prior to referral to family preservation services) and those in which an investigative worker was involved. In Tennessee, nearly all of the cases came from investigating workers, so we looked at those cases with an allegation within 30 days prior to referral.

### 3.1 Substitute Care Placement Following Random Assignment

A principal goal of family preservation services is the prevention of placement into substitute care, so that must be the first (though not the last) outcome examined. Placement included foster care, institutions and residential treatment programs, group homes, and adoptive placements.<sup>23</sup> We are initially concerned with the character and timing of the first placement of a child following random assignment. We collected data on placement prior to November 30, 1999 in Kentucky, September 30, 1999 in New Jersey, and August 31, 1999 in Tennessee.<sup>24</sup> Although data were provided at the individual level, most of the analyses are presented at the family level.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The full list of New Jersey service codes that were included is: public institution, teaching family placement, para-foster care income maintenance, juvenile-family crisis shelter placement, relative placement, foster care placement, residential treatment placement, finalized adoption placement, selected adoption placement - pending, maternity home care, group home placement, independent living, and shelter care placement. Four of these categories did not actually occur in the data: teaching family placement, para-foster care income maintenance, finalized adoption placement, and selected adoption placement - pending. In Kentucky placement (as reflected in the variable FACTYPE), included: adoption, foster care, private institution/boarding schools, family treatment home, unmarried parent, other, children's psychiatric hospital, and foster care medically fragile. The data did not include adoption, family treatment home, and unmarried parent. In Tennessee, placements included: foster care, relative home, trial home, residential care, continuum contract, non-relative home, adoptive home, runaway, shelter, independent living, and detention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Cases entered the study at varying points in time. In Kentucky, cases entered between May 7, 1996 and February 13, 1998; in New Jersey, cases entered between November 6, 1996 and February 26, 1998; and in Tennessee, between November 19, 1996 and May 26, 1998.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> There are two reasons for focusing on family-level analyses. First, we are not confident that the administrative data allow for accurate identification of children to be included in the risk pool (what would be the denominator in a rate of placement calculation). Children are identified as belonging to a family through a case number. The analysis requires that we identify children who are in the home at the time of random assignment (or who are born or return to the home subsequently). In these states, children apparently often retain a family case number even when they are not in the home, and the administrative data do not allow us to verify the location of the child at the time of random assignment (or even sometimes at the time of an event such as placement). This problem is alleviated in analyses at the family level, since we know that the family is at risk of having a child placed (as long as there are any children in the family).

As to the accuracy of the "numerator" in our analyses, we focus on the first event (e.g., placement) in the family, subsequent to random assignment. It is possible that the first event occurs with regard to a child identified with a family but not living in that family at the time of the event. We judge the likelihood of that occurring to be small (the effects of this source of error would be similar in a family and child level analysis). In addition, subsequent events involving other children identified with the family but not in the family at the time of the event would not affect the family level analysis, while they would create inaccuracies in a child level analysis.

The second reason for focusing on the family level has to do with a "clustering" effect in the child level analysis. Clustering refers to the lack of independence between children within the same family of observations of such things as placement. If one child is

In Kentucky, the administrative files contained data on 1130 children in 345 families, 172 in the experimental group and 171 families in the control group. One hundred thirty-nine children in 61 families (36%) in the experimental group experienced placement subsequent to random assignment compared to 96 children in 55 families (32%) in the control group. In New Jersey, administrative data were available on 1290 children in 442 families, 275 in the experimental group and 167 in the control group. One hundred sixty-six children in 109 families (40%) in the experimental group were placed compared to 55 children in 48 families (29%) in the control group.

In Tennessee, multiple sources of data were used to calculate the rate of subsequent placement. A statewide management information system (CORS) provided information on formal paid placements. Additionally, case record reviews provided information on unpaid relative placements. In Tennessee, placement data were available on 468 children in 140 families, 93 in the experimental group and 47 in the control group. In the analysis of CORS data, forty-six children in 23 families (25%) in the experimental group experienced placement subsequent to random assignment compared to 25 children in 10 families (21%) in the control group. Including unpaid relative placements, 60 children in 29 families (31%) in the experimental group experienced placement subsequent to random assignment compared to 31 children in 13 families (28%) in the control group. These differences were not statistically significant at the family level in Kentucky, New Jersey or Tennessee (see Table 3-1 for types of placements after random assignment).

A comparison of these percents is, however, misleading, because of varying periods of risk of placement. The proper approach to the analysis of such data is survival analysis, in which the proportions of cases placed at each point in time following random assignment in each group are compared, accounting for the numbers of cases that "survive" to that point. We examined survival curves for each group and determined whether these curves were statistically different. Family level analyses were based on the first date of placement of any child in the family if a placement occurred.

removed from the home, the remaining children are more likely to experience placement. The "clustering effect" leads to an underestimate of the significance levels when analyses are conducted at the child level. Conducting the analyses at the family level is one approach to resolving this dilemma.

We did conduct a few analyses at the child level, when we wanted to take into account child characteristics, but it should be remembered that significance levels in those analyses are downwardly biased.

Гуре	Ν	%
Faster core	144	64.0
Private institution	144 60	04.0
Filvate institution Easter agra madically fragila	6	30.7 2.7
Child neuropietric hognital	0	2.7
Not enacified	4	1.8
Not specified	Z	0.8
Total	225	100
New Jersev		
Туре	Ν	%
Foster care	102	46.1
Juvenile family crisis	47	21.2
Residential treatment	35	15.9
Group home	17	7.7
Public institution	8	3.6
Shelter care	5	2.3
Adoptive	4	1.8
Relative	3	1.4
Total	221	100
T		
I ennessee	N	0/
Туре	IN	70
Foster care	31	44.3
Relative home	9	12.9
Trial home	6	8.5
Residential	6	8.5
Continuum contract	4	5.7
Non-relative home	4	5.7
Adoptive home	3	4.3
Runawav	2	2.8
Shelter	$\frac{-}{2}$	2.8
Independent living	$\frac{-}{2}$	2.8
Detention	1	1.4
	71	100

# Table 3-1 Type Of First Placement After Random Assignment, Child Level

Note: Includes only placements recorded in administrative data. There were additional unpaid relative placements (see text).

**Kentucky.** The family level analysis of subsequent placement is displayed in Figure 3-1.<sup>26</sup> These survival curves show the proportion of families remaining intact (without placement of a child) at each point in time following random assignment. The curves begin at 1, indicating that at the time of random assignment, all children were at home. The curves then decline as children enter care. The higher curve at any point represents the group with fewer placed children at that point. The curves are adjusted for cases that are "right censored." For example, cases that were not observed for a full year following random assignment are dropped in the calculation of the percentage remaining intact ("surviving") at one year. The Wilcoxon statistic indicates that the survival rates for the experimental and control groups are not statistically different. At the one-year interval, 25 percent of experimental group families and 24 percent of control group families experienced substitute care placement. At the end of two years, 32 percent of the experimental group and 27 percent of the control group families experienced substitute care placement.

"Refined" groups analyses were also conducted, limiting the sample to cases referred by investigative workers and to those families with substantiated allegations within the three months prior to random assignment. Significant differences did emerge for families with a substantiated allegation within three months prior to random assignment. In the primary analysis of those families coming from an investigative worker, 26 percent of the experimental group and 15 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement within one year after the random assignment date. For those with recent substantiated allegations, 29 percent of the experimental group and 13 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement within one year (significant at .05 level).

An additional "refined" group was available for analysis in Kentucky. Prior to random assignment, workers submitted petitions to the court for placement or some other court ordered intervention on 66 families. Administrative data were available for all 66 families (32 in the experimental group, 34 in the control group). Survival analyses were conducted to explore the relationship between family preservation services and subsequent placement. At one year after random assignment, 22 percent of the experimental group and 29 percent of the control group experienced placement; a nonsignificant difference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In Kentucky, the ratio of assignment to experimental and control groups was 50-50.





**New Jersey** 



Figure 3-1 First Placement after Random Assignment (Families)



## **Tennessee, CORS Administrative Data**







In addition to the administrative data on placement, in Kentucky the Westat site coordinator attempted to document all placements subsequent to random assignment, based on her contacts with caseworkers. The administrative data file contained placements not recorded by the site coordinator, and vice versa. The only systematic difference between these data sources was the documentation of relative placement. Relatives are generally not paid for placements in Kentucky, so these data were not recorded in the administrative files. Survival analyses were conducted with a combination of caseworker and administrative placement records. If either data source recorded a placement event, that family was coded as experiencing subsequent placement. The first documented date of placement, taken from either source, was selected for analysis. The patterns of placement in these analyses are similar to those reported above. At one year, 27 percent of the experimental group and 32 percent of the control group families experienced placement, a nonsignificant difference.

In addition to survival analyses, placement can be examined in terms of the proportion of time in substitute care subsequent to random assignment. If family preservation services are effective in preventing placements, we would expect them to result in lower numbers of days in foster care. Family preservation might also result in shorter stays in care, once children are placed. Comparison of days in care provides a beginning look at the question of whether family preservation results in lower costs of foster care (of course, a complete cost-effectiveness analysis must also factor in the differential costs of family preservation and regular services).

The proportion of time in care is calculated by dividing the number of days in care by the number of days of possible care (number of days between random assignment and the date of administrative data collection). As the proportions are calculated at the family level, the number of days in care represents the total number of care days summed across all children within a particular family. Similarly, the number of possible care days represents the total number of possible care days summed across all children within a particular family. Similarly, the number of possible care days represents the total number of possible care days is adjusted for a child's eighteenth birthday and for births since random assignment. For both primary and secondary analyses, in both the experimental and control groups children spent an average of 6 percent of the days subsequent to random assignment in care.

**New Jersey**. The family level analysis of placements is shown in Figure 3-1.<sup>27</sup> More families in the experimental group experienced placement of a child than in the control group (at one year, 29% of the experimental group vs. 22 percent of the control group; at two years, 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> In New Jersey, approximately 60 percent of the cases were assigned to the experimental group.

percent of the experimental group vs. 28 percent of the control group) although the differences are not significant. It might be noted that in the analyses the survival curves for the two groups tend to begin to diverge at about 6-7 months, that is, at about that time more children in the experimental group are being placed. We do not have a ready explanation for this divergence.

Refined groups analyses in New Jersey revealed statistically significant differences. In the primary analysis of those families coming from an investigative worker, 25 percent of the experimental group and 15 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement within one year of the random assignment date. For those with recent substantiated allegations, 25 percent of the experimental group and 14 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement.

As to the proportion of time that children spent in care in New Jersey, experimental group children spent an average of 6 percent of that time in placement, compared to 5 percent for the control group children (not a significant difference).

**Tennessee.** Survival rates at the family level were first calculated using only the CORS and then including relative placement (the "any evidence" analysis) data. The family level analyses of subsequent placement is displayed in Figure 3-1.<sup>28</sup> The Wilcoxon statistic indicates that the survival rates for the experimental and control groups are not statistically different. In the analysis of CORS data, 23 percent of experimental group families and 19 percent of control group families experienced substitute care placement within one year subsequent to random assignment. In the "any evidence" analysis, 28 percent of the experimental group families and 23 percent of control group families experienced placement within one year subsequent to random assignment.

As in Kentucky and New Jersey, a "refined" group was available for analysis in Tennessee. Ninety-three families had an allegation within 30 days prior to random assignment. The Wilcoxon statistic for the survival analysis of placement in these families indicates that the survival rates of the two groups are not statistically different. In the analysis of CORS data, 17 percent of the experimental group and 15 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement within one year of random assignment. In the "any evidence" analysis, 22 percent of the experimental group and 21 percent of the control group experienced subsequent placement within one year of random assignment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> In Tennessee, approximately two-thirds of the cases were assigned to the experimental group.

As to the proportion of time that children spent in care in Tennessee, experimental group children spent an average of 10 percent of that time in placement, compared to 5 percent for the control group children. This difference is nonsignificant.

In a number of analyses of subsequent placement in these states, more experimental group families experienced placement than did control group families. In a few analyses, fewer experimental group families experienced placement. However, none of these analyses were statistically significant; in none of these states can the data be taken as firm evidence that family preservation resulted in more placements. Nor is there evidence that it resulted in fewer.

**Imminent Risk of Placement**. The family preservation programs in these states are designed to prevent the unnecessary removal of children by serving families with children who are at imminent risk of out-of-home placement.<sup>29</sup> One way to explore the accuracy of the "imminent risk" designation is to examine the proportion of control group families that experienced placement within a short time after random assignment. Since the control and experimental groups were randomly assigned and are expected to be statistically equivalent before services are begun, the proportion of families experiencing placement in the control group indicates the proportion of referred families that would have experienced placement in the absence of receiving family preservation services. We looked at control group placement rates 30 days after random assignment, believing that time period provided a liberal interpretation of "imminent risk." If a significant proportion of the control group experienced placement within 30 days of random assignment, one could argue that the program was appropriately targeted. At the time of random assignment, referring workers were asked to designate those children who were considered "at risk."

In Kentucky, in the first 30 days following random assignment, in the primary analysis 4 percent of at risk children in the experimental group were placed compared to 3 percent of control group at risk children. At the family level, 6 percent of the experimental group families and 5 percent of the control group families experienced placement within the first 30 days subsequent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Kentucky policy specifies that imminent risk includes children who are at risk of commitment as dependent, abused, or neglected; who are identified through the Regional Interagency Council, an interdepartmental unit, as severely emotionally disturbed; or whose families are in conflict such that they are unable to exercise reasonable control of the child. Both the referring worker and family members shall believe that without immediate intensive intervention, out-of-home placement is imminent. At the time of this study, New Jersey targeted family preservation services for families at imminent risk of having at least one child enter placement. The referring worker must have based the assessment of imminent risk on a face-to-face interview with the family no more than 5 days prior to the referral. The family must need services immediately and the worker must determine that other, less intensive, services have been used, are not appropriate, or are not available. In Tennessee, CPS intake workers complete a risk assessment form to identify high, intermediate, low, or no risk. High risk cases are identified as cases where "the child or children in the home are at imminent risk of serious harm if there is no intervention in the situation." A typical high risk case might involve such factors as: 1) a

random assignment. The percentages were similar in the investigative group (8% of the experimental compared with 5% of the control group), and among those with recent substantiated allegations (6% of the experimental group compared with 3% of the control group).

In New Jersey, of those children judged to be at risk, 4 percent of the control group and 3 percent of the experimental group were placed in 30 days. At the family level, 5 percent of the families in the experimental group experienced placement of at least one child within one month of random assignment, compared to 6 percent of the control group. Rates of imminent placement were similar in the "refined" group analyses. Of those families coming from an investigative worker, 3 percent of the experimental group and 5 percent of the control group experienced placement within 30 days of random assignment. For those families with a substantiated allegation within three months prior to random assignment, 8 percent of the experimental group and 5 percent of the control group and 5 percent of the experimental group assignment.

In Tennessee, rates of placement within one month were somewhat higher than in Kentucky and New Jersey. Of those children judged to be at risk, 13 percent of the control group and 11 percent of the experimental group were placed in 30 days. There were no relative placements within the first 30 days subsequent to random assignment. Thus, there are no differences between the CORS and "any evidence" analysis. At the family level in Tennessee, the CORS administrative data indicates that 11 percent of both the experimental and control groups experience placement within 30 days subsequent to random assignment. Rates of imminent placement were similar in the "refined" group analyses. Of those families with a recent allegation (within 30 days prior to random assignment), 7 percent of the experimental group and 12 percent of the control group experienced a CORS placement within 30 days of random assignment.

Although the percentages of placement within one month were somewhat higher in Tennessee, in all three states, these percentages were quite low. The numbers of interest here are those for the control group, indicating the targeting efficiency of the program in these three sites is very low.

#### 3.2 Hazard Analyses of Placement

Hazard analyses permit the examination of the effects of multiple independent variables (in addition to experimental group membership) on rates of placement. They also provide somewhat more precise estimates of the effect of experimental group membership, since they

vulnerable child; 2) a history of previous maltreatment; 3) an active perpetrator who has continued access to the child; and 4) no available support or family strengths to offset the stated risks.

control for the effects of the other variables in examining experimental-control group differences. In addition, they allow for the examination of "interactions" between other variables and experimental-control group membership, to see if the effects of experimental group membership differ for subgroups of the sample. We conducted Cox regression analyses of placement hazards using as predictor variables case characteristics available in the administrative data. Case characteristics in the administrative data are quite limited. Unlike the survival analyses which were conducted at the family level, hazard analyses were done at the child level because we wanted to include in them characteristics of children.

**Kentucky**. We examined the effects of the child's age, race, prior placement, and prior substantiated allegation of maltreatment, together with experimental group membership, on rates of placement. Regarding main effects, there were no significant predictors of placement. However, there was a significant interaction between experimental group membership and prior placement. Examining the differences in placement rates between the experimental and control groups by whether or not the child had had a prior placement indicates that among those with a prior placement, there is little difference in placement rates (32% for the family preservation group and 34% for the control group) while there is a significant difference for those without prior placement (22% for the experimental group and 14% for the control group). The interactions between experimental group membership and age and prior substantiated allegations were not significant.

New Jersey. New Jersey hazard analyses indicate that older age and prior placement increase the hazard rate significantly (p < .05; prior placement by 88% and each year of age by 3%). Experimental group membership was also significant (p < .08; experimental group membership increases the hazard rate by 97%). The interactions between experimental group membership and race, age, prior placement, and prior substantiated allegations were not significant.

Hazard analyses were also performed to examine the effect of county on placement. These analyses were conducted at the family level. Burlington county was chosen as the reference category, as it had the highest rate of placement. Thus, rates of placement in the other New Jersey counties are compared to the placement rates of Burlington. In addition to the county variables, experimental group and interactions of county with experimental group were entered into the regression equation. The hazard of placement for families was decreased by 67 percent for Ocean county, 73 percent for Monmouth county, 47 percent for Essex county, 57 percent for Bergen

county, and 74 percent for Passaic county. The coefficient associated with Camden county was non-significant. There were no significant effects of experimental group or of county-experimental group interactions. This indicates that even after removing county variation, there are no significant differences between the experimental and control groups, nor does the effect of experimental group vary by county.

**Tennessee**. We examined the effects of the child's age, race, prior placement, prior allegation within 30 days of random assignment, prior substantiated allegation within 30 days of random assignment, and experimental group membership on rates of placement. Similar to Kentucky and New Jersey, we also explored interactions between experimental group membership and child characteristics. No significant interactions emerged. Only prior substantiated allegation had a significant effect on the likelihood of placement subsequent to random assignment. In the analysis of the CORS administrative data, a substantiated allegation within the last 30 days prior to random assignment increased the hazard rate by 209 percent. When unpaid relative placements were included ("any evidence") prior substantiation increased the hazard by 173 percent.

### 3.3 Allegations of Maltreatment Following Random Assignment

Subsequent maltreatment of children is a second important outcome to be examined. Family preservation programs are intended to lower the risk of harm to children while keeping them at home, and subsequent maltreatment is an indicator of such risk. Furthermore, the justification for family preservation programs rests on the belief that the safety of children is not compromised when their families are referred to these programs, so examination of subsequent maltreatment rates is important to determine whether children, in fact, are safe in these programs.

As with placement, data on subsequent maltreatment come from the administrative data files of the states. As is almost always the case in studies like this, our data do not record actual maltreatment, but only investigated reports of maltreatment. Some abuse and neglect goes unreported, and, because not every report is investigated, there are cases of harm that are reported but not investigated.

As with the analyses of subsequent placement, survival graphs were developed to compare the timing of subsequent, substantiated allegations of maltreatment.<sup>30</sup> Again, survival

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Analyses were also done on all allegations, whether substantiated or not. The results were very similar, although, of course, rates for all allegations were higher.

analyses were conducted at the family level for both the primary and secondary analysis groups as well as for the "refinement" groups.

**Kentucky**. Two hundred twenty-three children in 99 families (58%) in the experimental group were the subjects of investigated allegations of maltreatment following random assignment, compared with 206 children in 100 families (58%) in the control group. The distribution of the various types of allegations is as follows: 2 percent dependency, 7 percent emotional, 63 percent neglect, 25 percent physical abuse, and 8 percent sexual maltreatment. As families can be the subjects of multiple allegations on any given day, these percentages do not sum to 100. Not all investigations result in substantiated allegations. One hundred forty-three children in 63 families (37%) in the experimental group were the subjects of substantiated allegations of maltreatment compared with 118 children in 57 families (33%) in the control group. The difference was not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of substantiated allegations is as follows: 1 percent dependency, 4 percent emotional, 72 percent neglect, 20 percent physical abuse, and 3 percent sexual maltreatment.

Figure 3-2 displays the survival curves for substantiated allegations in the primary analysis. At one year subsequent to random assignment, 24 percent of the experimental group and 21 percent of the control group families experienced substantiated reports of maltreatment. Although a higher percentage of families in the "refined" analyses experienced substantiated allegations of maltreatment, similar patterns emerged. For the investigative group, 27 percent of the experimental group and 24 percent of the control group experienced a substantiated allegation of maltreatment in the one-year interval. For those families with a substantiated allegation within the three months prior to random assignment, 25 percent of the experimental and 21 percent of the control group experienced substantiated allegations of maltreatment within a year subsequent to random assignment. For the group on which petitions had been submitted to court for placement or other orders, 22 percent of the experimental group and 33 percent of the control group experienced a substantiated allegation within one year subsequent to random assignment, a nonsignificant difference.





Figure 3-2 First Substantiated Allegation after Random Assignment (Families)





The survival analyses indicate that experimental and control group families had a very similar likelihood of substantiated reports of maltreatment subsequent to random assignment.

**New Jersey**. One hundred seventy-eight children in 94 families (34%) in the experimental group were the subjects of investigated allegations of maltreatment following random assignment, compared to 101 children in 60 families (36%) in the control group. Fifty-eight children in 34 families (12%) in the experimental group experienced a substantiated allegation of maltreatment following random assignment, compared to 42 children in 29 families (17%) in the control group. In none of the survival analyses conducted were there significant differences between the experimental and control groups. Figure 3-2 shows substantiated allegations at the family level. About 11 percent of families in both groups have substantiated allegations within one year.

Patterns of substantiated allegations were similar for the "refined" group analyses, none of which showed significant differences between groups. Of those families coming from an investigative worker, 7 percent of the experimental group and 10 percent of the control group had a substantiated allegation within one year subsequent to random assignment. For those families

with a substantiated allegation within three months prior to random assignment, 10 percent of the experimental group and 16 percent of the control group had a substantiated allegation within one year subsequent to random assignment.

**Tennessee.** Allegation data were available for 482 children in 144 families. Sixty-four children in 36 families (38%) in the experimental group were the subjects of investigated allegations of maltreatment following random assignment, compared with 61 children in 26 families (54%) in the control group. The differences were not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of the various types of allegations is: 66 percent physical abuse, 20 percent supervision/neglect, 2 percent sexual abuse/medical, and 12 percent other (includes allegations such as failure to thrive, truancy, and unruly child). Forty-four children in 25 families (26%) in the experimental group were the subjects of substantiated allegations of maltreatment compared with 42 children in 18 families (38%) in the control group. These differences were not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of the various types of substantiated allegations of maltreatment compared with 42 children in 18 families (38%) in the control group. These differences were not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of the various types of substantiated allegations is: 66 percent physical abuse, 20 percent supervision/neglect, 1 percent sexual abuse/medical, and 13 percent other.

Figure 3-2 displays the survival curves for substantiated allegations in the primary analysis. At one year subsequent to random assignment, 24 percent of the experimental group and 25 percent of the control group families experienced substantiated reports of maltreatment. Survival rates were also calculated for those families with an allegation within 30 days prior to random assignment. Significant differences emerged for subsequent allegations and near significant differences emerged for subsequent substantiated allegations. Of those families with a recent allegation, 28 percent of the experimental group and 52 percent of the control group experienced an allegation within one year subsequent to random assignment. Similarly, 18 percent of the experiment group and 30 percent of the control group experienced a substantiated allegation within one year subsequent to random assignment. These differences suggest that in Tennessee family preservation reduced the likelihood of subsequent maltreatment for those families with recent allegations.

### 3.4 Sub-group Analysis

In Kentucky and New Jersey, we examined a number of subgroups of cases to determine whether we could detect differences between experimental and control groups on placement and substantiated allegations subsequent to random assignment within each subgroup. The number of cases in Tennessee was not sufficient to support subgroup analysis. The results are shown in Table 3-2. Most of the subgroups were defined in terms of problems existing at the time of the initial interview. For both placement and substantiated allegations the table shows the number of cases in each subgroup and the percentage of cases in the subgroup experiencing the event within 12 months. The analysis involved determining the significance of the difference between the experimental and control groups in the occurrence of the event within twelve months, and in the survival curves as a whole.<sup>31</sup> The first row of the table shows the results for the Kentucky and New Jersey samples as a whole. Except for substance abuse, the definitions of the subgroups were taken from the initial caretaker interview. Very few caretakers acknowledged substance use in the first interview, so that subgroup was determined from information in both the caretaker and caseworker initial interviews.

None of the 36 experimental-control group comparisons were significant at the .05 level. In the analysis so far, efforts to find subgroups for which family preservation service was related to reduced placement have been unsuccessful.

### 3.5 Case Closing Subsequent to Random Assignment

Family preservation services are sometimes thought to lead to quicker case closings in the public agency and less frequent subsequent involvement with the child welfare agency. Administrative data on case closings and subsequent case openings were examined to determine the effects of these services on case closings and subsequent reopenings.

**Kentucky**. Of the 255 cases that were open in the public agency at the time of the referral to family preservation services, 180 (71%) were closed some time after the referral and 75 (30%) remained open as of November 30, 1999 (the last date of observation for these analyses). Survival analyses were performed to examine the lengths of time between the referral to family preservation services and the first closing of the case. As shown in Figure 3-3, significant differences were found between the experimental and control groups.

Of the 180 cases that were open at the time of the referral to family preservation services and closed some time after that referral, 10 cases were re-opened again before November 30, 1999. Five of these 10 cases were in the experimental group, and five were in the control group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The six months analyses and survival analyses are obviously not independent.

				Kentucky							New Jers	ey		
			Placeme	ent	Substant	iated a	llegations			Placeme	nt	Subst	antiated a	llegations
Culture and	N	In 12 n Overall	nos p <sup>a</sup>	Survival	In 12 r Overall	nos p <sup>a</sup>	Survival	Ν	In 12 Overall	$p^a$	Survival	In 12 Overall	$mos p^a$	Survival
Subgroup	N	%0		р	%		р	N	%0		р	%0		р
Overall	345	25			23			442	27	.09 <sup>b</sup>		11		
Substance abuse	37	29			29			53	26			20		
No substance abuse	244	23			19			326	28			12		
Problems with bills	157	26			25			195	27			13		
Problems with daycare	99	22			25			111	26			14		
Depression <sup>c</sup>	152	26			24			168	33			11		
Problems with punishment	205	26			23			262	28			11		
Problems with school	145	23			22			202	31			11		
Problems with employment	193	24			22			192	26			14		
Single mother	129	21			19			116	26			17		

Table 3-2 Subgroup Analyses, Significance Levels of Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups

<sup>a</sup> Fisher exact, two tail
 <sup>b</sup> Experimental group more likely to experience placement
 <sup>c</sup> Caretakers with depression scores above median for the state





**New Jersey** 











New Jersey. Of the 441 cases with administrative case closing data, 427 were open at the time of random assignment. Of these 427 cases, 263 (62%) were closed subsequent to the referral to family preservation services. Figure 3-3 shows the results of a survival analysis in which we examined the time to case closing for the 421 cases that were open at the time of the referral to family preservation services. There was no significant difference between the experimental and control groups in the rate or timing of case closings after the referral date. Of the 263 cases that were closed after the referral to family preservation services, 81 cases (31%) were reopened. There was no significant difference between the experimental and control groups in the proportion of cases that were reopened (32% in the experimental group, 29% in the control group).

**Tennessee.** Of the 147 families with case opening and closing data, 111 were open in the public agency at the time of the referral to family preservation services. Of these 111 families, 96 (87%) were closed some time after the referral and 15 (14%) remained open as of August 31, 1999 (the last date of observation for these analyses). Survival analyses were performed to examine the lengths of time between the referral to family preservation services and the first closing of the case. As indicated by the survival curves in Figure 3-3, no significant differences

were found between the experimental and control groups. Of the 96 cases that were open at the time of the referral to family preservation services and closed some time after that referral, 17 cases were re-opened again before August 31, 1999. There was a significant difference in the rate of reopening. Eight (12%) of the 66 experimental group cases that were closed subsequently reopened, compared with 9 (30%) of the 30 control group cases (p < .05).

### 3.6 Family and Child Functioning–Caretaker Interviews

Family preservation services are intended to result in improved functioning of children and families. This goal is sought both for its own intrinsic value as well as an intermediate objective in the prevention of subsequent maltreatment and placement; parents who are functioning better and better parent-child relationships should result in lower risk of abuse or neglect.

In our interviews with caretakers and caseworkers we asked a number of questions tapping various aspects of functioning. We asked most of these questions in all three interviews with caretakers (at the beginning of service, four to six weeks after service began, and one year after the beginning of service) and in the two interviews with caseworkers (at the beginning of service) and in the two interviews with caseworkers (at the beginning of service) and in the two interviews with caseworkers (at the beginning of service) and in the two interviews with caseworkers (at the beginning of service and four to six weeks later). In the initial interview, we usually asked respondents to answer in terms of circumstances in the last three months. In the post-treatment and followup interviews, we asked in terms of "since we last talked to you [at the time of the initial interview or the post-treatment interview]." To indicate the effects of family preservation services, we can compare the experimental and control groups on the responses to these questions in the second and third interviews and on change between interviews. We report on the responses to a number of individual items in our interviews. In addition, we combined the responses to many questions into summated scales.<sup>32</sup> We examined differences between experimental and control groups in each state in the average levels of these scales at post-treatment and at followup and we examined changes over time in these averages using multivariate repeated measures analysis.<sup>33</sup> The results of the analyses of the scales are shown in Tables 3-3, 3-4, and 3-5 and in Figure 3-4.<sup>34</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Often we used average responses or proportions of positive responses rather than sums of responses to items. This was done in order to have scores for individuals when there were a few missing items on the scales. If an individual had too many missing items (usually 1/3rd or more) the score was declared missing. Rules for the calculation of all scales are given in Appendix J.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> In multivariate repeated measures analysis, three main hypotheses are tested, first, that the scores for the experimental group, averaged over the three points in time are equal to those of the control group, (the "group" hypothesis); second, that the averages of the groups at each point in time are the same (the "time" hypothesis); and third, that there is no interaction between time and group. It is the third hypothesis that is central, indicating whether the groups change in different ways.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Variables in Tables 3-3, 3-4 and Figure 3-4 are described in Vol. 3, Appendix J.

Table 3-3
Kentucky Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Pos	st-Treatr	nent		followup	)				Ν	Iultivariat	e Repeate	d Measure	es			
										Means		М	ultivariat	e <i>p</i> s	Univa ti	riate <i>p</i> s– me	Univa Grp inter	riate <i>ps</i> – -time action
														•	Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		Ν	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	Ν	М	p	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. later	v. Follow
Positive life events	С	146	.12		119	.22	r	108	.16	.12	.21	.42	.001	.41		.001		
	Е	148	.14		130	.21		117	.18	.14	.20							
Negative life events	С	146	.04		119	.07		108	.08	.03	.07	.40	.001	.27	.001	.001		
E	Е	148	.03		130	.09		117	.10	.03	.09							
Life events depression	С	145	.35		119	.37		107	.45	.36	.38	.40	.001	.38	.001			
	Е	147	.36		130	.40		117	.50	.37	.42							
Economic functioning	С	142	.17		118	.17		105	.22	.15	.18	.08	.001	.27	.001			
	Е	144	.22		127	.20		111	.32	.23	.20							
Punishment	С	143	.16		113	.15		101	.22	.17	.15	.49	.001	.36	.001	.09		
	Е	147	.17		121	.15		109	.25	.18	.15							
Child aggression	С	146	1.36		119	1.24		108	1.56	1.44	1.29	.84	.001	.96	.001	.05		
	Е	148	1.33		130	1.29		117	1.57	1.44	1.32							

# Table 3-3, continuedKentucky Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Post	t-treatme	ent		Followu	ıp				Ν	Iultivaria	te Repeat	ted Measu	ires			
										Means	3	M	ıltivariate	e ps	Univar ti	riate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
		N	Ma	"b	N	М	n	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial V.	Post V.	Initial V.	Post v.
	С	112	.22	p	96	.25	p	78	.29	.24	.27				later	FOIIOW	later	FOIIOW
School problems	Е	101	.20		97	.19		77	.26	.21	.18	.14	.03	.41	.01			
	С	146	.89		119	.99		108	1.08	.89	1.00							
Child withdrawn Stolen things or arrested	Е	148	.93		130	.93		117	1.08	.97	.93	.99	.001	.29	.001			
	С	146	.34		119	.39		108	.31	.34	.39							
Stolen things or arrested	Е	148	.32		130	.31		117	.44	.35	.32	.76	.75	.07			.03	
Stolen things or arrested Child substance abuse	С	146	.07		119	.03		108	.05	.07	.04							
	Е	148	.04		130	.02		117	.03	.03	.03	.40	.35	.67				
	С	146	2.20		119	1.89		108	2.44	2.23	2.18							
Child problems	Е	148	2.05		130	2.04		117	2.56	2.14	2.07	.87	.001	.47	.001			
xy	С	140	.34		107	.33		98	.37	.34	.34	0.5	0.01	45	0.01			
Negative child behaviors	Е	139	.34		120	.34		106	.39	.34	.33	.95	.001	.47	.001			
	С	142	.71		109	.67		99	.70	.69	.67							
Positive child behaviors	E	142	.71		121	.68		109	.69	.69	.67	.78	.31	.84				
	С	142	.02		119	.02		102	.05	.02	.02							
Household condition	Е	147	.02		129	.01		111	.03	.01	.01	.29	.002	.45	.001			

## Table 3-3, continuedKentucky Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Post-	Treatme	ent		Followi	ıp				Ν	Aultivari	ate Repea	ited Meas	ures			
										Means		М	ıltivariate	e ps	Univar tii	iate <i>p</i> s– ne	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$n^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grm <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial v. later <sup>f</sup>	Post v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	Initial v. Later	Post v. Follow
Depression (SCL-90)	С	145	.79		119	.67	r	107	.95	.77	.70	.67	.001	.31	.001			
	Е	146	.74		130	.79		115	.96	.74	.83	,						
D	С	140	.85		107	.82		94	.87	.85	.83	.55	.09	.97	.06			
Positive child care practice	в	143	.82		116	.81		103	.85	.84	.81							
Negative child care	С	141	.14		109	.12		97	.17	.15	.12	.57	.001	.22	.001	.05		
legative child care ractices	Е	144	.13		117	.13		104	.20	.14	.13	,						

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

\_

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

-		Ро	st-Treatr	nent	. f	followuj	)				М	ultivariat	e Repeate	ed Measu	res			
										Means		M	ıltivariate	e ps	Univa Ti	riate <i>p</i> s–	Univar Grp- intera	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
														<u>^</u>	Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{b}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. later	v. Follow
Positive life events	С	133	.15		107	.23		83	.19	.16	.25	.05	.001	.99		.001		
	Е	210	.13		166	.21		129	.17	.13	.22							
Negative life events	С	133	.04		107	.09		83	.13	.04	.10	.46	.001	.49	.001	.001		
	Е	210	.05		166	.11		129	.11	.04	.09							
Life events depression	С	133	.42		106	.47		83	.48	.38	.44	.93	.001	.33	.001			
	Е	210	.39		165	.42		128	.52	.39	.41							
Economic functioning	C	132	.34	.02	107	.36		83	.39	.33	.33	.07	.06	.31	.06			
	Е	209	.25		167	.31		129	.29	.24	.30							
Punishment	С	131	.25	04	105	.21		80	.31	.25	.22	03	001	93	001	03		
i unisiment	Е	209	.20	.01	167	.18		129	.27	.20	.17	.05	.001	.95	.001	.05		
Child aggression	С	134	1.68	09	107	1.38		84	1.89	1.77	1.37	05	001	26	001	001		
488.0001011	Е	210	1.48		167	1.32		130	1.62	1.44	1.28							

Table 3-4New Jersey Family and Child Functioning Scales

# Table 3-4, continuedNew Jersey Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Po	st-treatn	nent	f	ollowup					М	ultivariat	e Repeate	ed Measu	res			
										Means		M	ultivariate	e ps	Univa T	riate <i>p</i> s– ime	Univar Grp- intera	iate <i>p</i> s– time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		Ν	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	р	Ν	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. later	v. Follow
	С	118	.22	1	96	.34	1	69	.36	.26	.36	1						
School problems	Е	197	.20		157	.28		121	.29	.19	.26	.009	.001	.84	.01	.003		
	С	134	.40		107	.41		84	.62	.42	.37							
Child withdrawn												.38	.001	.51	.001			
	Е	210	.40		167	.38		130	.50	.41	.33							
Stolen things or arrested	С	134	.37		107	.42		84	.58	.35	.44	60	001	99	001	05		
Stolen things or arrested	Е	210	.29		167	.48		130	.55	.31	.41	.00						
Child substance abuse	С	134	.16		107	.20		84	.26	.13	.18	04	01	71	02	10		
enna substance abuse	Е	210	.17		167	.27		130	.23	.14	.22	.)+	.01	.71	.02	.10		
	С	134	2.64		107	2.88		84	3.00	2.70	2.99		0.01					
Child problems	Е	210	2.64		167	2.83		130	3.03	2.62	2.73	.57	.001	.45	.003	.09		
	С	130	.33		105	.34		81	.41	.34	.35							
Negative child behaviors	Е	207	.28	.04	163	.32		126	.35	.28	.30	.005	.001	.84	.001	.001		
Desitive shild behaviors	С	132	.74		106	.75		83	.73	.75	.77	62	01	60	02	02		
Positive child benaviors	Е	208	.73		163	.76		128	.72	.73	.77	.03	.01	.09	.02	.02		
	С	134	.06		107	.04		84	.06	.06	.03	<b>F</b> ^	<u> </u>		. <i>.</i>			
Household condition	Е	210	.05		167	.05		129	.06	.05	.04	.78	.05	.38	.04			

## Table 3-4, continuedNew Jersey Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Pos	st-treatm	ent	f	ollowup					M	ultivariat	e Repeate	ed Measu	res			
										Means		M	ultivariate	e ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp- intera	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{b}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial v. later <sup>f</sup>	Post v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	Initial v. later	Post v. Follow
Depression (SCL-90)	С	134	1.00	.08	105	.85	1	83	1.01	.84	.82	.92	.001	.71	.001			
	E	209	.83		166	.82		127	1.04	.89	.77							
Positive child care practices	C E	128 206	.76 .77		103 163	.76 .80		77 124	.79 .82	.77 .78	.77 .79	.43	.11	.67	.06			
Negative child care practices	C E	129 207	.18 .14	.02	101 162	.14		76 124	.21 .19	.18	.14 .13	.07	.001	.34	.001	.06		

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

	-	Pos	st-Treatr	nent	1	followup	)					Multivar	iate Repea	ated Measure	ures			
										Means		Mı	ultivariate	<i>p</i> s	Univa T	riate <i>p</i> s– ime	Univar Grp- intera	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. later	v. Follow
Positive life events	С	37	.14		36	.31		28	.20	.15	.32	52	001	76		001		
	Е	80	.18		74	.31		61	.24	.19	.31	.55	.001	./0		.001		
Negative life events C E	С	37	.05		36	.14		28	.14	.06	.15	12	0.01		10	001		
	80	.05		74	.11		61	.10	.04	.12	.13	.001	.//	.10	.001			
Life events depression	С	31	.36		36	.35		28	.49	.40	.34	0.5	001		001			
r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Е	80	.34		74	.34		61	.50	.35	.34	.85	.001	.00	.001			
Economic functioning	С	37	.25		36	.33		28	.43	.25	.31	0(	001	96	001			
8	Е	80	.18		73	.22		59	.31	.16	.19	.06	.001	.86	.001			
Punishment	С	37	.13		36	.10		28	.21	.12	.11	45	001	11	001	00		10
	E	76	.13		71	.07		54	.28	.15	.08	.45	.001	.11	.001	.09		.10
Child aggression	С	37	.81		36	.86		28	.89	.86	.86	07		10	0.0			
	Е	80	.86		74	.59		61	1.05	.93	.61	.97	.11	.18	.09			

Table 3-5Tennessee Family And Child Functioning Scales

# Table 3-5, continuedTennessee Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Pos	st-Treatn	nent		followup	)					Multiv	ariate Re	peated Me	asures			
									Ν	leans		M	ultivariate	e ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>ps</i> - me	Univa Grp- Inter	riate <i>ps</i> - Time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{b}$	Ν	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time- Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. later	v. Follow
School problems	С	32	.17		35	.20		22	.35	.25	.25	11	002	(5	002			
r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Е	65	.15		63	.18		46	.23	.15	.20	.11	.003	.05	.002			
Child withdrawn	С	37	.27		36	.28		28	.68	.25	.32	04	001	10	01			
Stolen things or arrested	Е	80	.38		74	.23		61	.59	.41	.23	.94	.001	.10	.01			
Stolen things or arrested	С	37	.19		36	.47		28	.50	.25	.50	27	004	66	04	007		
Stoten things of arrested	Е	80	.19		74	.34		61	.43	.18	.31	.27	.004	.00	.04	.007		
Child substance abuse	С	37	.03		36	.03		28	.00	.04	.04	$\Lambda\Lambda$	97	31				
	Е	80	.03		74	.04		61	.08	.03	.05	.11	.)1	.91				
Child problems	С	37	2.08		36	2.03		28	2.39	2.14	2.04	/0	02	70	005			
	Е	80	1.72		74	1.70		61	2.33	1.84	1.80	.+2	.02	.70	.005			
Negative child behaviors	С	34	.21		35	.22		26	.33	.23	.23	50	001	81	001			
	Е	72	.21		71	.19		55	.30	.22	.20	.32	.001	.01	.001			
Positive child behaviors	С	34	.81		36	.90	07	26	.83	.80	.90	60	03	26		01		
Positive child behaviors	Е	72	.83		70	.86	.07	54	.81	.83	.85	.09	.03	.20		.01		
Household condition	С	36	.07		34	.10		25	.13	.08	.14	00	28	28				
	Е	78	.06		71	.06		58	.09	.07	.06	.09	.20	.30				

## Table 3-5, continuedTennessee Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Pos	t-Treat	ment	f	ollowup	)					Multiv	ariate Rep	eat Measur	es			
										Means		N	Iultivariat	e ps	Univa T	riate <i>ps</i> -	Univa Grp inter	riate <i>ps</i> - -time action
														Time-	Initial v.	Post v.	Initial v.	Post v.
		Ν	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^b$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Grp <sup>e</sup>	later <sup>f</sup>	Follow <sup>g</sup>	later	Follow
Depression (SCL-90)	С	37	.76		36	.83		28	1.00	.81	.72	.89	.008	.64	.002			
	Е	80	.70		74	.73		61	1.03	.71	.73							
Positive child care practices	С	36	.82		34	.96		24	.90	.89	.94	.70	.05	.71		.01		
	Е	71	.88		67	.93		48	.90	.86	.95							
Negative child care practices	С	35	.09		33	.07		25	.11	.09	.08	.38	.001	.09	.001		.03	
	Е	72	.09		66	.06		50	.18	.09	.07							

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that the average initial score is equal to the average of post-treatment and final scores

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that average post-treatment score is equal to the average final score

Positive Life Events - Kentucky







Time trend: p = .001; Group-time interaction: p = .99

Negative Life Events - New Jersey



Time trend: p = .001; Group-time interaction: p = .76

Negative Life Events - Kentucky





#### Negative Life Events - Tennessee



### Figure 3-4 Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Positive Life Events" and "Negative Life Events" variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)



### Figure 3-4, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Household Condition" and "Paying Bills" variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)


## Figure 3-4, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Negative Child Care Practices" and "Positive Child Care Practices" variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)



## Figure 3-4, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Caretaker Depression" variable is an average score; "Punishment" variable is an average proportion of "yes" responses.)

**Child Aggression - Kentucky** 

**Child Aggression - New Jersey** 

**Child Aggression - Tennesses** 









**School Problems - New Jersey** 



Time trend: p = .11; Group-time interaction: p = .18







Time trend: p = .001; Group-time interaction: p = .84





## Figure 3-4, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Child Aggression" variable is a sum of the number of "yes" responses; "School Problems" variable is an average proportion of "yes" responses.)



**Positive Child Behaviors - Kentucky** 





Time trend: p = .01; Group-time interaction: p = .69

## Figure 3-4, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Negative Child Behaviors" and "Positive Child Behaviors" variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)

## Positive Child Behaviors -New Jersey

**Positive Child Behaviors - Tennessee** 



Time trend: p = .03; Group-time interaction: p = .26

We report on the differences between the experimental and control groups as they were initially formed (the "primary analysis"). Results of the secondary analyses (dropping violations and minimal service cases) were usually similar. They are reported in footnotes when they were materially different.

We looked at a large number of differences between groups on functioning variables and as will be seen, some of these comparisons revealed statistically significant differences, usually favoring the experimental group. However, as will also be seen, the differences are not consistent across states or across time.

#### 3.6.1 Life Events

In the caretaker interviews, there was a 15 item "life events" inventory asking about the occurrence of both positive and negative events in the last 3 months in the initial interview or since the previous interview in the post-treatment and followup interviews (Appendix K, Volume 3, Initial Caretaker Interview, p. 7). We formed three scales from this inventory, positive life events, negative life events, and a scale of those life events that might reflect depression in the caretaker (we had a more formal depression measure as well, described below). In none of the three states were there statistically significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the scores on these measures at the post-treatment or followup interviews nor were there differences between the groups in changes over time (see Tables 3-3, 3-4, and 3-5). It will be noted that generally the levels of these scales dropped in the second interview compared to the first and then increased again in the third interview. This is likely due to the differences in the time periods referenced in the questions asked at the three points in time (the last three months in the initial interview, last 4 to 6 weeks in the post-treatment interview, and last 10 to 11 months in the followup interview).

#### 3.6.2 Problems

In the second and third interviews, caretakers were again asked questions about problems in the family. These questions paralleled those asked in the first interview, except this time caretakers were asked to respond to questions with regard to the time "since we last spoke to you" (see Tables 3-6 and 3-7). We analyze each of these problem items separately.

	Kentucky Control Experimental				New Jersey					Tennessee					
	Co	ntrol	Expe	rimental		Co	ntrol	Expe	rimenta	l	Co	ntrol	Expe	rimental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Problems															
Felt blue or depressed	145	41	147	37		133	44	210	48		37	46	80	40	
Felt nervous or tense	145	46	147	46		131	49	210	44		37	41	80	40	
Just wanted to give up	145	17	147	15		133	26	210	20		35	29	79	23	
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	145	37	148	47	0.08	133	50	210	44		37	32	80	33	
Felt you had few or no friends	145	14	147	18		133	20	209	18		37	38	79	19	0.03
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	145	39	148	44		133	52	210	40	0.03	37	46	80	43	
Gotten in trouble with the law	144	3	147	3		133	2	210	1		37	3	80	0	
Had too much to drink in a week	145	2	148	1		133	2	209	2		37	5	80	3	
Used drugs several times a week	145	1	148	0		133	2	209	1		37	5	80	3	
Economic Items															
Had difficulty paying rent	141	13	144	20		133	29	209	18	0.02	37	24	80	15	
Had difficulty paying electric/heat	142	20	144	28		132	30	209	26		37	27	80	21	
Had difficulty buying enough food	145	15	146	17		132	28	209	22		37	22	80	11	
Had difficulty buying clothes	145	17	146	21		132	47	208	33	0.01	37	27	80	24	
Positive Items															
Have you felt happy	145	82	147	89	0.09	131	82	210	81		37	84	80	93	
Gotten together with anyone to have fun/relax	145	64	148	64		133	65	210	59		37	38	80	75	0.001
Doing a pretty good job raising kids	144	94	147	91		130	88	209	91		36	92	79	96	

 Table 3-6

 Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Post-Treatment Interview (% responding yes)

	Kentucky					New Jersey						Tennessee				
	Cor	ntrol	Experi	mental		Con	trol	Experi	mental		Cor	ntrol	Exper	imental		
	Ν	%	Ń	%	р	Ν	%	Ň	%	р	Ν	%	Ň	%	р	
Problems																
Felt blue or depressed	119	44	130	42		107	55	166	48		36	44	74	47		
Felt nervous or tense	119	47	130	53		105	53	166	47		36	31	73	38		
Just wanted to give up	119	18	130	23		105	27	164	25		36	19	73	14		
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	119	39	130	42		105	51	165	50		36	44	74	36		
Felt you had few or no friends	119	24	130	25		107	15	166	24	.07	36	8	74	19		
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	118	44	130	46		106	46	166	45		36	42	74	49		
Gotten in trouble with the law	119	6	130	4		107	1	166	4		36	3	74	3		
Had too much to drink in a week	119	3	130	3		106	0	166	2		36	3	74	7		
Used drugs several times a week	119	3	130	0		106	0	166	1		36	3	74	4		
Economic Items																
Had difficulty paying rent	118	20	127	20		107	34	167	27		36	39	74	20	.04	
Had difficulty paying electric/heat	118	19	126	25		107	36	167	37		36	42	74	32		
Had difficulty buying enough food	119	14	129	15		107	35	167	26		36	19	73	14		
Had difficulty buying clothes	119	15	128	19		107	42	167	35		36	31	73	21		
Positive Items																
Have you felt happy	119	89	130	89		106	83	166	87		36	92	73	89		
Gotten together with anyone to have fun/relax	119	73	130	69		107	57	166	64		36	61	74	69		
Doing a pretty good job raising kids	112	91	123	93		104	90	166	92		36	92	74	96		

 Table 3-7

 Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Followup Interview (% responding yes)

NOTE: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test

**Kentucky**. At the post-treatment interview, on 8 of the 9 problem questions, there were no differences between the experimental and control groups in responses. On the question of whether the caretaker felt overwhelmed with work or family responsibilities, a greater proportion of caretakers in the experimental group responded affirmatively at post-treatment than did caretakers in the control group (47% vs. 37%, p = .08).<sup>35</sup> In addition to the items about problems, caretakers were asked three questions about positive aspects of their lives: "gotten together with anyone to have fun or relax," "felt happy," and "felt that considering everything you're doing a pretty good job raising your kids." The primary analysis revealed that 89 percent of caretakers in the control group (p = .09). For both the experimental and control groups, 64 percent responded affirmatively to the question of "getting together with anyone to have fun or relax," and over 90 percent responded affirmatively that they were "doing a pretty good job raising [their] kids." There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups on these last two items in either the primary or secondary analyses.

At the followup interview, there were no significant differences between experimental and control groups on any of these items.

New Jersey. On 8 of the 9 problem questions, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in responses at post-treatment. On the overall question about the economic condition of family, "have you felt you just didn't have enough money for food, rent, or clothing?" 52 percent of the control group said yes, compared to 40 percent of the experimental group significantly different at p = .03, although in the secondary analysis the difference was not significant.<sup>36</sup> On none of the positive questions were there significant differences between groups in either the primary or secondary analyses.

At followup differences between groups approached significance for only one item, "felt you had few or no friends." More experimental group respondents replied affirmatively to this item (24% vs. 15% p = .07).

**Tennessee**. There was a significant difference between groups on only one of the nine problem questions at post-treatment. Fewer experimental group respondents reported they felt they had few or no friends (19% vs. 38%, p = .03). As to positive items, experimental group

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> This difference was slightly greater and statistically significant in the secondary analysis (48% vs. 35%, p= .04).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> In the secondary analysis, fewer experimental group respondents reported health problems (12% vs. 21% for the control group, p = .04).

respondents far more often reported they "had gotten together with someone to have fun or relax" (75% vs. 38%, p < .001). At followup there were no differences between groups on any of these items.

### 3.6.3 Economic Functioning

In addition to the general item in the problem inventory on not having enough money for food, rent, or clothing, we asked four specific questions about difficulties in paying for the essentials of living (rent, electric service and heating, food, and clothes) (see Tables 3-6 and 3-7). These items were examined individually and were combined into an overall economic functioning scale. (See Tables 3-3, 3-4, and 3-5 for analyses of the scale).

**Kentucky**. On the scale, primary and secondary analyses revealed no significant differences in the average proportion of affirmative responses to the four items either at post-treatment or at followup.<sup>37, 38</sup> There also were no differences between groups in changes over time.

New Jersey. On the economic functioning scale, the experimental group had a lower average proportion of affirmative responses to these items at post-treatment (.25 vs. .34, p = .02) although the difference was not significant in the secondary analysis. The difference was not significant at followup nor were there significant differences in change over time. There were, however, significant differences on two of the specific items at post-treatment. Control group respondents more often reported difficulties paying rent (29% vs. 18%, p = .02) and also more often reported difficulties in buying clothes (47% vs. 33%, p = .01). These differences were not significant in the secondary analysis. At followup, there continued to be a difference in regard to buying food, although it was not significant (26% of the experimental group vs. 35% of the control group p = .12). At followup, the groups were similar on the other three items.

**Tennessee**. Control group respondents more often reported problems on the economic functioning scale at both post-treatment and followup, although the differences were not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The control group had a slightly lower average proportion of affirmative responses to these items at post-treatment (.17 vs. .22, p = .16).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> In the primary analysis, at post-treatment, a greater proportion of the experimental group reported difficulties paying rent (20% vs 13%, p = .13) and electric or heat bills (28% vs. 20%, p = .11). In the secondary analysis, differences were smaller and *p*-values for both items were above .20.

significant. There were also no significant differences between the groups in change over time. On individual items, there were no significant differences between groups at the post-treatment interview. At followup, significantly fewer experimental group respondents reported difficulties paying rent (20% vs. 39%, p = .04). There were no significant differences on the other three items at followup.

#### 3.6.4 Household Condition

Caretakers were asked 10 questions about problematic conditions in the home (e.g., nonfunctioning heating, plumbing, or electrical systems; peeling paint; broken windows or doors).

Kentucky. In Kentucky, the experimental and control groups did not differ on the average proportions of the presence of such conditions at post-treatment or followup, nor did they differ on change in these proportions over time (see Table 3-3). On only one of the specific items were there any differences at post-treatment. Five percent of caretakers in the control group reported having broken windows or doors that were not fixed as compared to 1 percent in the experimental group (Fisher's exact *p*-value = .034).<sup>39</sup> There were no significant differences on any of the individual items at followup.

New Jersey. In New Jersey the experimental and control groups did not differ on the average proportions of the presence of such conditions at post-treatment or followup, nor did they differ on change in these proportions between interviews (see Table 3-4). There were no significant differences between the groups on any of the ten individual items at post-treatment. At followup, 8 percent of the experimental group respondents reported "a lot of peeling paint" compared to 2 percent of the control group respondents (p = .04). Also, 4 percent of the experimental group and none of the control group respondents reported that cooking appliances did not work (Fisher's exact *p*-value = .09).

**Tennessee**. There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups on the overall scales of household condition at either post-treatment or followup, nor were there differences in change over time (see Table 3-5). At post-treatment, more control group respondents reported bare electrical wires (8% vs. 0%, p = .08; Fisher's exact *p*-value = .03)

while more experimental group respondents reported living in an "unsafe building because of illegal acts (5% vs. 0%, p = .05). There were no significant differences on any individual items at followup.

## 3.6.5 Child Care Practices

Caretakers were asked a series of yes-no questions about child care practices at the end of treatment and in the last three months at followup (both positive and negative). The results from these questions are shown in Table 3-8 and 3-9. In addition, three scales were formed using these items: positive child care practices (5 items), negative child care practices (10 items), and punishment (5 items, all of which are also included in the negative child care practices scale). Results from the scales are shown in Tables 3-3, 3-4 and 3-5.

**Kentucky**. In the post-treatment interview, "punishment for not finishing food" was the only item for which there were significant differences between the experimental and control groups, with a greater proportion of the control group responding affirmatively. There were no items on which there were significant differences at followup.

There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups with regard to the positive and negative child care practice scales at the time of the second or third interviews. Both groups responded affirmatively to over 80 percent of the positive items and less than 15 percent of the negative items at both points in time. There were also no significant differences in change over time, in both groups there was a decline in the number of negative child care practices over time. With regard to the 5 items that pertain to punishment, caretakers in the experimental group responded affirmatively to a greater average proportion of punishment items than did the caretakers from the control group (.25 vs .20, p = .067) at the initial interview. At post-treatment, the average proportion of punishment items answered affirmatively were nearly the same (.17 for experimental group vs. .16 for the control group). Thus, from the first interview to the second, the reduction in the average proportion of punishment items endorsed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> This difference was maintained but not significant in the secondary analysis (5% vs. 1%, Fisher's exact *p*-value = .078).

was greater for the experimental group than for the control group (.09 fewer vs. .04 fewer, p = .054).<sup>40</sup> However, across the three points in time, there were no significant differences in change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> In the secondary analysis, there was again a .09 reduction in the average proportion of punishment items endorsed by the experimental group and a .04 reduction for the control group (p = .03).

		Kentucky					New Jersey					Tennessee			
-	Cont	rol E	Experim	nental		Contr	ol	Experin	nental		Con	trol	Experim	ental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Lost temper when child got on nerves	145	43	147	46		132	63	209	59		37	27	77	35	
Found that hitting child was good	143	6	147	7		131	12	208	8		37	19	76	8	0.09
Hitting child harder that meant to	143	8	147	6		131	10	208	5		37	5	75	8	
Out of control when punishing child	144	24	146	24		131	40	209	30	0.05	36	11	76	12	
Have you praised your children	144	94	146	92		132	92	209	92		37	92	76	91	
Listened to music together w/child	144	86	146	86		132	86	209	82		37	92	77	90	
Tied child with cord- string-belt	142	0	146	0		132	1	209	0		37	0	76	1	
Gone to amusement park, pool, picnic	143	71	145	65		130	46	208	37	0.08	37	43	76	68	0.01
Uncomfortable hugging child	126	5	134	6		95	5	144	6		33	9	72	4	
Encouraged child to read book	137	92	140	90		126	82	202	91	0.02	34	94	72	96	
Have children handled household chores	127	79	125	80		126	75	200	83	0.09	34	91	72	93	
Not let children into the house	138	2	137	2		127	8	202	4		33	3	72	1	
Punished for not finishing food	139	7	139	1	0.02	126	6	204	5		33	0	71	0	
Blamed child w/ things not their fault	142	39	142	33		128	28	204	20	0.07	35	31	75	44	
Let child to play where not allowed	138	2	138	4		123	1	200	4		33	0	71	1	
Unable to find someone to watch children	144	9	146	12		131	21	206	12	0.04	35	20	73	27	

 Table 3-8

 Caretaker Reports Of Child Care Practices, Post-Treatment Interview

NOTE: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test

	KentuckyNew JerseControlExperimentalControlExper						ew Jersey	Tennessee							
_	Contr	ol	Experin	nental		Control		Experime	ntal		Cont	rol E	Experim	ental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Lost temper when child got on nerves	113	44	121	41		106	60	167	57		36	22	72	18	
Found that hitting child was good	113	6	121	4		105	5	167	4		36	8	71	6	
Hitting child harder that meant to	113	3	121	5		105	6	167	1	.06	36	6	71	3	
Out of control when punishing child	112	21	121	23		105	32	167	25		36	14	71	7	
Have you praised your children	113	89	121	91		106	92	167	94		36	97	72	93	
Listened to music together w/child	113	82	121	84		106	81	167	86		36	94	69	93	
Tied child with cord- string-belt	113	0	121	2		106	1	167	1		36	0	70	0	
Gone to amusement park, pool, picnic	113	74	121	70		106	48	167	44		35	94	70	90	
Uncomfortable hugging child	102	4	110	5		74	5	116	6		35	6	66	3	
Encouraged child to read book	107	83	115	81		103	87	160	89		34	100	67	96	
Have children handled household chores	101	75	104	75		103	70	160	83	.02	34	94	63	89	
Not let children into the house	106	0	115	0		103	3	162	3		33	3	64	3	
Punished for not finishing food	109	3	116	2		103	2	162	2		33	3	65	3	
Blamed child w/ things not their fault	109	34	116	42		103	21	162	23		33	15	66	14	
Let child to play where not allowed	109	1	114	0		101	2	160	1		33	0	65	3	
Unable to find someone to watch children	111	3	122	0		103	17	165	18		33	21	67	19	

 Table 3-9

 Caretaker Reports Of Child Care Practices, Followup Interview

New Jersey. On two of the items there were significant differences between the experimental and control groups at post-treatment: "have things sometimes gotten out of control when you punished your children?" happened more often in the control group and "have you encouraged your child to read a book?" which was done more often by experimental group respondents. At followup, there were two other items with differences: more control group respondents said they hit their child harder than they meant to (6% vs. 1%, p = .06) while more experimental group respondents said they had the children handle household chores (83% vs. 70%, p = .02).

On the scales, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups with respect to the positive child care practice items at either post-treatment or followup. At both points in time, both groups responded affirmatively to over 75 percent of the items. There were significant differences between the experimental and control groups with respect to the negative child care practice items at post-treatment. Caretakers in the experimental group responded affirmatively to 14 percent of the items whereas caretakers in the control group responded affirmatively to 18 percent of the items (p = .02). The difference disappeared at followup. At post-treatment, the experimental group significantly less often used punishment (.20 vs. .25; p = .04), but the difference was not statistically significant in the secondary analysis (p = .08) or in the primary analysis at followup (p = .15). There were no significant differences between groups in the change in changes over time in proportion of negative child care practice or punishment items.

**Tennessee**. At post-treatment, on one item there was a significant difference between experimental and control groups; more experimental group respondents indicated they had gone to an amusement park, pool, or picnic (68% vs. 43%, p = .01). There were no items with significant differences at followup. There were no significant differences in any of the three scales at either post-treatment or followup, nor in changes over time. The experimental group had a higher negative child care practices score at the first interview, and declined more than the control group, resulting in a nearly significant multivariate time-group interaction (p = .09) and a significant univariate comparison of the first interview score with the average of the scores from the later two interviews (p = .03).

#### **3.6.6 Caretaker Depression**

In both the initial and post-treatment interviews we administered the SCL-90<sup>41</sup> depression scale to measure the level of depression of the caretaker.<sup>42</sup> In none of the three states were there significant differences between the groups in scores on this scale at the post-treatment or followup interviews or in changes over time (see Tables 3-3, 3-4, and 3-5). Scores at post-treatment were, on average, less than those in the initial interview for both groups and the reduction was greater for the experimental group (Kentucky: .23 less for the experimental group and .14 less for the control group; New Jersey: .19 less for the experimental group, .09 less for the control group; Tennessee: .32 less for the experimental group, .19 less for the control group), though the differences were not statistically significant.

### 3.6.7 Child Behavior

In all three interviews, we asked 35 questions about specific child behaviors, both positive and negative. Questions were phrased in terms of "any of the children" and some questions were age specific. Responses to these questions were used to form various scales: aggression (3 items), school problems (5 items), positive child behaviors (10 items), and negative child behaviors (21 items, including the aggression and school problems items). Analyses of these scales are shown in Tables 3-3, 3-4, and 3-5.

**Kentucky**. Neither the primary nor the secondary analyses revealed any significant differences between the groups in scores on any of these scales at post-treatment or at followup or in the change over time. Specific items on whether the child was withdrawn, had stolen things or been arrested, or had engaged in substance abuse did not reveal significant differences between groups at post-treatment or followup. For the scale of having stolen things or been arrested, the experimental group scored higher at the initial interview and declined between the first and second interview, while the control group increased between the first and second interviews and again at the followup interview. As a result, the multivariate interaction between time and group

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Derogatis, L. R., Lipman, R. S., & Covi, L. (1973) SCL-90: An outpatient psychiatric rating scale — preliminary report. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin*, 9 (1), 13 - 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Reliability analysis yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .92 at initial, .93 at post-treatment, and .92 at follow-up in Kentucky; .95 at initial, .94 at post-treatment, and .95 at follow-up in New Jersey; and .91 at both initial and post-treatment, and .90 at follow-up in Tennessee.

was nearly significant (p = .07) and the univariate difference between the groups in the difference between the first interview and the average of the later two interviews was significant at p = .03.

New Jersey. In the primary analysis there were no significant differences between groups on these scales at post-treatment or at followup, except for the overall negative child behaviors scale at post-treatment, on which the experimental group was lower (an average of 28% of the items vs. 33%; p = .04).<sup>43</sup> For none of these scales was there a significant difference between groups on change over time.

Specific items on whether the child was withdrawn, had stolen things or been arrested, or had engaged in substance abuse did not reveal significant differences between groups at posttreatment or followup or in change over time.

**Tennessee**. There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the average scores on these scales at post-treatment or at followup, nor were there significant differences in change over time. The difference for positive child behaviors at followup was nearly significant, with the control group scoring higher (p = .07). The specific items on whether the child was withdrawn, had stolen things or been arrested, or had engaged in substance abuse did not reveal significant differences between groups at post-treatment or followup or in change over time.

#### 3.7 Overall Assessment of Improvement by Caretakers

In the post-treatment interview, caretakers were asked about general changes in their families' lives since entering the study. Results are shown in Table 3-10 and 3-11. At post-treatment, in Kentucky and New Jersey, relative to control group caretakers, a significantly larger proportion of experimental group caretakers generally thought there was "great improvement" in their lives. This difference was significant in both the primary and secondary analyses. In the Tennessee secondary analysis, results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> This difference was also significant for the secondary analysis (28% vs. 33%, p = .006).

	Ke	entucky	Ne	w Jersey	Tennessee			
	Control	Experimental %	Control	Experimental %	Control	Experimental		
Primary analysis:	p p	p = .02	<i>p</i>	= .001	/0/	p = n.s.		
Great improvement	16	p = .02 16 22		16	32	32		
Some improvement	31	42	41	52	32	42		
Same	42	29	34	20	22	14		
Somewhat or a great deal worse	12	6	16	12	14	13		

 Table 3-10

 Caretakers' Assessments Of Overall Change Since First Interview, Post-Treatment Interview

 Table 3-11

 Caretakers' Assessments Of Overall Change Since Post-Treatment Interview, Followup Interview

	KentuckyControlExperiment $\%$ $\%$ $p = n.s.$ 3434363738	entucky	Nev	w Jersey	Τe	ennessee
	Control %	Experimental %	Control %	Experimental %	Control %	Experimental %
Primary analysis:	р	p = n.s.	р	= n.s.	ŀ	p = n.s.
Great improvement	34	36	30	28	53	36
Some improvement	37	38	36	42	31	41
Same	18	16	17	16	8	15
Somewhat or a great deal worse	11	9	16	13	3	7

tended in the same direction, though not significantly (p = .09). At followup, differences between the groups in Kentucky and New Jersey had nearly disappeared. In Tennessee, control group respondents more often thought there was "great improvement," although it was not a significant difference.

#### 3.8 Information from Caseworkers on Family and Child Functioning

The caseworker interviews also contained questions regarding child and family functioning, in an effort to provide another perspective on these issues. In interpreting caseworker reports, it should be noted that experimental group caseworkers were Homebuilders workers, while control group respondents were the public agency workers responsible for the cases at the time of the interview. It is likely that there are differences between these groups of caseworkers in the knowledge they have of the cases, since Homebuilders workers had much more intensive involvement and that involvement began before the first research interview. In addition, it may be that there are systematic differences in these groups of workers in the approaches they take to the assessment of family problems. Hence, interpretations of comparisons between responses of workers serving each of the groups must be made with caution.

### 3.8.1 Caretaker Functioning

Caseworkers were asked nine questions tapping various aspects of caretaker functioning on a five-point scale from 0 for not adequate to 4 for very adequate. Table 3-12 provides a list of these nine questions and a summary of the results from the initial and post-treatment interviews.

**Kentucky**. At the initial interview, significant or nearly significant differences were found on three items, with the experimental group scoring more adequate on average: ability to provide food (p = .02), responding patiently to child's questions (p = .06), and attending to children's health needs (p = .08). On a scale averaging the nine ratings for each case, the difference between means of the experimental and control groups approached significance, with the experimental group having a higher mean (p = .06). At post-treatment there were no significant differences in the primary analysis. However, in the secondary analysis, caretakers from the experimental group were rated higher (more adequate) than those from the control group with respect to whether they attended to the children's health needs (p = .04). As for the scale averaging the nine ratings, no differences were found between the experimental and

 Table 3-12

 Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental Functioning

Kentucky					
	Co	ontrol	Experi	mental	
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р
Initial:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	130	2.68	114	2.96	0.02
Caretaker ability giving affection	132	2.63	125	2.82	
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	119	2.38	106	2.58	
Respond patiently to child's questions	122	2.16	110	2.44	0.06
Respond to child's emotional needs	137	2.15	122	2.35	
Provide learning opportunities	127	2.17	110	2.35	
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	130	1.68	116	1.88	
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	140	2.14	123	2.39	0.10
Attending to children's health needs	135	2.76	114	3.00	0.08
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of	118	2.25	102	2.48	0.06
nonmissing items, higher = better					
Post-treatment:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	145	2.88	154	2.97	
Caretaker ability giving affection	147	2.82	157	2.81	
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	135	2.58	144	2.45	
Respond patiently to child's questions	138	2.43	148	2.34	
Respond to child's emotional needs	145	2.28	156	2.28	
Provide learning opportunities	144	2.38	154	2.42	
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	145	2.09	150	1.99	
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	152	2.50	158	2.59	
Attending to children's health needs	150	2.93	157	3.08	
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of nonmissing items, higher=better	142	2.56	151	2.55	

Note: Scale for individual items: 0-4, where 0 = not adequate, 4 = very adequate

	Co	ontrol	Exper	imental	
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р
Initial:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	119	3.24	224	3.20	
Caretaker ability giving affection	120	2.88	229	2.62	0.03
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	118	2.42	219	2.32	
Respond patiently to child's questions	117	2.44	220	2.27	
Respond to child's emotional needs	118	2.37	228	2.23	
Provide learning opportunities	114	2.83	220	2.50	0.005
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	126	2.11	228	1.93	
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	130	2.80	238	2.71	
Attending to children's health needs	125	3.34	214	3.17	
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of nonmissing items, higher = better	107	2.65	211	2.44	0.02
Post-treatment:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	137	3.36	246	3.34	
Caretaker ability giving affection	141	2.93	256	2.70	0.04
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	130	2.55	247	2.42	
Respond patiently to child's questions	140	2.51	248	2.37	
Respond to child's emotional needs	149	2.43	258	2.37	
Provide learning opportunities	137	2.89	247	2.60	0.01
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	147	2.37	252	2.14	0.06
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	149	2.95	258	2.79	
Attending to children's health needs	148	3.35	252	3.25	
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of nonmissing items, higher=better	140	2.79	249	2.66	0.10

# Table 3-12, continued Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental Functioning

Note: Scale for individual items: 0-4, where 0 = not adequate, 4 = very adequate

Tennessee					
	С	ontrol	Expe	rimental	
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р
Initial:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	38	2.79	53	3.11	
Caretaker ability giving affection	42	2.76	60	2.92	
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	34	2.23	52	2.77	0.01
Respond patiently to child's questions	32	2.22	53	2.57	
Respond to child's emotional needs	40	2.05	59	2.47	0.04
Provide learning opportunities	39	2.64	56	2.55	
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	36	2.33	57	2.01	
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	44	2.32	61	2.95	0.005
Attending to children's health needs	43	2.65	59	3.18	0.03
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of	30	2.53	51	2.60	
nonmissing items, higher = better					
Post-treatment:					
Caretaker ability to provide food	41	2.98	74	3.32	0.06
Caretaker ability giving affection	45	2.73	80	2.95	
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	40	2.35	74	2.84	0.01
Respond patiently to child's questions	38	2.26	76	2.67	0.04
Respond to child's emotional needs	42	2.26	81	2.59	0.06
Provide learning opportunities	44	2.64	78	2.64	
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	43	2.04	79	2.38	
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	46	2.52	82	2.93	0.04
Attending to children's health needs	45	2.96	78	3.13	
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of	42	2.51	77	2.82	0.04
nonmissing items, higher=better					

 Table 3-12, continued

 Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental Functioning

Note: Scale for individual items: 0-4, where 0 = not adequate, 4 = very adequate

control groups at post-treatment. Looking at change over time, on one item, respecting child's opinions, the ratings for the control group increased over time (.19 change), whereas the ratings for the experimental group decreased slightly over time (-.06 change), a difference that is significant (p = .05). The differences between groups in change on the overall scale averaging the nine ratings was not significant.

New Jersey. At the initial interview, on two items there were significant differences between the experimental and control groups, the control group scoring more adequate on average: caretaker's ability in giving affection (p = .03) and the caretaker's ability to provide learning opportunities (p = .005). On the scale averaging the nine ratings for each case, there was a significant difference between means of the experimental and control groups, the control group having a higher mean (p = .02). At post-treatment, the control group scored higher (more adequate functioning) on the same two items as before. On the scale of nine items the control group scored slightly higher, although the difference was nonsignificant. As to change over time, on one item ("respecting child's opinions"), the control group had, on average, more positive change than the experimental group. The difference in degree of change was significant at .05 (this result also held in the secondary analysis, p = .05). Differences between groups in change on the overall scale were not significant.

**Tennessee**. At the initial interview there were four items on which the groups were significantly different, the experimental group scoring higher on all four: caretaker respect for child's opinions (p = .01), response to child's emotional needs (p = .04), adequate supervision (p = .005), and attending to the child's health needs (p = .03). At post-treatment, five items had differences between groups significant at .06 or lower, all favoring the experimental group: caretaker ability to provide food, respect for child's opinions, response to child's emotional needs, adequate supervision, and respond patiently to child's questions. The average of all nine items was also significantly difference in the amount of change over time, the experimental group increased by an average of .31, while the control group declined by an average of .29 (p = .01). On the scale of nine items there was no significant difference between the groups in change over time.

#### **3.8.2** Household Condition

As in the caretaker interview, we asked caseworkers about conditions in the home. Caseworkers were asked 13 yes-no questions, some positive and some negative. These items were combined in a scale which indicated that in Kentucky and New Jersey at post-treatment, control group families had, on average, a significantly better household condition than did experimental group families (Kentucky: p = .014; New Jersey: p = .02). In both states, for both groups the analysis of change over time indicated a slight improvement in the condition of the household. The difference between the experimental and control groups in change over time was not significant in either state. In Tennessee, there was no difference between groups at post-treatment or in change over time (both groups declined by .01).

### 3.8.3 Caretaker Problems

Caseworkers were asked a number of questions about problems experienced by children, caretakers, or other adult household members (question 19 on the initial caseworker interview, question 17 on the post-treatment caseworker interview). Twenty-one of these problems concerned the caretakers.

**Kentucky.** At post-treatment, in the primary analysis, caseworkers reported that the experimental group caretakers had, on average, 31 percent of the problems compared to 25 percent for the control group, a difference significant at p = .0005.<sup>44</sup> There were no significant differences in change in caretaker problems between the interviews in either the primary or secondary analyses.

**New Jersey**. At the post-treatment interview, on average, in the primary analysis caseworkers reported that experimental group caretakers had 23 percent of the problems compared to 21 percent of the control group, a nonsignificant difference.<sup>45</sup> There were no significant differences in change in caretaker problems between the interviews in either the primary or secondary analyses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> In the secondary analysis, the difference was maintained and remained significant (31% vs. 24%, p = .0004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> In the secondary analysis, the average percents were 24 percent for the experimental group and 21% for the control group (p = .06).

**Tennessee**. At post-treatment, caseworkers reported that experimental group caretakers had 18 percent of the problems compared to 21 percent of the control group, a nonsignificant difference. There was a significant difference between the groups in change over time, the experimental group improving more than the control group (-.08 vs. -.03, p = .05).

#### **3.8.4** Child Problems

Twelve of the items on the caseworker problem inventory concerned the children. In Kentucky at post-treatment, the percentage of child problems for the experimental group was, on average, 27 percent compared to an average of 25 percent for the control group, a nonsignificant difference.<sup>46</sup> There were no significant differences in change in child problems between interviews in either the primary or secondary analyses.

In New Jersey at post-treatment, the average of the percentages of child problems was 25 percent for the experimental group and 27 percent for the control group, a nonsignificant difference.<sup>47</sup> There were no significant differences in change in child problems between interviews in either the primary or secondary analyses.

In Tennessee, the average percentages of child problems in the two groups at posttreatment were very close (18% for the control group, 19% for the experimental group). The difference between the groups in change over time was not significant.

## 3.9 Predictors of Outcomes

We performed regression analyses on a number of family functioning outcomes measured at the post-treatment interview and at followup. The analyses were intended to control for the effects of a number of variables, thereby providing more sensitive tests of the effects of family preservation, and to examine the effects of the variables on the outcomes. The dependent variables in these analyses were some of the scales of functioning discussed above: caretaker depression, child aggression, punishment, child school problems, difficulty paying bills, positive life events, negative life events, positive child behaviors, negative child behaviors, household condition, positive child care practices, and negative child care practices. Independent variables in these analyses were assignment group (experimental or control), caretaker's age, caretaker's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> In the secondary analysis, however, the difference increased and approached significance with 29 percent for the experimental group and 24 percent for the control group, p = .06.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The difference for the secondary analysis was also not significant (25% vs. 28%, p = .12).

race, family composition, caretaker's educational attainment, caretaker's employment status, residential stability, use of income support programs, caretaker's history of abuse and/or neglect, regular access to an automobile, and time to interview (days between random assignment and post-treatment/followup interview). The analyses also included the initial scores for the dependent variable, thereby controlling the level at post-treatment or followup for the initial value. Interactions between control variables and experimental group were also examined, only a few were found to be significant.<sup>48</sup>

Caretaker's age, caretaker's race, family composition, caretaker's educational attainment, caretaker's employment status, use of income support programs, caretaker's history of abuse and/or neglect have all been examined in previous studies of outcomes in child welfare and have often been found to be predictive. Residential stability and regular access to a car have been less often examined. Since transportation and housing assistance are commonly provided in family preservation service models, the inclusion of such variables seems justifiable. Moreover, prior research does support a relationship between residential stability and major depression<sup>49</sup> and child adjustment.<sup>50</sup> Similarly, transportation (or lack there of) has been found to be related to participation in social programs<sup>51</sup> and family functioning.<sup>52</sup> We included time to interview because of the fact that that varied considerably and might have affected the degree of change that we were observing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> The significant interactions with experimental group were as follows. For depression at post-treatment in New Jersey, there was an interaction of experimental group with single motherhood; for single mothers, there was no relationship between experimental group and depression, for other caretakers, the control group had higher depression scores. Also for depression at post-treatment in New Jersey, there was an interaction with employment; for those employed at the initial interview, there was no difference between the experimental and control groups, for those unemployed, the control group had higher depression scores. For negative life events at post-treatment in Tennessee, there was an interaction with income support; for those not receiving income support the control group had more negative life events, for those receiving income support, there was no difference between the experimental and control groups in negative life events. For household condition at follow-up in Tennessee, there was an interaction between age of caretaker and experimental group; in the control group there was no relationship between age and household condition while in the experimental group, older caretakers had worse household conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Brown, D., Ahmed, F., Gary, L., & Milburn, N. (1995) Major depression in a community sample of African Americans. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 152(3), March 373-378.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Humke, C. & Schaefer, C. (1995) Relocation: A review of the effects of residential mobility on children and adolescents. *Psychology; a quarterly journal of human behavior*, 32(1), 16-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Honig, A. & Pfannestiel, A. (1991) Difficulties in reaching low-income new fathers: Issues and cases. *Early Child Development & Care* 77, 115-125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Baxter, A., & Kahn, J. (1999) Social support, needs and stress in urban families with children enrolled in an early intervention program. *Infant-Toddler Intervention* 9(3), September 239-257.

Regression analyses were conducted at the family level for both the post-treatment and followup measures. The coefficients are displayed in Table 3-13 and 3-14. All of the coefficients are shown for the initial measure of the outcome variable and for experimental group. Coefficients for other variables are shown if they were significant at p = .1 or lower. Most of the analyses are ordinary least squares regressions, logistic regressions were used for dichotomous or highly skewed variables. Generally, the initial measure was the strongest predictor. Although the size of these coefficients decreased between the post-treatment and followup interview, the majority of such coefficients remained significant. The positive direction of the coefficients indicates that caretakers with higher initial values also had higher post-treatment and followup values.

In regard to the post-treatment analyses, experimental group families generally had better outcomes, but the differences were significant in only three analyses. In New Jersey, the experimental group had lower depression scores and lower negative child care practices than the control group when controlled for the other independent variables. In the analysis without controlling for the other variables, the result for depression was in the same direction, but not significant (p = .08). The result for negative child care practices without the control variables was also in the same direction and significant (p = .02). In Tennessee the experimental group had fewer negative life events in the regression analysis. The difference between groups in the uncontrolled analysis was not significant.<sup>53</sup> Three differences significant in the regression analysis, all in New Jersey: caretaker use of punishment, negative life events, and positive child behaviors.

At the followup interview, the regression analysis indicates that family preservation clients had lower levels of child aggression in Tennessee, fewer school problems in Kentucky, and fewer problematic conditions in the home in Tennessee. There were no significant differences between groups in the uncontrolled comparisons.

Regarding the remaining independent variables, there was little consistency in whether or not a variable had an effect and even in the direction of the effect. The following discussion focuses on those variables significant at p = .05 or lower. At post-treatment, the variables that most often showed effects were education and the caretaker having a history of being maltreated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The differing results for the uncontrolled analysis and the regression analysis may be due to the significant interaction in the regression equation of experimental group and income support.

		Experim.	Care-			Abuse						
	Initial	Group	taker	Single	Ethnic	Neglect		Employ-	Income	Access	Housing	Time to
Dependent Measures	Measure	Assignment	Age	Mother	Minority	History	Education	ment	Support	to Car	Stability	Interview
Caretaker depression												
Kentucky <sup>2</sup>	.596**	053	.083			.144**						.078
New Jersey <sup>2</sup>	.690**	202**		048		.102*		170**				
Tennessee <sup>2</sup>	.606**	064										
Child aggression												
Kentucky	.522**	051										
New Jersey	.589**	044				.101*		079				
Tennessee	.533**	004										
Punishment												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	9.81**	1.16					2.02*					
New Jersey	.529**	079										
Tennessee	.281**	012										
Child school problems												
Kentucky	.539**	020	.111									
New Jersey	.381**	041						.107				
Tennessee	.654**	073										
Difficulty paying bills												
Kentucky	.608**	.023										
New Jersey	.632**	061					080			088	.107*	
Tennessee	.513**	020		.155							.142	
Positive life events												
Kentucky	.218**	.055					.160**	.124*				
New Jersey	.330**	074			108*			.104				139*
Tennessee	.330**	.020										
Negative life events												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	1.85*	.833				2.69**						
New Jersey	.278**	.008			.132*			.097				
Tennessee	.100	768**					290**		707**			

 Table 3-13

 Regressions Of Post-Treatment Family And Child Functioning Scales (Regression Coefficients)

<sup>1</sup> Logistic regression, Exp (B) displayed

<sup>2</sup> Depression scores transformed using log transformation

	Initial	Experim. Group	Care- taker	Single	Ethnic	Abuse Neglect		Employ-	Income	Access	Housing	Time to
Dependent Measures	Measure	Assignment	Age	Mother	Minority	History	Education	ment	Support	to Car	Stability	Interview
						-						
Positive child behaviors												
Kentucky	.489**	002	089					.120*				
New Jersey	.579**	032										
Tennessee	.525**	.098	187*									
Negative child behaviors												
Kentucky	.592**	012										
New Jersey	.581**	078										
Tennessee	.647**	016										
Household condition												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	9.01**	.961					.414*					.948
New Jersey <sup>1</sup>	5.66**	.744							2.01*			
Tennessee	.429**	004										
Positive child care												
Kentucky	.401**	041		.113*						.128*		
New Jersey	.566**	.007			081							
Tennessee	.575**	.069			.268**							
Negative child care												
Kentucky	.569**	078							115*			
New Jersey	.571**	119*	.083	.116*								
Tennessee	.371**	136										177

# Table 3-13, continued Regressions of Post-Treatment Family and Child Functioning Scales (Regression Coefficients)

<sup>1</sup> Logistic regression, Exp (B) displayed

		Experim.	Care-			Abuse						
	Initial	Group	taker	Single	Ethnic	Neglect		Employ-	Income	Access	Housing	Time to
Dependent Measures	Measure	Assignment	Age	Mother	Minority	History	Education	ment	Support	to Car	Stability	Interview
Caretaker depression												
Kentucky <sup>2</sup>	.552**	.068	.116*									
New Jersey <sup>2</sup>	.518**	051					124*					
Tennessee <sup>2</sup>	.443**	011										
Child aggression												
Kentucky	.363**	.022										
New Jersey	.417**	.031	120*									
Tennessee	.347**	226*										.173
Punishment												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	6.67**	.750										.977*
New Jersey	.288**	085			126		108					
Tennessee	.271*	146										.293**
Child school problems												
Kentucky	.254**	147*	.253**					.180**				
New Jersey	.272**	098										
Tennessee	.451**	002					.290**					
Difficulty paying bills												
Kentucky	.396**	016					.127*					
New Jersey	.537**	001				.108*	108*					
Tennessee	.290**	132										
Positive life events												
Kentucky	.260**	044			.117		.227**					
New Jersey	.081	049	165*									
Tennessee	.261*	081						198		.304*		
Negative life events												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	1.71*	1.18										
New Jersey	.356**	.023			176**							
Tennessee	.116	127				.272*						.236*

# Table 3-14 Regressions Of Followup Family And Child Functioning Scales (Regression Coefficients)

<sup>1</sup> Logistic Regression, Exp (B) displayed

<sup>2</sup> Depression scores transformed using log transformation

Dependent Measures	Initial Measure	Experim. Group Assignment	Care- taker Age	Single Mother	Ethnic Minority	Abuse Neglect History	Education	Employ- ment	Income Support	Access to Car	Housing Stability	Time to Interview
Positive child behaviors												
Kentucky	.250**	.028					.182**					
New Jersey	.294**	002					.165*					
Tennessee	.192	064	231*								.301**	
Negative child behaviors												
Kentucky	.385**	058						.137*				
New Jersey	.404**	016			121*							
Tennessee	.344**	097										.200
Household condition												
Kentucky <sup>1</sup>	3.86*	1.38		.271								
New Jersev <sup>1</sup>	3.59**	1.40							2.51*			
Tennessee	.045	-1.24**	317									.207
Positive child care												
Kentucky	.370**	.014	193**					.133*				
New Jersev	.164*	.044	200**									
Tennessee	.110	056										
Negative child care												
Kentucky	.340**	.020										
New Jersev	.311**	050			135*			143*				
Tennessee	.195	085										.296*

# Table 3-14, continued Regressions of Followup Family and Child Functioning Scales (Regression Coefficients)

<sup>1</sup> Logistic Regression, Exp (B) displayed

Caretaker education was related to three post-treatment outcomes in Kentucky. More education was associated with more punishment, more positive life events, and worse household condition. In Tennessee more education was related to fewer negative life events. In Kentucky, having a history of maltreatment was related to higher depression and more negative life events. In New Jersey, history of maltreatment was related to higher depression and children being more aggressive. Income support, ethnic minority, and caretaker employment all were predictors in 3 of the 36 post-treatment regressions. Time to interview was significant in only one of the regressions.

At followup, time to interview emerged as a predictor in 4 of the 36 regression equations, in all cases related to an increase (worsening). Other variables often related to outcome were caretaker age and education. In New Jersey, older caretakers had fewer positive life events and had children who were less aggressive. In Tennessee, older caretakers had children with fewer positive behaviors. In Kentucky, older caretakers had higher depression scores, less often engaged in positive child care practices, and had children with more school problems.

In New Jersey at followup, caretaker education was related to 3 outcomes. More education was related to lower depression, less difficulty paying bills, and more positive child behaviors. In Kentucky, more education was related to *more* difficulty paying bills, more positive life events, and more positive child behaviors. More education in Tennessee is related to more child school problems. In Kentucky, caretaker's employment is related to more negative child behaviors, more child school problems, and more positive child care practices. Caretaker employment in New Jersey is associated with fewer negative child care practices. Ethnic minority caretakers in New Jersey had fewer negative life events, engaged in fewer negative child care practices, and had children with fewer negative behaviors.

The 72 regression equations for post-treatment and followup contain a fair number of significant coefficients, but there is little consistency across states or across outcomes.

In summary, regression models were constructed to explore the relationship between caretaker demographic characteristics and experimental group and family functioning. Other than the initial value of the measures, relatively few significant relationships emerged. Moreover, these relationships were not consistent across the states. As to the effects of family preservation services, these data do not support a strong relationship between these services and better family functioning.

### 3.10 Relationship of Placement and Subsequent Harm to Amount of Service

The preceding analysis focuses on differences between cases assigned to family preservation and the control group. But some cases in the experimental group received relatively low levels of service while cases in the control group may have received more services than usual. One can examine the relationship between the amount of service provided, regardless of whether the case is in the experimental or control group, and outcomes. In this analysis we measured level of service in two ways, both drawn from the post-treatment interview with the caretaker: the caretaker's report of the number of contacts with the worker and the caretaker's

## Table 3-15

## Caregiver's Report Of Contact With Caseworker And Caseworker Activities As Predictors Of Subsequent Placement And Substantiated Maltreatment

		KY, NJ, TN	
	Ν	Exp(B)	р
Placement within 18 months and caseworker contact	749		
Constant		.39	
Number of times met with worker since last interview		1.000	.89
Number of placements within 18 months after random assignment date	208		
Placement within 18 months and caseworker activities	749		
Constant		.40	
Number of caseworker activities (as reported by caregiver)		.99	.68
Number of placements w/m 18 months after random assignment date	208		
Substantiated allegation within 18 months and caseworker	753		
contact			
Constant		.25	
Number of times met with worker since last interview		1.003	.12
Number of substantiated allegations 18 months after random assignment date	161		
Substantiated allegation within 18 months and caseworker	753		
activities	100		
Constant		26	
Number of CW activities (as reported by caregiver)		1.01	.68
Number of substantiated allegations 18 months after random assignment date	161		

report of the number of caseworker activities. The relationship between these variables and placement and subsequent substantiated allegations of harm was examined through logistic regression, reported in Table 3-15. As can be seen in the table, there were no significant relationships between the level of service and these outcomes, all of the odds ratios for the predictive variables were quite close to one.

#### 3.11 Matching of Services to Problems

The analysis to this point has examined the effects of services in an undifferentiated way, by looking at the relationship between the amount of services and outcomes, by either comparing the outcomes of the experimental and control groups or, in the last section, examining the relationship between amount of services as determined by the number of contacts and outcomes. But it is possible that the services provided were not responsive to the particular problems of families. To the extent that this is the case, it would explain the relatively small effects of services on outcomes. Furthermore, an examination of specific problems and specific services might reveal effects that are obscured in the global analyses presented thus far.

We explored this possibility in a limited way by looking at three prominent problems experienced by families in the study, financial difficulties, problems with discipline of children, and depression. After identifying families with these problems, we determined the extent to which services provided might have addressed these issues, the extent of "match" between problems and services provided. Finally, we determined whether there was a relationship between the extent of match of services and problems with outcomes. We conducted the analyses only on cases in the family preservation group in the three Homebuilders states for which we had interviews at the beginning and end of service and contact forms giving us information on services provided. We limited the sample to the Homebuilders group so as to look at the implementation of a particular, well defined model, thus limiting extraneous variance due to variation in approach. It was thought that within that group we would most likely find a match between problems and services. We also believed that the contact form data, on which this analysis depended, was more complete and of a higher quality for the experimental group. Furthermore, in general, control group cases did not receive a high enough volume of services to reveal a match. We combined the samples from the three states, a total of 292 families with 886 children. Women were the caretakers in 89 percent of these families and the caretakers were, on average, 36 years old. Forty-eight percent were African American, 47 percent were white.

Economic problems were determined from responses on the caretaker interviews to questions about difficulties paying rent, paying electric and heating bills, buying food, and buying clothes for the children. Any family responding positively to any one of these four questions at the initial interview was classified as having economic problems (n = 157, 54%). The presence of disciplinary problems was determined from seven questions on the initial caretaker interview.<sup>54</sup> Again, if any one of these questions was answered affirmatively, the case was classified as having disciplinary problems (n = 221, 76%). Caretaker depression was determined from the SCL-90 depression scale. Individuals with scores higher than the median (determined separately for men and women) were categorized as having some problems with depression.

Services specific to particular problems were determined from the contact forms completed by family preservation caseworkers. Services responding to economic problems were providing emergency cash or paying bills; buying food; helping to find housing; providing clothing, furniture, or supplies; and discussions of money management. Services directed at disciplinary practices were discussions of discipline of children, child's anger management, dealing with violence in the family, caretaker interaction with the child, supervision of children, and child development. Services directed at caretaker depression were discussions of depression, other caretaker emotional problems, social skills, and adult companionship. The extent of service response to particular problems was calculated as the simple count of the number of times caseworkers checked a particular item on the contact forms submitted for the family.

There are a number of limitations in this procedure. First, we looked at only three problem areas, areas that we thought we could identify relatively easily. Further, the measurement of service response is clearly not ideal, service data were not constructed in a way that would make them straightforwardly parallel to problems, so the development of service measures in this analysis is quite post-hoc. In addition, obviously caseworkers may have chosen, for good reason, not to respond to a particular problem, perhaps because another problem was more pressing or more tractable, so that the failure to respond to a particular problem should not be viewed as an indication of the failure of casework in the case. There was also considerable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> The questions were: have you lost your temper when your children got on your nerves, have you found that hitting your child was a good way to get him/her to listen, have you sometimes found yourself hitting your child harder than you meant to, have things sometimes gotten out of control when you punished your child, have you punished your child by tying him/her up with a rope, cord, string, or belt, have you sometimes punished your child by not letting him/her into the house, have you punished your child for not finishing the food on his/her plate.

overlap of these problems (83 families reported all three problems at the initial interview, 82 reported two of them, while 24 reported none of them). Despite these limitations, tendencies toward the matching of services and problems should show up in the data, though perhaps not as prominently as would have been the case had data collection been explicitly directed at exploring these issues.

To determine the match between problems and services, we calculated the average number of times a service was provided to cases with the problem (the number of contact forms recording the service) and compared that to the average number of times the service was provided to cases that did not have the problem. The results are shown in Table 3-16.

Families with economic problems significantly more often than families without such problems received three of the five services identified as responding to these problems. We conclude that there is moderate evidence of a match between problems and services in the economic area. Families with discipline problems received two of five services significantly more often than those without these problems, some indication of a match. As to depression, caseworkers significantly more often discussed depression with caretakers with high levels of depression than with those with lower levels. For the other three services identified as possibly responding to caretaker depression there were no significant differences. Discussion of "other caretaker emotional problems" occurred more often with those with higher levels of depression, although the difference is not significant. We conclude, therefore, that there is some match between problems and casework response, a match that might have shown itself more strongly had measurement of services been designed to reveal it.
	Cases with the	Cases not having
	problem	the problem
Economic problems, n =	157	134
Services:		
Emergency cash or paying bills	0.57**	0.23
Buying food	1.26**	0.63
Helping to find housing	0.37	0.36
Clothing, furniture, supplies	0.92	0.66
Money management discussion	2.05**	0.93
Discipline problems $n =$	221	68
Services discussion of		00
Discipline of child	7.35**	5.08
Child anger management	4.98*	3.33
Family violence	2.53	1.73
Caretaker interaction with child	6.32	5.82
Supervision of children	3.45	3.76
Depression n =	152	140
Services, discussion of:	102	110
Caretaker depression	2.83**	1.43
Other caretaker emotional problems	2.37	1.80
Adult companionship	1.32	0.99
Social skills	2.42	2.85

# Table 3-16Match Of Services With Problems(Mean number of times service provided)

\* *p* < .05, \*\* *p* < .01.

#### Effect of Match of Services to Problems on Outcomes.

We next attempted to determine whether, for cases experiencing each of the three problem categories, service responses specific to the problem made a difference in outcome. The outcomes we examined were improvements in the specific problem at the time of the posttreatment caretaker interview and subsequent placement and maltreatment. Because families in the experimental group were not randomly assigned to varying levels of specific kinds of services, it can be assumed that there are selection biases operating in determining levels of service. Hence, for the examination of effects on the level of the problem at the post-treatment interview, two-stage least squares techniques were used in which the provision of specific services was modeled in the first stage and the effects of services on outcomes were determined in the second stage. Demographic characteristics were included in both stages and the level of the problem at the initial interview was included in the second stage. A variable reflecting the caretaker's response in the post-treatment interview to a question on whether additional services were needed was also included in both stages. First stage instruments were chosen based on their prediction of levels of service and lack of association with the outcome variables. In all of the analyses the instruments were jointly significant in the prediction of levels of service.

We report here on the results of the second stage of these analyses, the determination of the effect of specific services on problem level at the post-treatment interview. For all three problems, as would be expected, the initial level of the problem was significantly and positively related to the post-treatment level. For the group experiencing economic problems, of the five services thought to respond to the problem, only one was significantly related to post-treatment problem levels, the provision of cash assistance was positively related to level of economic problems post-treatment. That is, the more cash assistance provided, the higher the levels of economic problems. It is likely that this seemingly contrary finding simply reflects the fact that families with considerable economic difficulties are more likely to get cash assistance but are also more likely to continue to experience those problems. The variable reflecting need for additional concrete services was also positively related to post-treatment levels of economic problems.

For the group with discipline problems, of the five services in the second stage equation, two were significantly related to the level of the problem at post-treatment. The higher the level of discussion of discipline of children, the lower the level of the problem while the greater the discussion of child anger management, the higher the level of the problem. For cases with above median levels of depression, two of the four services thought to respond to the problem were significantly related to level of the problem at post treatment. More discussion of depression in caseworker contacts was related to higher levels of depression post-treatment while more discussion of adult companionship was related to decreased post-treatment depression.

The sparseness of positive findings in this analysis leads us to conclude that there is little evidence here of positive effects of concrete or clinical services on these three problem areas.

To examine the effects of specific services on placement and maltreatment following entry into the study, hierarchical linear modeling was used in order to account for the fact that we have multiple children in some families and their outcomes are not independent.<sup>55</sup> To deal with selection issues, predicted values of services, determined from the first stage of the 2SLS analyses, were entered at level two (the family level) and these terms were used to determine the effects of services on outcomes. Again, separate analyses were done for each problem group.

For the economic difficulties subgroup, two of the five problem specific services were significantly and negatively related to the likelihood of subsequent maltreatment: provision of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Because the dependent variable was dichotomous, the logit link function was used, transforming the outcome into log-odds. Hence, the analysis actually used a hierarchical non-linear model.

clothing/furniture/supplies and housing assistance. Cash assistance and provision of clothing/furniture/supplies were significantly and negatively related to the likelihood of subsequent placement. For families with problems in discipline of children, none of the six services were related to subsequent maltreatment, while discussions of violence in the family were related to a decrease in likelihood of placement and discussions of child anger management were related to an increase. In families in which the caretaker was measured as having higher than median levels of depression at the beginning of service, none of the problem specific services were related to subsequent maltreatment. However, discussion of depression was related to an increase in likelihood of placement while discussions of social skills and of companionship/friendship were related to a decrease in placement.

No consistent patterns emerge in the analysis of the effects of specific services on subsequent maltreatment and placement. There is some indication that within the economic problems group, services directed at these problems have some beneficial effects on these outcomes. Within the discipline problems and depression groups, results are mixed, some services are related to increases in subsequent maltreatment and placement while others are associated with decreases. No clear conclusions can be drawn.

#### 3.12 Summary of Outcome Data

Information from the caretaker interviews, the caseworker interviews, and the administrative data were analyzed for indications of differences between the experimental and control groups subsequent to the referral to the family preservation program. Tables 3-15 and 3-16 contain a summary of those outcomes on which we found significant differences between the experimental and control groups in any state for the primary analyses (p < .05). Items in bold are those on which the experimental group had better outcomes, those in italics are those on which the control groups had better outcomes.

In none of the three states were there significant differences between the experimental and control groups on family level rates of placement or case closings. Subsequent maltreatment was generally not related to experimental group membership, except for one subgroup in Tennessee. In Tennessee, in those families with an allegation within 30 days prior to random assignment, the experimental group children experienced fewer substantiated allegations than children in the control group.

In Tables 3-17 and 3-18 there are a number of child and family functioning items in which the experimental group displayed better outcomes than the control group in one of the

states. It should be noted that the results have not been adjusted for the multiplicity of significance tests performed. That is, these significant items surfaced out of a large number of items and scales examined. In such a situation it is to be expected that some items will show significant differences simply by chance, so the appearance of a few significant differences should not be taken as an indication of superiority of one group over another, particularly when the results are not confirmed in more than one state. On only two items were differences found in two states: caretakers' assessment of whether goals had been accomplished and their assessment of overall change. We are inclined to believe that family preservation programs as represented in these states do result in higher assessments by clients of the extent to which goals have been accomplished and of overall change, since differences on those items were found in both states. Beyond that, we are unable to claim consistent evidence of positive effects of family preservation services.<sup>56</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> The reader is reminded of the findings reported in Chapter 7 indicating that experimental group caretakers generally had more positive views of service and of their relationships with workers than control group caretakers.

Caretaker Interview: Proportion of affirmative answers to yes/no questions									
	I	Kentuck	у	New Jersey			Tennessee		
	Control	Exp		Control	Exp		Control	Exp	
	%	%	р	%	%	р	%	%	p
Is apartment/house rented (vs. owned)	75	89	0.005	70	68		69	75	
Got together with anyone to have fun	64	64		65	59		38	75	0.001
Felt had few or no friends	14	18		20	18		38	19	0.03
Had difficulty buying clothes	17	21		47	33	0.008	27	24	
Out of control when punishing child	24	24		40	30	0.05	11	12	
Punished for not finishing food	7	1	0.02	6	5		0	0	
Unable to find someone to watch child	9	12		21	12	0.04	20	27	
Encouraged child to read a book	92	90		82	91	0.02	94	96	
Have goals been accomplished	63	77	0.02	52	71	0.001	81	84	
Assessment of overall change:			0.02			0.001			
Great improvement	16	22	2	9	10	6	32	32	2
Some improvement	31	42	2	41	52	2	32	42	2
Same	42	29	)	34	20	)	22	14	Ļ
Somewhat or a great deal worse	12	6	6	16	12	2	14	13	

 Table 3-17

 Summary Of Outcomes, Post-Treatment Interview

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary analysis p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported. Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

		Kentucky		New Jersey			Tennessee		
	Control	Exp		Control	Exp		Control	Exp	
Caretaker Scales:	М	Μ	р	М	М	р	М	М	р
Difficulty paying bills (proportion of 4 items)	0.17	0.22		0.34	0.25	0.02	0.25	0.18	
Negative child care practices (proportion of 10 items)	0.14	.0.13		0.18	0.14	0.02	0.09	0.09	
Punishment (proportion of 5 items)	0.16	0.17		0.25	0.20	0.04	0.13	0.13	
Negative child behaviors (proportion of 21 items)	0.34	0.34		0.33	0.28	0.04	0.21	0.21	
Change in proportion of punishment items from initial to post- treatment interviews	-0.04	-0.09	0.05	-0.05	-0.07		-0.07	-0.13	
Change in proportion of negative child care practices from Initial to post-treatment interviews	-0.02	-0.06	0.04	-0.04	-0.05		-0.01	-0.08	0.02

## Table 3-17, continued Summary of Outcomes, Post-Treatment Interview

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary analysis p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported. Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

		Kentucky	Centucky New Jersey		Tennessee				
	Control	Exp		Control	Exp		Control	Exp	
Caseworker Scales:	М	М	р	М	Μ	р	М	М	р
Ability giving affection (higher = more adequate)	2.83	2.83		2.93	2.70	0.04	2.73	2.95	
Providing learning opportunities for child	2.38	2.42		2.89	2.60	0.008	2.64	2.64	
(higher = more adequate)									
Respecting child's opinions (higher = more adequate)	2.58	2.45		2.55	2.42		2.35	2.84	0.01
Responding patiently to child's questions (higher = more adequate)	2.43	2.34		2.44	2.27		2.26	2.67	0.04
Adequate supervision / Responsible child care (higher = more adequate)	2.50	2.59		2.80	2.71		2.52	2.93	0.04
Household condition (proportion of 13 items, higher = worse condition)	0.10	0.13	0.01	0.09	0.11	0.02	0.12	0.12	
Caretaker problems (proportion of 21 items, higher = more problems)	0.25	0.31	0.0005	0.21	0.23		0.21	0.18	
Caretaker functioning (higher = better)	2.56	2.55		2.79	2.66	0.10	2.51	2.82	0.04
Respecting child's opinions (change in average ratings from Time 1 to Time 2)**	0.19	-0.06	0.05	0.27	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.14	
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules (change in average ratings from Time 1 to Time 2) **	0.35	0.22		0.33	0.25		-0.29	0.29	0.01
Caretaker Problems (Change in proportion of 21 items; lower = less at Time 2)	-0.06	-0.04		-0.05	-0.04		-0.03	-0.08	0.05

## Table 3-17, continued Summary of Outcomes, Post-Treatment Interview

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary analysis p-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; p-values greater than .10 are not reported. Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group. \*\* Scale for change in ratings: -4 = ability decreased greatly over time, 0 = no change in ability over time, +4 = ability increased greatly over time

### Table 3-18 Summary Of Outcomes, Caretaker Followup Interview

Proportion of affirmative answers to yes/no questions

	Kentucky		New Jersey			Tennessee			
	Control %	Exp %	р	Control %	Exp %	р	Control %	Exp %	р
Has spouse held full time job	81	78	•	86	68	.05	100	85	<u> </u>
Had difficulty paying rent	20	20		34	27		39	20	.04
Have children handled household chores	75	75		70	83	.02	94	89	

NOTE: This table only includes items with either a primary *p*-value less than .05 in at least one of the states; *p*-values greater than .10 are not reported Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

There are a few items on which the control group had better outcomes, nearly all of them on measures provided by caseworkers. We are not inclined to read too much into these results, since experimental group caseworkers generally knew the families better and there may well have been significant differences in the ways that workers serving the two groups saw families and judged their functioning.

#### 4 PHILADELPHIA

#### 4.1 Introduction

Philadelphia was selected for the evaluation because it employed an alternative, somewhat less intensive, longer term approach, and therefore provides some contrast with the Homebuilders sites. In addition, the programs in Philadelphia that were examined were thought to focus on families with substance abuse problems which was not the case in the other sites.

As in the other states, the design for the evaluation in Philadelphia was an experiment in which families were randomly assigned to either the family preservation program (the experimental group) or to other, "regular," services of the child welfare system (the control group). In Philadelphia, both the experimental group and control group received services from private agencies under contract with the public child welfare agency. The public agency has a specialized family preservation unit that develops selection criteria, approves families to receive family preservation services and works closely with the private providers. All other in-home services, known as SCOH (Services to Children in their Own Homes), are delivered by private providers and monitored by the Department's caseworkers. During the evaluation period, experimental cases received family preservation services and control cases received SCOH services. Family preservation is a three-month program that requires workers to spend at least 5 to 10 hours per week with the family.

A description of data collection and sample size in Philadelphia is found in Volume 1, Chapter 6 of this report.

#### 4.2 The Philadelphia Families

Descriptive information about the Philadelphia families was gathered from the initial interviews with caretakers (n = 263) and is summarized in Table 4-1. Because families were randomly assigned, we would expect the families in the experimental and control groups to be similar at the time of random assignment, and for that reason, the sample is described as a whole. Differences between the two groups were examined and there were no characteristics on which the groups differed to a statistically significant degree.

The respondents were primarily women (95%). Most (91%) of the respondents were birth mothers, 5 percent were biological fathers, just under 3 percent were grandparents, and

	N	%
Gender of caretaker/respondent	263	
Male		5.3
Female		94.7
Race of caretaker/respondent	263	
African American (not Hispanic)		80.0
Caucasian (not Hispanic)		15.0
Hispanic		2.3
Other		1.9
Respondent's education level	263	
Elementary school or less		3.8
Some high school		61.0
High school graduate or obtained GED		18.7
College		11.0
Special education or vocational schooling		4.2
Respondent's marital status	263	
Married		9.5
Divorced		6.8
Separated		11.0
Widowed		3.0
Never married		69.0
Respondent's relationship to youngest child	263	
Birth mother		90.5
Biological father		4.6
Grandparent		2.7
Other relative		2.3
Household composition	263	
Birth mother, no other adults		49.8
Birth mother & 1 male adult		19.8
Birth mother & extended family*		18.6
Biological father <sup>*</sup>		4.6
Other relative caretaker*		4.6
Other <sup>**</sup>		2.7
	N	Mean
Age of respondent	260	31.78
Age of youngest child	263	3.36
Age of oldest child	263	9.83
Number of kids	263	3.40
Number of adults	263	1.60

 Table 4-1

 Description of the Philadelphia Families at Time of Initial Interviews

\* These categories may also include other non-related adults in the home

\*\*Includes: nonrelative caretaker, adoptive or step-parent, birth mother & non-related females, or birth mother, and more than one non-related male

just over 2 percent were other relatives. The racial composition of the respondents was mostly African American (not Hispanic), at 80 percent, with 15 percent Caucasian (not Hispanic), and the remainder Hispanic and other. The average age of the respondents was 32 (s.d. = 9.11). Just under 4 percent of the respondents had less than a high school level education, 61 percent had some high school, 19 percent had graduated from high school or obtained a GED, 11 percent had at least some college education, and 4 percent had special education or vocational schooling. Approximately 10 percent of the respondents indicated they were married, 7 percent divorced, 11 percent separated, 3 percent widowed, and 69 percent never married. Twenty-two percent reported that they were living with a spouse or partner. At the time of the first interview, 17 percent of the respondents indicated they were employed, 43 percent were unemployed and looking for work, and 40 percent were unemployed and not looking for work. Overall, 65 percent of the respondents rented their homes.

On average, these families were comprised of 1.6 adults and 3.4 children for an overall average family size of 5.0 persons. The average age of the youngest child in the family was 3.45 years (s.d. = 3.75), and the average age of the oldest child in the family was 9.8 years (s.d. = 4.47). Respondents were also asked to provide information regarding the relationship of other adults in the home relative to the youngest child in the home. This information was then used to determine household composition for these families. Approximately one half of the households were headed by a single birth mother, 20 percent had a birth mother residing with one male adult, 19 percent had a birth mother and extended family, 5 percent were headed by a biological father, and 5 percent were headed by another relative caretaker.

#### 4.2.1 Family Problems

Problems and strengths identified by Philadelphia caretakers are summarized in Table 4-2. Most (96%) respondents felt they were "doing a pretty good job raising [their] kids." Still, data from the time one interviews provides us with some sense of the difficulties these families faced as caretakers were asked whether or not they had experienced certain problems in the last month. With regard to emotional problems, 62 percent of the respondents reported feeling "blue or depressed," 53 percent reported feeling nervous or tense, 52 percent were overwhelmed by work or family responsibilities, 33 percent said they had just wanted to give up at some point in the last month, and 35 percent felt they had few or no friends.

With regard to financial difficulties, 56 percent responded that in the past month they did not feel they had enough money for food, rent, or clothing. In response to more specific

### Table 4-2 Philadelphia Caretaker Problems and Strengths, Caretaker Initial Interview (% responding yes)

Problems	Control	Experimental	р
Felt blue or depressed	58	65	
Felt nervous or tense	50	54	
Just wanted to give up	35	32	
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	48	55	
Felt you had few or no friends	35	35	
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	60	54	
Gotten in trouble with the law	0	3	
Had too much to drink in a week	7	3	
Used drugs several times a week	6	10	
Economic Items			
Had difficulty paying rent	25	25	
Had difficulty paying electric/heat	38	35	
Had difficulty buying enough food	18	21	
Had difficulty buying clothes	40	40	
Positive Items			
Have you felt happy	69	77	
Gotten together with anyone to have fun/relax	0	3	
Doing a pretty good job raising kids	95	97	

questions about difficulties paying bills in the past 3 months, 25 percent reported difficulty paying rent, 36 percent reported difficulty paying electric or heating bills, 20 percent difficulty buying food for the family, and 40 percent difficulty buying clothes for their children.

Although the Philadelphia program was intended to be focused on substance abuse, only five percent of respondents acknowledged having too much to drink several times a week, and 8 percent reported using drugs several times a week. When caretakers were asked whether a child or children they care for went through alcohol or drug withdrawal when born, 8 percent responded affirmatively.<sup>57</sup> Less than 2 percent of respondents indicated they had gotten in trouble with the law in the past month.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> There was a small, non-significant difference between the experimental group, of whom 5.8 percent said yes, and the control group, of whom 11.2 percent responded yes (p = .11).

#### 4.2.2 Child Problems

Table 4-3 shows caretakers' responses to questions about problems of children in the families. About three-fifths of respondents reported that their child "gets upset easily," and almost three-fourths reported that at least one child throws tantrums. Approximately one-fifth of the caretakers reported school problems for a child in the family; 19 percent had been absent a lot, 25 percent had failed a class, and 22 percent had been temporarily suspended from school. Approximately one-third of the caretakers reported aggressive behavior by the child; 31 percent indicated a child in their family "fights a lot with other kids" and 33 percent reported that the child is aggressive toward the caretaker.

#### 4.2.3 Caretaker Abuse or Neglect as a Child

When asked two separate questions about whether they had been abused or neglected as a child, 32 percent of the respondents reported having been abused and 23 percent neglected. Eighteen percent responded affirmatively to both questions, and overall, 37 percent of the caretakers reported having either been abused, neglected, or both as a child. Thirteen percent of caretakers had been in a foster home or institution. Experimental and control groups did not differ significantly with respect to these previous experiences.<sup>58</sup>

#### 4.2.4 Previous Allegations and Placement

Historical reports of maltreatment and historical records of placement in substitute care were contained within the administrative data files. Three hundred and thirty-one (95%) of the families had been investigated for maltreatment prior to random assignment. Two hundred and eighty-three (81%) of the families had experienced at least one substantiated allegation prior to random assignment.<sup>59</sup> The administrative files reported four types of allegations; physical abuse, neglect, sexual maltreatment, and other. The allegation just prior to random assignment was of primary interest. This particular allegation provides some indication of reason for referral to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Although not significantly different, compared to the control group, the experimental group did have a somewhat higher proportion of respondents who reported having been neglected as a child (27% vs. 19%; p = .15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> The state of Philadelphia reports 8 possible outcomes for reports of maltreatment; (1) indicated, perpetrator admitted, (2) indicated, medical evidence, (3) not substantiated, (4) pending determination, (5) substantiated, (6) unfounded, (7) indicated - investigating, and (8) unable to complete.

#### Table 4-3

	N	%
Asked about all children		
Child went through alcohol withdrawal at birth	262	3
Child went through drug withdrawal when born	262	8
Child doesn't show much interest in what is going on	259	17
Child is smaller/lighter than other children	262	21
Child get(s) upset easily	259	59
Asked for children over 3 months old		
Is/Are funny and makes you laugh	251	99
Like(s) to share things with others	248	90
Throw(s) tantrums	251	70
Is/are shy and withdrawn	251	36
Is/are outgoing and friendly	252	97
Is/are good looking	252	100
Fight(s) a lot with other kids	247	31
Has/have language problems	246	18
Asked for children over 4 years old		
Is/are very aggressive toward you	217	33
Has/have a special talent in music	217	51
Like(s) animals	217	95
Is/are good at sports	216	79
Usually does the right thing	217	86
Hangs with friends you don't like	215	25
In the past 3 months, has any child you care for		
Gone to church regularly	216	42
Been absent from school a lot	207	19
Run away from home overnight	199	5
Been temporarily suspended from school	205	22
Been expelled from school	205	4
Taken care of younger children	204	36
Took something that didn't belong	216	24
Absent from school/no good reason	205	9
Received special education at school	206	25
Failed any classes	205	25
Received counseling	205	28
Asked for any child over age 7		
In the last 3 months, has any child been arrested	174	7
Asked only for children over age 10		
Has child age 11 or older had alcohol problems	115	0
Has child age 11 or older had a drug problem	114	4
Has any girl age 12 to 18 been pregnant	57	4
Has any boy age 14 to 18 fathered a child	19	0

#### Concerns and Problems Regarding Children, Philadelphia Caretaker Initial Interview (% responding yes regarding any child that the respondent cares for)

family preservation. The distribution of last substantiated allegation prior to random assignment is as follows: 29 percent physical abuse, 66 percent neglect, 2 percent sexual maltreatment, and 3 percent other.

Regarding substitute care placement, 131 children in 63 (18%) families had experienced placement prior to random assignment. For these cases, on average, 42.5 months elapsed between the last day of care and random assignment. In the placement spell just prior to random assignment the average length of time in substitute care was 6.7 months.<sup>60</sup>

#### 4.2.5 Social Program Participation

In the initial interview, respondents were asked whether they or anyone else in the household had participated in various social programs within the past 3 months. The overall rates of participation are provided in Table 4-4. Approximately four-fifths indicated that they received food stamps, just over two-thirds received AFDC, slightly less than half received WIC, about one quarter received social security disability, and less than one-tenth received a housing voucher. Overall, respondents indicated that they participated in an average of 2.3 of the 5 income support programs listed (s.d. = 1.2) and 90 percent of the sample participated in at least one of the five programs. There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups in the rate of participation in income support programs. Reports of participation in alcoholism, drug treatment, marriage counseling, and job training programs were less than 10 percent for each. Slightly less than a third of the sample reported participation in Head Start or another pre-school program.

#### 4.3 Summary of Sample Description

Most of the respondents to the first interview were women and birth mothers of the youngest child in the home. Eighty percent of the respondents were African-American (not Hispanic) and 15 percent were Caucasian. Approximately two-thirds of the respondents had not graduated from high school, slightly more than two-thirds were never married, and over four-fifths were unemployed. About half of the households were headed by a single birth mother, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Placement spells are defined as any consecutive period of time in substitute care and may consist of several distinct placements (i.e., several different foster homes).

Program	Percent
Food stamps	80.2
Job training	23.3
WIC	46.2
AFDC	70.1
Housing vouchers	7.3
Social security disability	25.2
Alcoholism program	5.7
Drug treatment program	14.5
Marriage counseling	0.8
Community mental health program	11.5
Head Start/pre-school	36.9

Table 4-4Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs Prior to Initial Interview

the average age of the respondents was just under 32 years. On average there were 1.6 adults and 3.4 children in the home, with the average age of the youngest child 3.4 years and the average age of the oldest child 9.8 years.

Over half of the respondents answered affirmatively to each of three questions about emotional difficulties: "feeling blue or depressed," "feeling nervous or tense," and "feeling overwhelmed with work or family responsibility." More than half of the respondents also indicated that they did not have enough money for food, rent, or clothing. Eleven percent said they had problems with alcohol or drugs, and just over one-third reported that they had been abused, neglected, or both as a child.

Ninety percent of the respondents indicated that they participated in at least one of 5 income support programs: AFDC, food stamps, WIC, Social Security disability, and housing vouchers. The rate of participation was less than 10 percent for alcoholism treatment, drug treatment, marriage counseling, and job training. About one-third of the respondents indicated participation in Head Start or another pre-school program.

Ninety-five percent of the families in the study had an investigation prior to their referral for family preservation services and 80 percent had at least one substantiated allegation. Seventeen percent of the families experienced placement of at least one child prior to the referral for family preservation services. With respect to sample characteristics, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups.

#### 4.4 Services

#### 4.4.1 Services During the Treatment Period

In the second interview with caretakers and caseworkers, we asked questions about services offered and received during the period since random assignment. Experimental and control group responses to these questions were compared. This analysis documents the services received by both groups (thereby beginning to get into the "black box" of services) and determines whether the experimental group in fact did receive more services and more intense services than the control group.

**Caseworker Activities.** Caretakers were asked to indicate whether the caseworker provided help with a number of specific problems. Table 4-5 shows the number of affirmative responses in each group. According to caretakers, the most common activities in which workers engaged were discussing discipline, providing transportation, and telling caretakers about other agencies that offer services. Of the 19 items on which caretakers were questioned, the control group workers reportedly engaged in one activity, advising on substance abuse, more than the experimental group workers (26% vs. 18%), however, the difference was not statistically significant (p = .16). For 8 of the 19 items, experimental group workers reportedly engaged in the activity significantly more often than control group workers (all at p = .05 or less).<sup>61</sup> The activities engaged in more often by experimental group workers include: help with money for other things, providing transportation, talking with caretaker about discipline, advising how to get a better place, advising on job training programs, talking about how to get a paying job, and advising on how to continue school.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> The results of "secondary" analyses, dropping violations of random assignment and cases receiving minimal service show slightly greater differences between the experimental and control groups (see Appendix). Here, the same 8 significant primary analysis items show significant differences in favor of the experimental group at p = .01 or lower, and one additional item showed significant differences in the same direction at p < .05. All nine items that showed significant differences in the secondary analysis remained significantly different in the tertiary analysis (see Appendix).

 Table 4-5

 Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities, Post-treatment Interview

	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р
Caseworker helped with money for rent/elect./phone	3	4	
Caseworker helped with money for other things	5	22	.001
Caseworker provided transportation	35	50	.03
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	22	28	
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	32	53	.002
Caseworker talked with you on relations with spouse	13	20	
Caseworker helped you clean house	6	7	
Caseworker helped with painting/house repairs	01	4	
Caseworker discussed how to get childcare	21	32	.08
Caseworker helped with welfare/food Stamps	4	9	
Caseworker advised how to get medical care	10	23	.02
Caseworker talked with you how to handle anger	31	37	
Caseworker advised you on substance abuse	26	18	
Caseworker discussed with you how to get a better place	25	38	.05
Caseworker advised on job training programs	23	36	.04
Caseworker talked about how to get a paying job	19	33	.02
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	21	34	.03
Caseworker arranged for some childcare	5	8	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	39	47	

A total count of the number of these 19 caseworker activities reported by caretakers also shows significant differences between the experimental and control groups. Caretakers in the experimental group reported an average of 4.6 caseworker activities (n = 148, s.d. = 3.8) while caretakers in the control group reported an average of 2.9 caseworker activities (n = 113, s.d. = 3.1) (p = .001).<sup>62</sup> When asked which of the caseworker activities were especially helpful,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> These differences remained significant and in the same direction for both secondary and tertiary analyses (for magnitude and significance levels, see Appendix).

experimental group caretakers judged significantly more activities to be helpful than did control group caretakers (2.2 vs. 1.5, p = .02).<sup>63</sup>

**Social Program Participation.** In the second interview, caretakers were again asked about their participation in the set of social programs listed in Table 4-6, except this time they were asked to report their participation since the time of the first interview. The proportions of involvement were remarkably similar to those in the first interview with a change of 2 percent or

	С	Е	
Program	%	%	р
Food stamps	78	80	
Job training	20	26	
WIC	40	44	
AFDC	65	70	
Housing vouchers	10	5	
Social security disability	29	23	
Alcoholism program	8	7	
Drug treatment program	13	16	
Marriage counseling	2	2	
Community mental health program	13	13	
Head Start/pre-school	29	32	

 Table 4-6

 Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs, Post-treatment Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

less for most programs. Exceptions to this were a 4.1 percent decrease in participation in WIC services, and a 6.1 percent decrease for participation in Head Start or Pre-school programs, perhaps due to the aging of youngest children. There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups for participation in any of the social programs at the time of the second interview. No significant differences were found with respect to the total number of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Differences remained significant and in the same direction for both secondary and tertiary analyses (for magnitude and significance levels, see Appendix).

income support programs or treatment programs in which respondents participated since the time of the first interview.

**Caretakers' Reports of Services.** In the second interviews, caretakers were asked if they had received any of a set of specific services in the time since the first interview. As shown in Table 4-7, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in receipt of any of these services in the primary analysis.<sup>64</sup> In a separate question, caretakers were asked whether the agency provided homemaker services or the assistance of a parent aide.

	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р
Daycare	11	15	
Help in finding a place to live	9 4	9 3	
Staying at an emergency shelter		-	
Medical or dental care	33	39	
Transportation	25	39	
Education services/GED	9 16	11 37	
Parent education/training classes			
Legal services	7	10	
Counseling	21	26	
Respite care	3	3	
Homemaker services	1	1	
A parent aide to help you	1	3	

 Table 4-7

 Philadelphia Caretaker Report of Services, Post-treatment Interview

Fewer than 3 percent of all caretakers reported having a homemaker or receiving assistance from a parent aide, with no significant differences reported between the experimental and control groups (again, see Table 4-7 for details). When caretakers were asked whether they did not receive any services they felt were needed, 21 percent of the control group responded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> In the secondary analysis (dropping violations and minimal service cases) and the tertiary analysis (dropping additional cases that may not have had a worker assigned), a significantly greater proportion of experimental group caretakers reported receiving transportation and parent education/training classes (see Appendix for magnitude and significant levels).

affirmatively and 18 percent of the experimental group responded affirmatively, a difference that was not statistically significant.<sup>65</sup>

**Relationship with Caseworker.** Table 4-8 shows results from a number of questions in which caretakers were asked about their relationships with caseworkers. Reports of the quality of the relationship were positive overall, with more than half of the respondents from both the experimental and control group indicating that the caseworker listened to their concerns, understood their situation, and agreed on the goals most of the time. A greater proportion of

	Control	Experimental %	р
Worker listened to your concerns most of the time	81	80	<u>F</u>
Worker understood your situation very well	82	82	
You and worker agreed on goals most of the time	67	71	.10
Did worker sometimes talk with you about issues that were not easy to talk about?	27	36	
Caseworker helped you to see your good qualities	68	82	.01
Caseworker helped you to see your problems	74	76	
Did you see your caseworker			
More often than you wanted	21	25	
As often as you wanted	59	57	
Not often enough	20	18	

### Table 4-8 Philadelphia Caretakers' Reports on Relationship with Caseworker, Post-treatment Interview

experimental group caretakers felt their workers helped them see their good qualities (82% vs. 68%, p = .01). With respect to the frequency of contact with the workers, approximately 20 percent of caretakers from both the experimental and control groups indicated they did not see

 $<sup>^{65}</sup>$  The difference was, however, significant in the secondary analysis (21% control vs. 14% experimental, p = .001) and the tertiary

their caseworkers often enough. A slightly greater proportion of caretakers in the experimental group indicated they saw their workers "more often than [they] wanted" (25% vs. 21%) and a slightly greater proportion of caretakers in the control group indicated they saw their workers "as often as [they] wanted" (59% vs. 57%).<sup>66</sup>

**Caseworkers' Reports of Services.** In the second interview, caseworkers were asked whether they had helped any member of the family with any of 25 services, such as child care, homemaker services, income programs, treatment programs of various sorts, and health care. Table 4-9 provides a list of these 25 items and the proportion of caseworkers who indicated this service was provided. Caseworkers from the experimental group reported helping their clients with an average of 4.9 of these services (s.d. = 3.5), while caseworkers from the control group reported helping their clients with an average of 3.8 of these services (s.d. = 3.0; p = .0004).<sup>67</sup> In the primary analyses, an examination of individual services reveals 6 services that were provided significantly more often to the experimental group than to the control group (significance levels were all at p = .05 or less). These services include: childcare or babysitting, parent training, other housing assistance, emergency financial assistance, recreational services, and household management. No services were provided significantly more often to the control group.<sup>68</sup>

analysis (22% control vs. 13% experimental, p = .003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> In addition to slight changes in the magnitude of the difference in whether workers helped caretakers see their good qualities, secondary analysis revealed that a significantly greater proportion of experimental group caretakers reported that they and their worker agreed on goals most of the time (75% vs. 70%, p = .03). Tertiary analysis revealed no additional items with significant differences (see Appendix).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> When violations and minimal services cases were excluded, the difference between the groups was even larger (5.3 vs. 3.1, p = .0001).

 $<sup>^{68}</sup>$  SSI for adult or child was reportedly provided more often to the control group than the experimental group, and the difference was marginally significant by Fisher's Exact test (3% vs. 0%; p = .06). In the secondary analyses, excluding violations and minimal service cases, 10 services were provided significantly more often to the experimental group than to the control group (again, significance levels were all at p = .05 or less). In addition to the 6 primary analysis items showing differences in favor of the experimental group, secondary analyses indicate that the following services were also provided significantly more often by the experimental group: health assessment, housing financial assistance, self help groups, and homemaker services (see Appendix for magnitude of difference and significance levels). In the secondary analyses no services were provided significantly more often to the control group than the experimental group.

	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р
Childcare or baby sitting	6	16	.02
AFDC or other public income	6	12	
(except SSI)			
SSI for adult or child	3	0	.06 (FE)
Food stamps	6	9	
Drug treatment	17	16	
Alcoholism treatment	8	8	
Legal aid	4	9	
Help with education	19	24	
Respite care	6	6	
Parent training	34	62	.001
Health care	28	35	
Inpatient mental health	2	2	
Outpatient mental			
health/counseling	20	24	
Health assessment	23	31	
Housing financial assistance	3	8	.08
Other housing services	10	21	.02
W.I.C.	8	6	
Emergency financial assistance	23	54	.001
other than housing			
Job training	7	11	
Emergency shelter	1	2	
Recreational services	26	38	.05
Family planning	23	21	
Self help groups	9	16	
Household management	21	38	.004
Homemaker services	6	9	
Other	<u>1</u> 6	13	
N	00	1.7.1	

Table 4-9Philadelphia Caseworkers' Report of Services Provided to Family,<br/>Post-treatment Interview

 N
 99
 151

 Note: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test

**Contact Data.** One page contact reports were to be completed by all caseworkers for each face-to-face contact with a family member during the time period designated for family preservation services. On these forms, workers provided information about the date, time, persons involved, and the services delivered during each contact. Some data on contact forms are presented in Table 4-10. At least one contact form was submitted for 85 (59%) of the control group cases and 124 (59%) of the experimental group cases. The following analyses were limited

	C		n
	C	E	p
Number of cases with at least one form submitted	85	124	
Average number of forms per case	9.9	17.6	.01
Average number of home visits	7.8	13.9	.01
Average number of visits with caretakers	8.2	15.4	.01
Average number of visits with the other parent	1.2	1.5	
Average number of visits with children	7.3	13.3	.01
	Average number of contacts with service		
Concrete Services	С	Е	Р
Transportation	2.5	5.2	.01
Buving food	1.3	1.0	
Child care	2.1	1.2	.06
Clothing furnishings and sumplies	0.9	1.5	.07
Topics of Discussion			
Discipline of children	3.5	4.4	
Goals	5.7	7.2	.10
Caretaker's interaction with children	4.4	4.2	
Child's anger management	1.8	2.0	
Supervision of children	4.1	4.3	
Monev management	3.4	5.1	.05
Employment	2.7	4.6	.01
Conflict among adults	1.9	2.7	.10

Table 4-10 Philadelphia Contact Forms

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

The contact forms contained additional concrete services and topics of discussion (see Appendix K, Volume 3). Only those that were most often reported are shown here. Entries are average numbers of times per family that an item was reported, for those families with at least one form submitted.

to those families with contact reports. On average, more contact forms were submitted for the experimental group than for the control group (17.6 vs. 9.9; p < .001). In addition to the overall number of reports submitted, the experimental group received significantly more home visits (13.9 vs. 7.8; p < .001), visits with caretakers (15.4 vs. 8.3; p < .001), and visits with children (13.3 vs. 7.3; p < .001). As experimental group families received significantly more contacts than the control group families, they also received significantly more individual activities. The most common concrete service was the provision of transportation (an average of 5.2 times for the experimental group vs. 2.5 times for the control group; p < .001). Child care was the second most common concrete service (an average of 1.2 times for the experimental group vs. 2.1 times for the control group; p < .1). Additional concrete services included clothing, furnishings, and supplies (1.5 times for the experimental group vs. 0.95 for the control group; p < .1).

Contact forms also captured general information about the topic of discussion, counseling, or instruction. The most common topics of discussion were the goals of working together (7.2 times in the experimental group vs. 5.7 times in the control group; p < .1), money management (5.1 vs. 3.4; p < .05), employment (4.6 vs. 2.7; p < .01), and conflict among adults (2.7 vs. 1.9; p < .1).

Additional data on experimental group contacts are shown in Table 4-11. These data confirm the fact that services to the experimental group often did not begin until sometime after random assignment. Only 8 percent of the cases had an in-home contact within 7 days and a relatively small proportion of contacts occurred in the first month.

	Ν	%
Number of families with contact data	124	60
Total number of contact forms submitted	2182	
Contacts in week 1	18	1
Contacts in month 1	479	16
Contacts in month 2	912	30
Contacts in month 3	825	27
In-home contact within 72 hours	3	2
In-home contact with 7 days	10	8
Concrete service within 7 days	8	7
Hours of contact	Ν	Mean
Average hours of contact overall	122	34.1
Average hours contact in month 1	89	8.8

 Table 4-11

 Philadelphia Experimental Group Contacts

#### 4.4.2 Summary of Services During the Treatment Period

The caretaker interview, the caseworker interview, and the contacts data all confirmed the expectation that the experimental group would receive more and more intensive services than the control group. At time two, caretakers in the experimental group reported an average of 4.6 caseworker activities as compared to 2.9 for the control group. In addition to caseworker activities, caretakers were asked about specific services received. The following services were among those most often reported by caretakers: counseling, transportation, parent education or training, and medical or dental services. Differences between the experimental and control group for the caretaker interview data include a significantly greater proportion of experimental group caretakers responding affirmatively to nine questions regarding caseworker activities. These nine activities and the response rates are provided in Table 4-12.

Consistent with the information provided by caretakers, caseworkers reported providing more services to families in the experimental group (an average of 4.9 services) than those in the control group (an average of 3.8 services, p = .001). For 6 of the specific services listed, a greater proportion of caseworkers in the experimental group reported providing services as compared to caseworkers in the control group (see Table 4-12).

The contact form data were consistent with both the caretaker and caseworker interview data in supporting the conclusion that the experimental group families received more services than did the control group families. An average of 17.6 contact forms were received for the experimental group as compared to an average of 9.9 contact forms for the control group. The contact forms also indicate that the experimental group received home visits, visits with the caretaker, and visits with the children significantly more often than did the control group. In response to questions pertaining to the nature of the relationship with the caseworker, caretakers from the experimental group were significantly more likely to indicate their workers helped them to see their good qualities.

#### 4.4.3 Services During the Followup Period

When caretakers were interviewed a year after random assignment, they were asked some of the same questions about services received, this time since the last interview (since the end of family preservation services for the experimental group and during a comparable period for the control group). Tables 4-13, 4-14, and 4-15 show analyses of these questions.

Caseworker Activities:			
Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no	Control	Experimental	
questions	%	%	р
Caseworker helped with money for other things	5	22	.001
Caseworker provided transportation	35	50	.03
Caseworker talked with you about discipline	32	53	.002
Caseworker advised how to get medical care	10	23	.02
Caseworker discussed with you how to get a better place	25	38	.05
Caseworker advised on job training programs	23	36	.04
Caseworker talked about how to get paying job	19	33	.02
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	21	34	.03
Caseworker helped you see good qualities	68	82	.01
Caseworker talked about how to get paying job	19	33	.02
	Control	Experimental	
	Mean	Mean	р
Caretaker report of number of caseworker activities	2.9	4.6	.0001
Caretaker report of number of "helpful" caseworker activities	1.5	2.2	.02
Services Provided:			
Proportion of affirmative answers by caretakers to yes/no	Control	Experimental	
questions	%	%	р
Childcare or baby sitting	6	16	.02
Parent training	34	62	.001
Other housing services	10	21	.02
Emergency financial assistance	23	54	.001
Recreational services	26	38	.05
Household management	21	38	.004
	Control	Experimental	
	Mean	Mean	р
Caseworker report of number of services provided	3.4	4.9	.0004

**Table 4-12** Summary of Services for Philadelphia, Post-treatment Interview

Note: This table only includes items with a primary p-value less than or equal to .05 Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group.

	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р
Caseworker helped with money for rent/electricity/phone	4	4	
Caseworker helped with money for other things	18	16	
Caseworker provided transportation	29	32	
Caseworker discussed proper feeding of child	16	13	
Caseworker talked with you about discipline Caseworker talked with you on relations with	32	24	
spouse	16	8	.08
Caseworker helped you clean house	3	6	
Caseworker helped with painting/house repairs	2	1	
Caseworker discussed how to get child care	14	17	
Caseworker helped with welfare/food Stamps	9	10	
Caseworker advised how to get medical care	10	14	
Caseworker talked with you how to handle anger	28	19	.10
Caseworker advised you on substance abuse	18	19	
place	24	18	
Caseworker advised on job training programs	22	21	
Caseworker talked about how to get a paying job	23	16	
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	29	18	.05
Caseworker arranged for some child care	2	6	
Caseworker told you about other agencies	33	29	

 Table 4-13

 Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Caseworker Activities, Followup Interview

\_\_\_\_

	С	E	
Program	%	2 %	р
Food stamps	79	75	
Job training	21	31	.09
WIC	38	40	
AFDC	64	68	
Housing vouchers	12	10	
Social security disability	33	22	.07
Alcoholism program	10	04	
Drug treatment program	17	13	
Marriage counseling	1	2	
Community mental health program	9	14	
Head Start/pre-school	57	52	

 Table 4-14

 Philadelphia Participation in Social Programs, Followup Interview

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р
Day care	17	25	
Help in finding a place to live	11	10	
Staying at an emergency shelter	4	6	
Medical or dental care	36	38	
Transportation	23	28	
Education services/GED	9	16	
Parent education/ training classes	17	29	.03
Legal services	7	10	
Counseling	23	29	
Respite care	1	1	
Homemaker services	0	1	
A parent aide to help you	2	3	

 Table 4-15

 Philadelphia Caretaker Report of Services, Followup Interview

**Caseworker Activities**. Caretaker reports of caseworker activities since the posttreatment interview are shown in Table 4-13. Only one item showed significant differences between experimental and control groups in the primary analysis. Compared to caretakers in the experimental group, a significantly greater proportion of caretakers in the control group reported that their caseworkers advised them on how to continue school (29% vs. 18%; p = .05).<sup>69</sup>

**Participation in Social Programs.** As indicated in Table 4-14, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups with respect to involvement in social programs during the post-treatment period.<sup>70</sup>

**Caretaker Report of Services.** Table 4-15 indicates that there was only one service in which there is a significant difference between experimental and control groups in reported

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> None of the items showed significant differences between experimental and control group caretakers in the secondary analysis or the tertiary analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Secondary and tertiary analyses did not result in any significant differences either.

receipt of services during the post-treatment period. A greater proportion of experimental group respondents reported receiving parent education/training classes (29% vs. 17%; p = .03).<sup>71</sup>

#### 4.4.4 Summary of Followup Services.

There were few significant differences between experimental and control groups on report of service as shown in Table 4-16. A significantly greater proportion of caretakers in the control group reported that, in the period of time since the post-treatment interview, their caseworker advised them on how to continue school. On the other hand, a significantly greater proportion of caretakers from the experimental group reported receiving parent education/training classes since the time of the post-treatment interview.

Caseworker Activities: (Proportion of affirmative	e answers to ye	s/no questions)	
	Control %	Experimental %	р
Caseworker advised on how to continue school	29	18	.05
Services Provided: (Proportion of affirmative answ	wers to yes/no c	questions)	
	Control	Experimental	
	%	%	р

 Table 4-16

 Summary of Services in Philadelphia, Followup Interview

Note: Table only includes items with a primary p-value of .05 or less. Items in **bold** indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group whereas italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

#### 4.5 Outcomes

The following outcome analyses compare the experimental and control groups. As previously discussed, there were a few cases in which the original random assignments were violated, that is control group families were given FPS services or minimal services were provided. There were also cases which are thought to have not received services before the posttreatment interview due to a delay in the assignment of a worker to that case. Therefore, analyses were conducted for the primary analysis group (the original random assignment group), the secondary analysis group (dropping the violations and minimal services cases from the original

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> This difference remained significant in the secondary analysis (31% vs. 16%; p = .02) and was marginally significant in the tertiary analysis (31% vs. 18%; p = .06).

random assignment group), and, for interview data, the tertiary analysis group (dropping additional cases which appear to have not had a worker assigned in time for the post-treatment interview to determine effects of service).<sup>72</sup> Secondary and tertiary analyses are reported in footnotes.

#### 4.5.1 Substitute Care Placement Following Random Assignment

Family preservation is believed to prevent unnecessary placement in substitute care. Prevention of placement is not as central an objective of family preservation in Philadelphia as in other locations, but it is, nonetheless, an outcome of interest. Table 4-17 provides data at the individual level for type of first placement after random assignment.<sup>73</sup> The administrative files contained subsequent placement data on 349 families, 205 in the experimental group and 144 families in the control group. Although the data were at the child level, the analyses are presented at the family level.<sup>74</sup>

 Table 4-17

 Type of First Placement After Random Assignment, Child Level

Philadelphia		
Туре	Ν	Percentage
Foster care, institution	98	42.1
Foster care, home	92	39.5
Emergency shelter	29	12.4
Foster care, group	14	6.0
Total	233	100

In the experimental group, 148 children in 65 families (32%) experienced placement subsequent to random assignment. In the control group, 85 children in 37 families (26%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Tertiary analyses were not performed on caseworker interview data due to the fact that all of the 29 additional cases dropped for this level of analysis were missing both caseworker interviews and results would therefore be the same as for the secondary analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> In determining placements, we depended on the variable "factype" in the administrative data. The specific categories for this variable included: adoption, foster care, private institution/boarding schools, family treatment home, unmarried parent, other, children's psychiatric hospital, and foster care medically fragile.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Due to the "clustering effect," analyses at the child level are misleading. Clustering refers to the lack of independence between children within the same family of observations of such things as placement. One could argue that if one child is removed from the home, the remaining children are more likely to experience placement. The "clustering effect" leads to an underestimate of the significance levels when analyses are conducted at the child level. Conducting the analyses at the family level is one approach to resolving this dilemma.

experienced placement subsequent to random assignment. The differences were not statistically significant at the family level.

As in the other states, a simple comparison of overall percentages is not the most appropriate way to analyze these placement data. As families were randomly assigned at various points in time (between March 12, 1997 and June 23, 1999), the risk periods (amount of time eligible to experience placement) varied between families. The administrative data were collected on October 31, 2000 and therefore the minimum risk period was approximately sixteen months, and the maximum was more than 44 months. Hence, survival analyses were conducted to account for the varying risk periods.

Child level data were aggregated to the family level for the following survival analyses. The family level survival analyses were developed based on all 1,212 children in the administrative data. Families survived if no child experienced subsequent placement. For those families with subsequent placement, the first placement date of any child in that particular family was used to calculate the time interval between random assignment and first subsequent placement. If multiple children were removed from a single home, the date of first placement was selected.

The family level analysis of subsequent placement is displayed in Figure 4-1. The survival curves and Wilcoxon statistic indicate that the survival rates are not statistically different between the experimental and control groups. At the one year interval, 18 percent of experimental group families and 15 percent of control group families experienced substitute care placement in the primary analysis.<sup>75</sup> The survival analyses suggest that there were no differences between the rates of placement in the experimental and control groups. A summary of placement rates at various points in time following random assignment is shown in Table 4-18.

In addition to survival analyses, placement can be examined in terms of the proportion of time in substitute care subsequent to random assignment. The proportion is calculated by dividing the number of days in care by the number of days of possible care (number of days between random assignment and the date of administrative data collection). As the proportions are calculated at the family level, the number of days in care represents the total number of care days summed across all children within a particular family. Similarly, the number of possible care days represents the total number of possible care days summed across all children within a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Fifteen percent of the experimental group, and 16 percent of the control group experienced substitute care placement within a year in the secondary analysis.

Philadelphia, primary



Philadelphia, secondary



Figure 4-1 First Placement After Random Assignment (Families)
	1 month		6 m	6 months		onths	18 months		
	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	
	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	
Primary analysis	1	1	12	10	15	18	20	24	
Secondary analysis	1	1	13	9	16	15	19	21	

# Table 4-18 Summary of Philadelphia Placement Data, Survival Analyses Families Experiencing Placement of at Least One Child Within Specified Periods of Time

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

particular family. The number of possible care days is adjusted for a child's eighteenth birthday. In the experimental group, children spent an average of 6 percent of the days subsequent to random assignment in care. In the control group, children spent an average of 4 percent of the days subsequent to random assignment in care. This difference is not statistically significant.

#### 4.5.2 Allegations of Maltreatment Following Random Assignment

Two hundred sixty-eight children in 110 families (54%) in the experimental group were the subjects of investigated allegations of maltreatment following random assignment, compared with 161 children in 69 families (50%) in the control group. The difference was not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of the various types of allegations is as follows: 43 percent physical abuse, 53 percent neglect, and 4 percent sexual maltreatment. One hundred twenty-three children in 60 families (29%) in the experimental group were the subjects of substantiated allegations of maltreatment compared with 67 children in 32 families (22%) in the control group. This difference was not statistically significant at the family level. The distribution of substantiated allegations is as follows: 53 percent physical abuse, 43 percent neglect, and 4 percent sexual maltreatment.

As with the analyses of subsequent placement, survival graphs were developed to compare the timing of subsequent substantiated allegations of maltreatment.<sup>76</sup> Again, survival analyses were conducted for both the primary and secondary analysis groups. Child level data were aggregated at the family level. There were no significant differences between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Analyses were also done on all allegations, whether substantiated or not. The results were very similar, although, of course, rates for all allegations were higher.

experimental and control groups. Figure 4-2 displays the survival curves for the primary analysis group. At one year, 20 percent of the experimental group and 13 percent of the control group families experienced substantiated reports of maltreatment subsequent to random assignment. At two years, 25 percent of the experimental group and 18 percent of the control group families experienced substantiated reports of maltreatment subsequent to random assignment.<sup>77</sup> The survival analyses indicate that experimental families did not experience fewer substantiated reports of maltreatment.

Sub-group Analysis. We examined a number of subgroups of cases to determine whether we could detect differences between experimental and control groups on placement and substantiated allegations subsequent to random assignment within each subgroup. The results are shown in Table 4-19. Most of the subgroups were defined in terms of problems existing at the time of the initial interview. For both placement and substantiated allegations the table shows the number of cases in each subgroup, the percentage of cases in the subgroup experiencing the event within 6 months, the significance of the difference between the experimental and control groups in the occurrence of the event within six months, and the p value for the analysis of differences in survival curves. The first row of the table shows the results for the Philadelphia sample as a whole. Except for substance abuse, the definitions of the subgroups were determined from the initial caretaker interview. Very few caretakers acknowledged substance use in the first interview, so that subgroup was determined from information in both the caretaker and caseworker initial interviews.

As can be seen, nearly all of the experimental-control group comparisons shown are not significant. Of the 18 comparisons in the table, only one is significant at .05, that for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Figure 4-2 also displays the survival curves for the secondary analysis group. At one year, 22 percent of the experimental group and 13 percent of the control group experienced substantiated reports of maltreatment.

Philadelphia, primary



Philadelphia, secondary



Figure 4-2 First Substantiated Allegation After Random Assignment (Families)

			Placeme	nt	Substantia	ated all	egations
		In 6	mos		In 6 mc	S	
	(	Overall	$p^{\mathrm{a}}$	Survival	Overall %	$p^{\mathrm{a}}$	Survival
Subgroup	N	%		р			р
Overall	349	9.5			10.0		.098
Substance abuse	72	11.1			11.1		
No substance abuse	186	9.1	.076		8.6		
Problems with bills	151	11.9			10.6		
Problems with							
daycare	143	9.8			10.5		
Depression <sup>c</sup>	139	12.9			8.6		.089
Problems with							
punishment	163	11.0			9.8		
Problems with							
school	98	13.3			6.1		.038 <sup>b</sup>
Problems with							
employment	56	10.7			7.1		
Single mother	129	11.6			13.2		

# Table 4-19Philadelphia Subgroup AnalysesSignificance Levels of Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups

<sup>a</sup> Fisher exact, two tail

<sup>b</sup> Experimental group more likely to experience subsequent allegation

<sup>c</sup> Caretakers with depression scores above median for the site

problems with school. Among those who identified a child having problems with school, those in the experimental group were more likely to have a substantiated allegation than those in the control group. In the analysis so far, efforts to find subgroups for which family preservation service was related to reduced placement have been unsuccessful.

#### 4.5.3 Family and Child Functioning - Caretaker Interviews

**Life Events**. In both the initial and second interviews, caretakers were asked to respond to a 15 item "life events" inventory asking about the occurrence of both positive and negative events (see Appendix K, Volume 3, Initial Caretaker Interview, p. 7, and Interim Caretaker Interview, p. 8). Three scales were formed from this inventory: positive life events, negative life events, and a scale of those life events that might reflect depression in the caretaker (we had a more formal depression measure as well, described below). In the post-treatment interview, the proportion of positive life events reported by caretakers in the experimental group was significantly higher than the proportion reported by caretakers in the control group (.19 vs. .15; p = .05).<sup>78</sup> The proportion of positive life events reported by caretakers in the experimental group remained higher in the followup interview (.23 vs. .20), however, the difference was not statistically significant. On the measures of negative life events and life events reflecting depression there were no statistically significant differences between the experimental and control groups at the time of the post-treatment or followup interviews.<sup>79</sup>

**Problems.** In the post-treatment and followup interviews, caretakers were again asked questions about problems in the family. These questions paralleled those asked in the first interview (see Section 4.2.1 Family Problems above, under Section 4.2 The Philadelphia Families), except this time caretakers were asked to respond to questions with regard to the time "since we last spoke to you." Tables 4-21 and 4-22 display these items and the proportion of affirmative responses at the time of the post-treatment and followup interviews. At the time of the post-treatment interview, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups responses to any of the nine items about problems in the family.<sup>80</sup> At the time of the followup interview, no significant differences were found on eight of the nine items in the primary analysis. However, on the question about the overall economic condition of the family,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> This difference remained significant in both the secondary and tertiary analyses (see Appendix for magnitude of difference and significant levels).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> These results held for the secondary and tertiary analyses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> These results were maintained in the secondary and tertiary analyses.

	-	Pos	st-Treatr	nent		Followu	р				Ν	Iultivariat	e Repeated	l Measure	S			
										Means		М	lultivariate	e ps	Univa Ti	riate <i>p</i> s– ime	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	Ma	$n^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	n	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grn <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grn <sup>e</sup>	V. later <sup>f</sup>	V. Follow <sup>g</sup>	V. later	v. Follow
	С	113	.15	P	90	.20	P	70	.13	.15	.21	Gip	Time	Olp	iutei	1 0110 W	iuter	101101
Positive life events	Е	148	.19	.05	135	.23		102	.17	.18	.23		.001		.003	.001		
	С	113	.06		90	.08		70	.13	.11	.14							
Negative life events	Е	148	.05		135	.08		102	.10	.09	.12		.02			.03		
	С	113	.38		89	.35		69	.43	.34	.33							
Life events depression	Е	148	.41		135	.41		102	.53	.40	.42	.09	.001		.001			
	С	113	.27		90	.21		70	.33	.23	.20							
Paying bills	Е	148	.31		134	.28	.08	100	.32	.31	.30		.02		.005			
	С	113	2.20		90	2.25		70	2.40	2.38	2.43							
Income support	Е	148	2.22		135	2.14		102	2.24	2.23	2.15							
_	С	113	.36		90	.37		70	.39	.41	.40							
Treatment programs	Е	148	.37		135	.32		102	.28	.39	.32							
	С	112	.16		89	.16		69	.20	.15	.15							
Punishment	Е	148	.19		132	.17		98	.25	.20	.17	.06	.002		.001			
	С	113	1.32		90	1.13		70	1.34	1.30	1.14							
Child aggression	Е	148	1.25		135	1.21		102	1.16	1.24	1.24							

Table 4-20Philadelphia Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Post	-treatme	ent		Followu	р	Multivariate Repeated Measures										
										Means	3	Multivariate <i>p</i> s			Univar Ti	riate <i>p</i> s–	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
		N	Ma	"b	N	м		N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial V.	Post v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	Initial V.	Post v.
	C	93	14	p	IN 80	16	p	- N - 56	15	14	17				later	Follow	later	FOLLOW
School problems	C	)5			00	.10		50	.10		.17					07		
	Е	123	.13		116	.17		79	.18	.14	.19					.07		
Child withdrawn	С	113	.52		90	.42		70	.51	.51	.43							
	Е	148	.61		135	.54		102	.48	.63	.56							
	С	113	.20		90	.13		70	.27	.19	.10							
Stolen things or arrested	Е	148	.16		135	.26	.02	102	.26	.18	.27		.03	.04	.01			.02
Child substance abuse	С	113	.03		90	.01		70	.03	.01	.01							
Child substance abuse	Е	148	.01		135	.02		102	.00	.00	.03							
Child problems	С	113	1.59		90	1.68		70	1.61	1.56	1.67							
cinia processo	Е	148	1.76		135	1.67		102	1.61	1.84	1.66							
Negative child behaviors	С	108	.25		88	.22		65	.26	.25	.23							
regative entite benaviors	Е	143	.25		131	.25		96	.25	.25	.25							
Desitions shild be besiden	С	109	.80		89	.79		66	.78	.79	.79							
rositive child benaviors	Е	145	.81		134	.80		97	.81	.81	.79							
Household condition	С	112	.09		90	.06		69	.12	.08	.06							
nousenoia condition	Е	147	.09		135	.10	.05	101	.10	.10	.10							

## Table 4-20, continuedPhiladelphia Family and Child Functioning Scales

		Post-	Treatme	nt		Followu	ıp	Multivariate Repeated Measures										
									_	Means		Ми	ıltivariate	ps	Univa Ti	riate <i>p</i> s–	Univa Grp inter	riate <i>ps</i> – p-time raction
														Time -	Initial v	Post	Initial v	Post
		Ν	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	Ν	М	р	Ν	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Grp <sup>e</sup>	later <sup>f</sup>	Follow <sup>g</sup>	Later	Follow
	С	113	.96		89	.79		69	1.05	.89	.78							
Depression (SCL-90)	Е	148	1.00		135	.83		102	.98	.95	.88		.006		.003			
	С	108	.90		87	.91		66	.90	.90	.91							
Positive child care practic	es E	142	.88		129	.88		93	.90	.88	.88							
Nagative shild same	С	108	.13		86	.13		66	.15	.13	.13							
practices	Е	147	.15		130	.15		94	.19	.15	.14		.008		.002			

## Table 4-20, continuedPhiladelphia Family and Child Functioning Scales

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

# Table 4-21 Philadelphia Caretaker Problems and Strengths, Caretaker Post-treatment Interview (% responding yes)

	Contro	1	Experim	ental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Problems					
Felt blue or depressed	113	45	148	43	
Felt nervous or tense	113	43	147	46	
Just wanted to give up	113	22	148	29	
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	113	41	146	47	
Felt you had few or no friends	112	22	148	25	
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	113	48	148	59	.08
Gotten in trouble with the law	113	2	148	3	
Had too much to drink in a week	112	4	148	2	
Used drugs several times a week	113	8	148	6	
Economic Items					
Had difficulty paying rent	113	19	148	20	
Had difficulty paying electric/heat	113	28	148	33	
Had difficulty buying enough food	113	26	148	31	
Had difficulty buying clothes	113	34	148	42	
Positive Items					
Have you felt happy	112	83	148	86	
Gotten together with anyone to have fun/relax	113	51	148	53	
Doing a pretty good job raising kids	112	93	148	95	

### Table 4-22 Philadelphia Caretaker Problems & Strengths, Caretaker Followup Interview (% responding yes)

	Cor	ntrol	Experin	nental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Problems					
Felt blue or depressed	90	46	135	49	
Felt nervous or tense	90	38	135	44	
Just wanted to give up	89	18	135	25	
Overwhelmed with work or family responsibility	89	38	135	46	
Felt you had few or no friends	90	31	135	27	
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	90	33	135	49	.02
Gotten in trouble with the law	90	0	135	1	
Had too much to drink in a week	90	3	135	2	
Used drugs several times a week	90	0	135	2	
Economic Items					
Had difficulty paying rent	90	18	134	20	
Had difficulty paying electric/heat	90	29	134	29	
Had difficulty buying enough food	90	16	134	27	.05
Had difficulty buying clothes	90	21	134	37	.01
Positive Items					
Have you felt happy	89	89	135	90	
Gotten together with anyone to have fun/relax	90	57	135	57	
Doing a pretty good job raising kids	88	97	134	96	

"have you felt you did not have enough money for food, rent, or clothing?" 49 percent of the experimental group and 33 percent of the control group responded affirmatively (p = .02).<sup>81</sup>

In addition to the items about problems, caretakers were asked three questions about positive aspects of their lives: "getting together with anyone to have fun or relax," "felt happy and "felt that considering everything you're doing a pretty good job raising your kids." For the experimental and control groups combined, at post-treatment, 85 percent responded affirmatively to the question of whether they "felt happy," 53 percent responded affirmatively to the question of "getting together with anyone to have fun or relax," and 94 percent responded affirmatively that they were "doing a pretty good job raising [their] kids." At followup, 90 percent of respondents (experimental and control groups combined) reported that they "felt happy," 57 percent responded affirmatively to the question of "getting together with anyone to have fun or relax," and 96 percent reported that they were "doing a pretty good job raising [their] kids."<sup>82</sup>

**Economic Functioning.** In addition to the general item on not having enough money for food or rent, caretakers were asked four specific questions about difficulties in paying for the essentials of living (rent, electricity and heating, food, and clothing). When these items were combined into a scale, all analyses (primary, secondary, and tertiary) revealed no significant differences in the average proportion of affirmative responses to the four items at the time of the post-treatment interview. At the time of the followup interview, the average proportion of affirmative responses to the four items was greater for the experimental group than the control group (.28 vs. .21) but the difference was not statistically significant in the primary analysis (p = .08).<sup>83</sup> Using repeated measures to look at changes in the scale responses to this scale of economic functioning for both groups (p = .02). These changes over time did not differ significantly for the experimental and control groups.

Looking at the 4 individual items that comprised the scale of economic functioning, there were no significant differences between experimental and control groups at the time of the post-treatment interview. At the time of the followup interview, primary analyses revealed significant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> This difference was slightly larger and more significant in the secondary analysis (53% experimental and 33% control; p = .006) and the tertiary analysis (53% experimental and 31% control; p = .005). Tertiary analysis also revealed significant differences in the proportion of respondents indicating they "just wanted to give up," with a greater proportion of experimental group respondents answering affirmatively (29% vs. 15%; p = .04).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups on these items in the secondary or tertiary analyses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> The difference was greater and marginally significant in the secondary analysis (.30 vs. .21; p = .06). In the tertiary analysis, the difference was greater still and it was statistically significant (.31 for the experimental group and .19 for the control group; p = .02).

differences between experimental and control group respondents on 2 of the 4 items. A greater proportion of the experimental group respondents reported having difficulty buying enough food (27% vs. 16%; p = .05), and difficulty buying clothes (37% vs. 21%; p = .01).<sup>84</sup>

**Household Condition.** Caretakers were asked 10 questions about problematic conditions in the home (e.g., nonfunctioning heating, plumbing, or electrical systems; peeling paint; broken windows or doors). The experimental and control groups did not differ on the average proportions of the presence of such conditions at the time of the post-treatment interview. At the time of the followup interview, the average proportion of problematic conditions present was greater for the experimental group than for the control group (.21 vs. .06; p = .05). Repeated measures analysis revealed no significant changes over time and no significant differences between the two groups averaged over time.

On only one of the specific items regarding problematic conditions in the home were there any differences in the primary analysis of the post-treatment interview. Twenty-three percent of caretakers in the experimental group and 13 percent of the caretakers in the control group reported that "there were not enough basic necessities such as chairs, tables, beds, cribs, mattresses, or not enough basic necessities such as blankets, sheets, pots or dishes" (p = .03).<sup>85</sup>

At the time of the followup interview, primary analysis revealed significant differences between the experimental and control group on one of the 10 specific household condition items. Four percent of the experimental group and none of the control group caretakers reported that the electricity did not work for more than a day at a time since the post-treatment interview (Fisher's exact *p*-value = .05).<sup>86</sup>

**Child Care Practices.** In both the post-treatment and followup interviews, caretakers were asked a series of yes-no questions about child care practices in the last three months (both positive and negative). The results from these questions are shown in Tables 4-23 and 4-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Differences on both items remained significant in the secondary and tertiary analyses (see Appendix for magnitude of differences and significance levels).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> This difference increased and remained significant in the secondary analysis (25% vs. 11%; p = .009) and the tertiary analysis (26% vs. 11%; p = .01). In the tertiary analysis, one additional item resulted in significant differences at the time of the post-treatment interview. Six percent of the experimental group caretakers and none of the control group caretakers reported that "there were bare electric wires" (Fisher's exact *p*-value = .02).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> This difference was not significant in either the secondary or the tertiary analysis. However, tertiary analyses revealed that two different items resulted in significant differences between experimental and control group caretakers at the time of the follow-up interview. Nine percent of the experimental group caretakers and none of the control group caretakers reported that the "plumbing did not work" (Fisher's exact *p*-value = .01). Seventeen percent of the experimental group caretakers and six percent of the control group caretakers and six p

	Con	trol	Experin	nental		
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	
Lost temper when child got on nerves	112	53	148	52		
Found that hitting child was good	112	4	148	6		
Hitting child harder that meant to	112	5	148	11		
Out of control when punishing child	111	18	147	24		
Have you praised your children	112	95	147	98		
Listened to music together w/child	112	95	148	92		
Tied child with cord- string-belt	112	0	147	1		
Gone to amusement park, pool, picnic	111	85	147	77		
Uncomfortable hugging child	105	10	138	13		
Encouraged child to read book	108	98	142	99		
Have children handled household chores	105	76	140	71		
Not let children into the house	105	1	140	1		
Punished for not finishing food	107	6	140	3		
Blamed child w/ things not their fault	107	21	139	22		
Let child to play where not allowed	107	15	139	12		
Unable to find someone to watch children	111	42	144	46		

 Table 4-23

 Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Child Care Practices, Post-treatment Interview

Table 4-24
Philadelphia Caretaker Reports of Child Care Practices, Followup Interview

	Con	trol	Experi	mental	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р
Lost temper when child got on nerves	89	52	132	44	<u> </u>
Found that hitting child was good	89	6	132	9	
Hitting child harder that meant to	89	4	132	7	
Out of control when punishing child	89	17	132	26	
Have you praised your children	89	99	132	96	
Listened to music together w/child	89	93	132	92	
Tied child with cord- string-belt	89	0	130	0	
Gone to amusement park, pool, picnic	90	79	133	73	
Uncomfortable hugging child	87	10	131	11	
Encouraged child to read book	87	99	129	98	
Have children handled household chores	85	84	128	80	
Not let children into the house	84	1	126	2	
Punished for not finishing food	86	1	130	7	.05 (FE)
Blamed child w/ things not their fault	86	21	130	24	
Let child play where not allowed	86	19	129	16	
Unable to find someone to watch children	88	47	133	33	.04

NOTE: "FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test

Three scales were formed using items that appear in Tables 4-23 and 4-24: positive child care practices (5 items), negative child care practices (10 items), and punishment (5 items, all of which were also in the negative child care practices scale).

At the time of the post-treatment interview, primary analyses revealed no significant differences between experimental and control groups on any of the items.<sup>87</sup> At followup, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> In the secondary analysis, "hitting child harder than meant to" was the only item for which there were significant differences between the experimental and control groups, with a greater proportion of the experimental group responding affirmatively (13% vs. 5%, p = .03). The difference was not significant in the tertiary analysis.

significantly greater proportion of experimental group respondents responded affirmatively that they "punished [child] for not finishing food" (7% vs. 1%; Fisher's exact *p*-value = .05).<sup>88</sup>

There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups with regard to the positive and negative child care practice scales at the time of either the post-treatment or the followup interview. At each point in time, caretakers from both groups responded affirmatively to over 80 percent of the positive items and less than 15 percent of the negative items. Repeated measures analyses revealed no significant changes over time in the positive child care practices scale. There was a small but significant decrease in the proportion of negative child care practices and in the proportion of affirmative answers to the punishment items for both groups averaged over time (see Table 4-20 and Figure 4-3). For all scales, there were no significant interactions between group and time variables, indicating that the pattern of means over time was similar for both the experimental and control groups.

**Caretaker Depression.** In all three interviews, we administered the SCL-90 depression scale to measure the level of depression of the caretaker.<sup>89</sup> There were no differences between the groups in scores on this scale at the time of the post-treatment or followup interview. Results of the repeated measures analysis indicate significant decreases over time in the depression scores for both groups averaged together (see Table 4-20 and Figure 4-3). The pattern of declining depression scores was the same for both the experimental and control group.<sup>90</sup>

**Child Behavior.** We asked 35 questions about specific child behaviors, both positive and negative. Questions were phrased in terms of "any of the children" and some questions were age specific. Responses to these questions were used to form various scales: aggression (3 items), school problems (5 items), positive child behaviors (10 items), and negative child behaviors (21 items, including the aggression and school problems items). Neither the primary nor the secondary analyses revealed any significant differences between the groups in scores on any of these scales at the time of the post-treatment or followup interviews (see Table 4-20 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> This difference was not significant in the secondary or tertiary analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Reliability analysis yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .92 at initial interview, .90 at post-treatment, and .94 at follow-up.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> These results held for the secondary and tertiary analyses.

#### Positive Life Events - Philadelphia



Time trend: p = .001; Group-time interaction: p = .84

Negative Life Events - Philadelphia



Time trend: p = .02; Group-time interaction: p = .82

Paying Bills - Philadelphia

#### **Household Condition - Philadelphia**





Time trend: p = .02; Group-time interaction: p = .12



Figure 4-3 Child and Family Functioning Over Time

(All variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)



**Caretaker Depression - Philadelphia** 

**Punishment - Philadelphia** 



Child Aggression - Philadelphia

2





School Problems - Philadelphia





#### Figure 4-3, continued Child and Family Functioning Over Time

("Caretaker Depression" variable is an average score; "Child Aggression" variable is the sum of "yes" responses; other variables are average proportions of "yes" responses.)

Figure 4-3). Furthermore, none of the hypotheses tested in the repeated measures analysis resulted in significant effects for any of the levels of analyses (primary, secondary, or tertiary).

Specific items on whether the child was withdrawn, or had engaged in substance abuse also did not reveal significant differences between groups at either point in time (post-treatment or followup) or in any of the analysis (primary, secondary, or tertiary). A scale measuring two items asking whether any of the children had stolen things or been arrested did result in significant differences in the primary analysis of the followup interview and of the effects over time. This scale was calculated by summing the "yes" responses to the two items, resulting in scale scores ranging from 0 to 2. At the time of the followup interview, the scale score was significantly higher for the experimental group than for the control group (.26 vs. .13; p = .02). Repeated measures analysis indicated that the pattern of scores over time was significantly different for the experimental and control groups, particularly in the time period between the post-treatment interview and the followup interview. In the control group, the average score for caretakers responding that their child had stolen things or been arrested consistently declined over time, but in the experimental group, the average score declined between the initial and posttreatment interviews and returned to the original level in the followup interview (see Table 4-20). For further interpretation of these results, scale scores of 1 and 2 were collapsed and Chi-square analyses were used to examine the proportion of caretakers from each group responding affirmatively to either item at each point in time.

At the time of the initial interview, 22 percent of caretakers from both the control and experimental groups reported that their child had stolen things and/or been arrested in the last three months. At the time of the post-treatment interview, 17 percent of caretakers from both the control and the experimental groups reported that their child had stolen things and/or been arrested since the time of the initial interview. At the time of the followup interview, a significantly greater proportion of caretakers from the experimental group reported that their child had stolen things and/or been arrested since the time of the arrested since the time of caretakers from the experimental group reported that their child had stolen things and/or been arrested since the time of the post-treatment interview (24% vs. 13%; p = .04).

**Overall Assessment of Improvement by Caretakers.** In both the post-treatment and followup interviews, caretakers were asked about general changes in their family lives since entering the study (see Tables 4-25 and 4-26). At the time of the post-treatment interview, 27 percent of experimental group caretakers generally thought there was "great improvement" in

	Control %	Experimental %
	p	<i>o</i> = .07
Great improvement	17	27
Some improvement	46	51
Same	27	17
Somewhat or a great deal worse	6	5
Not ascertained	4	1

### Table 4-25 Philadelphia Caretakers' Assessments of Overall Change Since First Interview, Post-treatment Interview

Table 4-26
Philadelphia Caretakers' Assessments of Overall Change Since Post-treatment Interview,
Followup Interview

	Control %	Experimental %
	р	= n.s.
Great improvement	38	36
Some improvement	38	40
Same	17	21
Somewhat or a great deal worse	7	4
Not ascertained	1	0

their lives, compared to 17 percent of control group caretakers (p = .07).<sup>91</sup> When response categories were collapsed to reflect "some or great improvement," things are "just the same," or "somewhat or a great deal worse," a significantly greater proportion of experimental group caretakers reported "some or great improvement" (77% vs. 63%; p = .05).<sup>92</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> This difference was greater and statistically significant in the secondary analysis (31% vs. 18%; p = .02) and the tertiary analysis (31% vs. 16%; p = .02).

 $<sup>^{92}</sup>$  These results were also maintained in the secondary analysis (80% vs. 63%; p = .02) and tertiary analysis (79% vs. 62%; p = .03).

At the time of the followup interview, slightly more than a third of respondents reported "great improvement" and three quarters of respondents reported "some or great improvement," with no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in any of the levels of analysis (primary, secondary, or tertiary).

#### 4.5.4 Information from Caseworkers on Functioning

In interpreting caseworker reports, it should be noted that while both SCOH and family preservation services were provided by private agency workers, it is likely that there are differences between these groups of caseworkers in the knowledge they have of the cases. It is expected that family preservation workers had much more intensive involvement with the families they worked with. Hence, interpretations of comparisons between responses of workers serving each of the groups must be made with caution.

Given the low response rate on caseworker initial interviews (35 percent for the control group and 54 percent for the experimental group), analysis of initial caseworker interview items was not conducted. This lack of data from the caseworker initial interview makes it difficult to interpret differences between the experimental and control groups at the time of the post-treatment interview. It is unknown whether those differences existed at the time of random assignment or whether they reflect differential changes during the treatment period.

**Caretaker Functioning.** Caseworkers were asked nine questions tapping various aspects of caretaker functioning on a five-point scale from 0 for not adequate to 4 for very adequate. Table 4-27 provides a list of these nine questions. At the time of the post-treatment interview, there were no significant differences between experimental and control group caseworkers on any of these nine items or on the scale averaging the nine items.<sup>93</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Secondary analyses resulted in significant differences on three of the individual items. Relative to caseworkers in the control group, caseworkers in the experimental group rated caretakers higher (more adequate) on "respecting children's opinions" (2.84 vs. 2.56; p = .05), "setting firm limits for children" (2.50 vs. 2.18; p = .05), and "providing adequate personal supervision" (2.86 vs. 2.51; p = .04).

	С	ontrol	Experir	nental	
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р
Caretaker ability to provide food	89	2.90	145	3.05	
Caretaker ability giving affection	92	2.95	145	3.05	
Caretaker respect for child's opinions	83	2.59	131	2.80	
Respond patiently to child's questions	86	2.50	138	2.64	
Respond to child's emotional needs	89	2.56	144	2.69	
Provide learning opportunities	90	2.30	143	2.57	.07
Setting firm/consistent limits/rules	89	2.19	140	2.45	.10
Adequate supervisor/responsible childcare	92	2.54	148	2.80	.10
Attending to children's health needs	89	2.90	144	3.03	
Caretaker functioning, 9 items, average of nonmissing items, higher=better	88	2.63	139	2.79	

 
 Table 4-27

 Philadelphia Caseworkers' Assessments of Caretakers' Parental Functioning, Post-treatment Interview

Note: Scale for individual items: 0-4, where 0 = not adequate, 4 = very adequate

**Household Condition.** As in the caretaker interview, we asked caseworkers about conditions in the home. Caseworkers were asked 13 yes-no questions, some positive and some negative. These items were combined in a scale which indicated the proportion of household condition problems. At the time of the post-treatment interview, experimental group families had, on average, significantly fewer problems with household condition than did control group families (.13 vs. .16; p = .05).<sup>94</sup>

**Caretaker Problems**. Caseworkers were asked a number of questions about problems experienced by children, caretakers, or other adult household members (question 19 on the first caseworker interview, question 17 on the second caseworker interview). Twenty-one of these problems concerned the caretakers. At the time of the post-treatment interview, caseworkers reported that the caretakers had, on average, 26 percent of the 21 problems. There were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups.<sup>95</sup>

**Child Problems.** Twelve of the items on the caseworker problem inventory concerned the children. At the time of the post-treatment interview, the percentage of child problems for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> These results were maintained in the secondary analysis (.13 vs. .17; p = .03).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> This was also true in the secondary analysis.

experimental group was, on average, 19 percent compared to an average of 15 percent for the control group, a nonsignificant difference.<sup>96</sup>

#### 4.5.5 Summary of Outcome Data

Information from the caretaker interviews, the caseworker interviews, and the administrative data were analyzed for indications of differences between the experimental and control groups subsequent to the referral to the family preservation program. Tables 4-28 and 4-29 contain a summary of those outcomes on which we found significant differences between the experimental and control groups in the primary analysis (p < .05). Items in bold are those on which the experimental group had better outcomes, those in italics are those on which the control groups had better outcomes.

There were no significant differences between experimental and control groups on family level rates of placement. Subsequent maltreatment was generally not related to experimental group membership either.

Caretaker Scales:	Control Mean	Experimental Mean	р
Positive life events	.15	.19	.05
Caseworker Scales:			
Household Condition	.16	.13	.05
(higher = worse condition)			

 Table 4-28

 Summary of Outcomes in Philadelphia, Post-treatment Interview

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary *p*-value less than or equal to .05. Items in bold indicate significant findings in favor of the experimental group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> This result held in the secondary analysis.

<b>Table 4-29</b>	
Summary of Outcomes in Philadelphia, Caretaker Followup Int	erview

Proportion of affirmative answers to yes/n questions	Proportion of affirmative answers to yes/no juestions										
	Control	Experimental									
	%	%	р								
Not enough money for food, rent, or clothing	33	49	.02								
Had difficulty buying enough food	16	27	.05								
Had difficulty buying clothes	21	37	.01								
Punished children for not finishing food	1	7	.05 (FE)								

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary *p*-value less than or equal to .05. Italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

"FE" indicates significance determined by Fisher's exact test.

Caretaker Scales:			
	Control I	Experimenta	ıl
	Mean	Mean	р
Stolen things or arrested	.13	.26	.02
Number of 10 household condition problems	.06	.10	.05

NOTE: This table only includes items with a primary *p*-value less than or equal to .05. Italicized items indicate significant findings in favor of the control group.

As shown in Tables 4-28 and 4-29, there were few significant differences between experimental and control groups in analyses of child and family functioning items. It should also be noted that the results have not been adjusted for the multiplicity of significance tests performed. That is, these significant items surfaced out of a large number of items and scales examined. In such a situation it is to be expected that some items will show significant differences simply by chance, so the appearance of a few significant differences should not be taken as an indication of superiority of one group over another. Overall, we are unable to claim consistent evidence of positive effects of the family preservation services in Philadelphia that were examined in this study.

#### 5 ATTRITION ANALYSIS: CARETAKER INTERVIEWS

Longitudinal studies almost always encounter sample attrition. Not all respondents will be interviewed at all points in time. In this study, some caretakers responded to all three interviews, some caretakers responded to the initial interview but not the post-treatment or followup interview, and some not interviewed earlier were interviewed later. Numbers of cases with caretaker interviews at each of the three points in time are shown in Table 5-1. Percentages are shown in Table 5-2.

 Table 5-1

 Counts of Cases for all Possible Combinations of Caretaker Interviews Completed

	Kentucky			N	Jew Jer	sey	Tennessee			Philadelphia		
	С	Е	Total	С	Е	Total	С	Е	Total	С%	Е	Total
	%	%		%	%		%	%			%	
Time 1 only	9	5	14	5	9	14	2	3	5	7	20	27
Time 2 only	2	1	3	4	15	19		1	1	4	9	13
Time 3 only	5	5	10	4	5	9	2	7	9	1	6	7
Time 1 and time 2	34	28	62	34	46	80	5	14	19	25	22	47
Time 1 and time 3	4	6	10	7	13	20	2	2	4	5	12	17
Time 2 and time 3	2	2	4	12	19	31	4	4	8	14	15	29
All three interviews	108	117	225	84	130	214	28	61	89	70	102	172
Totals	164	164	328	150	237	387	43	92	135	126	186	312

 Table 5-2

 Caretaker Interviews Completed as a Percentage of Net Study Cases

		Kentucky			Jew Jer	sey	]	Tennessee			Philadelphia		
	С	Е	Total	C	Е	Total	C	Е	Total	C	E	Total	
	%	%		%	%		%	%		%	%		
Net Study Cases	175	174	349	167	275	442	49	98	147	144	209	353	
Time 1 only	5.1	2.9	4.0	3.0	3.3	3.2	4.1	3.1	3.4	4.9	9.6	7.6	
Time 2 only	1.1	0.5	0.9	2.4	5.5	4.3		1.0	0.7	2.8	4.3	3.7	
Time 3 only	2.8	2.9	2.9	2.4	1.8	2.0	4.1	7.1	6.1	0.7	2.9	2.0	
Time 1 and time 2	19.4	16.1	17.8	20.4	16.7	18.1	10.2	14.3	12.9	17.4	10.5	13.3	
Time 1 and time 3	2.3	3.4	2.9	4.2	4.7	4.5	4.1	2.0	2.3	3.5	5.7	4.8	
Time 2 and time 3	1.1	1.1	1.1	7.2	6.9	7.0	8.2	4.1	5.4	9.7	7.2	8.2	
All three interviews	61.7	67.2	64.5	50.3	47.3	48.4	57.1	62.2	60.5	48.6	48.8	48.7	

Of the cases randomly assigned, the proportion of respondents who completed both the initial and followup interviews ranged from approximately 53 percent to 67 percent. Of primary concern here is that those who did not complete the followup interviews might vary in systematic ways from those who did, thus potentially affecting any analyses of change over time that rely on the interview data. Several steps were taken to examine the sample attrition for differences in

those who did not see the study through to the end, particularly in regard to whether there were differences between the experimental and control groups with respect to who completed the followup interview.

Starting with the sample characteristics for those who responded to each of the interviews at each point in time, no significant differences were found in the distributions of the following characteristics: respondent's age, youngest child's age, oldest child's age, number of persons in household, number of adults in household, or number of children in household.

In addition to looking at demographic characteristics, we examined initial interview responses on the family and child functioning scales that were used as primary outcome variables.<sup>97</sup> This was done to detect whether the group that was analyzed in our change analysis was functioning better or worse at the outset compared to the whole sample of cases that were interviewed at the outset. Those who completed the initial interview but did not complete the followup interview were compared to those who completed the initial interview and the followup interview on scale measures at the initial interview.<sup>98</sup> Items on which there were significant differences between those who responded to the initial but not to the followup interview and those who responded to both interviews are reported in Table 5-3.

For those caretaker scale comparisons indicating significant differences between those who remained in the interview sample through the followup period and those who did not, t-tests were conducted to assess differences between experimental and control groups for that particular scale at the time of the initial interview. For example, in Kentucky the cases where respondents did not complete the followup interview were analyzed for differences between experimental and control groups in reports of average child aggression at the time of the initial interview. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> There were 17 scales in all: positive life events, negative life events, life events depression, economic functioning, punishment, child aggression, school problems, child withdrawn, stolen things or arrested, child substance abuse, child problems, negative child behaviors, positive child behaviors, household condition, depression, positive child care practices, and negative child care practices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Respondents were categorized regardless of completion of post-treatment interview. Furthermore, those who did not complete an initial interview were excluded all together as information about functioning at the outset of the study was unavailable. The proportion of net study cases without initial interview data and thus excluded from these analyses are as follows: 5 percent in Kentucky, 13 percent in New Jersey, 12 percent in Tennessee, and 14 percent in Philadelphia.

	Complete	d initial but	Complete	ed initial <i>and</i>	
	N	Mean	N	Mean	п
Kentucky	11		.,		Ρ
Child aggression	76	1.18	235	1.53	.005
Positive child behaviors	69	.75	228	.70	.02
New Jersey					
Negative life events	93	.08	234	.12	.007
Stolen things or arrested	94	.41	234	.58	.02
Tennessee					
Child problems	24	1.45	93	2.32	.01
Philadelphia					
Caretaker depression	74	1.25	189	.97	.03

 Table 5-3

 Differences in Initial Family and Child Functioning Scales

Note: Means represent average scores on the scales at the time of the initial interview (i.e. at the outset of the study).

results were not significant, thus, while those who did not complete the followup interview appear to have reported a lower proportion of child aggression problems at the outset than those who did complete the followup interview, this did not occur differentially for experimental and control groups. None of the t-test comparisons for the items listed in Table 5-3 revealed any significant differences in the average initial scores for the experimental and control groups.

In summary, of the 68 comparisons (4 states, 17 for each state) on initial levels for the family and child functioning scales of the group completing both initial and followup interviews with those completing initial interviews but not followup, only five showed significant differences in means at the initial interview. All five of these measures indicate lower initial functioning of those who were interviewed at both points in time, but none of the comparisons of experimental and control groups on initial levels of these measures were significant.

In conclusion, there is no substantial evidence that attrition resulted in an analytic sample that is unrepresentative of the initial interview sample.

#### 6 SOCIAL SUPPORT

Because the support that families receive from relatives and friends is widely thought to contribute to family and child well-being, at each of the three interviews, we asked caretakers about the kinds of informal supports that were available to them. Caretakers were asked how frequently they had contact with their mothers and fathers, adult brothers and sisters, and up to four friends. For each person that the caretaker reported having contact with at least once a year, they were asked whether the person could be relied on for each of three kinds of support — emotional (talking over problems), instrumental (help with money or housework), and informational (advice on how to handle problems). In addition, caretakers who were residing with partners were asked about the support that they received from their partners.

In the following analyses, we examine several aspects of the caretakers' informal support systems. We first examine the extent to which caretakers had family and friends available who might provide support, and the proportion of partners, siblings, parents, and friends that the caretakers could rely on for support. Second, the levels of emotional, informational, and instrumental support available from each group of relatives and friends is assessed. Finally, because increasing the level of informal social support is sometimes thought to be a useful outcome of family preservation services, we examine whether there was change in the levels of support that were available to the caretakers.

#### 6.1 Composition of Caretakers' Support Networks

A concern raised by early investigations into the informal support systems of maltreating families was the extent to which they are isolated from relatives and friends. Families may be socially isolated if they don't have relatives and friends, or don't have much contact with them. Furthermore, families may have relatives and friends with whom they have regular contact but not rely on them for support. Hence, in order to assess the extensiveness of caretakers' informal supports, we first asked them whether they had living parents, siblings, partners, and friends, then determined how often they had contact with each of them, and finally asked if each could be relied on for support.

Table 6-1 summarizes the proportion of caretakers in each states' control and experimental groups who had partners, siblings, parents, and friends from whom they might receive emotional, instrumental, and informational support. The percentages of caretakers reporting that they had contact with particular relatives and friends at least once a year are

New Jersey												
Relationship	Caretakers with relative/friend			Support Available								
			Emotional		Instru	Instrumental		ational	Any type of			
	С	Е	С	Е	С	E	С	E	C Sup	E E		
	N=131	N=198	Ũ	2	C C	2	c	2	e	2		
	N(%)	N(%)	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%		
Partner	56	69	79	73	100	97	88	74	100	97		
	(43)	(35)										
Sisters	103	162	59	60	38	41	58	61	63	65		
	(79)	(82)										
Brothers	88	146	43	47	33	35	42	45	48	49		
	(67)	(74)										
Mother	93	116	66	54	44	45	52	48	68	62		
	(71)	(59)										
Father	61	89	49	40	34	42	44	39	51	53		
	(47)	(45)										
Friends	96	161	95	95	69	70	92	94	96	98		
	(73)	(81)										
Overall	131	197	92	93	85	87	92	93	93	95		
	(100)	(99)										

 Table 6-1

 Support Available at Initial Interview by Relationship of Supporter

C = Control E = Experimental

#### Kentucky

Relationship	Caretakers with		Support Available								
	relative	e/friend	Emotional		Instrur	Instrumental		ational	Any type of		
									support		
	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	
	N=155	N=156									
	N(%)	N(%)	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	
Partner	56	52	80	92	100	94	75	92	100	98	
	(36)	(33)									
Sisters	117	100	73	58	49	42	73	51	77	63	
	(76)	(64)									
Brothers	112	110	50	47	36	39	45	45	56	51	
	(72)	(71)									
Mother	132	124	61	58	52	49	61	50	68	67	
	(85)	(80)									
Father	92	97	40	42	43	42	40	38	48	49	
	(59)	(62)									
Friends	144	142	99	97	84	73	97	93	99	98	
	(93)	(91)									
Overall	155	155	98	97	97	87	96	96	99	98	
	(100)	(99)									

C = Control E = Experimental

Tennessee										
Relationship	Caretak	ers with				Support .	Available			
-	relative	e/friend	Emo	otional	Instru	nental	Inform	ational	Any type of	
									sup	port
	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е
	N=37	N=80								
	N(%)	N(%)	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Partner	7	29	86	90	100	90	71	86	100	93
	(19)	(36)								
Sisters	28	58	71	81	71	78	64	74	71	84
	(76)	(73)								
Brothers	30	57	60	61	67	58	60	60	70	65
	(81)	(71)								
Mother	25	58	72	62	76	67	64	60	88	79
	(68)	(73)								
Father	23	39	35	54	39	49	35	54	39	59
	(62)	(49)								
Friends	33	70	94	96	79	94	91	94	94	97
	(89)	(88)								
Overall	37	79	95	100	92	98	89	96	95	100
	(100)	(99)								

#### Table 6-1, continued

C = Control E = Experimental

### Pennsylvania

Relationship	Caretakers with		Support Available								
			Emotional		Instrumental		Informational		Any type of		
										support	
	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	E	
	N=107	N=156									
	N%	N%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	
Partner	25	34	88	68	96	94	76	71	100	97	
	(23)	(22)									
Sisters	79	117	71	71	62	60	66	64	75	73	
	(74)	(75)									
Brothers	82	118	58	49	49	45	57	48	63	58	
	(77)	(76)									
Mother	87	120	68	63	60	65	63	63	74	75	
	(81)	(77)									
Father	66	87	42	42	39	40	42	44	53	54	
	(62)	(56)									
Friends	84	127	100	97	88	95	95	98	100	98	
	(79)	(81)									
Overall	107	156	94	97	94	91	93	95	97	97	
	(100)	(100)									

C = Control E = Experimental

reported under the column heading "Caretakers with relative/friend." The remaining columns report the proportions of caretakers who had minimal contact (at least once a year) with specific relatives and friends and could rely on them for support.

At least 99 percent of all caretakers in every state reported having minimal contact with at least one relative or friend, and a large majority believed that they could count on at least one person for some type of support. In Kentucky and Pennsylvania, only one to three percent of caretakers in either the control or experimental groups felt that they had no one to count on for any kind of support. The proportion of caretakers with no support from anyone was slightly larger in New Jersey's control (7%) and experimental (5%) groups, and in Tennessee's control group (5%).

Although their numbers are small (over all states, only 36 caretakers reported that no support was available to them), caretakers who report that they have no support may be of particular interest since they could be easily identified and targeted for services linking them to informal and community supports. In addition, caretakers without any informal support may benefit the most from efforts to establish linkages to support. Importantly, although they did not rely on them for support, this group of caretakers reported having, on average, nine relatives and friends. In addition, 33 percent of these caretakers were employed. The presence of relatives, friends, and coworkers in the caretakers' social networks may improve the prospects of successfully increasing the levels of informal support that are available to these families.<sup>99</sup>

Caretakers across all states had, on average, 9.4 (s.d. 2.5) friends and relatives on whom they might call for various kinds of assistance. Within the set of family members and friends that they were asked about, caretakers most often cited their friends as people they can go to for help. Overall, about three-quarters of the caretakers reported having mothers and siblings and had contact with them at least once a year. Across all support areas, caretakers perceived mothers and sisters as support providers more often than brothers. Still, half or more of the caretakers with brothers said that they could turn to them for support. Fewer caretakers (less than 63 percent across all states) reported having a father. Furthermore, fathers were less likely to be relied on for support than were other relatives or friends.

Even fewer caretakers reported living with a partner. For instance, more New Jersey caretakers reported co-residing partners than caretakers in any other state, and only 39 percent of them resided with a partner. But relative to fathers and brothers, as well as sisters and mothers, for the minority of caretakers who live with them, partners play a much larger support role,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Repeated measures analysis of this subsample yielded no significant differences between the control and experimental groups' change in the levels of support across the three interviews.

especially in the provision of instrumental support. Friends, however, play a more important role than partners for emotional and informational support.

Only 54 percent of the caretakers of all races in this study reported having fathers with whom they have regular contact and even fewer were residing with partners — 32 percent of the caretakers of all races reported partners, but 46 percent of white caretakers, 45 percent of Hispanics, and only 22 percent of African Americans reported living with partners. These findings are consistent with what is known about recent changes in family formation among low income populations, especially African-Americans. In a 30-year longitudinal study following a cohort of teen parents and their children, Furstenberg (2001) observed a generational decline in the propensity to marry. In the 1960s the great majority of adolescent mothers married – usually the child's father. More than half of the older generation married by their early twenties, and by their mid-forties, three-fourths had wed. However, observing the next generation of teen mothers, Furstenberg noted that only 14 percent of the younger generation had married by their early twenties, and only 4 percent of those who were not mothers had wed.

Other observers of marriage and childbearing trends have also noted the steady increase in the formation of single-parent (usually female-headed) households, especially among lowincome African-American women, over the last several decades (Garfinkel and McLanahan, 1986; Cherlin, 1992). However, the reason for this shift in household structure is not clearly understood. Wilson (1987) has argued that the trend has coincided with other structural shifts such as the decline in the proportion of African-American men who have access to steady work and the simultaneous rise in the incarceration and mortality rates of those men. Others have suggested that cultural changes in attitudes toward the institution of marriage have contributed to the formation of the single-parent family for all Americans and that this societal-wide change has been exacerbated by economic restructuring that hit African-American communities particularly hard (Cherlin, 1992).

Whether the decline in marriage is attributable to structural shifts in the economy, or cultural shifts in attitudes toward marriage, Stack's (1974) research on family support systems in impoverished communities found that African-Americans rely more on extended family members for support of all kinds rather than depending on marriage as the primary source of support (Cherlin, 1992). Certainly, with regard to the composition of their support networks, families in this study fit this characterization.

#### 6.2 Caretakers' Levels of Support

In order to get a rough estimate of the levels of support that might be available to caretakers, we created composite scores for each of the three kinds of support. These composite scores are the products of whether each instance of emotional, instrumental, or informational support available from each supporter (scored 0 - 1) and the frequency of contact with the supporter (scored 1 - 4), summed across supporters.<sup>100</sup> A total support score was computed by simply summing the three (emotional, instrumental, and informational) composite scores for each supporter. Using this scoring scheme, the maximum level of total support available from any one supporter is twelve. For instance, a friend who gave the maximum amount of total support would provide all three types of support and have daily contact with the caretakers. For any single type of support, the maximum level of support available from any one support, the maximum level of support available from any one support.

Table 6-2 summarizes the levels of support that was available to caretakers at the initial interview in several ways. The upper portion of the state tables describe the average total, emotional, instrumental, and informational supports that caretakers reported were available to them from all members of their support networks. The lower portion of the tables summarize the levels of support that were available to caretakers from each of six groups of supporters — partners, mothers, fathers, sisters, brothers, and friends. The levels of support that were available from family and friends are presented in two ways. The first set of columns provides the average support that was available to caretakers from each group of supporters. The average mean support, presented in the next to the last column, takes into account that caretakers could report several brothers, sisters, and friends, but only one mother, father, and partner. Whereas average support is the total support available averaged across members of a supporter group. Again, the maximum amount of support available from any one supporter is twelve.

Looking first at the upper portion of the table, we note that the average levels of support across the three types are very similar. In fact, the three types of supports are highly correlated emotional-informational, r = .93, emotional-instrumental, r = .80, and informational-instrumental, r = .80 — so that if a caretaker had available one type of support, he or she usually had the other types available as well. However, the average levels of emotional and informational supports were somewhat greater than was the availability of instrumental support from all supporters, suggesting that members of the caretakers' support networks may have been better able to assist in ways that did not require their labor or strain their material resources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Each of the summary measures assumes that caretakers had more support available from supporters with whom they had greater contact. Therefore, they only approximate the caretakers' levels of support.

## Table 6-2 Average and Average Mean Support at Initial Interview

New Jersey						
Support at Initial Interview		A	verage Suppo	Average Mean Support		
		Ν	М	р	М	р
Total	С	131	34.9			
	Е	197	34.3			
Emotional	С	131	13.0			
	Е	197	12.7			
Instrumental	С	131	9.4			
	Е	197	9.1			
Informational	С	131	12.5			
	Е	197	12.4			
Partner	С	56	9.9		9.9	
	Е	69	9.0		9.0	
Mother	С	93	5.2		5.2	
	Е	116	5.0		5.0	
Father	С	61	4.1		4.1	
	Е	89	3.3		3.3	
Sisters	С	103	8.4		3.5	
	Е	161	7.9		3.7	
Brothers	С	87	6.3		2.3	
	Е	145	5.7		2.5	
Friends	С	96	19.5		7.9	
	Е	160	19.8		7.6	

#### Kentucky

Support at Initial Interview		Av	verage Suppo	ort	Average Mean Support		
		Ν	М	р	М	р	
Total	С	155	41.1				
	Е	155	36.3	.05			
Emotional	С	155	15.1				
	Е	155	13.6				
Instrumental	С	155	11.5				
	E	155	9.9	.05			
Informational	С	155	14.5				
	E	155	12.8	.04			
Partner	С	56	9.5		9.5		
	Е	51	10.8	.02	10.8	.02	
Mother	С	132	5.9		5.9		
	Е	124	5.2		5.2		
Father	С	92	3.8		3.8		
	E	97	3.6		3.6		
Sisters	С	117	8.9		4.5		
	Е	100	6.8		3.5		
Brothers	С	112	5.6		3.5		
	Е	109	4.9		3.6		
Friends	С	144	21.1		8.0		
	Е	142	20.2		7.8		

#### Table 6-2, continued

<b>1</b> ennessee
-------------------

Support at Initial Interview		A	verage Suppo	Average Mean Support		
		Ν	М	р	М	р
Total	С	37	39.5			
	E	79	44.2			
Emotional	С	37	13.8			
	E	79	15.3			
Instrumental	С	37	13.1			
	E	79	14.3			
Informational	С	37	12.7			
	Е	79	14.6			
Partner	С	7	9.7		9.7	
	E	28	10.7		10.7	
Mother	С	24	8.4		8.4	
	Е	58	6.5		6.5	
Father	С	23	3.8		3.8	
	Е	39	4.2		4.2	
Sisters	С	28	10.8		4.8	
	Е	58	13.4		5.8	
Brothers	С	30	9.3		4.3	
	Е	57	7.7		3.7	
Friends	С	32	16.4		8.5	
	E	70	20.5		9.1	

#### Pennsylvania

Support at Initial Interview	Average Support			Average Mean Support			
		Ν	Μ	р	М	р	
Total	С	107	40.3				
	Е	156	35.3				
Emotional	С	107	14.5				
	Е	156	12.3	.05			
Instrumental	С	107	12.5				
	Е	156	11.4				
Informational	С	107	13.3				
	Е	156	11.7				
Partner	С	25	9.8		9.8		
	Е	34	8.7		8.7		
Mother	С	87	5.0		5.0		
	Е	120	5.0		5.0		
Father	С	66	3.9		3.9		
	Е	87	3.5		3.5		
Sisters	С	79	10.0		4.8		
	Е	117	7.4		4.9		
Brothers	С	82	8.2		3.9		
	Е	117	5.1	.02	3.1		
Friends	С	84	20.9		8.8		
	Е	127	20.7		127	8.8	
The smaller amount of financial and instrumental support that is available from members of low-income individuals' support networks has been documented in other research. For instance, in a study of the supports that were available to former General Assistance recipients, Henly (1994) found that emotional support was provided most often, followed by informational, instrumental, and lastly financial support. Given that, in these studies, the recipients of support had very limited incomes, the relative positions of the various forms of support in the support hierarchy most likely reflect network members' capacity to provide the different kinds of assistance rather than the recipients' particular set of needs.

Examining the average contributions of supporter groups to total support, friends, partners, and sisters were the largest contributors to caretakers' overall support. As groups, brothers, mothers, and fathers contribute somewhat less to total support, but the lower levels of support that is contributed by mothers and fathers is partly attributable to the smaller numbers of supporters in these groups. When support is averaged across members of supporter groups, the positions of mothers and sisters in the supporter hierarchy shifts. Considering the support that was available from individual members of a supporter group, on average, partners, friends, and mothers were perceived to contribute higher levels of support than siblings and fathers.

Comparing the control and experimental groups, at the initial interview there were no differences in the levels of supports between the groups in either New Jersey or Tennessee. But in Pennsylvania, the control group had significantly more emotional support available than the experimental group (p = .05), and more overall brother support (p = .02). In Kentucky, control group members had significantly more instrumental (p = .05), informational (p = .04), and total support (p = .05) available, but the experimental group reported the availability of more support from partners (p = .02). The general similarity in support across the control and experimental groups at the initial interview was expected since randomization should assure that the groups are not different prior to receiving services.

### 6.3 Effects of Family Preservation on Levels of Support

It is sometimes believed that family preservation programs may strengthen families' informal supports. To examine whether this occurred in the programs we studied, we used multivariate repeated measures analysis to assess the change in the levels of support that caretakers reported were available to them at each of the three interviews (at the beginning of service, four to six weeks after service began, and one year after the beginning of service). For each state, we examined change in the levels of total, emotional, instrumental, and informational support available to caretakers, and change in the levels of support available from family and

friends. Table 6-3 summarizes differences between the experimental and control groups at the second and third interviews as well as change between interviews. In the repeated measures analysis, three main null hypotheses are tested. First, that support levels for the experimental group, averaged over the three points in time are equal to those of the control group. Second, that the averages of the groups at each point in time are the same. Third, that there is no interaction between time and group.

Of the three hypotheses, the last is central. A significant interaction between time and group indicates that support in the experimental and control groups changed in different ways. The levels of support that were available to caretakers could either increase or decrease over time in one or both groups, or increase in one and decline in the other group. Generally, we are interested in support increasing over time since more support is presumed to have positive effects on caretaker functioning and family well-being. Furthermore, larger increases in support in the experimental group would suggest that family preservation was helpful in this particular area of service.

By and large, there is not much evidence in any of the states that enhancing the availability of caretakers' informal supports was a strong effect of family preservation efforts. In Tennessee, the average levels of support that were available to caretakers did not change over time. The only significant difference between the control and experimental groups was the change in the level of support that was available from partners. Of caretakers who resided with partners, those in the control group reported that more support was available from their partners at followup than at post-treatment, whereas support from partners in the experimental group had actually decreased slightly over the same period (p = .02).

For New Jersey caretakers, there were no significant differences between the control and experimental groups in the overall average levels of support or in changes in average support from relatives and friends or across any type of support over time.

Relative to the those in the experimental group, caretakers in the Kentucky control group reported having more total, instrumental, and informational support available, and more support available from sisters.<sup>101</sup> However, the level of informational support available over time decreased in the control group and increased in the experimental group (p = .08) so that at the followup interview the level of informational support available to caretakers in the two groups

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> In the secondary analysis, Kentucky experimental group caretakers reported having more support available from their partners (averaged across time). There was, however, no change in the average levels of support over time in either group.

 Table 6-3

 Support from Partners, Parents, Siblings, and Friends

Tennessee

		Pos	t-treatme	nt		Followu	ıp				Ν	Iultivaria	te Repeat	ed Measu	res			
										Means	i.	Mı	ultivariate	e ps	Univa Ti	riate <i>p</i> s– me	Univa Grp inter	riate <i>ps</i> – -time action
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{b}$	N	М	p	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial v. later <sup>f</sup>	Post v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	Initial v. Later	Post v. Follow
-	С	39	42.9	1	36	40.6	1	28	44.1	47.9	42.2							
Total	Е	84	41.5		74	43.4		61	44.4	45.1	43.6	.93	.38	.68				
	С	39	14.4		36	13.7		28	15.5	16.2	14.5							
Emotional	Е	84	14.2		74	14.7		61	15.3	15.6	14.8	.92	.41	.89				
	С	39	14.5		36	14.1		28	14.4	16.4	14.4							
Instrumental	Е	84	13.6		74	14.0		61	14.2	14.5	14.1	.59	.23	.47				
	С	39	14.0		36	12.9		28	14.2	15.3	13.3							
Informational	Е	84	13.7		74	14.7		61	14.8	15.0	14.8	.70	.56	.70				
	С	6	11.0		13	11.8	.005	4	11.5	10.5	12.0							
Partner	Е	28	10.9		26	9.9		15	10.7	11.2	10.1	.64	.84	.06				.02
	С	25	8.8		24	9.2		17	9.1	9.5	9.9							
Mother	Е	60	7.8		50	8.2		44	7.3	7.7	8.1	.08	.32	1.0				
	С	23	4.0		20	3.3		16	3.6	4.1	3.3							
Father	Е	44	4.2		38	4.5		30	4.3	4.9	4.5	.49	.40	.94				
	С	31	13.7		31	10.7		23	12.7	14.9	12.6							
Sister	Е	53	13.2		50	12.6		40	12.2	12.9	13.0	.77	.43	.63				

1 a D C U - 3 C U H C H C U	Table	6-3,	continu	ed
---	-------	------	---------	----

		Post	Treatme	nt		Followu	р				Ν	Multivari	ate Repea	ted Meas	ures			
										Means		M	ultivariate	<i>p</i> s	Univar Ti	iate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		Ν	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{b}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. Later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. Later	v. Follow
	С	29	8.6		28	8.1		21	11.1	10.4	10.1							
Brother	Е	57	7.1		56	8.6		40	7.6	7.5	7.9	.13	.90	.89				
	С	32	19.4		25	18.6		17	19.1	23.0	19.3							
Friend	Е	70	20.4		66	19.1		46	21.0	21.5	19.1	.96	.34	.54				

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

## Table 6-3, continued

		Post	t-treatme	ent		Followu	ıp				Ν	Iultivaria	te Repeat	ed Measu	ires			
										Means	3	М	ıltivariate	e ps	Univa Ti	riate <i>p</i> s–	Univa Grp inter	riate <i>p</i> s– -time action
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	D	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial v. later <sup>f</sup>	Post v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	Initial v. Later	Post v. Follow
-	С	141	34.3	r	107	35.5	r	84	36.3	37.1	36.9							
Total	E	221	32.9		167	36.0		130	35.2	33.0	35.7	.46	.64	.35				
	С	141	12.6		107	13.2		84	13.5	13.7	13.7							
Emotional	Е	221	12.4		167	13.5		130	13.2	12.5	13.5	.58	.64	.51				
	С	141	9.2		107	9.4		84	10.1	9.9	9.9							
Instrumental	Е	221	8.4		167	9.4		130	9.2	8.3	9.2	.26	.40	.64				
	С	141	12.4		107	12.8		84	12.6	13.5	13.3							
Informational	Е	221	12.1		167	13.1		130	12.9	12.1	13.0	.65	.73	.24				
	С	57	9.8		53	9.4		36	9.6	10.0	9.5							
Partner	Е	77	9.6		64	9.8		36	9.1	9.3	9.7	.69	.62	.66				
	С	95	5.7		67	6.9		53	6.6	6.2	6.8							
Mother	E	120	5.4		101	6.1		67	5.3	5.5	6.1	.23	.21	.51				
	С	69	4.2		49	4.1	.018	36	4.8	4.8	4.7							
Father	Е	98	3.7		63	6.1		47	3.8	3.8	5.6	.67	.19	.12				
	С	105	8.6		84	8.3		60	8.4	9.5	8.7							
Sister	Е	168	8.2		130	8.3		96	8.3	8.5	7.8	.64	.54	.73				

### **New Jersey**

		Post-	Treatme	nt		Followu	р				1	Multivari	ate Repea	ted Meas	ures			
										Means		M	ultivariate	ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp inter	riate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
				h							5.11	<b>a</b> (	m d	Time -	V.	V.	v.	V.
		Ν	M"	$p^{\circ}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp	Time"	Grp	Later	Follows	Later	Follow
	С	90	5.0		73	6.1		48	6.5	6.0	6.7							
Brother	Е	151	5.5		119	6.2		90	6.2	5.3	6.3	.76	.29	.95				
	С	107	19.6		83	18.0		52	18.9	20.4	17.8							
Friend	Е	171	19.2		144	17.7		90	21.5	19.7	19.1	.47	.19	.20				

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups <sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

Table	6-3,	continued	
Table	0-5,	continucu	

## Kentucky

¥		Post	t-treatme	ent		Followu	ıp	Multivariate Repeated Measures										
										Means	5	M	ultivariate	e ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp inter	riate <i>ps</i> – -time action
									Initial	Post	Follow			Time -	Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	Ma	$n^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	n	Ν				Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. Later	v. Follow
	С	150	39.5	P	119	41.0	P	108	43.2	42.1	40.8				iuter	101101	Euter	1 0110 W
Total	Е	152	35.0		130	39.8		117	36.5	36.4	38.8	.05	.82	.16				
	С	150	14.8		119	15.0		108	15.8	15.6	14.8							
Emotional	Е	152	13.4		130	14.8		117	13.8	14.0	14.6	.12	.97	.16		variate ps Time al Post V. f Follow <sup>g</sup>		
	С	150	10.6		119	11.4		108	12.1	11.5	11.3							
Instrumental	Е	152	9.0		130	10.3		117	9.9	9.4	9.9	.03	.37	.65	res Univariate ps- Time Initial Post v. v. later <sup>f</sup> Follow <sup>g</sup>			
	С	150	14.1		119	14.7		108	15.2	15.0	14.6							
Informational	Е	152	12.6		130	14.7		117	12.8	13.0	14.4	.07	.51	.08				
	С	50	9.1	.067	37	9.7		32	10.1	9.7	9.6							
Partner	Е	48	10.3		49	10.2		33	10.8	11.0	10.1	.16	.37	.43				
	С	118	6.6		100	6.3		85	6.2	6.6	6.0							
Mother	Е	118	5.5		101	6.4		91	5.4	6.0	6.3	.56	.18	.22				
-	С	86	4.2		66	3.9		61	4.0	4.4	3.7							
Father	Е	94	3.5		83	4.2		71	3.7	3.7	4.1	.82	.71	.31	Initial Post V. V. later <sup>f</sup> Follow <sup>g</sup>			
~	С	110	9.6	.031	88	9.5		75	9.6	10.2	10.2							
Sister	Е	95	6.6		84	7.2		69	6.7	6.3	7.2	.04	.75	.57				

		Post-	Treatme	nt		Followu	ıp				Ν	Multivari	ate Repea	ted Meas	ures			
										Means		M	ultivariate	ps	Univari Tii	iate <i>p</i> s– ne	Univar Grp inter	iate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. Later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. Later	v. Follow
	С	112	5.7		87	6.7		72	6.1	6.6	6.9							
Brother	Е	101	5.1		93	6.4		78	4.9	4.8	6.5	.36	.11	.39				
	С	137	19.2		111	20.0		93	22.6	20.3	20.3							
Friend	Е	139	19.5		121	20.5		99	20.6	19.4	20.2	.32	.03	.44	.01			

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

## Table 6-3, continued

### Pennsylvania

		Post	t-treatme	ent		Followu	р				Ν	Aultivaria	te Repeat	ed Measu	ires			
										Means	5	M	ıltivariate	e ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>ps</i> – me	Univar Grp inter	riate <i>p</i> s– -time action
			0	h					Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	Initial v.	Post v.	Initial v.	Post v.
	C	N 115	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{0}$	N 00	M 45.7	р	N 70	20.1	41.5	19.0				later	Follow <sup>g</sup>	Later	Follow
Total	E	161	35.6		135	41.3		102	36.5	38.1	48.0	.23	.01	.79	.01	.01		
	С	115	14.4	060	90	16.8		70	14 1	15.3	179							
Emotional	E	161	12.4		135	14.7		102	12.8	13.5	15.1	.09	.01	.57	.01	.01		
	С	115	11.7		90	13.8		70	12.3	12.1	14.5							
Instrumental	E	161	11.5		135	13.4		102	11.7	12.1	13.9	.74	.01	.82	.01	.01		
	С	115	13.5	.063	90	15.1		70	12.7	14.1	15.6							
Informational	Е	161	11.6		135	13.3		102	12.0	12.5	13.9	.25	.01	.66	.01	.01		
	С	23	10.7	.014	22	10.6		11	10.3	11.0	10.7							
Partner	Е	36	8.3		27	10.1		12	9.3	10.1	10.4	.50	.33	.87				
	С	87	7.2		72	7.4		57	7.6	7.8	7.6							
Mother	Е	111	7.5		104	7.5		74	7.1	7.7	7.9	.94	.34	.56				
	С	63	4.4	.061	52	5.2		40	4.0	4.8	5.2							
Father	Е	89	3.0		78	3.8		54	3.6	3.1	4.1	.20	.19	.23				
	С	80	11.0		70	12.0		50	10.4	11.8	12.7							
Sister	Е	116	9.6		107	10.6		78	7.1	9.0	10.4	.06	.01	.83	.01			

I able 0-3, continuet	Table	6-3,	continu	ed
-----------------------	-------	------	---------	----

		Post-	Treatme	ent		Followu	ıp											
									Means			M	ultivariate	ps	Univar Ti	iate <i>p</i> s– me	Univar Grp- intera	riate <i>p</i> s– -time action
															Initial	Post	Initial	Post
		N	M <sup>a</sup>	$p^{\mathrm{b}}$	N	М	р	N	Initial	Post	Follow	Grp <sup>c</sup>	Time <sup>d</sup>	Time - Grp <sup>e</sup>	v. Later <sup>f</sup>	v. Follow <sup>g</sup>	v. Later	v. Follow
	С	91	10.0	.019	69	10.4		49	9.0	10.8	11.4							
Brother	E	104	6.2		97	7.6		74	5.3	5.4	7.0	.01	.05	.48	.03			
	С	91	17.8		76	20.1		42	20.9	18.0	23.9							
Friend	Е	126	20.5		115	20.5		74	22.6	21.8	22.4	.51	.02	.09		.01		.04

<sup>a</sup> Means of control and experimental groups

<sup>b</sup> Test of hypothesis of equivalent group means

<sup>c</sup> Test of hypothesis that group means, averaged over time, are equal

<sup>d</sup> Test of hypothesis that means at three points in time, averaged over the groups, are equal

<sup>e</sup> Test of hypothesis of no interaction between group and time, that is, that the pattern of means over time is the same for both groups

<sup>f</sup> Test of hypothesis that time one is equal to average of time two and time three

<sup>g</sup> Test of hypothesis that time two is equal to time three

was essentially equal. The reported levels of friend support declined between the initial and later interviews (p = .01) in both the control and experimental groups.

Pennsylvania caretakers reported higher levels of total, emotional, instrumental, and informational support over time in both the control and experimental groups. With regard to relative and friend support, caretakers in the control group reported more sister and brother support, but the levels of sibling support increased over time in both groups. In addition, the availability of friend support increased over time in the control but not the experimental group (p = .04).

### 6.4 Conclusions

This analysis examined the kinds of informal supports that were available to caretakers in the study, the composition of the caretakers' support networks, the levels of support that were available to the caretakers from their support networks, and the effect of family preservation services on their levels of support. Over all of the states, the great majority of caretakers identified at least one person that they could rely on for support. Indeed, less than four percent of the caretakers said that they had nobody to count on for any type of support. It is important to recognize that this small group of caretakers may be likely to benefit from services aimed at strengthening their informal support systems. However, most of the caretakers in this study cannot be characterized as being socially isolated since, on average, they reported having over nine friends and relatives in their social networks. This is not to suggest that these caretakers could not use additional informal support, they might, but we cannot assess that with the data at hand.

In terms of the composition of the caretakers' support networks, our findings are consistent with those of other research that has examined family formation trends. Caretakers rely primarily on kinship ties and friends rather than marital bonds for all kinds of support. Overall, only 54 percent of the caretakers in this study reported having fathers with whom they have regular contact and even fewer were residing with partners (32%). It may be partly a result of the scarcity of fathers and partners and the predominance of women (77 percent of the caretakers' friends were female) in their support networks, that caretakers rely more on females than males for support. However, caretakers who have bothers and fathers are generally less likely to receive support from them than from their mothers, sisters, and friends. Also, brothers and fathers tend to provide lower levels of support. This difference between male and female

supporters may be related to the traditional gender division of labor that assigns the bulk of household tasks, family care, and emotional work to women.

Partners who reside with caretakers are more likely to provide support and to provide more support than either male or female extended family members. Hence, becoming involved with a partner might increase the amount of support — particularly instrumental — that is available to caretakers. However, the marriage prospects for many single mothers may be quite limited unless the socio-economic conditions that inhibit the formation of two-parent families improve substantially.

Lastly, we examined the effects of family preservation services on caretakers' levels of support and found little impact. It must be emphasized, however, that we do not know the extent to which family preservation workers focused on issues of informal social support. It is possible that this was a relatively unimportant component of these services, and that it is unrealistic to expect to see effects of family preservation services in this area.

### References

- Cherlin, A. J. (1992). *Marriage, Divorce, Remarriage*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Furstenberg, F. F. (2001). The Fading Dream: Prospects for Marriage in the Inner City. In E. Anderson and D. S. Massey (Eds.), *Problem of the Century: Racial Stratification in the United States* (pp. 224-246). New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Garfinkel, I. S. and McLanahan, S. S. (1986). Single Mothers and Their Children: A New American Dilemma. Washington, D.C.: The Urban Institute Press.
- Henly, J. (1994). Surviving without welfare: The informal support networks of former general assistance recipients. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan.
- McLanahan, S., Garfinkel, I., and Mincy, R. B. (2001). Fragile Families, Welfare Reform, and Marriage (Policy Brief No. 10). Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Stack, C. B. (1974). *All Our Kin: Strategies for Survival in the Black Community*. New York, NY: Harper and Row.
- Wilson, W. J. (1987). *The Truly Disadvantaged: The Inner City, The Underclass, and Public Policy*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

### 7 INTERVIEWS WITH INVESTIGATING OR INTAKE WORKERS

### 7.1 Investigating Worker Interviews in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee

Investigating workers were asked to complete a self-administered questionnaire as quickly as possible after random assignment.<sup>102</sup> Workers were asked a series of questions about the allegations, the investigation, and the results of the investigation. In New Jersey and Kentucky, cases came into the study through ongoing workers as well as investigation units, whereas in Tennessee all cases came from investigation units. Table 7-1 shows the number of completed questionnaires and response rates for cases coming from investigating workers (75% in Kentucky, 50% in New Jersey, and 70% in Tennessee). The content of the questionnaire filled out by Philadelphia intake workers was considerably different; therefore those data are presented in a separate section.

 Table 7-1

 Counts of Investigating Worker Questionnaires

			Respons	ses from			
			workers in				
	Number of cases	Percent referred from	investiga	tion units			
Site	randomly assigned	investigation units (%)	Ν	%			
Kentucky	358	62	164	75			
New Jersey	470	53	126	50			
Tennessee	153	100	107	70			

Table 7-2 provides some data on the timelines and frequency of contact in the investigation of the alleged maltreatment. Depending on the state, an average of one to three days passed between the date the complaint was received and the date the worker first contacted the family. There was greater variation in the number of days between the date the complaint was received and the date the investigation was completed; an average of about 40 days in Kentucky (75% completed in 56 days), 12<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> days in New Jersey (75% completed in 13 days), and just under 29 days in Tennessee (75% completed in 27 days).<sup>103</sup> On average, investigating workers in each of the three states reported making about 3 visits to the home where they met with one or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> In a few cases, these instruments were completed by phone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> In Kentucky, some cases were kept open under the investigating worker in order to provide services. It is also possible that these timeframes reflect variations in what is meant by a "complete investigation." It is possible that all but the paperwork was completed in a shorter period of time.

 Table 7-2

 Timelines and Frequency of Contact in the Investigation of the Alleged Maltreatment

		Kentucky	y		New Jers	sey	Tennessee			
	Ν	Mean	s.d.	Ν	Mean	s.d.	Ν	Mean	s.d.	
Number of days from complaint to first talking with the family	147	1.43	3.05	119	3.34	10.34 <sup>a</sup>	104	1.88	3.85	
Number of days from complaint to completion of investigation	108	43.37	46.56	102	12.52	20.86	32	28.75	37.11	
Number of visits to the home where worker met with one or more members of the household	148	3.20	2.25	119	2.97	1.85	104	2.85	3.32	

<sup>a</sup> The large standard deviation here is primarily due to 3 cases where the first contact with the family occurred 57, 63, and 72 days after the complaint was received. Excluding those three cases, the mean for NJ is 1.77 days (s.d. = 3.21).

more members of the household (the average number of visits was slightly higher in Kentucky and lower in Tennessee).

Table 7-3 provides responses by state for each of the questions asked in the investigating worker interview. When asked who filed the recent complaint, investigating workers in all three states frequently cited school personnel, medical or public health personnel, and law enforcement personnel. Other frequent sources of complaints in Kentucky included social service agency personnel, relatives, and neighbors. In New Jersey, other frequent sources of complaints included social service agency personnel and self-reports by the caretaker. In Tennessee, other frequent sources of complaints were relatives and a category labeled "someone else" which included juvenile court. The source of the complaint was contacted in 83 percent of the investigations in Kentucky, 68 percent of the investigations in New Jersey, and 89 percent of the investigations in Tennessee.

Besides the source of the complaint, investigating workers were asked whether they obtained information from law enforcement, a hospital, clinic or doctor, school, or other agency. In all three states, schools were the most frequent sources of information for investigations (56% in Kentucky, 67% in New Jersey, and 45% in Tennessee). Information was obtained from law enforcement in 32 percent of investigations in Kentucky, 46 percent in New Jersey, and 19 percent in Tennessee. Information was obtained from hospitals, clinics or doctors in 35 to 45 percent of investigations, and from other agencies in about 20 to 30 percent of investigations.<sup>104</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Not all cases necessitate contact with these additional sources of information, and the character of the allegation obviously affects whom it is relevant to contact.

	Ken	tucky	New	Jersey	Tenn	lessee
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Who filed the recent complaint (cumulative $\% > 100$ )						
Medical or public health personnel	25	15	23	18	27	25
School personnel	51	31	37	29	22	21
Child care personnel	3	2	1	1	1	1
Law enforcement personnel	29	18	26	21	10	9
Social service agency personnel	16	10	15	12	7	7
Caretaker	13	8	15	12	5	5
Child victim	2	1	5	4	0	0
Other household member	1	<1	3	2	1	1
Relative(s) not in household	17	10	9	7	14	13
Neighbor(s), other non-relative(s) not in home	19	12	9	7	8	8
Anonymous person	4	2	4	3	2	2
Someone else	5	3	2	2	$12^{105}$	11
Don't know	3	2	1	1	1	1
Law enforcement took part in the investigation	44	27	38	30	28	26
Allegation(s) involved the following harm to a child						
Physical harm (other than sex abuse)	83	51	72	57	60	56
Sex abuse	10	6	3	2	7	7
Drug presence in newborn	2	1	2	2	6	6
Alcohol presence in newborn	0	0	1	1	0	0
Alleged harm (in 5a) was confirmed by a physician						
Physical harm	3	2	11	9	25	23
Sex abuse	1	<1	2	2	2	2
Drug presence	2	1	1	1	6	6
Alcohol presence in newborn	0	0	1	1	0	0
You or someone else from your agency contacted	136	83	86	68	95	89
source of recent complaint						
You or another worker visited the home	151	92	123	98	100	94
Talked to the child's caretaker	161	98	125	99	107	100
Found it difficult to gain admission to the home	15	9	8	6	11	10
You obtained information from						
Law enforcement	53	32	58	46	20	19
Hospital, clinic, or doctor	63	38	57	45	36	34
School	92	56	84	67	48	45
Other agency	51	31	27	21	21	20
Total N	164		1126		1107	

# Table 7-3Investigating Worker Questionnaire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Ten of these cases were coded as juvenile court

	Ker	ntucky	New	Jersey	Ten	ness
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	
Contact with individuals involved in the investigation						
The perpetrator						
By phone only	1	<1	0	0	4	4
In person only	33	20	37	29	19	1
By phone & in person	120	73	63	50	69	6
Did not talk to individual	5	3	21	17	12	1
The caretaker						
By phone only	1	<1	1	1	4	4
In person only	32	20	39	31	17	1
By phone & in person	127	77	77	61	85	7
Did not talk to individual	1	<1	4	3	1	1
Child(ren) in complaint						
By phone only	0	0	1	1	1	1
In person only	113	69	80	64	78	7
By phone & in person	34	21	32	25	11	1
Did not talk to individual	14	9	12	10	16	1
Neighbor(s)						
By phone only	13	8	2	2	6	6
In person only	15	9	6	5	11	1
By phone & in person	11	7	8	6	5	5
Did not talk to individual	113	69	92	73	74	6
Relative(s)						
By phone only	43	26	11	9	22	2
In person only	20	12	34	27	20	1
By phone & in person	47	29	21	17	30	2
Did not talk to individual	50	31	51	41	34	3
Complainant(s)						
By phone only	52	32	31	25	27	2
In person only	19	12	19	15	13	1
By phone & in person	57	35	32	25	29	2
Did not talk to individual	34	21	37	29	35	3
Perpetrator denies all or most charges	75	46	64	51	55	5
Worker provided services (other than monitoring)	120	73	89	71	76	7
Worker made referrals to services	153	93	110	94	103	0
	155	93	117	24	105	7
Actions taken concerning removal of child(ren)						
You or another worker removed child(ren)	16	10	14	11	7	7
You or another worker asked police or	9	6	1	1	2	2
authorities to remove child(ren)						
Police or other authorities removed child(ren)	12	7	4	3	6	6
without being asked to do so by social worker						
The child(ren) were not removed	117	71	97	77	90	8
Total N	164		126		107	

## Table 7-3, continued Investigating Worker Questionnaire

In all three states, approximately one quarter to one-third of investigations involved participation of law enforcement.

Investigating workers were asked whether the allegations involved one of four specific types of maltreatment: physical harm, sexual abuse, drug presence in a newborn, and alcohol presence in newborn. In all three states, approximately 50 to 60 percent of the investigations involved allegations of physical harm, whereas less than 10 percent involved sexual abuse, and 1 percent or less involved alcohol presence in a newborn. Drug presence in a newborn was alleged in 6 percent of investigations in Tennessee and 1 to 2 percent of investigations in Kentucky and New Jersey.<sup>106</sup>

For each of the four specified types of alleged harm, investigating workers were asked whether the alleged harm was confirmed by a physician. Investigating workers responded affirmatively in 2 percent or fewer of the cases in Kentucky, regardless of type of harm. In New Jersey, alleged physical harm was confirmed by a physician in 9 percent of the investigations, alleged sexual abuse in 2 percent of investigations, alleged drug presence in 1 percent, and alleged alcohol presence in 1 percent. In Tennessee, 23 percent of investigations involving alleged sexual abuse were confirmed by a physician. Two percent of Tennessee investigations involving alleged sexual abuse were confirmed by a physician, 6 percent of drug presence in a newborn cases, and in none of the cases did a physician confirm allegations of alcohol presence in a newborn.

When asked about contact and visits to the home, over 90 percent of investigating workers in all three states reported that they or another worker visited the home and that they talked with the child's caretaker. In fewer than 10 percent of the investigations in each state was it reported to be difficult to gain admission to the home. As shown in the table, the perpetrator and caretaker were most frequently contacted both by phone and in person, whereas children were contacted in person in 64 to 73 percent of investigations, by phone and in person in 10 to 25 percent of investigations, and not at all in 9 to 15 percent of investigations.

When asked whether the perpetrator denied all or most of the charges, the investigating worker responded affirmatively in 46 percent of the investigations in Kentucky, 51 percent in New Jersey, and 51 percent in Tennessee.

Workers in all three states reported providing services (other than monitoring) in approximately 70 percent of the investigations. They reported making referrals to services in over 90 percent of investigations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> The small proportion of cases with drug or alcohol presence is expected given that these family preservation programs avoided serving cases with known drug or alcohol use.

Finally, investigating workers were asked about actions taken concerning removal of a child or children form the home. Children were removed from the home, either by a worker or by police, in approximately 17 percent of the investigations in Kentucky, 14 percent in New Jersey, and 13 percent in Tennessee. An additional 1 percent of investigations in New Jersey, 2 percent in Tennessee, and 6 percent in Kentucky involved a request by the worker for the police or authorities to remove children from the home. According to the investigating workers, children were not removed from the home in 71 percent of investigations in Kentucky, 77 percent of investigations in New Jersey, and 84 percent of investigations in Tennessee. The number of placements suggested by investigating workers seemed higher than expected given the evidence from analysis of administrative data on placements. Therefore, these cases were reviewed and cross-checked with other data sources.

All 65 cases (19 in NJ, 33 in KY, and 13 in TN) in which an investigating worker indicated either a request was made or action was taken to remove a child from the home were reviewed and cross-checked with available caseworker interviews, caretaker interviews, and administrative data. This additional analysis was done to address two primary concerns: undetected inappropriate referrals (cases in which we were not aware that all identified at-risk children were out of the home at the time of random assignment) and placements that were not captured in the analyses based on administrative data. Table 7-4 provides a breakdown of these cases by experimental group and the status of the findings. In summary, there do not appear to be any inappropriate referrals among these 65 cases. As for cases in which a placement occurred that was not included in any of the placement outcome analyses detailed in the main report, there are at most 9 cases in Kentucky (6 control group (3 of which are relative placements) and 3 FPS (1 relative placement)); and 3 cases in New Jersey (2 control group (both relative placements) and 1 FPS). No such cases were found in Tennessee.

Table 7-4											
Cases in which the Investigating Worker Indicated Removal	(N = 65)										

	Kentucky		New Jerse	ey	Tennessee	e
Placement Status	С	Е	С	E	С	Е
Investigating worker knew about a placement that occurred during the investigation but before the IW form was completed (All of these placements were recorded in the administrative data)	3	-	3	-	4	5
Administrative data shows a placement occurred after the date that the investigating worker form was completed. <sup>107</sup>	7	2	4	2	-	2
Relative placements (In KY and TN, additional analyses were run that included known relative placements not reflected in the administrative data- the number in parentheses is the number of relative placements identified by investigating workers that were not included in those additional analyses)	4 (3)	2 (1)	4	-	-	1(0)
No additional confirmation of any placement (a request may have been made without action or children may have been temporarily removed for a short period of time but not officially placed in care)	5	4	4	2	-	-
A child in the home appears to have a placement. (number in parentheses indicates the number of cases in which no placement is recorded in the administrative data for any member of this case)	3 (2)	2 (2)	-	1 (0)	-	
Undetermined / conflicting information (number in parentheses indicates the number of cases in which no placement is recorded in the administrative data for any member of this case)	1(1)	-	-	1(1)	-	-
Total	23	10	13	6	4	8

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> The length of time from the date the interview was completed to the date the placement occurred according to the administrative data varied from five days to two years. The placement in the administrative data may or may not be the removal that was referred to by the investigating worker. In any event, a placement is accounted for in the administrative data analysis.

### 7.2 Philadelphia Intake Worker Questionnaire

Resisting the use of another survey form solely for the purposes of the evaluation, staff in Philadelphia negotiated the use of a data collection instrument other than the investigating worker survey that was administered in the three Homebuilders sites of this study. Instead, investigating workers completed a brief intake questionnaire focusing on conditions in the home, problems for adults and children in the household, and service referrals that occurred as part of the investigation. This questionnaire was completed for 280 of the 353 randomly assigned cases (79%). Table 7-5 summarizes the findings for all items in the questionnaire.

When asked about the conditions observed during visits to the home, a majority of workers responded favorably on each of the 7 items. However, in 30 percent of the cases workers said they did not find the home in generally good repair; in 32 percent of the cases workers indicated there were not an adequate number of beds and bedding; and in 27 percent of the cases workers reported that they did not feel the neighborhood was safe.

In over 80 percent of the cases, the intake worker responded affirmatively to each of three questions about the relationship between the caretaker and the victim: did the caretaker show affection for the victim, did the caretaker show concern for the victim, and did the victim show signs of attachment to the caretaker.

According to the intake workers, the most frequently noted problems for adults in the household included parenting skills in general (88%), depression (56%), and inadequate supervision of the children (51%). The most frequently noted problems for children in the household included parent child conflict (37%), inadequate supervision of children (37%), and insufficient income for necessities such as food, rent, or clothing (37%).

The overwhelming majority of cases (92%) were referred for family preservation services (evidently, in the remaining 8% someone other than the intake worker made the FPS referral), and approximately a third were also referred to other services. Intake workers reported that in fewer than 10 percent of cases, the court ordered each of the following: family preservation services, foster care placement, other substitute care placement, or other services.

	icsuo	шап	C					
						Γ	)on't k	now/
							did n	ot
			Yes		No		obser	ve
	N	I	(%)		(%)		(%)	)
When you visited the home, did you find								
the home in generally good repair	27	4	69		30		2	
the electricity in working order	27	9	98		1		1	
the toilet, bath and shower in working order	27	9	89		8		3	
the refrigerator and stove in working order	27	8	87		10		2	
adequate number of beds and bedding	27	8	66		32		2	
the home to be physically safe	27	9	87		11		2	
the neighborhood to be safe	27	5	61		27		12	
						Γ	)on't k	now/
							did n	ot
			Yes		No		obser	ve
	N	I	(%)		(%)		(%)	)
Thinking about the relationship between the caretaker and the victim(s)			( )		( )			
Did the caretaker show affection for the victim(s)	27	8	82		14		4	
Did the caretaker show concern for the victim(s)	27	8	89		9		1	
Did the victim(s) show signs of attachment to the caretaker	27	7	83		10		6	
		Adu	ilt(s)			Chile	l(ren)	
		Yes	No	DK		Yes	No	DK
	Ν	(%)	(%)	(%)	Ν	(%)	(%)	(%)
Indicate whether the child(ren) or adult(s) have these common problems that		(, *)	(, *)	(, *)		(, *)		
may exist in the household								
Physical health problems or disabilities	257	32	60	9	268	31	64	5
Depression	269	56	25	19	256	22	60	19
Other mental illness	265	15	50	35	250	7	68	25
Mental retardation	265	5	85	11	205	5	85	11
	205	21	65 62	11	207	5	05	11
Alcoholish	270	42	42	10	260	0	93	4
Drug abuse	2/5	43	42	15	252	3 27	93	4
Parent child conflict	269	42	52	6	266	31	5/	6
Arrests or convictions on criminal charges	271	13	54	34	261	2	89	9
Domestic violence	273	23	61	17	248	11	77	11
Inadequate supervision of children	267	51	43	5	250	37	58	5
Insufficient income for necessities such as food, rent or clothing	272	43	51	6	243	37	58	5
Overly severe discipline measures toward children	268	23	73	4	238	17	90	3
Finding or holding on to a place to live	269	37	61	2	234	24	74	2
Lack of discipline toward children	267	27	67	6	230	24	72	4
Parenting skills in general	274	88	11	1	202	45	52	4
			l	N	(%	6)		
Where was this case referred?								
Family preservation			2	80	9	2		
Foster care			2	80		1		
Other services			2	80	3	1		
The case was closed			2	80		3		
Don't know			2	80		1		

 Table 7-5

 Philadelphia Intake Worker Questionnaire

## Table 7-5, continued Philadelphia Intake Worker Questionnaire

	N	Yes (%)	No (%)	Don't know (%)
In the course of or as a result of the investigation of the children in this				
complaint, has the court ordered				
Family preservation services	257	6	84	2
Foster care placement	253	1	88	1
Other substitute care placement	255	3	86	1
Other services	255	8	81	2

Note: The maximum N for individual questions ranged from 202 to 280.

### 8 THE STAFF QUESTIONNAIRE

An important aspect of program implementation and service delivery is the characteristics of the program staff. In their detailed description of the Homebuilders Model, Kinney, Haapala, and Booth (1991) note the difficulty in recruiting and maintaining qualified counselors to staff the family preservation programs. While the authors present their "first choice" applicant as "someone with a masters degree in social services, with a cognitive-behavioral theoretical background, and several years' experience working with families," they also note that "gender, age, race, marital status, parenthood, educational field, and degree have not been correlated with effectiveness on the job." Besides individual characteristics, Kinney, Haapala, and Booth encourage the selection of staff who share similar values, attitudes, and styles, cautioning that "if staff have large differences in how they view clients, it is likely they will differ about other agency policies, procedures, and ways they wish to relate to each other and to the community."

In this study, caseworkers in both public and family preservation agencies completed a self-administered questionnaire in which they were asked about a variety of job-related items, including their experience, qualifications, training, job satisfaction, preparation for dealing with casework issues, and attitudes toward clients and services.

Table 8-1 shows the number of completed questionnaires for each state and agency, separated by whether or not the respondent had a case in the study and by whether or not the respondent was considered to be case level staff. A respondent was considered case level staff if he or she reported carrying cases.<sup>108</sup> This summary focuses only on those case-level staff who carried a case in this study, with response rates ranging from 75 percent in Tennessee and 76 percent in New Jersey to 91 percent in Kentucky. Data on staff in Philadelphia are presented in a separate section as both family preservation and traditional services were provided by private agency staff and some workers carried cases from both random assignment groups.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> If respondents reported that they both carry cases and have supervisory responsibilities, they were only considered case level staff if they reported that they spend no more than 49 percent of their time in supervision.

	Does this respondent have a case in the study?										
	Kent	ucky	New J	ersey	Tenn	essee	Philad	elphia <sup>a</sup>			
Type of position & agency	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes			
Case level staff											
Public agency	39	159	136	199	6	37	25	139			
FPS agency	4	18		29	1	17	33				
"Other" staff											
Public agency	34	19	99	29	5	2	25	12			
FPS agency	3		2	6	1	2	23				
Number of completed questionnaires	80	196	237	263	13	61	60	151			
Number of questionnaires mailed out to staff		215		344		81		334			
who have a case in the study											
					-						
Response rate for staff with a case in the study		91%		76%		75%		63%			

## Table 8-1 Counts for Completed Staff Questionnaires

<sup>a</sup> Philadelphia respondents are not categorized according to FPS or Public Agency status. Both FPS and traditional (SCOH) services were provided by private agency staff and some workers were responsible for both types of cases.

## 8.1 Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee Staff

Table 8-2 provides a summary of responses by staff with a case in the study to most of the questionnaire items, separated by state. Within each state, responses from Public and FPS staff are reported separately.

Summary of Responses from Case Level Starr who mave a Case in the							The Sludy. Kentucky, New Jersey, & Tennessee									
		Kentucky					Ν	ew Jer	sey		Tennessee					
	Pu	blic	Fl	PS		Pub	olic	F	PS		Public		F	PS		
	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	Ν	%	Ν	%	р	
Respondent is male	15	20	18	22		195	22	29	35		36	11	16	25		
Race/Ethnicity	15		18			185		28			34		15		.0	
Black (not Hispanic)		25		22			43		25			74		53		
White (not Hispanic)		73		78			42		54			27		33		
Hispanic		1		0			11		18							
Other		2		0			4		4					13		
Participated in on the job training in past 12 months	15	92	17	94		196	91	29	100		37	76	17	88		
Attended seminar or workshop in past 12 months	15	91	17	100		196	90	29	93		37	97	17	100		
Taken for-credit courses in a degree program in past 12	15	18	17	47	.01	188	23	28	36		37	16	16	31		
Taken non-credit course on a work-related topic in past 12	15	23	17	18		190	43	28	39		36	14	17	29		
Participated in other in-service training in past 12 months	15	82	17	94		193	83	29	86		37	89	17	82		
Field of study	15		17			199		29			37		17			
Education		5		6			10		3			16		17		
Law/criminal justice		10					6		10			8				
Math/science							1					3				
Mgmt/administration		3					4		3			16				
Other humanities		6					8		7			5		6		
Social services		49		65			33		28			32		47		
Social work		25		29			26		38			19		41		
No code/NA/missing		3					2		7					6		
Level of education	15		18		.001	197		29		.001	37		17		.0	
AA degree, high school diploma, GED, or less							7					3				
Bachelors degree		58					55		31			62		6		
Some graduate study		23		11			24		17			30		30		
Masters degree or beyond		18		89			14		52			5		65		
Future employment plans	15		16			183		28		.03	34		16			
Do not plan to look for other employment or would like		83		88			85		100			74		81		
Looking for other employment but have not found		17		12			15		0			27		19		

 Table 8-2

 Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff<sup>109</sup> Who Have a Case in the Study<sup>1</sup> Kentucky. New Jersey. & Tennessee

Note: *p*-values are only reported when they are less than or equal to .10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Respondents were considered "case level staff" if they reported that they carry cases. If they reported that they carry cases and have supervisory responsibilities then they were only considered case level staff if they reported that they spend no more than 49 percent of their time in supervision.

	Kentucky						Ne	sey	<u>, ei sej</u>	Tennessee					
	Pu	ublic		FPS		Ρι	ublic	1	FPS		Ρι	ublic	]	FPS	
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean	р
Usual caseload size	156	19.5	17	2.2	.001	192	22.8	29	3.1	.001	34	49.0	17	2.1	.001
Largest # of families in caseload	151	23.9	18	1.9	.001	190	28.9	27	3.0	.001	35	58.8	17	3.1	.001
% of time spent investigating abuse/neglect complaints	158	38.23	18	2.5	.001	179	38.8	26	.03	.001	36	58.2	17	7.1	.001
% time spent on family preservation services	156	14.4	18	91.6	.001	178	13.4	29	93.9	.001	35	17.3	17	94.7	.001
% time spent on foster care placement and/or supervision	156	15.4	18	1.7	.001	180	16.0	26	0.0	.001	35	5.8	17	0.3	.002
% time spent on followup services for abuse/neglect families	157	33.3	18	3.1	.001	181	36.5	26	3.4	.001	35	18.1	17	1.5	.001
How satisfied are you with various aspects of your job?															
Salary	158	4.5	18	3.7	.02	184	3.3	28	3.6		36	4.2	17	3.6	.07
Workload	158	3.4	18	2.1	.001	183	3.5	28	2.0	.001	36	3.9	17	2.0	.001
Supervision	157	2.1	18	1.9		178	2.5	28	1.8	.002	34	2.7	16	1.8	.01
Work difficulty	157	2.6	18	2.0	.001	182	3.1	27	2.4	.001	36	3.3	16	2.5	.01
Chances of promotion	157	3.2	18	3.6		177	3.9	27	3.9		33	4.1	17	4.1	
Fringe benefits	157	2.6	18	2.5		183	2.9	28	3.0		35	3.1	17	3.2	
Overall job satisfaction (average for all 6 items)	158	3.0	18	2.6	.004	183	3.2	28	2.8	.002	36	3.5	17	2.9	.001
Indicate how much you agree/disagree with the following statements:															
[1 =strongly agree, 4=strongly disagree]															
Abuse and neglect are social problemsservices cannot do much to save	155	3.1	18	3.5	.03	185	2.8	29	3.7	.001	37	3.6	17	3.7	
children from danger															
No matter how bad a natural family is, foster care is usually worse	158	3.3	18	3.1		187	3.2	29	3.2		37	3.4	17	3.1	
There are many cases in which children remain at home and would have	158	2.2	18	2.3		186	2.3	29	2.5		37	2.4	17	2.3	
been better off in a good foster home															
It is never justified to take chances with the lives of children	158	1.4	18	1.4		185	1.3	29	1.4		37	2.1	17	1.5	
If a child I left at home were seriously injured due to maltreatment, I	158	1.9	18	1.9		187	1.9	29	2.3	.05	37	2.0	17	1.9	
would find it hard to forgive myself															
Removing a child from his or her parents can be so deep a trauma to the	158	3.3	18	3.1		186	3.3	29	3.0	.04	37	3.4	17	2.9	
child that it is almost always worth taking the risk to leave the child															
with his or her parents															
Families who deny the truth of a validated allegation of abuse or neglect	154	2.7	18	3.0		185	2.6	29	3.1	.01	37	2.9	17	3.1	
are such poor prospects for service that placement is usually justified															
Most families with records of several past complaints should not be given	156	3.0	18	3.2		187	3.0	29	3.2		37	3.1	17	3.5	
any more chances to change															
Placement prevention should be primary goal of family preservation pgrms	156	2.0	18	2.4		186	1.7	29	2.1	.06	37	2.0	17	2.0	
Only families with a child at imminent risk of placement should be	157	2.7	18	1.5	.001	187	2.8	29	2.2	.001	37	3.1	17	2.3	.08
referred to intensive family preservation services															
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·															
						1					1				

Table 8-2, continued Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in the Study: Kentucky, New Jersey, & Tennessee

Summary of Responses from Cust		Kei	New Jercey					Tennessee							
	Pu	blic	FPS			Pu	ublic		FPS		Public		FPS		
	N	Mean	N	Mean	п	N	Mean	N	Mean	п	N	Mean	N	Mean	п
Indicate how much you agree/disagree with the following	11	meun	11	mean	P		meun	11	mean	P	11	mean	11	mean	P
statements about your reactions to work with clients:															
Satements about your reactions to work with chemis.		2.6	10	•	0.6	100	2.0		2.0		25			• •	
I feel I treat some of my clients as impersonal objects	158	3.6	18	3.8	.06	198	3.8	27	3.9		37	3.7	17	3.9	
I deal very effectively with the problems of my clients	158	1.8	18	1.5	.06	198	1.6	29	1.6	0.02	37	1.7	17	1.6	0.1
I have become more callous toward people since being	156	2.9	18	3.5	.009	196	3.3	29	3.8	.002	37	3.1	17	3.7	.01
Many clients cannot be helped no matter what I do	158	2.7	18	3.4	.005	198	2.8	29	3.4	.001	37	2.8	17	3.5	.007
I think clients often blame me for their problems	158	2.3	18	3.6	.001	198	2.6	29	3.8	.001	37	2.9	17	3.3	
I have accomplished much that is worthwhile in this job	158	1.8	18	1.4	.09	198	1.7	28	1.5		37	1.7	17	1.5	
I feel burned out from my work	158	2.6	18	3.0		197	2.5	29	3.3	.001	37	2.1	17	2.4	
How prepared do you feel to deal with each of the following															
casework issues															
Assessing problems	158	1.8	18	1.4	.05	196	1.5	29	1.6		37	1.6	17	1.4	
Assessing risk	158	1.8	18	1.6		197	1.6	29	1.7		36	1.7	17	1.5	
Case planning	154	2.1	18	1.7	.09	196	1.7	29	1.8		35	1.8	17	1.8	
Assessing family functioning	155	2.0	18	1.7		196	1.8	29	1.6		36	2.2	17	1.6	.03
Assessing child functioning	155	2.1	18	1.5	.001	196	1.8	29	1.8		36	2.1	17	1.8	
Family systems	153	2.1	18	1.7	.04	193	1.9	29	1.9		35	2.1	17	1.9	
Building client relationships	153	1.6	18	1.2	.02	196	1.5	29	1.3	.02	35	1.5	17	1.3	
Counseling families	149	2.3	18	1.5	.001	187	2.0	29	1.6	.02	34	2.1	17	1.5	.009
Permanency planning	147	2.4	12	2.1	.10	162	2.4	24	2.2		29	2.6	13	2.4	
Knowing when to terminate a case	148	2.3	18	1.7	.02	196	2.0	29	1.8		37	2.4	17	1.7	.02
Combined measure of how prepared respondent feels	155	2.1	18	1.6	.001	196	1.8	29	1.7		35	2.0	17	1.7	.06
How many years of experience have you had in the following kinds of work:															
Social work in general	137	5.4	16	3.9		195	12.2	28	6.2	.001	35	6.9	17	7.9	
Child welfare social work	130	4.0	14	2.9		176	9.5	20	4.6	.001	33	5.0	10	4.2	
Supervising others in social work	120	0.7	12	0.2		162	1.5	21	1.1		32	0.7	9	1.7	.10
Delivering family preservation services	117	1.4	13	2.5		164	3.1	24	2.4		32	4.4	15	4.2	
# of years working for this agency	147	3.7	17	2.0	.01	189	8.1	28	2.2	.001	37	4.9	14	2.1	.003
# of years since appointed to this position	141	1.4	17	1.3		182	5.3	29	1.7	.001	35	3.9	14	1.9	.08

Table 8-2, continued Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in the Study: Kentucky, New Jersey, & Tennessee

### 8.1.1 Gender and Race

A majority of the staff in each state were female, with the proportion of male staff ranging from 11 percent in the Tennessee public agencies to 35 percent in the New Jersey family preservation agencies. Within each state, there were no significant differences between public and FPS agencies with respect to gender.

With respect to racial and ethnic composition, respondents from the New Jersey agencies, both public and private, had the greatest diversity. In New Jersey, Whites made up 42 percent of public agency staff and 54 percent of FPS agency staff, in comparison, Black made up 43 percent of public agency respondents and 25 percent of FPS agency respondents. New Jersey had the highest representation of Hispanic respondents (18% among FPS agencies and 11% among public agencies), and at least a small percentage of respondents were represented in all four race/ethnicity categories. A majority (73-78%) of the respondents in both public and FPS agencies in Kentucky were White, with the remainder primarily Black (22-25%) and just a few public agency workers reporting their ethnicity as Hispanic (1%) or "Other" (2%). In Tennessee, approximately three-quarters of respondents in public agencies were Black with the remainder being White, and approximately one-half of FPS agency respondents were Black, one-third were White, none Hispanic, and 13 percent reported their race/ethnicity as other than Black, White, or Hispanic.

### 8.1.2 Education

In all three of the states, FPS staff had higher levels of education (all significant at  $p \le$  .001). In all three states, comparing public agency and FPS staff, a smaller proportion of public agency staff held a degree at the Masters level or higher (18% vs. 89% in Kentucky, 14% vs. 52% in New Jersey, and 5% vs. 65% in Tennessee). A small percentage (7%; n = 14) of public agency staff in New Jersey and one public agency respondent in Tennessee reported an education level less than a Bachelor's degree. Of the fourteen respondents in New Jersey with less than a Bachelors degree, approximately half reported their positions as case manager. The other half of those New Jersey respondents as well as the one Tennessee respondent with less than a Bachelors degree reported their positions as caseworker.

There was a fair amount of variability in workers' responses to questions about the field of study for the highest degree they obtained – particularly among public agency staff. The majority of staff (ranging from 51% in Tennessee public agencies to 94% in Kentucky FPS agencies) indicated that their degree was in social work or social services. Other frequently named fields of study included education, law or criminal justice, and management or administration.

### 8.1.3 Caseloads and Time Allocation

As anticipated, when asked about usual caseload, public agency staff reported significantly higher numbers than FPS staff across all three states (see Table 8-2). Along the same lines, relative to public agency staff, FPS staff in each of the three states reported spending a significantly greater proportion of their time on family preservation services and a significantly smaller proportion of their time on investigations, placements, and followup services (again, see Table 8-2 for average proportions; all comparisons significant at  $p \le .001$ ).

### 8.1.4 Job Satisfaction

Caseworkers were asked about their level of satisfaction with various aspects of their jobs, including salary, workload, supervision, work difficulty, chances of promotion, and fringe benefits. Responses to these items were also combined for an average measure of job satisfaction. In all three states, public agency workers were significantly less satisfied than FPS staff with respect to job satisfaction overall and with their workload and work difficulty in particular. Furthermore, in Kentucky, public agency staff were also significantly less satisfied than FPS staff when it came to salary; in New Jersey, public agency staff were also significantly less satisfied than FPS staff with supervision; and in Tennessee, public agency staff were also significantly less satisfied with supervision and differences were marginally significant with respect to salary (p = .07).

### 8.1.5 Staff Views on Child Welfare and Family Service Issues

Caseworkers were asked to indicate their level of agreement or disagreement in response to a series of 10 statements expressing views on a number of child welfare and family service issues. For many of the statements, respondents' average levels of agreement were near the midpoint of the scale (2.5, where 1 = strong agreement and 4 = strong disagreement) indicating neither strong agreement nor disagreement on average. For two of the statements – both relating to risk – the average responses for both FPS and public agency staff in all three states were skewed more towards strong agreement. Those statements were: "It is never justified to take chances with the lives of children" and "If a child I left at home were seriously injured due to maltreatment, I would find it hard to forgive myself." In New Jersey, on the second of these statements, there was a significant difference between average responses of FPS and public agency staff. Although both groups indicated agreement, public agency staff indicated stronger agreement with this statement than did FPS staff (1.9 vs. 2.3; p = .05).

In two of the states, there was stronger disagreement by FPS staff (relative to public agency staff) in response to the statement "Child abuse and neglect are social problems driven by strong social forces to the extent that social work services cannot do much to save children from danger." Differences between FPS and public agency staff in response to this statement were significant in Kentucky (3.5 vs. 3.1; p = .05) and New Jersey (3.7 vs. 2.8; p = .001), with small, non-significant differences in Tennessee (3.7 vs. 3.6).

On the issue of referrals to family preservation services, FPS staff in all three states indicated a greater degree of agreement than public agency staff with the statement: "Only families with a child at imminent risk of placement should be referred to intensive family preservation services." These differences were statistically significant in Kentucky (1.5 for FPS and 2.7 for public staff; p = .001) and in New Jersey (2.2 for FPS and 2.8 for public staff; p = .001), and differences were in the same direction but not statistically significant in Tennessee (2.3 for FPS and 3.1 for public staff; p = .08).

In New Jersey, there were two other statements for which there were significant differences in average responses for FPS and public agency staff. Public agency staff indicated stronger disagreement than FPS staff with the statement "Removing a child from his or her parents can be so deep a trauma to the child that it is almost always worth taking the risk to leave the child with his or her parents" (3.3 for public staff and 3.0 for FPS; p = .04). On the other hand, FPS staff indicated stronger disagreement on average than public staff with "Families who deny the truth of a validated allegation of abuse or neglect are such poor prospects for service that placement is usually justified" (3.1 for FPS and 2.6 for public staff; p = .01).

### 8.1.6 Reactions to Work with Clients

Caseworkers were given seven statements, six of which were drawn from the Maslach Burnout Inventory (Maslach and Jackson, 1986), an instrument designed to measure the following three dimensions of the psychological syndrome of burnout: emotional exhaustion, lack of a sense of personal accomplishment, and depersonalization of clients. For each statement, workers were asked to indicate their agreement on a 4 point scale (1 =strongly agree, 4 =strongly disagree, 2.5 =midpoint).

Three of the statements were intended to assess workers' depersonalization of clients: "I feel I treat some of my clients as impersonal objects," "I have become more callous toward people since being on this job," and "I think clients often blame me for their problems." On average, family preservation workers in all three states disagreed or strongly disagreed with these statements, with mean scores on individual items ranging from 3.5 to 3.8 in Kentucky, 3.8 to 3.9 in New Jersey, and 3.3 to 3.9 in Tennessee. Public agency workers also tended to disagree with these statements, however, their average scores were closer to the midpoint of the scale, particularly on the item "I think clients often blame me for their problems" where mean scores were 2.3 in Kentucky, 2.6 in New Jersey, and 2.9 in Tennessee. Comparing the FPS and public staff responses, FPS workers in all three states indicated significantly stronger disagreement on the item "I have become more callous toward people since being on this job."

Two of the statements were intended to assess workers' sense of personal accomplishment: "I deal very effectively with the problems of my clients," and "I have accomplished much that is worthwhile in this job." Both FPS and public agency workers in all three states indicated some level of agreement with each of these statements as average item scores ranged from 1.4 to 1.8. Differences between FPS and public agency staff in their level of agreement were marginally significant in Kentucky, with FPS workers indicating stronger agreement.

Only one item assessing emotional exhaustion was included in this questionnaire, and that item was a direct statement of burnout: "I feel burned out from my work." In Kentucky and New Jersey, both FPS and public agency workers, on average, indicated disagreement with this statement (although the average score for public agency workers in New Jersey was exactly at the midpoint). In New Jersey, FPS workers indicated significantly stronger disagreement than public agency workers (3.3 vs. 2.5; p = .001). In Tennessee, the average score on this item for public agency workers indicated moderate agreement while the average score for FPS workers was close to the midpoint, a non-significant difference (2.1 vs. 2.4).

The final item regarding workers' reactions to work with clients – one not drawn from the Maslach Burnout Inventory – was "Many clients cannot be helped no matter what I do." While all workers, on average, disagreed with this statement, FPS workers indicated significantly stronger disagreement than public agency workers in all three states.

### 8.1.7 Preparation in Dealing with Casework Issues

Workers were asked how prepared they felt to deal with 10 specific casework issues: assessing problems, assessing risk, case planning, assessing family functioning, assessing child functioning, family systems, building client relationships, counseling families, permanency planning, and knowing when to terminate a case. For each statement, workers were asked to indicate their agreement on a 5 point scale (1 = very well prepared, 5 = poorly prepared, 3 = verymidpoint). Within each of the states and groupings for type of staff, of all activities, preparation for permanency planning was thought to be worst – although, on average, all staff reported their preparation level as better than the mid-point of the scale. Within each state and type of staff (FPS or public), respondents thought themselves best prepared for "building client relationships." On average, Kentucky FPS staff reported being significantly better prepared than public agency staff on six of the ten casework issues (assessing problems, assessing child functioning, family systems, building client relationships, counseling families, and knowing when to terminate a case). In New Jersey, FPS staff reported being significantly better prepared than public agency staff on two of the ten casework issues (building client relationships and counseling families). In Tennessee, FPS staff reported being significantly better prepared than public agency staff on three of the ten casework issues (assessing family functioning, counseling families, and knowing when to terminate a case). On none of the items did public agency staff report feeling more prepared than FPS staff. When responses to all ten items were combined for an overall measure of how prepared workers felt, average scores were better than the mid-point of the scale, with FPS staff feeling significantly more prepared than public agency staff in Kentucky (2.1 vs. 1.6; p = .001) and marginally significant differences in Tennessee (1.7 for FPS staff and 2.0 for public agency staff; p = .06).

### 8.1.8 Experience, Tenure, and Future Employment Plans

When asked how many years of experience workers had in various kinds of social work, there was a considerable amount of variability both between states and between FPS and public agency staff. Looking at social work in general, Kentucky staff averaged around 4-5 years with no significant differences between FPS and public agency staff; New Jersey FPS staff averaged 6.2 years and New Jersey public agency staff averaged 12.2 years – a statistically significant difference (p = .001); Tennessee staff averaged 7-8 years of experience with no significant differences between FPS and public agency staff.

The average amount of experience in child welfare social work was 3 to 5 years for Kentucky and Tennessee staff, with no significant differences between FPS and public agency workers. In New Jersey, FPS workers averaged 4.6 years experience in child welfare and public agency staff averaged 9.5 years – again, a statistically significant difference (p = .001).

On average, staff reported being in their current position for over a year, with public agency staff having spent a greater amount of time in their current positions than FPS staff in both New Jersey (5.3 vs. 1.7; p = .001) and Tennessee (3.9 vs. 1.9; p = .08). Particularly among public agency staff, the average number of years working in the agency was consistently higher than the average number of years working in their current positions (3.7 vs. 1.4 in Kentucky; 8.1 vs. 5.3 in New Jersey; 4.9 vs. 3.9 in Tennessee). This may be indicative of the amount of turnover that occurs among positions but within the public agencies.

Although no effort was made to track the number of workers who left the agency during the timeframe of this study, workers were asked about their future employment plans. In each of the three states, a higher proportion of public agency staff reported that they were either "looking for other employment" or "have definite arrangements to take another job" (17% vs. 12% in Kentucky; 15% vs. 0% in New Jersey; p = .03 (Fisher's exact); and 27% vs. 19% in Tennessee).

### 8.1.9 Summary for Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee Staff

In summary, the results of this questionnaire confirm anticipated differences between FPS and public agency staff in caseload size and allocation of time. There is also evidence of some significant differences between FPS and public agency staff on level of education, job satisfaction, how prepared they feel, amount of experience, and future employment plans. However, despite the fact that the FPS staff appear to have higher qualifications in some areas and are more satisfied with their jobs, no differences in staff qualifications and attitudes translate into differences in practice and thus differentially affect client outcomes.

There are a number of possible explanations for the apparent lack of a direct link between staff qualifications and attitudes and client outcomes. Inadequate measurement of the outcomes is one possibility. However, many of the outcome measures detected change over time, just not differential change fore the FPS and regular service groups. Availability of recommended services is another possible problem. FPS staff may develop more individualized or comprehensive case plans that help clients achieve desired outcomes, however, those case plans may not be implemented if the services are not available at that time. Another disconnect between staff characteristics and outcomes may occur if case plans are not implemented as a result of different philosophies or service approaches taken by the FPS worker and the public agency caseworker who resumes management of the case at the end of the family preservation program. Lastly, the brevity of the family preservation program may cancel out any advantages due to superior preparation, attitudes, or job satisfaction of FPS workers.

### 8.2 Philadelphia Staff

All respondents from Philadelphia (n = 151) were employed by private agencies, and some workers were responsible for providing services to both FPS and non-FPS cases. Therefore, respondents were not categorized according to FPS or public agency status. Results are summarized in Table 8-3.

### 8.2.1 Gender and Race

Relative to the other three states, a fairly large proportion of the Philadelphia staff were male (40%). A majority of the staff were Black (61%) with another third White and a small percentage Hispanic (4%) or Other (3%).

### 8.2.2 Education

A majority of the staff (56%) held Bachelors degrees, slightly less than a fifth had completed some graduate study, and approximately one-quarter had a degree at the Masters level or higher. The most common areas for the field of study were social services (29%), social work (25%), and law or criminal justice (13%).
	Ν	%
Respondent is male	139	40
Race/Ethnicity	132	
Black		61
White		33
Hispanic		4
Other		3
Participated in on the job training in past 12 months	136	82
Attended seminar or workshop in past 12 months	134	96
Taken for-credit courses in a degree program in past 12 months	130	22
Taken non-credit course on a work-related topic in past 12 months	129	41
Participated in other in-service training in past 12 months	133	87
Field of Study	139	
Education		10
Law/criminal justice		13
Math/science		3
Mgmt/administration		3
Other humanities		10
Social services		29
Social work		25
No code/NA/missing		8
Level of education	137	
AA degree, high school diploma, GED, or less		1
Bachelors degree		56
Some graduate study		18
Masters degree or beyond (doctoral)		26
Future employment plans	129	
Do not plan to look for other employment		63
Would like to change jobs but not actively looking		24
Looking for other employment but have not found anything		10
Have definite arrangements to take another job		3
	Ν	Mear
Usual caseload size	136	11.3
Largest # of families in caseload	138	15.2
% of time spent investigating abuse/neglect complaints	122	45.1
% time spent on family preservation services	117	25.6
% time spent on foster care placement and/or supervision	115	7.8
% time spent on followup services for abuse/neglect families	121	25.5

Table 8-3Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in the Study: Philadelphia<sup>110</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Respondents were considered "case level staff" if they reported that they carry cases. If they reported that they carry cases and have supervisory responsibilities then they were only considered case level staff if they reported that they spend no more than 49 percent of their time in supervision.

	Ν	Mear
How satisfied are you with various aspects of your job?		
(1 = highly satisfied  5 = highly dissatisfied)		
(1 mgmy subside, 5 mgmy dissubside) Salary	130	32
Workload	130	3.0
Supervision	128	2.5
Work difficulty	120	2.5
Chances of promotion	120	2.0
Eringe benefits	120	2.1
Overall job satisfaction (all 6 items)	130	2.9
Indicate how much you agree/disagree with the following statements: [1 =strongly agree, 4=strongly disagree]		
Abuse and neglect are social problemsservices cannot do much to save children from danger	139	3.7
No matter how bad a natural family is, foster care is usually worse	139	3.7
There are many cases in which children remain at home and would have been better off in a good foster home	139	2.8
It is never justified to take chances with the lives of children	139	2.1
If a child I left at home were seriously injured due to maltreatment. I would find it hard to forgive myself	139	2.5
Removing a child from his or her parents can be so deep a trauma to the child that it is almost always worth taking the risk to leave the child with his or her parents	139	3.7
Families who deny the truth of a validated allegation of abuse or neglect are such poor prospects for service that placement is usually justified	139	3.4
Most families with records of several past complaints should not be given any more chances to change	139	3.5
Placement prevention should be the primary goal of family preservation programs	139	2.4
Only families with a child at imminent risk of placement should be referred to intensive family preservation services	139	3.2

### Table 8-3, continued Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in the Study: Philadelphia

## Table 8-3, continued Summary of Responses from Case Level Staff Who Have a Case in the Study: Philadelphia

	Ν	Mean
Indicate how much you agree/disagree with the following		
statements about your reactions to work with clients:		
(1 = strongly agree, 4 = strongly disagree)		
I feel I treat some of my clients as impersonal objects	139	3.8
I deal very effectively with the problems of my clients	139	1.6
I have become more callous toward people since being on this job	139	3.4
Many clients cannot be helped no matter what I do	139	3.0
I think clients often blame me for their problems	139	3.1
I have accomplished much that is worthwhile in this job	139	1.8
I feel burned out from my work	139	2.8
How prepared do you feel to deal with each of the following		
casework issues		
(1 = very well prepared, 5 = poorly prepared)		
Assessing problems	137	1.7
Assessing risk	137	1.8
Case planning	135	2.1
Assessing family functioning	136	1.9
Assessing child functioning	137	1.9
Family systems	134	2.1
Building client relationships	138	1.7
Counseling families	136	1.9
Permanency planning	126	2.5
Knowing when to terminate a case	130	2.1
Combined measure of how prepared respondent feels (all 10 items)	137	2.0
How many years of experience have you had in the following kinds of work:		
Social work in general	133	7.4
Child welfare social work	120	4.9
Supervising others in social work	107	1.2
Delivering family preservation services	106	1.1
# of years working for this agency	93	2.9
# of years since appointed to this position	90	2.0

#### 8.2.3 Caseload and Time Allocation

On average, workers reported a usual caseload size of 11.3 cases, with a large portion of their time (45%) spent investigating abuse or neglect complaints. An additional quarter of their time was spent on each of the following tasks: family preservation services and followup services, and a small proportion of their time (7.8%) was spent on foster care placement or supervision.

#### 8.2.4 Job Satisfaction

Caseworkers were asked about their level of satisfaction with various aspects of their jobs, including salary, workload, supervision, work difficulty, chances of promotion, and fringe benefits. Combining these items for an average measure of job satisfaction, Philadelphia staff responses came out almost exactly at the midpoint of the scale (mean = 2.9 on a scale of 1 to 5). Staff were slightly more satisfied with supervision (mean = 2.5), fringe benefits (mean = 2.7), and work difficulty (mean = 2.8), and they were slightly less satisfied with chances of promotion (mean = 3.1) and salary (mean = 3.2).

#### 8.2.5 Views on Child Welfare and Family Service Issues

In response to 10 statements expressing views on child welfare and family service issues, responses from Philadelphia staff were neutral or in disagreement with all but one of the statements. There was slight agreement (mean = 2.1) with the statement "It is never justified to take changes with the lives of children." Responses were relatively neutral on statements of whether workers would forgive themselves if a child were injured (mean = 2.5) and whether placement prevention should be the primary goal of FPS programs (mean = 2.4). Respondents expressed relatively strong disagreement on four statements containing negative views of services or families (see Table 8-3).

#### 8.2.6 Reactions to Work with Clients

On average, workers expressed disagreement with all three statements assessing depersonalization: treating clients as impersonal objects (mean = 3.8), becoming callous toward people (mean = 3.4), and thinking clients blame them for problems (mean = 3.1). On the items

measuring workers' sense of personal accomplishment (dealing effectively with clients, and accomplishing much that is worthwhile), average responses were between neutral and agreement. Staff in Philadelphia disagreed only slightly, on average, with the statement "I feel burned out from my work" (mean = 2.8).

#### 8.2.7 Preparation in Dealing with Casework Issues

Similar to results in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee, staff in Philadelphia reported feeling worst prepared for dealing with issues of permanency planning. On the other hand, staff in Philadelphia reported feeling best prepared to assess problems and build client relationships. An overall measure of the 10 items yielded an average response of 2.0 - just slightly on the "prepared" side of the scale.

#### 8.2.8 Experience, Tenure, and Future Employment Plans

When asked about their experience in various kinds of social work, Philadelphia staff indicated an average of 7.4 years experience in social work in general, 4.9 years in child welfare social work, 1.2 years in supervising others in social work, and just over one year of experience delivering family preservation services.

On average, workers reported working for this agency for just under three years and being in their current positions for two years. Only a small proportion of respondents (3%) indicated that they had definite arrangements to take another job, and an additional ten percent said they were looking for other employment.

#### References

- Kinney, J., Haapala, D. & Booth, C. (1991). *Keeping Families Together: The Homebuilders Model*. New York, NY: Aldine De Gruyter.
- Maslach, C. & Jackson, S.E. (1986). *Maslach Burnout Inventory* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

#### 9 CONCLUSIONS

In the late 1980s and early 1990s, family preservation programs became a popular response of states to rising rates of foster care placement of children. It was commonly assumed that many children were unnecessarily removed from their parents and that intensive services could prevent those placements while protecting children from harm. Early evaluations suggested these programs had considerable promise but these studies were criticized for flaws in research design. Later, more rigorously designed studies began to cast doubt on the extensive claims of success. The largest of these studies were in California, New Jersey, and Illinois. No placement prevention effects were found in California and Illinois, while the study in New Jersey found short term effects that dissipated with time.<sup>111</sup> However, these studies were also criticized, most notably for not having examined those programs thought to be most likely to be effective.

This evaluation of family preservation programs was designed to overcome shortcomings of previous studies. It assessed the extent to which key goals of the programs are being met: the goals of reduction of foster care placement, maintaining the safety of children, and improving family functioning.<sup>112</sup> It studied the Homebuilders model of service, thought by many to be the most promising, and it looked at a program in Philadelphia that used a different approach and focused on a particular population, families in which substance abuse was present.

The design for this evaluation was an experiment in which families were randomly assigned to either a family preservation program (the experimental group) or to other, "regular" services of the child welfare system (the control group). Families were followed for over a year after random assignment. Data collection involved multiple interviews with caretakers and caseworkers and examination of administrative data on placements, reports of maltreatment, and case openings and closings.

#### 9.1 Outcomes

#### 9.1.1 Placement

We are unable to conclude that the family preservation programs in these states achieve the objective of reducing placement of children in foster care.<sup>113</sup> A summary of various analyses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> J. Littell and J. Schuerman. (1995). A Synthesis of Research on Family Preservation and Family Reunification. <u>http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/cyp/fplitrev.htm</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> We did not assess the extent to which reducing placement was an appropriate goal in particular cases; preventing placement and preserving families whenever possible is a well accepted value of the child welfare system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> The language we use here is carefully chosen. Technically, we cannot conclude that the programs had no effect.

of placement rates at various points in time following random assignment is shown in Table 9-1. In three of the sites (Kentucky, Tennessee, and Philadelphia) there were no significant differences in placement rates over time for the samples as they were originally randomly assigned (the "primary" analysis). In New Jersey, placement rates were significantly higher in the experimental group. Since some of the families in the control group were actually provided family preservation services ("violations") and some of the families in the experimental group did not receive services or received only minimal services ("minimal service" cases), we also conducted analyses in which we dropped those cases ("secondary" analyses). Results of the secondary analyses were quite similar to the primary analyses.

It was thought that the samples in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee included families that did not fit the conception of cases best suited for the program model, that is, cases in which there is an imminent risk of placement.<sup>114</sup> Hence, we attempted to identify subgroups that might better fit criteria for referral. This selection was based on the idea that the service is most useful for families in crisis. Hence, we focused on cases referred in the course of an investigation of abuse or neglect and cases with recent substantiated allegations of maltreatment, on the grounds that these groups of cases might reflect families in crisis. These "refined groups" analyses also failed to show differences between the experimental and control groups on placement rates over time.

In Kentucky and Tennessee, we obtained data from case records and caseworkers on placements with relatives that were not recorded in the administrative data. Adding those data to our analyses, there were again no differences between experimental groups. Although not statistically significant, some of the differences between groups appear to be fairly substantial, particularly at the one-year point. However, there is no consistent pattern to these differences, sometimes the experimental group percentage is higher, sometimes it is the other way around.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> This concern was less present in Philadelphia, since that site did not expressly target cases at imminent risk of placement.

### Table 9-1 Summary of Placement Data, Survival Analyses Families Experiencing Placement of At Least One Child Within Specified Periods of Time

Kentucky		1 r	nonth	6 n	nonths	12 1	months	18 1	months
*		Е	С	Е	С	Е	С	Е	С
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Drimory		6	5	10	10	25	24	27	27
Primary		0	5	18	18	25	24	27	27
Secondary		4	4	12	18	20	23	24	25
Kenned analy	yses time	0	F	15	14	26	15	20	20
Investiga	tive	8	5	15	14	26	15	28	20
Recent su	ubstant.	6	2	20	11	29	13	32	18
Petition	cases	0	9	10	14	22	29	25	32
		1	.1		41	10		10	.1
New Jersey		11 	nonth	<u>6 n</u>	nonths	121	months	181	months
		E	C	E	C	E	C	E	C
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Duine		5	(	10	17	20	22	25	26
Primary		5	6	19	17	29	22	35	26
Secondary		3	6	17	17	27	23	34	27
Refined analy	yses	2	-	16	10	25	1.5	22	10
Investiga	tive	3	5	16	12	25	15	32	19
Recent su	ubstant.	8	5	19	12	25	14	33	21
	Fennessee			1 n	nonth	6 mc	onths	12 mo	nths
				E	С	Е	С	E	С
				%	%	%	%	%	%
ļ	Administrativ	ve data prim	arv analysis	11	11	22	19	23	19
1	Administrativ	ve data seco	ndary analysis	7	12	18	19	19	19
I	ncluding rela	tives prima	rv	, 11	11	26	21	28	23
I	ncluding rela	atives, prind	darv	7	12	20	19	23	21
F	Refined analy	vses	uur y	,	12	20	17	23	21
1	Recent inv	vestigation (	CORS	7	12	15	15	17	15
	Recent inv	vestigation, i	ncludes	7	12	18	18	22	21
	Relative	estigation, i	nerudes	1	12	10	10	22	21
	Itelutive								
Philadelp	ohia	l mon	ith	6 mon	ths	12 mor	nths	18 mor	nths
		E	C	E	C	E	C	E	C
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Primary		1	1	10	12	18	15	24	20
Secondar	V	1	1	0	12	15	16	27	19
Note: C =	y Control Crow	n E – Evnori	I montal Craun	)	15	15	10	<u> </u>	17

Note: C = Control Group, E = Experimental Group

As indicated above, the target group for the services in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee was families in which at least one child was "in imminent risk of placement." We found that, by and large, the families served were not in that target group. This is shown by the placement rate within a short period of time in the control group, indicating the placement experience in the absence of family preservation services. In all three states, the placement rate in the control group within one month (a liberal definition of "imminent") was quite low. It would, therefore, have been virtually impossible for the programs to be effective in preventing imminent placement, since very few families would have experienced placement within a month without family preservation services.<sup>115</sup> It should be noted, however, that the rates of eventual placement in the control group were higher, about one-fifth to one-fourth within one year. Hence, it would have been possible for family preservation to have shown effects on placement over time, but those effects were not observed.

There was one group that it seemed might represent better targeting, the "petition" cases in Kentucky. Prior to random assignment, workers submitted petitions to the court for placement or some other court ordered intervention on 67 families. It might be supposed that this group would be more likely to have children placed. Although more of the control group families in this group experienced the placement of a child within one month than other subgroups in Kentucky, that proportion was still quite low (10%), suggesting that focusing on groups such as this (cases with court involvement) would not resolve the targeting problem.<sup>116</sup>

#### 9.1.2 Child Safety

In general, the rates of substantiated allegations of abuse or neglect were quite low. In most of our analyses, there was little difference between the family preservation and control groups in the incidence of reports of maltreatment subsequent to random assignment. An exception was the group of cases in Tennessee with prior allegations of harm within 30 days

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> It would be unreasonable to expect that targeting would be perfect, that is, that all cases referred for services were at imminent risk of placement. But how high should the targeting rate be? The answer to that question depends on the impact of the program, its costs, and the cost of placement. If the impact of the program is large (that is, it substantially reduces the rate of placement in those cases in which placement would have occurred) or if it is relatively inexpensive relative to the cost of placement, the targeting rate can be lower. Some algebra indicates that the ratio of cost of FPS to placement cost averted (per case served) must be less than the proportion of cases in which placement was averted. For example, if the targeting rate was .5 and the success rate was .4, then the proportion of cases served that result in placement avoidance will be .2 (the product of .5 and .4). The ratio of the cost of FPS to the cost of placement must then be less than .2 for FPS to be cost effective.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> This group also showed the largest difference between the experimental and control groups in percentages of families experiencing placement at one year, a difference of 15 percent favoring the experimental group. However, the difference is not significant. Furthermore, there are other differences in the table almost as large, some favoring the control group.

before random assignment. For this set of families, the control group had a significantly higher rate of subsequent substantiated allegations.

The findings of little difference between the experimental and control group can be read in two ways. It indicates that families served by family preservation were no more likely than families not receiving the service to be subjects of allegations of harm. In this sense, children were, by and large, kept safely at home while receiving family preservation services. However, children in both groups were primarily in their homes, and family preservation did not result in lower incidence of maltreatment compared with children in the control group.

#### 9.1.3 Subgroups

In Kentucky, New Jersey, and Philadelphia we examined a number of subgroups of families to determine whether we could detect differences between experimental and control groups on placement and substantiated allegations subsequent to random assignment within each subgroup. Most of the subgroups were defined in terms of problems of the family, for example, substance abuse, financial difficulties, and depression. The number of cases in Tennessee was not sufficient to support subgroup analysis. No subgroups were found in which there were positive effects of family preservation services on placement or subsequent maltreatment. Hence, the effort to find subgroups for which family preservation service was successful in reducing placement was not successful.

#### 9.1.4 Case Closing and Subsequent Reopening

There were no significant differences in case closing rates between the experimental and control group in New Jersey or Tennessee. There was a significant difference in Kentucky. Experimental group cases closed significantly quicker than control group cases. Regarding case reopenings, there were no significant differences between the experimental and control groups in Kentucky or New Jersey. In Tennessee, significantly more of the closed control group cases reopened (9 of 30 or 30%, compared to 8 of 66 or 12% of the experimental group).

#### 9.1.5 Family and Child Functioning

We interviewed caretakers at three points in time, shortly after the beginning of service (the "initial" interview), four to six weeks later (at the end of service for families receiving family

preservation services, called the "post-treatment interview"), and again a year after services began (the "followup interview"). Caseworkers for both experimental and control group families were interviewed at the first two of these points in time. In these interviews, we examined a number of areas of family and child functioning that might have been affected by family preservation services. We looked at both levels of functioning at post treatment and followup and changes over time in levels of functioning. We examined responses to some of the individual items in the interviews, and we combined responses into various scales measuring dimensions of functioning. The following are the areas examined.

#### **Caretaker interview:**

- Life events. An inventory of recent positive and negative life events was used to construct three scales: positive life events, negative life events, and depression.
- Problems. Nine items, examined individually.
- Economic functioning. Four items on difficulty in paying for rent, electricity and heat, food, and clothes were examined individually and combined in a scale.
- Household condition. Ten items, examined individually and combined in a scale.
- Child care practices. Fifteen items, examined individually and in three scales: positive child care practices, negative child care practices, and punishment.
- Caretaker depression. Scores on the SCL-90 depression scale.
- Child behavior. Thirty-five questions comprising scales for aggression, school problems, positive child behaviors, and negative child behaviors.
- Overall assessment of improvement. A single question.

#### **Caseworker interview:**

- Caretaker functioning. Nine five-point scale questions, examined individually and averaged.
- Household condition. Thirteen questions combined in a scale.
- Caretaker problems. Twenty-one questions combined in a scale.
- Child problems. Twelve questions combined in a scale.

The results of the measures of functioning are summarized in Tables 9-2 and 9-3. In a few of these areas of functioning, in one or the other of the states, families in the experimental group appeared to be doing better post-treatment. There were very few differences at the year followup and in changes over time. Those differences that did appear (primarily at post-

Area	Post treatment	Followup	Change over time
Life events			
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Positive life events	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: $\emptyset$	TN: $\varnothing$
	PA: fewer experimentals experienced positive life events	PA: Ø	PA: ∅
	KV. Ø	KV <sup>.</sup> Ø	KV· Ø
Negative life events	NI: Ø	NI: Ø	NI: Ø
Negative file events	TN· Ø	TN· Ø	TN· Ø
	$PA \cdot \emptyset$	$PA \cdot \emptyset$	$PA \cdot \emptyset$
			~~~~~
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Depression	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
1	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: $\emptyset$	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	N/A
Family problems, individual items	NJ: fewer experimentals not enough	NJ: Ø	
	TN: fewer experimentals had few or no	TN: Ø	
	friends		
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	
Economic functioning			
-	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	N/A
Individual items	NJ: fewer experimentals difficulty	NJ: Ø	
	paying rent and buying clothes $TN \cdot \emptyset$	IN: fewer experimentals difficulty	
	$PA: \emptyset$	PA: more experimentals having	
		difficulty buying food and clothes	
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Scale	NJ: experimental average lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
		TN: $\emptyset$	TN: Ø
	ra. W	PA: Ø	PA: Ø

Table 9-2Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Data from Caretaker InterviewsDifferences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

 $\emptyset$  denotes that differences between groups were not significant at  $p \le .05$ ; N/A denotes not applicable

Area	Post treatment	Followup (one year after beginning of treatment)	Change over time
Household condition			
Individual items	KY: experimentals fewer broken windows or doors NJ: $\emptyset$	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: Ø	N/A
	TN: more experimentals in unsafe building because of illegal acts PA: Ø	PA: more experimentals reporting not enough basic necessities	
	KY: Ø	KY: no significant differences	KY: Ø
Scale	NJ: Ø	NJ: no significant differences	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: no significant differences	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: experimental group reporting more problems in household condition	PA: ∅
Child care practices			
Individual items	KY: fewer experimentals used punishment for not finishing food	KY: Ø NJ: Ø	
	control when punishing child and more	TN: Ø	
	often encouraged child to read a book TN: more experimentals went to amusement park, pool, or picnic	PA: Ø	
	PA: Ø		
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Positive scale	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: $\emptyset$
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Negative scale	NJ: experimentals lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: $\varnothing$
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: $\varnothing$
Decision	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Punishment	NJ: experimentals lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
		TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø
	PA: Ø	PA: Ø	PA: Ø

## Table 9-2, continuedSummary of Family and Child Functioning OutcomesDifferences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post-treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

 $\emptyset$  denotes that differences between groups were not significant at  $p \le .05$ ; N/A denotes not applicable

Differences between	Dest for structure of the structure of t	s at 1 ost-treatment, ronowup, and	Change Over Time
Area	Post treatment	Followup (one year after beginning of treatment)	Change over time
	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
Caretaker depression	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: ∅	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Child behavior			
Aggression	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
<u> </u>	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: ∅	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
School problems	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
1	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: $\emptyset$	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Positive child behaviors	KY: Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: Ø	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	$PA: \emptyset$	PA: Ø	PA: Ø
Negative child behaviors	KY· Ø	KY: Ø	KY: Ø
regative entité senaviors	NI: experimental group lower (better)	NJ: Ø	NJ: Ø
	TN: $\varnothing$	TN: Ø	TN: Ø
	PA: ∅	PA: $\emptyset$	PA: Ø
Overall assessment of improvement		KY: Ø	N/A
Overall assessment of improvement	KY: experimentals, greater improvement	NJ: Ø	N/A
	NJ: experimentals, greater improvement $TN \cdot \emptyset$	TN: Ø	
		PA: Ø	
	ΓA. W		

Table 9-2, continued Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes Differences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post-treatment, Followup, and Change Over Time

 $\emptyset$  denotes that differences between groups were not significant at  $p \le .05$ ; N/A denotes not applicable

# Table 9-3Summary of Family and Child Functioning Outcomes, Data from Caseworker InterviewsDifferences Between Experimental and Control Groups at Post-treatment and Change Over Time

Area	Post treatment	Change over time
Caseworker report of caretaker functioning (9 items)		
Individual items	<ul> <li>KY: Ø</li> <li>NJ: control group higher (better) in ability in giving affection and providing learning opportunities</li> <li>TN: experimental group higher (better) on five items</li> <li>PA: Ø</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>KY: respecting child's opinions: experimental group declined, control group increased</li> <li>NJ: control group had more positive change in respecting child's opinions</li> <li>TN: experimental group more positive change on setting firm and consistent limits</li> <li>PA: Ø</li> </ul>
Scale	KY: $\emptyset$ NJ: $\emptyset$ TN: experimental group higher (better) PA: $\emptyset$	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅
Caseworker report of household condition Scale (13 items)	<ul> <li>KY: control group better</li> <li>NJ: control group better</li> <li>TN: Ø</li> <li>PA: control group worse</li> </ul>	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅
Caseworker report of caretaker problems Scale (21 items)	KY: experimentals more problems NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅	KY: Ø NJ: Ø TN: experimentals declined more PA: Ø
Caseworker report of child problems Scale (12 items)	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅	KY: ∅ NJ: ∅ TN: ∅ PA: ∅

 $\varnothing$  denotes that differences between groups were not significant at  $p \le .05$ .

treatment) were not consistent across states and were not maintained. At best, it can be said that family preservation services may have small, apparently short-term, effects on some areas of functioning. There was one item with some consistency, the overall assessment of improvement by caretakers. At post treatment, in Kentucky and New Jersey, a significantly larger proportion of experimental group caretakers generally thought there was "great improvement" in their lives. This difference was significant in both the primary and secondary analyses. In the Tennessee secondary analysis, results tended in the same direction, though not significantly (p = .09). At followup, differences between the groups in Kentucky and New Jersey had nearly disappeared. In Tennessee at followup, control group respondents more often thought there was "great improvement" (p = .055).

#### 9.2 Targeting

The findings of no effects of family preservation programs on placement rates and of problems in targeting these programs are not new, they have been observed in a number of rigorously designed experiments.<sup>117</sup> Partially as a result of these previous findings, efforts were made in this project to improve targeting. In New Jersey and Kentucky a screening instrument developed by the evaluators was employed to encourage referral of cases with a risk of imminent placement and to discourage referral of cases not at risk of placement. It is evident that this effort did not work; evidently, the screening instrument was a weak "intervention" in the problem of targeting.

Clearly, referring agents sent families to the programs that did not fit the criterion of imminent risk of placement. Our interviews with referring workers, discussed in earlier chapters, reveal some of the reasons. Workers acknowledged that they often did not refer cases that were at risk of placement, rather they used the programs for families that they thought could benefit from them. Evidently, they believed that in cases where placement was needed, family preservation services were not appropriate, contrary to the assumptions of the designers of these programs. But the programs were valued, and they were used to help families in the context of a generally service-poor child welfare system.

There are other possible explanations for the low placement rate in the control group. It is possible that in cases assigned to the control group, workers on those cases exerted efforts to prevent placement of the child. Placement prevention as a central value may pervade the system (perhaps more during the time we were collecting these data than now, it is possible that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> J. Littell and J. Schuerman. (1995). A Synthesis of Research on Family Preservation and Family Reunification. http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/cyp/fplitrev.htm.

Adoption and Safe Families Act has shifted emphasis away from this value). Of course, in this regard the philosophy of family preservation seems to have been widely adopted, even though rigorous evaluations have not shown placement prevention effects of its services.

But there are still other aspects of the targeting problem. Homebuilders has developed into a quite generalist program, used in a wide variety of cases. In Kentucky and New Jersey there is considerable heterogeneity in the cases referred to these services, in both characteristics and problems of families and in where the case is in the child welfare system. Families come from both the investigative and on-going phases of cases.<sup>118</sup> It seems likely that many of those referred from on-going caseloads are not referred because of likelihood of placement but because the case is not going well and everything else has been tried.<sup>119</sup> Families do not always appear to be in crisis, another important criterion for referral. Furthermore, a number of cases do not involve abuse or neglect, but rather are cases of child dependency or of parent-adolescent conflict. And the cases involve a wide range of ages of children at risk. It could be argued that this variation is detrimental to the development of programs. No one program can expect to be successful in all cases. Having such variation inevitably results in a lack of focus and prevents the development of specialized expertise in handling particular cases. The lack of focus and expertise is likely to affect the outcomes that can be expected. Furthermore, the variation in the character of cases must contribute to variations in outcomes.

A natural response to this state of affairs is that we must tighten up the targeting, demanding strict adherence to referral criteria. Our attempts to assist states to do this were clearly unsuccessful. We suggest that it will be extremely difficult to achieve the goal of better targeting. There are a number of reasons for this skepticism. Referring workers acknowledged that they often referred families that were not at risk of placement, at least not those at *imminent* risk of placement. We cannot fully explain why workers did not follow the rules for referrals, but we can propose some conjectures. Workers believe that they remove children from the home only when that is absolutely necessary, when no service can prevent placement. In this sense, one might conclude that family preservation values have come to pervade the system, there are few

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> A number of cases in Kentucky and New Jersey were referred to family preservation to assist in the return home of children from foster care. These reunification cases were excluded from the experiment, but they may have contributed to the diffusion of the program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> The fact that the case is not going well and that everything else has been tried may or may not mean that placement is likely. Note that "everything else has been tried" is sometimes specified as a criterion for Homebuilders referral. As we noted earlier, this criterion conflicts with the objective of immediate response to crisis.

unnecessary placements, leaving few placements to be prevented with intensive services.<sup>120</sup> However, these services are valued by referring workers, they are responses to the needs of families (families other than those with children about to be placed), and services to meet those needs are scarce. Hence, family preservation programs are used for very real needs of families in the child welfare system.

Beyond this dynamic, there is the general tendency to expand the benefits of a good program. If a program is believed to be beneficial, it is often assumed that it will be useful for an ever-expanding range of cases. Evidently, this occurred in the states we studied. Expansion of the target group is aided by the fact that target group definitions usually have one or more vague terms that allow for the expression of discretion (e.g., most people's problems can be conceptualized as "crises").

Finally, our efforts to identify particular groups of families for which the programs are successful at preventing placement were mostly unfruitful. Hence we are unable to satisfy the demands of policy makers and practitioners for guidance on specific groups that might be targeted.

These circumstances, together with the fact that referrals to family preservation programs involve judgments that cannot be completely systematized or circumscribed, lead to our skepticism about the likelihood of improving targeting of these programs. Furthermore, it is possible that the programs are, by and large, being used in those circumstances for which they are best suited.<sup>121</sup>

#### 9.3 **Possible Alternative Explanations of the Findings**

Positive findings of experimental evaluations provide evidence for the validity of a theory of intervention and confirm the effectiveness of a particular implementation of that theory. Null findings are more ambiguous, they do not necessarily disprove an intervention theory and may not even be evidence of ineffectiveness of implementation. One cannot be sure whether the results are due to problematic program conceptions, inadequate program implementation, unique

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> However, it is clear that there is great variation among jurisdictions, workers, judges, and other decision makers in the circumstances in which children are removed from their homes (J. Schuerman, P. Rossi, and S. Budde. (1999). *Decisions on Placement and Family Preservation*. Evaluation Review 23:599-618).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> We note one effort to solve the targeting problem in the family preservation program in Detroit. As part of an experimental evaluation of the Families First program, judges were asked to identify cases in which they intended to remove a child from the family, but which they deemed could be diverted to family preservation. After screening by project personnel, a group of such cases was randomly assigned to family preservation or to other services, presumably placement. Results of the study have not been published to date. Our understanding is that the group selected for random assignment was a relatively small portion of all families

contextual problems, or flawed evaluation procedures. The findings of this study will be questioned, as have those of the previous studies, for various supposed methodological and implementation shortcomings. We consider here some of the factors that might have affected the findings, beginning with problems in the implementation of the evaluation.

Violations of Experimental Assignment. In all three states, there were violations of experimental group assignment, that is, families assigned to the control group that were given family preservation services. This was particularly a problem in New Jersey, where 14 percent of the control group families received family preservation. The dictates of rigorous analysis required that we retain these cases in the control group (we also conducted "secondary" analyses in which we dropped these cases from analysis and there were few differences between our primary and secondary analyses). Violation cases could significantly affect the findings. For example, they could represent cases that would have experienced placement in the absence of the service. To the extent this was the case, the placement rate in the control group would be underestimated. This could affect the conclusions about both the effective targeting rate and experimental-control group differences in placement.

We attempted to examine the extent to which violations might have affected the results in New Jersey (there were too few violations in Kentucky and Tennessee to have significant effects). Even if all of the violations had been placed early on, the proportion of families in the control group experiencing placement would not have reached levels that one would consider close to adequate targeting. Sensitivity analysis in which all violations are assumed to be placed early suggests that under this extreme assumption there would have been differences in placement rates favoring the family preservation group early on but these differences dissipate over time.<sup>122</sup> Hence, at the very least, violations could not affect a conclusion that family preservation does not appear to prevent long placements of a year or more.

**Inclusion of Minimal Service Cases in the Analysis**. Some families in the experimental group did not receive family preservation services or received only small amounts of service. These cases were included in the primary analysis and it might be argued that this reduced the apparent effects of the service and that we should have eliminated these cases from analysis to

designated for placement. Furthermore, although the procedure was very promising from the standpoint of tightening up the evaluation, it is unlikely that it could be implemented widely or consistently to solve the targeting problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Under the assumption that all violations would have been placed in the first month, 27 percent of the control group would have been placed in the first six months, compared to 19 percent of the experimental group. At one year, the proportions would have been 29 percent in the control group and 28 percent in the experimental group.

produce a fair estimate of effects. We did drop these cases from our "secondary" analysis, and found few differences compared to the primary analysis. In addition, it should be observed that programs will always have minimal service cases, cases in which the family cannot be found, declines service, or otherwise refuses to cooperate. Retaining them in the analysis is appropriate in determining the average effects of the service over a group of cases thought to need the service. Theoretically, one might be able to reduce the size of the minimal service group through better targeting, but in practice, it is likely to be difficult to identify a substantial proportion of these cases prior to referral.

The "John Henry" Effect. The John Henry effect is reputed to be present in some experimental evaluations. This is the situation in which workers in control group cases exert special efforts on behalf of families, providing them far more service than would have been provided in normal circumstances (so the control group is not a "regular service" group). There are a couple of possible reasons this might occur. A worker might be unhappy with the experiment in general and with the assignment of this particular case to the control group in particular, and exert special effort in response. Alternatively, workers might feel the families assigned to the control group really need the experimental service, the prevention of placement is very important, so efforts are made to emulate Homebuilders. (This may be a special case of experimental leakage.)

In Kentucky and New Jersey, there is no evidence in the data on services to suggest this happened. Families in the experimental group did receive much more service than the control group. It is possible that the control group received more than "regular services." We cannot determine that. So it is possible that there is a threshold of services that has placement prevention effects and that was reached by the control group. If this were the case, it would indicate that the desired results can be obtained without intensive family preservation services.

In Tennessee, there is some evidence that families in the control group may have received as much, or perhaps more, service than the experimental group. This is seen in a specific set of questions asked of the caretakers about services received, and is not confirmed in other evidence regarding services provided to the two groups. Nonetheless, we cannot be as confident in Tennessee that experimental group families received much more service than the control group. Since the outcomes of the two groups were similar, this could again be taken as an indication that the results could be obtained without the family preservation services we studied. Effects of the Experiment on the Nature of the Referred Group. It is possible that instituting the experiment caused a change in the character of cases referred to the program. In particular, agencies and workers were required to refer more cases in order to fill the control group as well as the experimental group. This resulted in dipping further into the pool of cases, perhaps taking "less severe" cases, those with less risk of placement. Anticipating this problem, we endeavored to select sites for the experiment in which demand considerably exceeded supply, however, we cannot be sure that we succeeded in this regard. It is also possible that workers referred different cases because of the chance that they would be assigned to the control group and not receive family preservation services. Or they may have changed referral practices to sabotage the research.

We cannot be sure that these factors were not present in referrals of families to the experiment, but we have no strong evidence that they were a strong influence. Operating against such dynamics were the desires of workers to provide significant services to families.

The Program Implementation was Flawed. The family preservation programs in Kentucky, New Jersey, and Tennessee claimed adherence to the Homebuilders model of service. However, it is possible that the implementation did not adequately follow that model, with the result that this evaluation was not a fair test of the model. We attempted to measure certain aspects of model adherence and found some variation from the prescribed ideal. One cannot expect any implementation of a model to adhere totally to it, adaptations must be made to local conditions, the character of individual cases, and to the styles of individual workers. Models of social service do not provide for the same response in all cases nor can they be used to prescribe exactly what should be done in each case. Even for the best specified model, judgment abounds in its application, such that there might be legitimate disagreements as to whether it was applied in a particular case. In fact, one might hope that a model would be "robust" for at least small violations of it, having benefit even when it is not applied in an ideal way.

In the end, it is a matter of judgment as to whether the model was adequately adhered to in these three states. The fact that we have three states with similar findings, that is, similar degrees of adherence to the model, is again relevant. Was the model violated in all three states? Possibly, but that would then suggest the difficulty, perhaps the unlikelihood, of adequately implementing it elsewhere.

**Contextual Factors Caused the Model to Fail**. It is possible that a variety of contextual factors caused the outcomes that we observed. There are a multitude of possible such factors: the

political and economic climate, the climate in the agencies, administrative barriers, approaches of judges, competence of workers, availability of other services, etc. These influences would weigh on both the experimental and control groups, presumably in equivalent ways, but they could prevent any new approach from having effects different from usual treatment. While we cannot exclude such factors as explanations for our results, again the fact that we have three states with similar results is relevant. Multiple sites make it less likely that the same contextual factors are explanations of the findings. Furthermore, social programs must operate in less than ideal contexts, to be effective, their conceptualizations must take into account these circumstances.

One set of contextual factors may have prevented positive effects of family preservation services: broad social problems of poverty, racism, inadequate housing, inadequate education, and substance abuse. Perhaps it is unrealistic to expect a short term program to solve such serious problems.

The Program Conceptualization is Flawed. It is always possible that findings such as ours are the result of program design that is flawed. Obviously, this is the interpretation that is most difficult for program advocates to contemplate. But it is possible that the intervention activities of family preservation programs, even if carried out in an ideal way, are inadequate to achieve their goals. We note here one specific aspect of these programs that is often criticized and blamed for perceived failures: their brevity. It is often suggested that a program only four weeks in length, even if it is very intense, cannot expect to have significant effects on very serious individual and family problems, which are often of long duration, therefore requiring much longer interventions. Going even further, it is possible that the available intervention technology is simply inadequate in the face of the problems it is expected to solve.

#### 9.4 What to Make of These Findings

The findings of this study are not new. As in this investigation, a number of previous evaluations with relatively rigorous designs have failed to produce evidence that family preservation programs have placement prevention effects or have more than minimal benefits in improved family or child functioning. The work reported here may be thought of as four independent evaluations, in four states, adding to the set of previous studies with similar results. While the findings of this study can be questioned (as have those of the previous studies), the accumulation of like findings from a number of studies in several states, with varying measures of outcome, is compelling.

The results do not indicate that family preservation services are detrimental to families. Generally, families in these programs did not do worse than those in the control groups. Nor should the findings be taken as showing that these programs serve no useful purpose in the child welfare system. The findings can be seen as a challenge to keep trying, to find new ways to deal with the problems of families in the child welfare system. The findings indicate the grave difficulties facing those who devise approaches to those problems, failure in such undertakings should not be surprising, and those who risk trying to find solutions should not be punished when evaluations such as this indicate they may have come up short.

The accumulation of findings suggests that the functions, target group, and characteristics of services in programs such as this need to be rethought. Obviously, function, target group, and services are closely intertwined. We discuss below some of the issues that should be considered in rethinking these programs.

The foremost of these issues concerns the objectives of the programs. A number of observers have suggested that placement prevention be abandoned as the central objective in intensive family preservation services in favor of other objectives, notably the improvement of family and child functioning. We have suggested above that targeting these services on families at risk of placement is unlikely to be successful, so if these services are to continue, they will continue to serve "in-home" cases, families in which there has been a substantiated allegation of abuse or neglect or serious conflicts between parents and children but in which children remain in the home. Although the focus of concern in child welfare policy has long been on foster care, in most jurisdictions there are far more cases opened for in-home services than for foster care (a relatively small proportion of indicated reports of maltreatment eventuate in removal of the child from the home and even fewer result in long term placement). Many, if not most, of these "intact" families need help. Relatively intensive and relatively short-term services such as those provided by family preservation programs are one source of such help. In this respect, family preservation programs can be thought of as an important part of the continuum of child welfare services.

Another question that program designers must address is that of specialization. We did not find subgroups for which the programs were successful, but as indicated above, these programs are quite generalist in character, and thus may sacrifice some of the benefits of specialization. Among those benefits are a clearer focus of services, tighter target group definition, specification of service characteristics such as length and intensity based on needs of the target group, and the development of more specific competencies on the part of workers. Specialization could be in terms of problems (e.g., substance abuse) or characteristics of clients (young, isolated mothers). There are clear drawbacks to specialization, including the tendency to define problems in terms of the service one offers. Furthermore, limiting target groups inherently limits the impact of programs. Nonetheless, it may be better to mount a series of small programs rather than putting all of one's resources into large, undifferentiated efforts.

Another issue that program planners must address is that of length and intensity. These aspects of services are generally considered to be inversely related. Because of cost, long-term services cannot be as intensive as short-term efforts. The Homebuilders model pushes the combination of intensity and short term to what seems to be the limit: no more than two cases per worker at a time, 10 to 20 hours of work on a case per week for one month, a period of time much shorter than the planned service period in traditional social services. This is a bold departure from the usual way of doing things. It is based on ideas of crisis intervention. At the time of crisis, people are ready to change and ready to make use of intensive help to change. While crises can happen at any time, child welfare clients are thought to be most likely to be "in crisis" at the time of, or shortly after, an investigation of child maltreatment. Hence, the prototypical family preservation case is a family referred by an investigative worker.

The extent to which the intensive-short-term-crisis approach fits the needs of child welfare clients needs to be reexamined. Families encountering the child welfare system have often been there before and have usually been involved with other public or private service programs, so that being investigated and threatened with removal of a child is more an element of on-going experiences than a crisis. Furthermore, the lives of these families are often full of difficulties—externally imposed and internally generated—such that their problems are better characterized as chronic, rather than crises.

Families with chronic difficulties can no doubt benefit from short-term, intensive services, but those services are unlikely to solve, or make much of a dent in the underlying problems. As an example, substance addiction is a chronic problem in many child welfare families, one that cannot usually be successfully treated in a month's time, however intensive the treatment. Of course, the hope is that family preservation programs will be able to connect families with on-going services to treat more chronic problems, but that appears to happen far less than needed. The central point here is that we need a range of service lengths and service intensities to meet the needs of child welfare clients.

Perhaps the best summary of the status of family preservation programs was provided by McGowan in 1990:

Family preservation services must not be viewed as a panacea. These are categorical programs able to help only one segment of the total range of families and children in need

of support and are organized to provide limited types of case services. They cannot address the socioeconomic forces that contribute to tensions and inadequacies in family functioning nor can they provide the long-term assistance and/or specialized treatment required by some parents and children. Thus it is essential to maintain realistic expectations of what these programs can and cannot do.<sup>123</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Brenda McGowan. (1990). Family-based services and public policy: Context and implications. In J. Whittaker, J. Kinney, E. Tracy, and C. Booth (eds.). *Reaching High-Risk Families: Intensive Family Preservation in Human Services*. (pp. 81-82) New York: Aldine de Gruyter.